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We are part of everyday life for
millions of customers across Europe.
We entertain and connect them
by offering the best content,
technology to put them in control
and best-in-class service delivery.
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Strategic report

Chairman’s statement

2015 has been a transformational year for
Sky With the acquisition of the businesses
in Germany and italy, the Company has
moved beyond the boundaries of the

UK and Ireland to create a world-class

pay TV operation

MNick Ferguson, CBE

1 - New office campus Osteriey Sky UK 2 - Opening of Sky Acadenwy Skiis Studios Livingston Sky UK

3 -Offices Milan Skyitaha
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Against the backdrop of a fast-moving industry we have brought
together the three leaders in their respective markets positionng
the enlarged group to take advantage of new opportumities at scale

We see the potential to launch new products and services that
will reach customers in more ways than ever before and create
enhanced value For shareholders

On behalf of the Board it gives me great pleasure to take this
apportunity ta weicome our colleagues from Sky Deutschiand
and Sky Italia to the group We look forward to alt that you can
achieve together as part of a bigger tearn

To recogise the expanded international scope of the Company, we
have changed our name from Bnitish Sky Broadcasting simply to Sky

Throughout, the Company has continued to dekver strong growth
achieving excellent results both operationally and financially

The performance for the year shows good momentum across

the group as more customers choose to join Sky and take more
of our products, for use at home or on the move

The fact that these results have been achieved at a time of such
¢hange for the Company demonstrates the strength and focus
of the management team It also proof that the actions taken
in recent years to invest in the quality of the customer experence
are delvenng returns

Reflecting the Company's excellent performance the Board has
proposed a 3% Increase in the dvidend to 32 8 pence This s the
11th consecutive year of growth

As a successful and growing business, the enlarged Sky makes
an important economic contribution to the countries In which
it operates It acts as a powerhouse for the creative ndustries

Strategic report.

In Europe supporting 128 000 jobs across its five territones and
investing £4 9 billon in quabty news sports and entertainment
content Inaddition it contnbutes £76 bidlion to GOP acrass the
five countres and generates £3 4 billion in tax revenues of which

a totat of £2 3 bilbon goes to the UK Exchequer (Oxford Econormes)

Sky 5 also commuitted to using its positton as Europe s leading
entertainment company to make a positive Impact on society
Across the enlarged group, the focus 1s onusing the Company’s
strengths in TV, creativity and sport to support young people
and help them to reatise their full potentsal

1 have been privileged in the course of the year to be present at
the launch of two newintiatives for Sky Academy in the UK and
Ireland the Careers Lab in West London and the new Skills Studios
In Scotland Nearly two years after launching Sky Academy

we'e delighted with the progress were making Our colleagues

In Germany and Italy also have a focus on young people and

we see a real opportunity to share learming across our terntories
and to strengthen our engagement with young people inthe

next few years

Moving onto the business of the Board as announced last year,
Andy Higginson retired from the Board in November after 10 years
the last two of whuch he held the role of Senjor Independent
Dwrector He was succeeded in this role by Martin Gitbert

Furthermore at the conclusion of this years AGM n Navember
Dawvid DeVoe Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind will step down from
the Board Immediately following the AGM 1t 15 Intended that John
Nallen CFO of 21st Century Fox, will be appointed by the Boardasa
Non-Executive Director As a result of these proposed changes the
number of Board members would reduce from 14 to 12 On behalf of
the Board I would like to offer my warmest thanks to David DeVoe
Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind for their major contnbution to the
Company over many years All three have been excellent colleagues
Arthur joined the Board in 1991 David in 1994 and Danny in 2008
and each has been a source of sound adwvice throughout We will
miss them all

On behalf of the Board | would fike to thank all of our shareholders
for their continued support In particular through the completion
of such a significant transaction | would also ke to take this
opporturuty to thank every one of my colleagues across the
business for their hard work and contribution to what has been
an excellent year for Sky

Nick Ferguson, CBE
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Strategic report

Our strategy

We create sustainable value by pursuing broad

growth opportunities across our markets,
achieving competitive advantage through

our core strengths and the way we do business

Our husiness model

Qur strengths:

Growth opportunities

Great content

We invest to deliver the best and broadest range
of content right across the portfalio of channels
and services we provide to customers, ensuring
we offer something for everyone in the household

Market-leading innovation

we hamess new technology in order to give
customers the very best viewing experience,
wherever and whenever they want it

A customer focus

We are led by customers and what they want
We have an unrivalled ability to address ther
needs thanks to the strength of our brand
the scale of our go-to-market operation,
and our expertise n service delvery

Growing pay TV penetration

We exploit the headroom for pay TV growth across
our markets ysing the combination of satelite
cable and over-the-top (OT T} services to meet
customers needs

Selling more to customers

we focus on broadening out our range of products
and services in order to sell more to existing customers
and address more of their needs

Scaling adjacent business

We target opportunities in adjacent sectors like
advertising and international programme sales
10 grow new revenues

How we create value

Investing for the long term

We invest over the long term because we want to build a business
that is durable This means ensunng that we create the conditions
for sustainable success whilst also delivening results in the

short term

Seeing the bigger picture

We are committed to acting responsibly sn all that we do Thats
because we know that to build a business that's successful aver
the long term, how we go about doing busingss 1s as important as
what we do We also focus on making a positive impact on society
We call this seaing the bigger picture

Driving efficiency

We underpin everything that we dowith a rigorous focus on
operating efficiency By ensuning that we have an efficient and
agile operating model we consistently drive down ¢osts to allow
us Lo Invest more where customers see greatest value

Investing in people

We Invest in our people because we recognise that ther talent and
commitment are cnical Lo our success We aim to foster a culture
which encourages our people to fulfil their potentiat and to strve
for continual improvement mn all that they do enabling themto
achieve great things together

04 Skypk
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Strategic report

Group Chief Executive's statement

Sky has had an outstanding year, ending
2015 a very different business compared
to the same time a year ago We have
transformed the scale of opportunity
ahead while at the same time delivering
strong growth as more customers across
our markets join Sky and take more of
our products

Jeremy Darroch

with the successful acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia
Sky today serves 21 milhon customers across five countries - [taly,
Germany Austria Ireland and the UK - and s Europes leading
nvestar in cantent

As well as bringing greater scale the transaction was also about
building a great orgamsation and positroning the business for
the future The three Sky businesses are highly complementary
They share a powerful brand and have a common ethos of
embracing change to provide customers with more choice
better content and a supenor TV expenence

Sky 1s already at the forefront of delivering services over broadcast
on demand and mobile TV platforms However, by jointng the three
businesses together we are able to share our strengths and
expertise across the group This wall enable us to serve customers
better and to build a brgger and stronger business over the longer
term to the benefit of all shareholders

Expanded opportunity for growth

When we consider the long-term potential for Sky as an
international business, we see six broad areas of opportunity

First we will exploit the substantial headroom for pay TV growth
across our markets With more than 65 milbon households yet

to take pay TV, we will tap into new pockets of demand by
segmentng the market, using the combination of our Sky-branded
satellite and cable TV offering and our OTT streaming services

Second we will use our strengths in cross-seliing to bring more
products to our customers a<ross the group Everything we
see tells us that our customers are Increasingly loyal to Sky
and have an appetite to take more from us

Third we will continue to grow our adjacent businesses In channel
distribution, we have more potential partners for our content as
the market opens up Well also have an expanded opportunity

to grow our programme sales as we scale our content business

Fourth we will raise our ambitionsin content even further

By bnnging the three Sky s together we have the potential to
operate at greater scale Thus 15 about extending our tradiional
strengths in areas like sports and movies commiISSIONING more
of our own entertainment programming and being the best
partner for content owners around the world

Fifth we will accelerate innovation to deliver an even better
expenence for customers By combiung our product develepment
activity across the group well be able to bnng products to market
faster at greater scale and at reduced cost

Sixth we will build on the strength of our go-to-market operation
and expertise in service delivery to create an organisation that
15 best placed to meet the needs of customers

Nine months after closing the transaction the teams in each of
the three businesses are working together well and the integration
process 15 ontrack Having idenufied multiple ways in which the
businesses can best share expertise we have started work on
aclear sel of priority workstreams that will ensure we make

the rmost of the opportunities ahead

Skyple 05

oda x8oyeng

SAURIETS [EOURL

UORULIOJ SIPIOURIEYS



Annual Report 2015

Strategic report

v

Group Chief Executive’s statement

(continued)

Excellent performance across the group

At the same time 85 Implementing the transaction we delivered an
excellent operational and financal performance as robust demand
From customaers drove strong trading across all of our markets

We closed the financial year with revenues up 5% to £11 3 bilion?
and operating prafit up 18% to £14 bilion This was an outstanding
result in a year of such change for the busmness

The strength of our performance was fuelled by the addition of
almost one milion new customers over the year This was 45%
more than the pnor year and took our customer base past the
21-million mark At the same time we added 4 6 milhon new paid-for
products reflecting strong levels of demand across our broad
product offering

2015 also saw us achieve significantly increased customer loyalty
across the group We reduced churn to below 10% i all our markets
as customers responded positively to the mvestments we have
made in the viewing experience, m areas such as the connected
box platform and our own original drama

Standout performance in UK and Ireland

At the heart of the group resuits was an outstanding performance
tn the UK and Ireland, demonstrating the success of the approach

we have taken to segmenting the market with the complementary
Sky and NOW TV brands

Strong customer demand resufted in the highest organic customer
growth for 11 years of 506 000 to take us past the 12-rmillion
milestone At the same bime, we grew paxd-for products by 3 3 million
thanks to accelerated growth across TV and broadband

We achieved churn of 9 B% on a 12-month rolling basts, an 11-year
low, as growing penetration and usage of connected TV services
increased customer loyalty and overall satisfaction with Sky

We closed the year with more than seven million TV customers
connected anincrease of more than one million over the year

1 - England vs New Zealand Investeg Test Match atLord s Sky Sports $ky UK
2 - Forutude Sky Atfantic Al termtanes 3 - Portrait Artist of the Year Sky Arts Sky UK
4 - NOW TV remote and box 5 ~ ltatan Grand Prix Mugelc Sky Sport MotoGP HD Sky talia

Strong growth in Germany and Austna

Sky in Germany and Austna also achieved an excellent year of
growth We added 467000 net naw customers over the 12 months
the highest-ever annual customer growth, to take the base

past four milion Paid-for product growth of almost one miliron
represented an improvement of more than 50% on the prior

year thanks to strong growth in HO

Churn of 8 6% on a 12-month rofling basis was a record low
for a full year as we continued to beneft from the take-up
of two-year contracts

Iltaly stabilised

In Italy, we he!d the customer base stable for the first time in three
years, ending the 12-month period broadly flat year on year with
47 mithon customers Pard-for product growth was 387000 while
¢hurnhit a low of 9 6% on 12-month rolling basis as custemers
showed growing lovalty to the business This was a good result
1nwhat remans a challenging market

1 We have presanted the results onan adjusted kke for bke bass for the full12-menth
penod to 30 June 2015 down to aperatng profit Comparative figures are ranslated
ataconstant currency of 1 1£Y

08 Skyplc
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Strategic report

Building on our strengths

Sky s success rests on the umique combinauon of strengths that

we have developed In three core areas the best and broadest range
of content, market-leading innovation that enhances the viewing
experience, and our focus on the customer through our unnvalled
go-to-market capability expertise in service delivery and the
strength of cur brand

We made significant progress ineach of these areas in 2015

Content

We strengthened the range and gquality of our offenng on screen
across all our terntonesinthe past 12 months, advancing our ambistion
to create a powerhouse For content in Europe

In entertainment, we tock another big step forward as we grew our
capabilityn onginal production While each of our bustnesses s at a
different stage of development in this area, what s become dear as
we've started to work together 1s our shared wvision and our common
sense of ambition

Cnmedrama Forbitude and italian pohtical drama 1992 became the
first of our home-grown dramas to launch simultaneously across
all Five territones in January and March respectively

Reaching an audience of 37 million Fortitude was Sky Atlantic S most
successful onginal drama to date inthe UK It also became the maost
successful show for Sky Vision our distnbution business with setesto
more than 100 territares nternationally Meanwhile 1992 premiered
with the biggest-ever audience For an onginal scripted series in italy

Therr success underlnes the potential that we have to operate at a
greater scale with a number of exabing drama projects in the pipeline
as part of more than 130 hours of ongmal drama now n production
across the group

In sport we completed a series of mportant nghts deals to put
Sky in a strong position for the coming year In the UK and Ireland
we achieved a successful outcometo the Premier League's tender
process reinfarcing Sky Sports’ pesition as the number one choice
for sports fans with the nights to 126 live Premier League matches
every season from 2016/17 to 200819 As a result, Sky Sports wall
bring customers three times as many live matches as any other
broadcaster incuding the best match picks and the most-watched
slots in the schedule Meanwhile in itaty we secured the lve

and exclusive nghts to all 472 matches in Sene B for the next

three seasons

Innovation

Sky s strength ninnovation enables us to get the greatest value
from our investment in content, meeting customers growing destre
for the flexibility to <onsume content on thetr own terms bothin
and out of the home It also allows us to distribute our content
rmore widely, tapping into new pockets of demand using GTT
technology and creating new revenue opportunities in areas

Iike transactional services

Skyple 07
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Strategic report

Group Chief Executive’s statement

(contunued)

Across our markets, we have continued to invest in the quality

of the customer experience to make it easier for customers to
access and consume our content Sky now has almost nine madhon
customers across our markets who have chosen to connect therr
boxes to the intemet ta open up & whole range of on demand
and catch-up services

Additionally, Sky has also extended its lead as Europe s biggest
mobile TV prowder Close to 10 milion homes across the group

are enabled to watch their favourite programmes on the move

with Sky Go We built on our leadership in mobide TV in the year

with the agreement of a significant new partnership with Tetefénica
in the UK This will enable us to add a range of mobile votce and
data services to our customer offering in 20716 to exploit the
opportunities for growth that we see in the fast-changing

mobile sector

The growing penetration of connected devices 1s opening up brand
new sources of revenue One area where we made real stndes in
2015 1s Sky Store in the UK and Ireland where revenues increased
77% with a growing contribution from our Buy & Keep service
launched a year ago The service regularly ranks number one

or two among digital retallers for new releases, for example
delivering record digital sales for Universal onits best-selting

title Fifty Shades of Grey We are exoted about the opportunity

to expand inthis sector

2015 also saw us make significant progress in the expansion of aur
OTT streaming services We see a big opporturity to use OTT video
to drive pay TV penetration 1n a way that is complementary to our
core satellite and cable businesses In the UK, our popular NOW TV
service continued to buld momentum as our rebranding helped
drive a near trebling in sports pass sales inthe year

1 - Padd ngton Buy & Keep SkyStore SkyUK 2 « Joutaalet, Sky Sport Sky talia
3 - Quilan Isadore Sky Academy Sporis Scholar Sky UK

Building on this success, we ve also launched Sky Online servicesin
both Germany and ltaly in the past 18 months grang us streammg
products in all our markets Targeted at people who like our content
but want to consume it ina different way these services are just
getung going We see a lot of potential to use them as a means

to unlock new headroom for customer growth across Europe

Customers

We know that our strength in content and innovation only matters
because we know how to bnng them tagether in a way that works
best for customers We have built Sky as the leading brand in

our sector with a proven abiity to stretch into new parts of the
market to deliver the products and services that best address
customers’ needs

In the UK, more than one-third of households believe Sky 1s the
brand best placed to brng together their entertainment and
communications needs - far ahead of any other company And in ltaly
Sky Is rated as the second-strongest brand in media and technology
second only to Apple

The strength of our bvand combined with the scale and sophistication
of our go-to-market operation enables Sky to provide the products
that best address customers’ needs It also ensures we support them
with best-in-¢lass customer semice

We have continued to raise the bar in the quaity of our service in the
past 12 months

In the UK andlreland we have beenrolling out our Oigital First
programme with the amm of putting our digital channels at the
front ine of customer service dalivery Our ambitson 15 very clear

- for the majonty of customer interactions to be conducted va
our digital channels We believe the potential is significant we will
grow customer satisfaction to even higher levels while further
reducing operating costs as a parcentage of sales Qur intention
15 to rofl out the programme across Germany and Italy in trme

How we do business

Of course the successof Sky 1s based not simply on the results we
dehver gver one year but on cur sustained performance over time
We know that to build a business that is durable for the long term
it1s not just what we achieve as a business but how we goabout

L that matters Thisis at the heartof our Believe in better ethos,
our commitment to constant impravement in all that we do

o8 Skypkc
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A responsible business

Qur ability to provide the best products and services for customers
1sunderpinned by 2 commitment to act responsibly The millions
of customers across Europe that choose Sky for their home
entertainment and communicattons have high expectauons

of us and 1t 1s cur 1ob to maintain their trust in the decisions

we (ake day to day This means, for example ensuring we work
hard to keep the infermation customers share with us safe and
secure, developing easy to use energy-efhicient products for
our customers and strengthening our work with supphers on
our environmental and social standards including human rights
1) For more about our CorMmements pages 71-73

Creating awider impact

As a successful company we also have the opportunity to use

our position as Europe’s leading entertamment company to make

a positve impact on society Its something we kKnow our customers
value and an important part of ensuring our business ts successfut
for the long term

Across Sky, we've chosen to focus on supporting young people
We beheve passionately that businesses need tostep up and
work alongside schools and colleges to help prepare young
people for a successful future Given the power of our brand
its an area in which we beleve we can make 2 real difference

SUARPK report

Sky Academy in the UK and ireland uses the power of TV, sport
and creatmty Lo help young people buld skills and expenence
with the aim of reaching one million young people by 2020

In the auturmnn, we opened the newest Sky Academy imitiative

Sky Academy Careers Lab based on the Sky campus in west
London This gives 16-19 year olds the chance to take part in
practical workplace challenges in order to learn about careers in
media business and technology Since launch i November 2013
231000 young people have partiapated in Sky Academy initiatives

In Italy, our Sky TG24 for Schools imstiative allows secondary schoal
students to see behind the scenes and develop a cntical analysis
of the news by making their own TV news programme Inthe past
12 months, we expanded it from 20 classes in Rome to more than
310 classes nationwide

Meanwhite in Germany we helped over 5000 young people during
the year through our Sky Foundation This partners chanty projects
to encourage young people particuarly those who are disabled or
are from disadvantaged backgrounds to pursue mare active and
healthy ifestyles

People
Of course central ta any high-performing orgarusation are hard
working people wha share a common set of values and a clear sense
of purpose As we bring together three businesses to create a
new Sky capable of succeeding across five termitories we start
from a position of strength Right across the group we are fortunate
to have a talented and diverse workforce, committed to pulling
together {0 create a better business for all Qur success comes
from their wilingness te embrace change and to work together
to achieve continual improvement 1 would like to thank each and
every one of them for the contnbution they have made ta our
success in the past 12 months

For mare aboul diveriaty and our people pages 71-72

Qutiock

Nine months after completing the transaction, we feel good about
the prospects for the new Sky We are delivenng strong tevels

of growth across the group as customers respond positively to
our products and services Cur financial performance 1s strong
and overall we are well positioned for the substantial growth
opportunity ahead to the benefit of our customers our people
and our shareholders

Jeremy Darroch
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1 - Chelsea FE 2015 Premier League Champions Sky Spores HD Sky UK
Fox Sports HD Sky ttalia 2 -itaba s Got Talent, Sky Uno HD Sky (talia

3 - Game of Thrones Sky Atlantk All cerntones # = 50 Ways Lo Kilt Your
mMammy SkylHD Shy UX'S - Markey Life, Piek TV Sky UX § - Newsroom
SkyTG24 HD Sky 1taba 7 - Steda Sky) HD Sky UK 8 - Sky Sport News HD
anchior Birgit Nosuing for Sky Foundatwn Sky Deutschland
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Stratepc regort

Our marketplace

Expanded opportunity for growth

Sky has an addressable market
of 88 milhion households across

5 countries

Germany Austna, ltaly UK
and lreland

There 1s a significant opportunity
for upsell of additional products wath

21 million

customers ¢ach taking an average of

2.6 products

per household

UK

Ireland

We have a significant headroom
for growth with

65 million

households in our markets yet
to take pay TV

We are exploiting adjacent market
opportunities that are opering up as
we extend our leadership in content
and innovation For example, the UK
transactional home wideo market 15 worth

£1.5 billion

{BVA)

Germany

Austria

ltaly
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Our performance
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Financial key performance indicators

Adjusted revenue

0 £11,283m

2018 £1 0,776m
o3 £10,253m

Description

Adjustad revenue includes revenye
from Subserption Transactianal
Whalesals and Syndication
Advertising and Other revenue

Analysis

Adjusted revenue 1S a key measure
of how the Group 15 delivenng on
its strategy to grow the business
In 2015 revenue grew by 5% with
good growth nboth retad and
commercial operations

Adjusted EBITDA

s £2,030m

2014 £1,848m
2on £1,883m

Dascriptron

Adjusted ESITDA 5 8 measure of the
profit generated by the business
exchichng Caprecabon and Amortisation
costs For the purposes of understanding
the undertying performancs of the Group
the measure also excludes temsthat
may diStort eomparabibty

Analysis

Adpsted EBITDA s a key measurg of
profitablity in 2015 adjusted EMITDA
ncreased by 10% on the previous year
83 Group revenue increased by 5%
whilst EBIT increased by 18%

- £1400m

2014 E'I,185m
2013 £1,279 m

Adjusted operating profit

Descnption

Adjusted operating profit 1s a measuce
af the profit generated by the business
from its revenises and exciudes items
that may destoet comparatwbty from
year toyear

Aralyss

Adjusted operaung profit 1s a key measure
of the underlyng business performance

In 2015 Adjusted operating profit increasad
by 18% on the previaus year as the Group
delivered strong revenue growth whilst
contralling osts in the business

Adjusted EPS

- D0.0p

20m 57 1p
0u 58 Op

Descripuen

Adjusted basic EPS 18 the profit after
tax for the yesr exciuding adjusting
items and related tax effects dwiced
by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares

Analysis

Adjusted basic EPS provides ameasure
of shareholder retum that s comparable
ovef me Adjusted EPS was lower year
enyear dus to the dilugae impace.

of the share placing last July to fund

the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland

orc Skyitatia

1-year CAGR

Total shareholder return

' S-year CAGR

Description

Total sharshoider return { TSR) represents
the change m value of a share held fora

12 month period to 30 June assurming

that dwidends are renwvested 1o purchase
20ditional shares at the close pnee
2pplcable on the ex drdend date

The value of the share 13 based on the
average share pnce over the three months.
prior to 30 June

Analysis

TSR IEpresents 3 Lomparabie measure of
shareholder returm over ime Sky shares
outperfonmed the FTSE 100 ndex Sky s TSR
was 19% wiulst the FTSE 100 was 0% in the
year to June 2015

We have presented the resuits on an adjusted ke for bke basts for the full 12-month perniod to 30 June 2015 down to operating profilComparative figuees are translated at 8 constant

currency of €131 EY

For arecontikaton of statutory to adjusted measures page 144

Sky pic

I

SULNLIS jepueuy DIURUIADG nodas aEnes

UONBLLOUI K PIOLUIBYS



Annual Repart 2018

Our performance

(continued)

Operational key performance indicators

= 21.0m

20620 0mM
2:194m

Retall customers

Descnplion

A customer is defined as a subscriber to
oneof our TV packages or standatane
hame communications serices

Analysis

Akey element of our strategys Lo
continue adding new customers

In 2015 we aoded a total of 10 milhon
new customrers 45% maore thanthe
pnoryear wath record growtn in
Germany and the highest organic
growthinthe UK for 11 years

Total products

s 53.8m

00 492M
wa 44 5m

Descnption

Toral products is defined as the tatalof
2l pawg-for subscnption products taken
By our customers across tha Sky group
Inthe UK and Ireland this includes TV
HD Multiscreen Sky Go Extra 8roadband
Telephony and Line Rental inltaly this
incudes TV Multrvision Sky Online and
payng HD In Germarty angd Austna this
ndudes TV Second Smartcard Pramuum
Hand Sky Online

Anatysis

Akey element of our strategy s to
encourage new customers Lo take multiple
products when oimng and (o sell more
products to existag customers In 2015
we added 4 6 milhon products taking our
total subsenption products o almost

54 mitkon

Churn

UK & Ireland

Germany & Austna

ltaly

Descnplion

Churn represents the number of

total customers during the year who
temminated ther subscnpbons net

of former customers who renistated
their subscnption (wathin 12 months of
erminatng ther orginat subscaption)
expressed as a percentage of total
BVEraRe CUSIOMrers

Analynrs

Churn 1s & good measure of cusiomer
Toyaity which vs a key drver of value
for our busingss in each market
churn was under 10% whichwas
sigraficantly lower year on year
whustrating high customer loyalty

Seeing the bigger picture

Social reach

s 140,100

Our full set of independently assured kéy performance
indig ators used 1o measure our sustainability
performance can be found at sky com/biggerpistuse

Descnption

Qur social reach number represents
the number of young cecple who have
partcipated i owr socatintaives
across the Group

Anatysis

In the UK and Ireland we have a target
to reach one mullon young people by
2020 through Sty Academy In 2015 our
cumulatrve totalrs 231000° For the first
tme n 2014/15 we have coflected data
from our young people IUaLves m
Gerrnany and [taly for an overall social
reach Thises made up of 127000 for
Sky Academy in the UK and [reland

£ 200 for Sky Foundation? in Genmany
and 7900 for cur nitiatves i Italy
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Stratape report

Content

Programming investment

- £4,886mM

Descnption

Content investment rs the amount spent
every year bnnging the very best content to
our customens. This indudes wvestment n
Sicy channels, such as Sy 1in the UK and
ireland and Siey Unain ltaly it alss ncludes
ivestment in partner channels such &S U
Orsgovery Channgd or Natuonat Geographic
The amount spent on contentwil ndude the
cost of acquinng the nghts 1o programenes
made by olLhers, oF commissioning ongmnal
Programmes sursehves.

Analysis

W Brow Our CONLETE MWVESIMENT Every yearto
dfferentiate our propesibion and to gve our
astomers more of the TV they want towatch
Recantly we've ncreased our mvestment i
secunng nghts to non-TV products suchas
Sky Go- Sky Go Extra or SkyOndine

00 £4,662mM
21m £4,339m

Programiming spend
as % of revenue

s 43%

20w 43%
20m 42%

Descnplion

Ivestmentin content broadhy grows
m e wath the rate of revenue growth
aver the medmum Lenm

Anatysrs

Holding growth i other operating costs
bedow the rate of reverwe growth frees
Up CIPATLY LO INvest an Increasing
proporton of feveriues inthe content
that matters most Lo customers

Innovation

Descnpron
Sky Go customers are those that have
regstered Lo use our mobale TV serice

Sky Go customers

= 10.0m

Inncvation across mutuple technologies
enables the Group to expand iInto new
areas develop new revenue streams and
benefit from adjacent sectors tn 2005
two malbon mone customers registered
for Sky Ga across all of our markets

24 8 0mM
2 7 OmM

Connected customers

s 9.0m

4 6 8M
o3 33mM

Descnption

A connected customeys 5 one Lthat
has cannected ther Sky box tothe
internet and therefore has access
o Sky 3 60 demand sernces sich
asCatch Up TV and box sets

Andlysis

In 2015 we connected afurther two
mation customers across the Group
Connected custorners have access
10 awider range of content and
generally they will watch more pay
TV content. churn less and use more
of our transactional seraces

Carbon intensity
1142 tCOe/Em’

1 Independently assured by Delostte LLP
2 Sky Foundation is & separate legal entity its Board s answerable
to the respecivg regulatony authorises in Germany

Descnpuon

Carbon ntensity defined as tonnes of
€O, equivalent (tCO2) emissions relatve
to revenue, 1s one of the key performance
CUCATONS we USe Lo measure our
ervironmental performance Ourtotal
gross CO,e emsnons mctude 8!l drect
Greenhouse Gas emsssions across all

af our terntonies and are 128 819" 100,
for 201405

Analysis
In 2014115 our carbon intensity 1sinling
with that repos ted i previous years
noung that in 20445 we have reported
across all our termones We are working
on a set of Group ervimonment targets
for 201516
For €O, e/{mtemiory breakdown and
Progress agaanst our emusson targees
pages 71-72
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1= The Biackhist, Sky Lming HD SkyUX2 - The Affair Sky Atlantic KD Sky UK

3 = The Avengers SkyMovies HD All ternitones & = Jesswea Ennis. HiA, Sky Academy
Ambassador Sky UK S - England vs Austraba 2014 Autumnn Internationals

Rugby Union Sky Sports HP Sky UX & - Gomorrah Sky Atianuc HD A rernitones
7« Our peogle 8 - M3yweather v Pacqurao Boxing Sky Sports Box Office Sky UK
Shy Select Sky Deutschiand *

Sky pic
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Strateg repart

UK & Ireland

Customers Net customer growth
12.0m  +506k
Products Net product growth

38.0m  +3.3m

Sky dehvered an exceptional year's
performance in the UK and Ireland as
investments in content and connected
services delivered growth across all
areas of the business

Our strategy of segmenting the market using the comptementary
Sky and NOW TV brands helped achieve the highest organic
customer growth in 11 years with 506 000 net new customer
additrons over the year This was almost 50% more than the prior
year and took our customer base past the i2-miliionmilestone

At the same time we added 3 3 million new paid-for subscription
products taking us past 38 million products This reflects strong
demand across the board with accelerated growthinboth TV
and broadband

Increased customer satisfaction resulting from the growth of
connected TV services detivered a 110 basis-point reduction in
12-month ralling churn ta 9 8% our best performancein 11 years

1-Alex Crawfosd Sky News HD Sky UK 2 = Eafigld Haunting. Siey Lnang HD Sky LX

3 - Lewis Hamdtan wanrung at Abu Dhaly to become 2014 Formula One Workd Champeon,

Sky Sports Fi Sky UK. Sky Sport FI HD Sky Deutschiznd and Sky ltaha 4 - Parkinson Masterclass
Sky Arts HD Sky UK 5 = England vs Canada Women s Rugby Wartd Cup Fnal 2014 Sky Sporis, Sky UK
$ = 2014 Ryder Cup Sty Sports Ryder Cup Sky UK Sky Sport HD Sky Deutschiand and Sky Itaba
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Content

Much of our success in 2015 can be attnbuted to an ocutstanding
year on screen We increased the quality and range of programming
across our portfolio making particular progress in our strategy

to increase the volume and quality of our home-grown content

In entertauinment, we launched Fortsiturde in January our first oniginal
drama to premier simultaneously across all of our terntories
Reaching a total audience of 37 milion In the UK across the senes

it was Sky Atlantic s most successful eriginal drama to date and

the second most successful show ever to air on the channel

Elsewhere in the portfolio we launched a new Sky Arts on demand
service as part of a major refresh of our arts offering With over
1,000 hours of dedicated arts programming including programmes
commussioned and acquired exclusively for on demand the

new service underlines Sky s long-term commitment te the

arts Sky Arts will also benefit from new programming produced

n anew Arts Production Hub to be based wnMdan

Our partnerships with some of the world s leading content

producers continue to pay dividends The fifth senes of HBO

hit Game of Throneswas avallable to view by Sky and NOW Tv

customers at the same time as the US, with the finale achieving
.arecord audience of 31 milion Thus makes it the most-watched - — -

Sky entertainment programme ever tn Sky homes

In movies the strength of the partnerships we enjoy with the major
Hotlywood studios helped us continue to improve the offenng for
customers Overall consumption of movies was up 10% on the prior
year fuelled by the continued success of our on demand offering
On demand downloads surpassad SO0 million as custamers chose
from a library of more than 1000 movies

Stratagic report

In sport, we had a strong year on screen achieving record
performances across a range of different sports For the second
season runnng Sky showed 49 of the top 50 most watched Premer
League matches An exciung end tothe F1 season delivered tve ——
race audiences up 20% year on year - a record season for Flon

Sky Sports Meanwhile the World Darts Championship attracted a
peak audience of 17 midlion for the final in January the biggest-ever
audience for darts on Sky

Additionally we secured a number of key rights deals in the year
to ensure Sky Sparts remains the number one choice for sports
fans This included a significant wininthe Premier League s tender
processin February giving us the nghts to 126 ive Premier League
matches a season from 2016117 to 2018/19 This is three times as
many live matches as any other broadcaster including the best
match picks, and the most-watched slots 1n Lthe schedule
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SUALADE repot

UK & Ireland

(continued)

Innavatron

One of our prionties far 2015 was to use our leadership in innovation
to step change the viewing expenence for customers and make it
even easier for them to access our content however and whenever
theywant It

In the home we extended our lead as the UK's biggest connected
box platfarm connecting more than one milion customers over the
year 1o take aur connected base past seven million

with over 60% of all TV househalds now connected on demand
usage has continued to grow as customers embrace the greater

-chaice and flexibility it offers Total on demand downloads- -—— —
surpassed 15 billion in the year up 6Q0% year on year

Our investment in Sky Box Sets proved particularly popular with

the service, delivering viewing equivalent to our fourth most popular
Sky channel in 2015 We've also expanded our on demand library
elsewhere Including an increase 1n our dedicated lads’ programming
from 700 to 4 000 episodes

The growing penetration of connected devices 1s enabling us to
explot new revenue opportunities Sky Store Buy & Keep, our entry
Into the mowvie purchase sector, helped drive a 77% increase in Sky
Store revenues over the year We added new functionality in 2015
to enable customers to access ther mowvie collection from their
mobile device This means that customers can buy a mowig from
Sky and watch it at home in their sitting reom or enjoy 1t when
they are out and about

Thus was Just one development that helped us cement our position
as Europe s biggest mobile TV provider The number of Sky Go
registered households inthe UK and Ireland passed six milkon in
the year Meanwhile Sky Go Extra our pard-for mobile service which
offers the abiiity to watch on more devices and download content
towatch offline became Sky s fastest-growing product ever

1= %ky Box Sets SkyUK2 - Now TV Entertainment Pass Sky UK 3 = Sky AdSmart, Sky UK
4 - Swy Service app Sky UK 5 - Sky Hub wireless broadband router Sky UK
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Strategc report

2015 also saw us make great progress with our OTT streaming
service NOW TV, helping us to extend our reach into F

reeview homes Sales of sports passes almost trebled toclose to 15
rillion during the year thanks to a rebrand and the introduction of a
new sports weekly pass

Everything we see tells us that NOW TV customers tove the service
maore than one-third of NOW TV customers buy more than one
pass every month while the average NOW TV Entertainment pass
customer watches over five hours per week In addition the growth
n NOW TV s not cannibahising the Sky customer base with more
than 90% of all customers having never considered Sky before
SIgNING Up

Customer

In a fast-moving market with an ever-greater choice of products and
providers we believe that our capability in service delivery gives us
a competitive advantage We have conuinued to raise the bar in this
area in 2015

Qur main focus has been on simplifying the customer experience
Central to this is our Digital First programme which we have been
roling out across the UK and ireland Dunng the course of 2015 we
reduced the number of Inbound calls to our senice centres by N%

as record numbers of customers interacted with us via our senvice
app through our automated voice service or via the set-top box

At the same time we closed the year with our customer satisfaction
scores at ali-time highs This was reflected in the latest Ofcom
survey which showed Sky leadingthe market on customer
satisfaction, with the fewest complaints across our product set

The capabiity we have developed in service delivery also enables

us to bring new products to market quickly and at scale in January
we announced plans to add moblle voice and data services to

our customer offering in 2016 following the concluston of a new
partnership with Telefonica UK Buidding on the strength of the Sky
brand and our leadership in innovation and customer service we will
launch a range of exaiting new services that will enable us to exploit
new opportunitres for growth

Our customer-led approach means we take our responsibilities
senously For example, this year, we took an important next step
to protect our customers onhine with adjustments to our award-
winning onkne filtering tool Sky Broadband Shield We now make
sure the default setting is on’ unless customers choose otherwise
We ve contacted every one of our broadband customers to explain
the benefits and to lighlight ther options

Skyplc 2
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Strategic report

Germany & Austria

Customers Net customer growth
4.3m +467k
Products Net product growth

/Z1m +969k

Sky achieved an excellent year of growth in
Germany and Austna, attracting more new
customers than in any year since launch
thanks to nsing demand for our products
and services

Over the 12-month period we added 467000 customers to take
the base past four million

At the same time paid-for product growth totalled almost one

Content

In entertainment we made important progress towards extending
the range and quality of content on offer to customers in Germany
and Austnia with our first move into onginal content production
Scandinavian cnme drama 100 Code a co-production with Red
Arrow premeered in March attractung a total of 18 mullion views
across the senes Filming also started on a police cnme thriller
senes, Babylon Berlny Lo air inthe coming year

In addition 2015 was a big year for acquired content with Sky
customers enfoying more season premieres than ever before from
some of the world’s best content producers This included the
fifth senies of The Walking Dead and the final senes of True Blood

Qur partnershup with HBO delwered the excluswe launch of the fifth
senes of Game of Threnes on Sky Thrones HD Europess first channel
dedicated to asingle senes This set a new record for a show on

Sky in Germany and Austrid with 5 4 million views across the series
Reflecting the growing demand for Aexibility of viewing, Game of
Thrones senes 5 was also the most successful senes to date on

Sky Go

In movies Christmas came early for Sky customers and fans
of Star Wars when Sky Hits was re-branded Sky Star Wars HD

mullion, more than S0% higher than the previous yearthanks to - . — ' December, showng all six Star Wars hims around the dock

strong growth i HD

Continued take-up of two-year contracts helped drive churn down
to a record full-year low of 8 6% a full 180 basis points lower than
the pnoryear

1= 5tar Wars Episode I Sky Movies StarWars HD Sky UK Sy Star Wars HD Sky
Oeutschiand Sky Cnerna Star Wars HD Sky [talia 2 - Game of Thrones Talk Sky Atlante HD
Sky Deutschland 3 - Siey30 Sky Bundestiga HD ) Sky Dautschiand 4 « Sky Onhng box and
remaote Sky Deutschtand § = Bunthicktgut Sky Foundaton Sky Deutsehland

Ttus more than doubled the viewershup versus the pnor yoar,
with more than three mition people tuntng in over the two weeks
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{n sport, our Bundesliga coverage delivered a new ratings record n
2015 with more than six milkon views to the live action over a single
weekend at the end of February We also achieved a new record in
terms of share of viewing wath the Saturday afternoon match on
23 May winrung more than 14% of all TV viewing

Meanwhile we secured a new three-year deal for the exclusive ive
broadcasung nghts for all matches nvolving German and Austnan
teams in the UEFA Europa League starting from the 2015/16 season
We also broadened our offering with the nights to the IHF Handball
World Championship 2015 This brought 28 games exclusively live

to Sky subscribers including all German and Austrian national

team matches

Innovation

Burding on the success of our connected TV strategy n the UK,
we started to connect the first German and Austnan satellite
customers boxes to the internet in December It s early days but
almost 250 000 set-top boxes had already been connected in the
first six months to the end of June opening up access to a much
richer entertatnment experience for customers

Strategic report

Qut of the home we extended our lead as the number one provider
for mobile TV by launching Sky Go on Android devices in December
We also continued to build out the range of content available
inciuding the addition of a brand-new lifestyle section with 100
new programmas each month from partner channels

We extended our reach into the pay ight segment of the market
with the December launch of our Sky Online service Usinga
streaming box based on the same technology that has been

so popular in the UX Sky Online offers customers a choice of
two packages as well as a Supersport Day Ticket. for those with
either one of these packages This provides customerswith a
flexble user-fnandly and affordable way of accessing Sky s
premium content

Customer

We have made progress in building cur customer senvice capabiity
over the year This has been recogrised with a number of awards,
inctuding leader in the entertainment sector in the TOP SERVICE
Deutschiand 2015 competition

The importance we place on giving customers the best experience
from Sky extends to providing parents with easy-to-use tools to
help protect their family from unsuitable content Alongside PIN

—protection we provide a dedicated Kids-Zone on Sky Gowhichis —-

safe and secure
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Strategcreport

ltaly

Customers Net customer growth
I L4 : l I ‘ -
Preducts Net product growth

8.60m +387k

Sky in ltaly held its customer base stable
after three years of negative growth, a great
achievement given a challenging economic
environment

We ended the year with 4 7 million customers while paid-for products
increased by 387000 to 8 6 miulhign thanks to good growth in HD

In comman with our other markets, we delvered a sigrificant

reduction in churn i theyear The 12-month rolling churn figure was

S 6%, a dechne of more than four percentage points i two years As in
" the UK, rhuch of this improvement, can be attributed ta theTisé in the”

connected base and the resultant increase m customer satisfaction

Content

In entertainment, we continued to differentiate ourselves frem
the competition in [taly by iInvesting on screen to gve customers
an increasing range of high quality and distinctive programming

Much of the focus 1n 2015 went towards bullding the momentum
we've estabhshed in onignal production Crime drama Gomorrah

was sold to more than 100 countries and we commissioned a second
series to airn 2016 Meanwhile political senes 1992became the
second Sky drama after Fortitude to premuere smultaneoushy a¢ross
all five terntones 1992 achieved the biggest-ever audience for
anonginal scripted series in (taly at launch in the spring

There's more to jovk forward to in the coming year with the
announcement of The Young Pope a major new co-production
between Sky HBO and Canal+ Directed by Academy Award-winning
Paclo Sorrenting, the eight-part drama features fude Law in the
starnng role and will launch across all our markets next year

2015 also saw the announcement of plans far a new Sky Arts
Preduction Hub to be based in Milan Part of a major commitment to
the arts across the group, the Production Hub will act as a centre of
excellence, producing a slate of outstand:ing arts programming for

customers across all Sky terrtones in addition to locally
comrmssicned cantent (Ewill also focus on producing pan-European
events to celebrate the arts

Eisewhere our general entertainment channe, Sky Uno, builton
its reputation as the excdusive home of mainstream franchises
The latest senes of X Factor itaka and MasterChef itala delivered

a significant increase i ratings of more than 30% and 20%
respectively year on year while the successful launch of ttale s Got
Talent mada st the top-rated entertanment show debut on the
platform ever

We are monetising our Investment in content more broadly through
the expansion of our free-to-air offering on Digital Terrestrial
Television (OTT) In 2015 we launched news channel Sky TG24

on free-to-ar joning Cielo, our general entertanment channel
which grew wiewing 10% year on year

In sport, we further strengthened our domestic football offering by
securing the exclusve nghts to all 472 matches in Serie B football
for the next three seasons We also won the exclusive nghts to the
2016 European Qualifiers and the 2018 World Cup Qualkfiers Added
to aur nghts for all Sene A matches, with one-thurd exclusive and all
Europa League matches this confirms Sky Italia as the number one
choice for faotball fans

Away from football, we continued to extend the breadth of our
offering with the exclusve rights to the EuroBasket 2015
tournament and the Rugby World Cup in 2015

On screen, motorsports performed particularly strongly MotoGP
and Formula | grew therraungs by 30% and 24% respectively year
on year in 3 season tnwhich Itakian teams and drivers regained ther
competitiveness

4 - MasterChef Italia SkyUno HD Sky Itala 2 - TG24 for schoals Sky ftaka 3 = fuventus vs Roma Seqe A
Sky Sport HD Sky Itaha 4 - Sky Caloo Show Sky Sport HD Sky italia 5 - My Sky HD box Sky Itaha
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Strateg<c raport

Innovation

We underhined our position of leadershig 1n inngvation 0 katy with
a senes of important new !aunches designed to make it easier
to access and consume content

In the home, we drove a 51% increase in connected boxes toend
the year with more than one-thirg of all customers connected to
the internet, This growing penetration of connected devices fuelled
an explosionin on demand usage with total downloads more than
double the previous year

Out of the home regrstered househelds to Sky Go increased to
almost half of the base by year-end Sky Go s particularly valued
by sports fans, attracting an average of more than ha!fa mibon
streams at weekends

We openied up new headroom for growth in April with the l[aunch
of a new {PTV service in partnershipwith Telecom italia The new
service uses the first Sky PVR to work via satellite and IPTV
streaming to offer our Full content ine-up over broadband for
the first time Trus broadens our reach and gives us access to the
many ltalian households who are unable to install a satellite dish

The partnership with Telecom Italia 1s a key component to the
broadly-based growth strategy that also saw the launch of a new

Sky Onhine box In May The new box s based on the same technology
as the NOW TV box in the UK, and Sky Online box in Germany and
enables us to tap into a new segment of the market

Customer

As in our other terntones we know that our success comes from
a focus on customers and a mindset of embracing change in order
to provide customers with the best-possible expenence from Sky

We sought to streagthen our relationship with {talian customers
by increasing the rewards for layalty From April we reserved Sky Go
for those customers that have beenwith Sky for more than a year
We also sought toincrease customer engagement by upgrachng
our customer reward programme with a series of new initiatives
and benefits

In order to give parents more control over the type of content thesr
children watch we introduced Parental Control Activated through
aremote device s avafable to all Sky customersin [{aly

Alongside this, we have continued our focus to improve the quality
and flexibihity of our customer service by moving more of our
customer interacbions onhine We reduced our calls per customer
by 12% over the year with downloads to our seif-service mobile
app surpassing 1 Smillion by year-end
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1+ The Blackhst. Sky Lmng HD SkyUK 2 - The AMfarr Sky Atlantic HD Sky UK

3 - The Avengers Sky Movies KD Allterrtones 4 - Jessica Enns-Hill Sky Academy
Ambassacor Sky UK 5 - Englancvs Aystraha, 2074 Autumn temationals,

Rugby Uruon Sky Sports HD Sky UK § - Gomaorrah Sky Atlantic HD AR Larfitones
7 - Owr peaple B - Mayweather vs Pacquias Boning, Sky Sports Box Office SkyUK
Sky Setect, Sky Deutschland
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SLAALREK faport

UK & Ireland

Customers Net customer growth
12.0m +506k
Products Net product growth

380m  +3.3m

Sky delivered an exceptional year's
performance in the UK and Ireland as
investments In content and connected
services delivered growth across all
areas of the busmness

Qur strategy of segmenting the market using the complementary
Sky and NOW TV brands helped achieve the highest organic
customer growth in 11 years with 506 Q00 net new customer
additions over the year This was almost 50% more than the pnor
“ year and took our customer base past the 12-milion milestone

At the same time we added 3 3 million new patd-for subscription
products, taking us past 38 million products This reflects strong
demand across the board with acceterated growth mboth TV
and broadband

In¢creased customer sausfaction resulting from the growth of
connected TV services delivered a 110 basis-pomnt reduction in
12-month rolling churn to 9 8%, our best performance in 1 years

1-Algy Crawford Sky News HD Sky UK 2 - Enfutld Haunting, Sky Lving HO Sky UK

3 - Lewas HamIton wnvung at Abu Dhabx Lo become 2014 Farmuts One World Charmpion

Sky Spores F1 Sky UX Sky Sport FIHD Sky Ceutschland and Sky ftaha 4 - Parkingson Masterclass
Sky Asts HD Sky UK 5 - England vs Canada Women s Rugby Weorkd Cup Final 2074 Sky Sports Sky UK
6 - 2014 Rycler Cup Sky Sports Ryder Cup, Sky UK Sky Spart HD Sky Deutschiand and Sky itaka
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Content

Much of our success m 2015 can be attributed to an qutstanding
year on screen We increased the quality and range of programming
across our portfolio, making particular progress i our strategy

to Increase the votume and quality of our home-grown content

In entertainment we launched Fortitude n January, our first ariginal
drama to premier simultaneously across all of our terntones

Reaching atotal audience of 37 milion inthe UK across the senes
it was Sky Atlantic’s most successful onginal drama to date and

the second most successful show ever to ar on the channel

Elsewhere in the portfoho we launched a new Sky Arts on demand
senvice as part of a major refresh of our arts offering With over
1000 hours of dedicated arts programming including programmes
commissioned and acquired excusively for on demand, the

new service underlines Sky's long-term commitment to the

arts Sky Arts will also benefit from new pregramming produced

in a new Arts Production Hub to be based in Milan

Our partnersheps with some of the warld s leading content
producers conunue to pay dvidends The fifth seres of HBO
hit Game of Thrones was avadab'e to view by Sky and NOW TV
customers at the same time as the LS, with the finale achieving
arecord audience of 31 mililon This makes_it the most-watched
Sky entertainment programme ever in Sky homes

In mowvies the strength of the partnerships we enjoy with the major
Hollywood stuchos helped us continue to improve the offering for
customers Overall consumption of movies was up 10% on the prior
year fuelled by the continued success of our on demand offering
On demand downloads surpassed 500 million as customers chose
from a library of more than 1000 movies

Strategs report

In sport, we had a strong year on screen achieving record
performances across arange of different sports For the second
season running Sky showed 49 of the top 50 most watched Prermer
League matches_An exciting end tothe Fl seasondelivered ive_
race audiences up 20% year on year - a record season for Flon

Sky Sports Meanwhite the World Barts Championship attracted a
peak audience of 1 7 million for the finalin January, the biggest-ever
auchence for darts on Sky

Additicnally we secured a number of key rights deals in the year
to ensure Sky Sports remans the number one choice for sports
fans This in¢luded a significant win tn the Premier League’s tender
process in February, giving us the rights to 126 lve Premier League
matches a season from 201617 to 2018/19 Thiss three umes as
many ive matches as any other broadcaster including the best
match picks, and the most-watched slots i the schedule
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Strategic report,

UK & lreland

{continued)

nnovation

One of our priontes for 2015 was to use our leadership in inncvation
to step change the viewing experience for customers and make it
even easter for them to access our content however and whenever
theywant it

In the home we extended our lead as the UK s biggest connected
box platform connecting more than one million customers over the
year to take our connected base past seven million

with over 60% of all TV households now connected on demand
usage has continued to grow as customers embrace the greater
_ _—choice and flexibihty it offers Total on demand downloads

surpassed 15 bithon n the year, up 60% year on year

Our investment in Sky Box Sets proved particularly popular with

the service delivering viewing equivalent to our fourth most popular
Sky channel in 2015 We ve also expanded cur on demand hbrary
elsewhere, Including an increase in our dedicated kids' programming
from 700 to 4 000D episodes

The growing penetration of connected devices 1s enabling us to
exploit new revenue opporturities Sky Stare Buy & Keep our entry
into the mowvie purchase sector helped drive a 77% increase in Sky
Store revenues over the year We added new functionality in2015
to enable customers to access their movie collection from the:r
motxle device This means that customers can buy a mowvte from
Sky and watch it at home in their siting room or enjoy it when
they are out and about

Thss was just one development that helped us cement our position
as Europe s biggest mobile TV provider The number of Sky Go
registered households in the UK and Ireland passed s mullion
the year Meanwhile Sky Go Extra our paid-for mobile service which
offers the ability to watch on more devices and download content
towatch of fline became Sky's Fastest-growing product ever

1 - SkyBox Sets Sky UX 2 - Now TV Entertainment Pass Sky UK 3 = Sky AdSmart Scy UK
4 -Sky Service app Sky UK 5 - Sky Hub wireless broadband router Sky UK
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2015 also saw us make great progress with our OTT streaming
service NOW TV helping us to extend our reach into Freeview
homes Sales of sports passes almost trebled to close to 15 million
during the year thanks to a rebrand and the introduction of a new
sports weekly pass

Everything we see tells us that NOW TV customers love the service
more than one-third of NOW TV customers buy more than one
pass every month while the average NOW TV Entertainment pass
customer watches over five hours per week In addition, the growth
in NOW TV 15 not cannibalising the Sky customer base with more
than 90% of all customers having never considered Sky before
SIENINg Up

Customer

In a fast-moving market with an ever-greater choice of products and
providers we believe that our capability in service delivery gives us
a competitwe advantage We have continued toraise the bar in this
area in 2015

Qur marmn focus has been on simphfying the customer experience
Central to this is our Digital First programme which we have been
rolfing out across the UK and Ireland During the course of 2015 we
reduced the number of inbound calls to our service centres by 11%

as record numbers of castomeérs Ntéracted WithUs wa our service™
app through our automated voice service or via the set-top box

At the same time we closed the year with our customer satisfaction
scores at all-tme highs This was reflected in the latest Ofcom
survey which showed Sky leading the market on customer
satsfaction with the fewest complaints across our product set

The capability we have developed in service delivery aiso enables

us to bring new products to market quickly and at scale In January
we announced plans te add mobile voice and data services to

our customer offering in 2016 following the condusion of a new
partnership with Teleforuica UK Buillding on the strength of the Sky
brand and our leadership 1n innovation and customer service, we will
launch a range of exaiting new senaces that will enable us to exploit
new opportunities for growth

Our customer-led approach means we take our responsibilities
seniously For example this year, we took an important next step
to protect our customers onhne with adjustments to our award-
winmung onhne filtering tool Sky Broadband Shield We now make
sure the default setting 1s on unless customers choose otherwise
We've contacted every one of our broadband customers to explain
the benefits and to fughkght therr options
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Stratege raport

Germany & Austria

Customers Net customer growth
4.3m +467k
Products Net product growth

/im +969k

Sky achieved an excellent year of growth in
Germany and Austria, attracting more new
customers than in any year since launch
thanks to rising demand for our products
and services

Over the 12-month period we added 467000 customers to take
the base past four milhon

Al the same tme, paid-For product growth totalled almost one
-mitlion, more than 50% higher than the previous year.thanks to

Content

In entertainment, we made important progress towards extending
the range and quahty of content, on offer to customers inGermany
and Austria withour first move into onginal content production
Scandinavian crime drama 100 Code a co-production wath Red
Arrow premiered in March attractinga total of 18 mifionviews
across the series Filmung also started on a police crime thriller
senes, Babylon Berlin to airin the coming year

In addition 2015 was a big year for acquired content with Sky
CUSTOMErS enjoyINg More Season premieres than ever before from
some of the world s best content producers This included the
fifth senes of The Walking Dead and the Final senes of True Blood

Cur parthershipwith HBO delivered the exclusive launch of the fifth
series of Game of Thrones on Sky Thrones HD Europes first channel
dedicated to asingle senes Ttus set a new record for a show on

Sky inGermany and Austnia with 5 4 million views across the series
Reflecting the growing demand for flexibility of viewing, Game of
Thrones senes Swas also the most successful senes ta date on

Sky Go

In movies Christmas came early for Sky customers and fans
of Star Wars when Sky Hits was re-branded Sky Star Wars HD

strong growth in HD

Continued take-up of two-year contracts helped drive churn down
to a record Full-year low of 8 8% a full 180 basis pomnts lower than
the pnor year

1 - Star Wars Episode IV Sky Mowes Star Wars HD Sky U Sky Star Wars HD Sky
Deutschiaad Sky Cnema Star Wars HD Sky ltalia 2 - Game of Thranes Talk Sky Atlantc HD
Sky Deutschland 3 - Sky80 Sky Bundesliga HD 1 Sky Deutschiand 4 - $ky Online box 2nd
remote Sky Deutschtand § - Buntkicktgut Sky Foundation Sky Seutschland

In December, showing all six Star Wars films around the clock
This more than doubled the viewership versus the prior year
with more than three milion peopte tuning in over the two weeks
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In sport our Bundes|iga coverage delivered a new raungs record in
2015 with more than six million views to the live action over a single
weekend at the end of February We also achreved a new record mn
terms of share of viewing with the Saturday afternoon match on
23 May winning more than 14% of all TV viewing

Meanwhile, we secured a new three-year deal for the exclusve live
broadcasting nghts for all matches invohing German and Austrian
teams in the UEFA Europa League, starting from the 201516 season
We also broadened our offening with the rights to the IHF Handball
World Champicnship 2015 This brought 28 games exclusively live

to Sky subscnbers induding all German and Austnan natianal

team matches

Innovation

Building on the success of our connected TV strategy in the UK,
we started o connect the first German and Austnan satethte
customers’ boxes to the internet in December It's early days but
almost 250 000 set-top boxes had already been connected in the
first six months to the end of June opening up access to a much
ncher entertainment expenence for customers

Strategic report

Out of the home we extended ourlead as the number one provider
for mobile TV by launching Sky Go on Android devices in December
We also continued to build out the range of content available,
incluchng the addition of a brand-new lifestyle section with 100
new programmes each month from partner channels

We extended our reach into the pay ight segment of the market
with the December faunch of our Sky Cnhine service Usinga
strearming box based on the same technotogy that has been

so popularin the UK Sky Online offers customers a choice of
two packages as well a5 a Supersport Day Ticket for thosewith
either one of these packages This provides customerswitha
Flexible user-frrendly and affordable way of accessing Sky s
premium content

Customer

We have made progress in buillding our customer service capability
over the year This has been recognised with a number of awards,
inchuding leader in the entertainment sector in the TOP SERVICE
Deutschland 2015 competition

The importance we place on grving customers the best experience
from Sky extends to providing parents with easy-to-use tools to
nelp protect therr famdy from unsustable content Alongside PIN

protection we provide a dedicated Kids-Zone on Sky Go which ==
safe and secure
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ltaly

Customers Net customer growth
4./m
Praducts Net product growth

38.6m +387k

Sky in ltaly held its customer base stable
after three years of negative growth, a great
achievement given a challenging economic
environment

We ended the year with 4 7 million customers, while paid-for products
increased by 387000 to 8 & milbon thanks to good growth in HD

In comman with aur other markets, we delvered a significant
reduction in churn in the year The 12-month rolfing churn figure was
9 6% adechine of more than four percentage points Intwoyears Asin

1]
customers across all Sky terntones in addition wo locally
commissioned content 1t will also focus on producing pan-European
events to celebrate the arts

Elsewhere, our general entertainment channel, Sky Uno tuilt on
Its reputation as the exclusive home of manstream franchises
The latest senes of X Factor Itaka and MasterChef italia delivered

a sigmificant ncrease in ratings of more than 30% and 20%
respectively year onyear, while the successful launch of Italha s Got
Tatent made it the top-rated entertainment show debut on the
platform ever

We are monetising our investment in content more broadly through
the expansion of our free-to-air offering on Digital Terrestrial
Telewision (DTT) In 2015, we launched news channel Sky TG24

on free-to-air joiming Cielo aur general entertainment channel
which grew viewing 10% year on year

the UK much of this improvemént can be attriSuted to the nse in the
connected base and the resultant increase in customer satisfacticn

Content

In entertainment, we continued to differentiate ourselves from
the competition in ltaly by investing on screen Lo give customers
anincreasing range of high guahty and distinctive programmng

Much of the focus in 2015 went towards building the momentum
weve establhshed in onginal preduction Crime drama Gomeorrah

was sold to more than 100 countries and we commissioned a second
senes to air in 2016 Meanwhile political senes 1992became the
second Sky drama after Fortitude to premiere simultancously across
all Frve terntories 1992 achieved the biggest-ever audience for

an onginal scnpted seres in [taly atlaunch n the spong

There s more to look forward to 1n the coming year with the
announcement of The Young Pope a major new co-production
between Sky HBO and Canal+ Directed by Academy Award-winning
Paolo Sorrenting, the eight-part drama features Jude Law in the
starnng role and will launch across all our markets next year

2015 also saw the announcement of plans for a new Sky Arts
Production Hub to be based in Milan Part of a major commitment to
the arts across the group, the Production Hub will act as a centre of
extellence producing a slate of outstanding arts programming for

securing the excusive nghts to all 472 matches in Sere B football
for the next three seasons We aiso won the exchusive nghts to the
2016 European Quahfiers and the 2018 World Cup Qualifiers Added
to our nghts for all Serie A matches with one-third exclusive and all
Europa League matches this confirms Sky Italia as the number one
charce for football fans

Away from football we continued to extend the breadth of our
offenng with the exclusive nights to the EuroBasket 2015
tournament and the Rugby World Cup n 2015

On screen motorsports performed particularly strongly MotoGP
and Formula 1 grew their raungs by 30% and 24% respectively year
onyear in a season in which ltalan teams and drivers regained their
competitiveness

1 -MasterChef Itaha Sky Uno HD Sky [talia 2 - TG24 for schoals Sky ltalia 3 - Juventusvs Rama Sene A
Sky Sport D Sky ltaka 4 — Sky Calcio Show Sky Sport HD Sky ftaha 5 = My Sky HD box Sky itaka

In sport we farther strengthened our domestic foothal offening by —
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Innovation

We underlined our postition of leadership in Innavation m italy with
a senes of important new launches designed to make it easter
to access and consume content

tn the home, we drove a 51% increase in connected boxes to end
the year wvith more than one-third of all customers connected to
the internct This growing penetration of connected devices Fuelled
an explosion in on demand usage with total downloads more than
double the previous year

Out of the home, registered households to Sky Go increased to
almost half of the base by year-end Sky Go 1s particularly valued
by sports fans attracting an average of more than half a milon
streams at weekends

We opened up new headroom For growth in Apni with the launch
of a new IPTV service in partnership with Telecom ltalla The new
service uses the first Sky PVR to work via satellite and 1PTV
streaming to offer our full content ine-up over broadband for
the first time Thss broadens our reach and gwves us access to the
many Italian households who are unable to install a sateliite dish

The partnership wath Telecom Itaha s a key component to the
broadly-based growth strategy that also saw the launch of a new

Sky Online ben in May The new box 1s based on the'same technology
as the NOWTV box inthe UK and Sky Onhineg box in Germany and
enables us to tap into a new segment of the market

Customer

As In our other terntores, we know that our success comes from
a focus on customers and a mindset of embracing change tn order
to provide customers wath the best-possible experience from Sky

We sought to strengthen our relationship with [talian customers

by increasing the rewards for loyalty From Apnl we reserved Sky Go
for those customers that have beenwith Sky for more than a year
We also sought to inCrease customer engagement by upgrading
our customer reward programme with a senes of new iIntiatives
and benefits

In order to gve parents more control over the type of content their
children watch, we introduced Parental Control Activated through
aremote device, it 1s available 1o all Sky customers tn Italy

Alongside this we have continued our focus to improve the quality
and flexibility of our customer service by mowving more of our
customer interactions onling We reduced our calls per customer
by 12% over the year with downloads to our self-service mobile

app surpassing 1 5 milon by year-end
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1 ~New England Patriats 2015 NFL champons
Super Bowl Sky Sports HD Sky UK 2 = True Detectve
Sky Attanuc HD ABternitomes 3 = Sky Frauenlauf
Sky Foundatan Sky Deutschiand 8 - Sky Go

Afl ternzones 5 - Stand Up Be Counted,

Election 2015 Sky News witrasve Sky UK

6 - Serena Williams LS Open 2004 champion
Sky Sports HD Siey UK 7 = Sky Sports Lving for
Spart Awards Sky Academy Sky UK 8 = Sky Ride
Sky UK 9 - Sky Acadeny Skilts Studos Sky UK
1 = A Leagus of Thewr Own Sky THD Sky UK
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Financial review

We achieved an excellent year of growth
across the group Ourinvestments in

the viewing experence attracted record
numbers of customers to join Sky and drove
loyalty among existing customers to new
highs with churn under 10% 1in each market
This operational performance translated
Into strong revenue growth and, alongside
our good cost control, this resulted in an
18% Increase n operating profit and over

£1 billion of operating free cash flow We also
propose a further 3% ncrease in the dividend

Andrew Gniffith, Group Chief Financial Officer

Adyusted operaung profit Adsted basic EPS
£14bn  56.0p
Dwidend

32.8p

Group financial performance

To provide a more representative analysis of ongoing performance
of the Group all commentary down to the operating profit

level for the Group is on an adjusted basss as if we had owned
Germany and Italy for the full year from 1 July The financial results
of Germany and ltaly are translated into sterling ot a constant
currency rate of €131 €1

Unless otherwise stated adjusted figures befaw are from
conunuing operauons and on a recurning basis excluding o)

the impact of Sky Bet as this 1s presented as a discontinued
coperation n) set-top-box sales to italy which are now an mtragroup
transaction, and ) ESPN carnage revenue in the UK and Ireland
from Y14 comparatrves aswe nolonger retall the channel

Numbers below the operatng profit ine for the Group consolidate
Germany and Italy only for the actual penod of ownership from
12 November and are on an adjusted bass

Our statutory financial repor ting consohdates Germany and italy
for the penod from 12 November 2014 to 30 June 2015 Duning this
penod Itaty contnbuted revenue of £1 297 milkon and operating
profit of £25 mill:ion while Germany contributed revenue of

£866 mihion and an operating loss of £21 mihon

28 Skypl




Anrwal Report 2015

Revenue

We achieved excefient growth in Group revenues which were up

5% to £11,283 milion (2014 E10 776 million) Revenue in Germany
was up 9% to £1,377 millon (2014 E1262 million) whilst revenue tn
the UK was up 6% to £7820 million (2014 £7 368 millon} Revenues
m ltaly rernammed resihent at £2.086 mikon (2014 £2140 mithon)
despite the tough economic backdrop

We have delivered strong rates of growth across all of our man
revenue streams with good consumer demand for cur products
and services helping drive subscription revenue up 5% whilst
transactional revenue was our fastest growing area wath revenue
up 22% We also achieved good growth in both advertising

(+4%) and whotesale (+5%) revenues highlighting the strength

of our ability to monetise content

Subscrption revenue growth of 5% was underpanned by excellent
customer growth across the group of almost one mikon customers
and strong product growth of 4 6 million with the largest proportion
of revenue growth continuing to be delvered through the UK where
revenues were up over £300 millon Alongside this, our best year of
customer growth tn Germany drove a 10% increase in subscription
revenues, whilst in italy we held total customers and revenua flat

Transacuonal revenues increased by 22% to £173 mtion (2014

Stratege report

We delivered good growth in advertising revenues of 4% to

£716 milhion (2014 £690 milion) with Germany delwering excellent
growth of 26% through higher sellout rates and increased inventory
argund Bundesliga Advertising revenues in the UK grew strongly up
5% due to the benefit of Incremental AdSmart revenues combined
with Sky Media increasing their share of net advertising revenue by
almest 170 basis points, whale advertising revenue was down in [taly
as we lapped the €27 millon benefit of the FIFA World Cup revenues
n Q4 last year

Costs

Total Group costs grew by just 3% well below the rate of revenue
growth, to £9 883 million (2014 £9 531 million) as we maintained
tight discipline over our operating cost base while continuing to
invest where our customers see the greatest value

Programming costs increased 5% in hne with revenue growth as we
increased the depth and breadth of our offering We launched the
exclusve ITV Encore channel in the UK in June 2014 and expanded
our channel ine-up in Germany, as well as having a full-year impact
of the new Sky Atlantic channel in (taly We cantinue to invest in
adiverse content portfolio with an enhanced box set offeringin
the UK and increased investment on Sky ongmated content, with
successes including Fortitude and 1952 The strong growth in

£142 million) as we benefited from the success of our Buy and
Keep service which surpassed weekly revenue of E1 millhionin Q4
and NOW TV transactions which totalled almost 1 5 mihion over
the past 12 months

Qur content-related revenues also performed well Wholesale and
syndication revenuas were up 5% to E550 millien (2014 £524 miilicn)
fargely dnven by contitued growth in the UK where revenues were
up 19% as success on screen led Lo more Favourable terms for our
channels with wholesale partners Alongside this, revenues were
strong through the distnibution of our programming internationally
and the first time consoldation of Znak&tones and Love
Productions In ltaly underlying wholesale revenues were broadly
flat year on vear (excluding the benefitin the prior year from
Champicns League resale revenues), whalst revenues in Germany
were slightly down following the successful migration of former
Deutsche Telekom wholesale customers to a retail relationship

In the prior year

Sky Stere revenues has drnven anincrease i our transactional
programming costs

Qur netwerk costs in the UK were up only 3% wel below the rate
of home communications revenue growth

Sales General and Administration costs grew by just 1% as the
higher up-front cost of strong subscriber growth tn Germany was
offset by efficilencres made across the UK and Italy as part of ther
respective operating efficiency programmes
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Financial review

(continued)

Profits and earnings

Operating profit grew strongly up 18% to £1400 million (2014
£1185 miflion) as we combined excellent revenue growth with
careful choices within our cost base whist continuing to invest
inprogramrung This has driven a 140 basis point expansion in
Qur operating margin

The share of joint ventures and associates' profits was £28 mifion
(2074 £35 million) and net finance costs increased by £ milion
to E200 mullion (2014 E109 million) due to the interest charge
associated with an additional £5 4 bilhon of gross debt that we
1ssued during the year

The tax charge of £251 milion (2014 £237 milion) was at an
effectve tax rate of 21%

Profit after tax for the year grew by 6% to £945 million (2014

£832 mithon) resulting in adjusted earrings per share of 56 0 pence
(2014 571 pence) after accounting for the higher number of shares
following our issuance in July 2014 Over the year the weighted
average number of shares excluding those held by the Employee
Share Cwnerstop Plan { ESOP) for the settement of employee share
awards was 1690 million (2014 1,562 milhon) The closing number of
shares excluding the ESOP shares at 30 June 2015 was 1704 milhon
(2014 1,546 milion)

Group cash flow and financial position

Group free cash flow mcreased year on year by 20% to £1060 milion
(2074 £885 milien) while net debt increased to £5 056 million (2014
E1212 mullion) as a result of the acquisitton of Sky Deutschland andg
Sky ltalia i November 2014 Gross debt as at 30 June 2015was
£7.534 milhon with cash of £2478 milion The ratio of net debt

to EBITDA at 30 June 2015 was approximately 2 5 times Sky has
aninvestment grade credit rating beng rated B8B by Standard

& Poors and Baa2 by Moody s bothwith stable outlook

Norn-
Cash cash
move- move As at 30
As at1Juy ments ments June 2015
2014 Em £m Em Em
Current horrewangs n - 483 494
Non-current berrewings 2658 5082 (322 7418
Borrowings-related derwvative
financial iInstruments. (80) - (298) (378)
Gross debt 2589 5082 {137) 7534
Cash and cash equivalents 1082 (296) - (1378)
Shert-term deposits (295) ¢805) - Q100)
Net debt 1202 398 3n 5 056

Balance Sheet
During the year total assets increased by £8 909 mullon to

Adjusting items

Statutory profit for the year includes a gawn of over £1billion
relating to a £492 millien gain on the disposat of avalable-for-sale
nvestments, a £299 milhon gain on the chsposal of our stake in
the National Geographic Channel, and a profit of €600 million on
the sale of a controling stake in Sky Bet This was partially offset
by operating expenses of £396 million principally comprising the
costs of a corporate effictency and restructuring programme
the costs of a programme to replace aged customer equipment,
adwisory and rransaction fees incurred on the purchase of

Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia costs of integrating those
businesses in the entarged Group and the ongoing amartisaton
of acquired intangible assets

Statutory profit after tax was £1332 million (2014 £B20 million)

Following the sale of a controlling stake in Sky Bet on 19 March 2015
the results of Sky Bet are now presented as a discontinued operation
The sale resulted in a profit on disposat of £600 million which 1s
ncluded within profis, for the year from discontinued operations

For & reconol:atan of SLatutory to agusted numbers page 144

£15 358 milllon at 30 June 2015 Non-current assets in¢reased
by £6 923 million to £10799 miullon pnmanly due to an Increase
of £3141 milion nn goodwlland an increase of £3,274 mithon in
intangible assets largely as a result of the recognition of goodwill
and customer contracts and relationships recognised onthe
acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltaha Current assets
increased by £1986 milion to £4 559 milbon at 30 June 2015
principally due to a £805 mihon increase in short-term deposits
a £461 milhon increase in current trade and other receivables
and a £301 milhon Increase ininventones Current inventones
and trade and other recewvables have increased mainty due to
the impact of the consolidavon of the inventories and trade
and other recevables of Sky Deutschland and Sky itaha

Total kabilities increased by £6 757 milion to £12134 million at

30 June 2015 Current liabiities increased by £1,685 milion to
£4,204 milion, prmarily due to a £1)44 milion increase in trade
and cther payables due to the impact of the consolidation of the
trade and other payables of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itala and a
E483 millonincrease in current borrowings Non-current iabilities
increased by €5 072 milhon to £7930 mithon, principally due to

a £4 760 millon increase in the Group s non-current borrowings
Current and non-current borrdwings have increased as a result

of the 1ssue of euro dollar and stering bonds inthe year
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Distnbutions to Shareholders

The Directors’ proposed final dvidend of 20 5 pence per share
takes the total dvidend payable in respect of the financial year
to 32 B pence per share an increase of 3% on last year

The proposed dividend continues the track record of sharehalders
benefiting from our strong financal performance and represents
the Nth consecutive year-on-year increase in the divdend

The ex-dividend date will be 22 October 2015 and, subyject

to sharehclder approval at the 2015 Annual General Meeting,
the final dacend of 20 5 pence wili be paid on 20 November
2015 to shareholders appeanng on the register at the close
of business on 23 October 2015

Past balance sheet events

Purchase of minanty interests in Sky Deutschland

As announced on 17 February 2015 Sky initiated the necessary
steps for the transfer of the remaining approximately 4% minonty
shareholdings in Sky Deutschland The requisite shareholder
resolution was subsequently approved by 99 4% of shareholders
at an Extraordhnary General Meeting of Sky Deutschland on

22 July 2015 and we expect the formal transfer of the mmnonty
shareholdings to be effective in the second quarter of the 2015116

Strategx report

financial year
For more detail seenote 313 page 130
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Strateg report

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group risk register 1s reported formally to the Audit Commuttee twice

a year and focused risk reporung on selected themes occurs on a guarterly
basis Addinonal informatian on the Group s internal contral and nsk
management processes Is set out in the Corporate Governance Report

and the Audit Cornmittee Report

For Corporate Governange report pages 40-50

Detaited conirgls and any retevant acuion plans are prepared for the Audit
Commuttee as part of the formal halfoyearty raporting process Additionaky
we have established a procedure to monitor nsks and any changes thereto
across the Group Any relevant nformanon ansing from such monitaring 1s
also reported to the Audit Committee

This secuon deserbes the current principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group In addition to summansing the matenal nsks and uncertainties
the table below gives examples of how we mibgate thase nisks

The Greup has a formal nsk management framewoark embedded within the
business to support thedentification and effectve management of risk
across the Group

The divistons within the Group are each responsible for managing and
reportng risk in accordance with the Group s nsk management policy and
standards that have been approved by the Audit Commuttee The nisks are
then cansolidated into a Group resk register which provides an overview of
the Group nsk profile taking into account thebroader geographical spread
and larger scale of the Group followang the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland
and Sky Italia

Description of ngk

Mitrgation

Market and competition

The Group operates i a ughly competitive environment and faces
competition from a broad range of orgamsations Technological
developments also have the ability to create new forms of quickly
evolving competition

Afailure to develop the Group s product proposition Inhae with
changing market dynamics and expectations could erode the
Group s competibve posiuon

Greal content 15 centfal to Sy s prodict propoaition and increased
competstion could impact the Group s atelity to acquire content that
our customers want on commercially attractive terms

Economuc conditions have been challenging in recent years across
the territornies in which the Group operates and the futura remains
uncertain A significant economic dechine in any of those territones
could impact the Group s abidity to continue to attract and retain
customers ;m that terntory

The Group continues to make significant investments in innovation

The Group s product development strategic aim i1s to be at the forefront
of progressive technology

Please sea the Innovatton section on page 7 of the Group Chwef
Executive s Statement for further detalls of these praducts

The Group regularly reviews its pnicing and packaging structures to ensure
thatits product propostbon is appropnately placed withan the market

The Group works ciosely with its marketing partners to ensure that the
value of its offering 15 understood and commuricated effectively toits
customers

The Group makes significant irvestmentin the angnabion of content
as well as in agquisttion from across the world

The Group also works to develop and maintain the brand value assocated
with its indmvidual channels

2 Skyple




Annual Report 2015

SUBtepc report

Description of nsk

Mitigation

Regulatory breach and change

The Group 15 subject to regulauon pramarily under Austnan German
Insh Italan UK and European Union legislabion

The regimes which apply to the Group s business include but are not
lwmited to

+ Broadcasting - as a peovider of audiovisual medsia services the Group
15 subject to Austnan German Itahan and UK icensing regimes under
the apphcable broadcasting and communicabions legistation These
obligations include requirements to comply with retevant codes and
directions issued by the relevant regulatory authonties including
for example in the UK Ofcoms Broadcasting Code Codeon the
Scehaduling of Telewision Advertising and Cross Promotions Code

Technical services - as a provider of certain techmical services
i the UK and Germany Sky UX and Sky Deutschland are subject
to regutation in their respective countries and

Telecommunications - Sky UK s subject to the General Conditions
of Enutlement adopted under the Communications Act 2003 (UK)
and the Canditions for the provision of Electroric Communications
Networks and Services under the Commumcations Regulation Act
2002 (reland) which impose detaned requirements on providars
of communications networks and services

The Group 15 also subject to generally apphcable legislation includmg

but.nat lizted to, competition (Botitiust) antizbribecy cansumer____ Committae, to maptar compliance and performance aganst the

protaction data protection and taxabon

The Group 15 currently and may be in the future subject to proceedings
and/ar investigation and enquines from regulatory and antitrust
authonties

Please sce page 36 of the Regulatory Matters secbion for further detads

The Group’s ability to operate or compete effectively could be adversety
affected by the cutcome of nvestigations or by the introducton of new
laws polaies or regulations changeswn the interpretation or apphcation
of exsung laws palieies and regulatans, or fature to abran required
regulatory approvals or hcences Please see page 36 of the Regulatory
Matters secuon for further details

The Group manages these nisks through actve engagement in the
regulatory processes that affect the Group s business

The Group actvely seeks to denbfy and meet 1ts regulatory obhgations
andg to respond to emerging reguirements This indudes for exampte

+ Broadcasting - comphance controls and processes are in place in the
Groups content services Intaraction with the relevant regulatory
authorities s co ordinated betweaen the relevant local Compliance
Regulatory and Legal departments

.

Technical services - wathrespect to the provision of certain techmical
senrnces tn the UK and Germany processes are in place to meniter
thrd-party broadcaster access to the relevant broadcast platforms
and to ensure that this rs prowided on fair reasonable and
non-discnminatory terms

Telecommunications - compliance controls and processes are in
place in the UK and Ireland overseen by the Customer Compliance

General Congitions of Entitlernant and the Conditions for the prowsion
of Electrone Commurications Networks and Services

The Group maintains appropnate oversight and reporung, supported
by rainung to provide assurance thatitis compliant vath regulatory
requirgments

Customer senice

A sigruficant part of the Group s business s based on a subscription
model and its future success relies on building long-term relanonships
with its customers A failure to meet its customers expectations with
regards to serwce could negately impact the Group s brand and
COI’I’IpeU’UVe posmon

The Group strives consistently to exceed ks customers expectations
Lo put its customers first to understand what they want and to be
responsive towhat they say

The Group makes sigrificant invesiments i order to deliver continuous
development and improvement to its customer secvice capabihities
including investment 1n s contact cantres across the UK and irefand
insouraing of service centres in Germany and implementing ongoing
training and development plans

The Group tracks i.s customer service performance benchmarks
IS customer service expenence and strives to be best in class

Technology and business nterreplion

The products and services that the Group provides to its customers
are relant on complex techrucal infrastructure

A farture in the operation of the Group s key systems or infrastructure
such as the broadcast platforrn customer management sysiems

OTT patforms or the telecommunications netwarks on which the Group
relies could cause b Failure of sernce to our customers and negatively
impact our brand

The Group makes significant mvestment in technology infrastructure
to ensure that it continues to support the groewth of the business and
has arobust selection and menstonng process of third-party providers

The Group 1s commutted to actueve best-in-class business conunuity
standards and makes significant mvestments in the reshence and
robustness of 18 business infrastructure

The Group also organises regular SCenano based group-vwade business
contmuily exercises to ensure ongoing readiness of key staff systems
and sites

Sky ple
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Strategicreport

Principal risks and uncertainties

{conunued)

Descnption of nsk

Mitigation

Supply cham

The Graup relies gn a number of third partues and outsourced supphers
operaung across the globe to supportits supply chan

A significant failure within the supply cham could adversely affect
the Group 5 ability to delwer products and 5ervice ToITs customers

The Group continues totnvest m its supply chain infrastructure to
suUpport its business plan commitments

A robust supplier selection process 15 m place with appropnate
ongoing management and monitoring of key partners and suppliers

The Group performs regular audizs of key suppliers and of thesr
instaltations and wherever possible has dual supply capability

Financial

The effective management of its financial expasures is central to
preserving the Group s profitabibity

The Group Is exposed to financal market nsks and may be mpacted
negatively by fluctuauons in Foraign exchange and nterest rates which
create volatiity in the Group s results to the extent that thay are not
effectively hedged

Any increase in the financial leverage of the Group may hmit the
Group s finansial flexiibey

The Group may alsg be affected adversety by hquidity and
counterparty nsks

The Grovup s finance teams are embedded within the business to provide
support to management and to ensure accurate financial reparting and
trackng of our busness performance Reporung on finanoal performance
1s prowvided on a monthly basis to serier management and the Board

The Group continually invests n the improvament of its systems and
processes in order Lo ensure sound finanaal management and reporting

The Group manages treasury risk by mimmusing risk to capital and
providing appropriate protection agamst foreign exchange and interest
rate movements

Cashinvesument is made in linewith the Groups stnct reasury pohicy
which 15 approved by the Audit Committee and sets hmits on deposits
based on counterparty credit ratings Nomore than 10% of cash deposnts
are held with a single bank counterparty with the exception of overright

depasits which are rnvested in a spread of AAAT rated Iiquidity furds

Aflnon-sterhing debt 1s swapped at inceplion Lo ensure appropriate
currency and interest rate protection i5in place and trading currency
nsk s hedged up to five years in advance

The Group manages its tax nsk by ensunng that nisks are identif:ed and
understood at an early stage and that effective compliance and reporting
processes are in place

The Group continues Lo maintain an open and proacuve relationship
with the regulating tax authonties prumarty HM Revenue & Customs
The Group aims to deal wath taxabwon issues wherever possible as they
ansen order to sverd Unnecessary disputes

Security

The Group must protect its customer and corporate data and the
safety of its people and infrastructure as well as needing to have
1 place fraud prevention and detection measures

The Group I1s responsible to third-party intellectual property awners
for the secunty of the content that it distributes onvanous platforms
{5ky s own and thud-party platforms)

Asignificant breach of secunty could impact the Groups atibity
to operate and deliver against its business objectives

The Group takes measures ranging from physical and logical access
controls to encryption or equivalent technologies raising employee
awareness and monitonng of key partners to manage its security nsks

The Group conunues Lo Invest In new technological controls and

N improving broader business process and works closely with law
enforcement agenaies and poly makers 1 order Lo protecis
855815 and Ly comply withits contractual obligations to third partres
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Descnptien of nsk

Mitigation

Projects

The Group tnvests in and delivers significant capital expenditure
projects i ¢rder to continually dreve the business forward The [evel
of the Group's capital expenditure has increased as a result of the
increased size of the Groups business following completion of the
acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha

The faslure to deliver key projects effectively and efficiently could
result in sgnificantly increased project costs and impede our ability
to execuke our stratege plans

Acommon project management methodology 1s used to enable the Group
tomanage monitor and control its mayor capital expenditure projects
and strategic prograrmmes This includes detaled reporting and regular
reviews by senior management as wel as cross-functional executive
steerng groups for major projects

Third-party partners will where appropriate be engaged to provide
support and expertise Inour large strategic programmes, complex
init:atves and for emerging technologies

tnteflectual property protection

The Group Incommon with other service providers, rebies on intellectual
property and other proprigtary rights including in respect of
programmuing content, which may not be adequately protected

under current laws ar which may be subject to unauthorised use

We mamntan an angoing pragramme o support appropnate protections
of our mtellectual property and other rights This includes for example
the use of automated enlme momtonng tools the mplementation of
on-screen iImprinting of content together wath an active programme

to protect our intellectual praperty nghts

Pcople

People at Sky are crtical to the Group s abibty te meet the needs
of its customers and achieve Its goals as a business

Fallura to attract or retain suitable employees across the business
could limit the Group s abiity to deliver its business plan commitments

Making Sky a great place towork 1s central to the Groupss strategy
The Group champions diversity and develops talent through anumber
of activties incuding the Graduate programme, Development Studio
an apprenticeship seheme and a leadership programme

The Group has well established channels and procedures to recruit and
retainits employees and to ensure that an adequate number of suitable
employees work within its customer service teams and across allits

operations

Further detads on our people s sat cutin the Employees secuonof the
Drrectors Report an pages 71-72

Sky pic
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Stemtegic raport

Below 1s an overview of the ongoing
investigations and reviews of regulatory
and competition matters involving

the Group

European Commission iivestigation
On 13 January 2014 the European Commission (the 'ECY opened a formal
antitrust nvestigation INto cross-border provision of pay TV services in the
European Union The EC 15 examining certam provisions relating to terntonal
protection in kcence agreements between major US film studios (Twentieth
Century Fox Warner Bros Sony Pictures NBCUniversal Paramount and
Disney) and key European pay TV broadcasters (Sky UK Canal Plus, Sky
Itaka Sky Deutschiand and DTS operaung under the Canal Plus brand i
Spain) On 23 July 2015 the EC adopted a Statement of Objections { 50)
setung out its prelminary finding that there has been aninfringement of
EU Competiion law invelving Sky UK Sky UK s responding to the cancerns
nthe SO The EC has not yet reached its final wews and the Group s not yet
able to deterrmine the outcame of the investigation or its financial impact
T however shéuld thE Glitcome be adverse & SKy UK "this mayhave @
signmficant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Group

Wholesale must-offer obhgations

On 31 March 2010 Ofcom published its decsion to impose wholesale
must-offer obligations on the Group (the WMO Obligations ) for the
channels Sky Sports 1 Sky Sports 2 Sky Sports 1 HD and Sky Sports 2HD
(the Affected Channels ) The WMQ Obligations require Sky UK amongst
other things o offer the Affected Channels on a wholesale basis to third
parties which satisfy vanous muremurn guahfying critena

\n Apni 2010 Sky UK apphed to the Competition Appeal Tribunal (the CAT)
far a suspenson of the implementation of the WMQ Cbhgations On 28
Apnl 2010 the Group s application was resolved by way of an agreed Order
from the President of the CAT {the Order ) which was subsequently varied
on 23 November 2010 and 12 November 2014 The effect of the Order as
vaned 15 that pending the outcome of Sky UK s substantre appeal Sky UK
15 required to offer the Affected Channels to Virgin Meda for distrbution
wvia DTT and cable to REAL Digital via DTH and to BT for distnibution wia
DTT and BT s Internet Protocol Television { IPTV ) platforms Cardinal

and BT YouView The CAT granted the November 2014 vanation extending
the WMC Obhigations to BTs IPTV platforms subject to BT gwng an
undertaking that it would maintain the self-retailing of 1ts sports channels
{BT Sport 1 BT Sport. 2 and ESPN) wia Sky s DTH satelhite platform until the
final determination of the matters remitted to the CAT

Qn 8 August 2012 the CAT handed down its judgment on Sky UK s appeal
against Ofcom s decision toimpose the WMO Obligauons (the Pay TV
Judgment ) The CAT found that Ofcoms core competrtion concern

1s unfounded (Ofcom had found that Sky UK deliberately withheld
wholesale supply of its Premuum Channels) and that accordingty

Sky UK s appeal must be allowed

BT appealed the Pay TV Judgment te the Court of Appeal On 17 February
2014 the Court of Appeal aliowed BY s appeal finding that Ofcom s decision
contamned a further compettxon concern in relation ta Sky UK s rate

card prices and discounts to those prices and that the CAT should have
considered that concern It therefore remitted that ISsue to the CAT

for Further consideration While the CAT s finding that Ofcom s core
competition concern was unfounded remains undisturbed the WMO
Obhgations (as modified by the Grder as vaned) conunue n force pending
the CAT consideration of the further issue reritted to 1t As yet there s no
date set for the hearing of the remutted ssue

0On 19 December 2014 Ofcom published a consultation as part of its review
of the WMQ QObkigations announced in Apnl 2014 Thes document represents
the first phase of Cfcom s review the purpose of which 15 to deade the
exten; to which the WMO Dbligations reman appropriate or need to be
mochfied or removed Ofcom s consulting on 5 assessment of whether
absent regulabon providers of channels which carry key sports content
might it distnbution to some pay TV retalers and whother that would
urderming competition At the time of the consultation Ofcom s view was
that it might be apprapnate to maintain some form of regulationon Sky UK
n order to ensure fair and effective competition inpay TV and that it would
be uniikely to be appropriate ta impose amilar regulation on BT Sky UK

has responded to the consultabon On 27 July 2015 Ofcom pubhshed a
supplementary consultation which seeks stakeholders views on the extent
to which an insistence by Sky on reciprocal supply of channels contaming
key sports content. as a condition of Sky s supply of its own key sports
thannels may be a practice which 1s prejudicial to fair and effectme
competition The closing date for responses to this supplementary
consultation s 21 September 2015 Ofcom plans to set out the conthusions ~—— ———— - —
of its assessment from both consultations later In 2015 and where
necessary toconsult further on any proposed reamedies

4

The Group 1s auarrently unable to determine whether and towhat extent  *
the appeals concerring the WMO Obhgations will be successful norisit
able to determine the outcome of Ofcom s rewew of the WMO Obhigations
It is therefore not passtble for the Group to concllde oh the finaghal -
impact of the cutcome of the appeals or the consultation at this stagey,
However should the outcome of these processes be adverse to the Group
this may have a significant effect on the financial position or profitability
of the Group

Ofcom Competition Act Investigation

Following receipt of a camplaint from BT on 14 June 2013 Ofcom epened an
investigaton into whether Sky UK has abused a domimnant positsan contrary
o Chapter ¥ of the Competition Act 1998 and/or Articte 102 of the Treaty

on the Funcuoning of the EU The complaint alleged that Sky UX was making
wholesale supply of Sky Sports 1 and 2 to BT for its YouMiew service
conditional on BT whotesaling BT Sports chanaels to Sky UK for retal cn
Sky UK s satellite platform and that constituted an abuse of dominance

Ofcoms investigation of BTs complaint is still open

The Group s currently unable Lo determine the outcome of Ofcoms
nvestigation or its fmancialimpact however should the ocutcome be
adverse to the Group this may have a significant effect on the financial
position or profitability of the Group
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Virgin Media complaint to Ofcom concerning the ‘collective’

selling of bve UK telewisian rights by the Premier League

In September 2014 Ofcorn receved a complamt fram Virgin Media (VM }
alleging that the arrangements for the collective selling of live UK television
nghts by the Premier Leagute { PL) for matches played by its member clubs
are m breach of competition law On 18 Novernber 2014 Ofgom opened an
investigation under section 25 of the Competition Act 1998 into how the

PL sells ive UX audio-wsual media nghts for PL football matches

Ofcom s investigation s conunuing The Group 15 currently unable to
determine whether or to what extent VM s complaint will be upheld by
Ofcom and it 1s not possible for the Group to condude on the financial

impact of the gutcome at thisstage

Competition law investigation into 2014 Sene A auction

In May 2075 the Italian competition authority the Autoritd Garante
della Concorrenza e del Mercato (AGCM ) opened an invest:gation
into the outcome of the June 2014 auction for broadcasung nghts

1o Sene A football matches for the 2015-2018 seasons Thenvestigation
s considerning whether the Italian football league Lega Nazionale
Professiorist! Serie A 1ts adwisor Infront Italy Sel and broadcasters
Sky Italia Sl Reti Telewsme [taliane Sp A andits subsichary Mediaset
Premium S p A entered into an ant-competitive agreement in relation
to the award of the nghts The AGCM expects its nvestgation to be
completed by 30 Apnil 2016

The Group Is currently unable to deterrmine the outcome of the AGCM s
nvestigation or XS finanaal impact however should the outcome be

Stratege report

Forward looking statements

This document contains certain forward looking statements with respect
to our financial conditton results of operations and business and our
strategy plans and objectives

These statements inctude without hmitation those that express forecast,
expectations and projections such as forecasts expectations and
projections with respect to new praducts and services the potential for
growth of free-to-ar and pay television fixed-line telephony broadband
and bandw:dth requirements advertising growth OTH and OTT customer
growth Multiscreen On Demand NOW TV Sky Go Sky Go Extra Sky+
Sky+HD Sky Store Sky Onhne Multmsion Second Smartcard mobile and
other services churn revenue profitabiity and margin growth cash flow
generauon prograrmimmg costs subscrber management and supply chain
costs administration costs and other costs marketing expenditure caprtal
expenditure programmes and proposals for returmmng capital to
shareholders

Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such
forward looking statements are reasonable these statements {and all
other forward looking statements contained in this document) are not
guarantees of future performance and are subjyect to nsks uncertaintes
and other factors some of which arebeyond our contrel are difficutt

to predict and could cause actual results to differ matenally from those
expressed or implied or forecast inthe forward looking statements
These factors include but are not imited to those risks that are
tughlighted in this document in the section entitled ‘Prinaipal nsks and
uncertamtes and informatian on the significant nisks and uncertaintes
assoctated with aucbusiness)s described therein

adverse to the Group this may have a significant effect on the financial
position or profitability of the Group

myrategic repor t was approved by the Board and signed on 1ts behalf
oup Chief Executive Officer

od H8nensg

U0

No part of these results constitutes orshall be taken to constitute

an invitation or inducement to invest in the Company or any other
entity and must not be relied uponin any way in connection with any
mvestment deasion All forward laoking statements in this document
are based on information known tous on the date herecf Except as
required by law we undertake no chligation publicly to update or revise
any forward loaking statements whether as a result of new information
future events or atherwiseg
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Governance

Board of Directors

Key
Audit Committes
Bigger Picture Commitiee

Corporate Governance
& Neminauons Commitiee

Ramuneration Committee

Committee Chairman

For more about the Board
sky com/corporate

Nick Ferguson, CBE(66)

Chairman

Appointed Nikwas apponted to the
Board a5 2 Non-Executie Directorin June
2004 and became Chaimann Aprl 2012
He has previowsly served as Deputy
Charman and Semor Independent
Neon-Executive Dvector

Shdls and expenence Nick brngs
extensive leadership expenence fromthe
private eguity and investment sectars
He was co-founder nd instrumental in
the development of Schroder Ventures
{the private equity group which tater
became Permira) of which he served as
Charman from 1984 to 2001 He later
sarved as Chawrman of SVG Capital pic

a public quoted private equity group
from Apnl 2005 to November 2012

He has aleng standing interest in the
arts and philanthropy and served as
Chayrman of the Courtauld Institute of
Art for 10 years beforeretiring 1n July 2012
External Appontmants Nick 1s Chairman
of Alta Adwisers Limited an snvestment
advisory firm a positon he has held
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Jeremy Darroch (53)

Group Chief Executive Gfficer
Appuoirted Jeremy joned Sky as Chief
Financial Officer and Exacutve Drector
1 2004 and was apponted to his arrent
rose tn Decernbier 2007 inNovember 2014
Jeremy was appointed Chaimanof the
Supennsory Board of Sky Deutschiand AG
Skills and expenence Jeremy has
extensive expenence in the retaihng
and fast-rmomng consumer goods
sectors Priorto joining Sky Jeremy
was Group Finance Director of DSG
Intemational pic, formerly Dixons Group
plc He has also spent 12 years at Procter
& Gamblen avanety of roles in the

UX and Europe Jeremy s a former
Non-Executve Cirector and Charman
of the Audit Comimittee of Macks and
Spencer Group ple from 2006 to 2013
External Appointments. in February
2014 Jeremy was apponted
Non-Executrve Director of Burberry
Greup pkeand serves as a member

of the Audrt, Rermuneration and
Nominations Committees Hega

Andrew Gnffith 4)

Group Chief Financa!l Officer
Appomted Andrew joned Skyin 1999
and hetd anumber of senior finance

rcles prior to s appasntment as Chief
Financial Officer and Exedutve Diractor
nApn! 2008 InNovember 2014 Andrew
was appointed as a member ofthe
Supennsory Board of Sky Deutschland AG
Shulls and expenence Prior o gxring Sky
Andrew was at Rothschild the investment
bankung organsabon where he provdad
financial and strategic advice to corporate
chents i the technology media and
telecommuncatons sector Hers a
quatified Chartered Acoountant and

has a Bachelor of Lawdegree from
MNotbrigham Unversity

External Appontments InMarch 2034
Andrew was appointed Senor
Independent Non-Executive Oxegtor of
Just Eat plowhere he alsa holgh posibons
as Chaurman of the Audit Committee

andt member of the Remunerabon and
Nomnations Cormmittees Mesamember
of the 100 Group of Finance Dwectons and

since January 2007 Ha §also Chairman
and Founder of the Kilfinan Group which
offers mentonng by Charmen and CEOs.
toHeads of Chantwes Nick 1s a Fellow of
Winchester College

Bismess Member of the Natianal
Centre for Unnersibes and Business

Aavisory Boand of the Dxford URnersity T

Centre forBusiness Taxaton

Chase Carey (61)

Non-Executive Director

Appointed January 2013

Skilts nd expenence Chase has
extense knowledge and expenence

of the mtematicnal media and pay TV
sectors He is former President and

Chvef Executve Officer of DirecTV

where he led theoperations and strategic
directron of the DirecTV Group Prior

o joning DirecTV Chase was Co-Chuef
Operating Officer of News Corporation
{subsequently renamed 21st Century Fox)
and Charrman and Cheef Executve
Officer of the Fox Telewsion Group

Untl November 2014 heserved as a
member of the Supervisory Board

of Sky Deutschland AG

External Appointments Chase was the
former Presigent, Chief Operating Officer
and Deputy Charman of 215t Century
Fox from 2009 ta 2015 In June 2015
Chasewas appainted as the Executve
Vice Chairman of 2tst Century Fox and wll
serve inthis rofe through to June 2016

Tracy Clarke (48)

tndependent Non-Executrve Dirgetor
Appointed June 2012
Skills and expenence Tacybnngsa

wide range of operational expenence

and oversight far corporate affairs brand
and marketing media relations human
resounces legal and compliance matters
i her role ak Standard Chartered Bank.
She has served as a Non-Executive
Dwector of Standard Chartered First Bank
InKorea from 2005 to 2007 and

Non Executve Dwector of Eaga ple

from 2007 10 2011 where she chaired

the Remunerabon Commttes

External Appomtments Tracy s 2
member of the Exacutive Management
Group ancws Diveetar for Compliance
People and Communications at Standard
Chartered Bank Shes atrusteeof
WORKing for YOUth a chanty workang
wath busiiess to create b opportunties
for young pecple Tracy s a member of
the Institute of Financat Services and
aFellow of the Chartered Institute

of Personnel and Oevelopment

Dawid F DeVoe (687

Nen-Exgcutne Director

Appamted December1994

Skis and expenenca Dand bings
awealth of executive and finance
expenence from the media sector

He served as Chref Financial Offcer

of News Corporation (sLibsecuently
renamed 21st Century Fox) for over
20vearsanddunngthat bmewas
appointed Senvor ExecutneVice President
untithe steppad down fromboth roies

1n june 2013

External Appontments David s Senor
Advisir to the Board and Dwector

of 215t Century Fox Hes alsaa

former crector of Gernstar TV Guide
Intermatonalinc servng from 200 to
2008 and DirecTV from 2003 to 2008
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MartinGilbert (50)
Sarwor Independent
Non-Executive Director

Apponted November 2001

Skills and experience Martin has been
involved in the vestment management
industry since 1582 and has extensive
rvestment, finance and executive
leadership expenence through his role

a5 eo-founder and Cheef Executive Officer
of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC He
has served as Chayman of FrstGroup ple,
Chaucer PLC and was Non-Executive
Dwecterof Dynmark internabonal Limdted
amobie messagng and data applcatons
senvces provider

External Appomtments In addition
tohrs role a5 Cvef Executive Dfficer

of Aberdeen Assat Management PLC
Marun s amermber of the Scotfish
Government 5 Financial Services
Adwisary Board

Adine Grate (54)

Independent Non-Executva Director
Appointed July 2013

Slalls and expenence Adine brings.
awealth of executive finance and
nvestment management and
communications technology expenence
hawving operated atthe top trers of
Nordic-based intemational business

for the past two decades Formerty
Executive Vice President and Managing
Drrector of Investor AB ownerof a
number of Nordi-based international
companies

External Appointments Adine sa
Chairpersan of NASDALQ OMX Swedish
Lisung Commuittee and Vice Chairperson
of APT a Swedish pension and savings
asset management company Shets

Director of Three {Scandinawia) a mobile

telecommunications and broadband
operator SOBIAB an intematonal
speciality healthcare company Sampo
CY aleading Financial and msurance
instrtution and Swedawna AB an asport
operator Adne s also Charpersonaf

Dave LewIs (50)

independent Non-Executive Director
Apported November 2012

Shils and expenence Dave 1san
expenenced axecutive with strong
operational expertise He s Crwef
Executve Officer of Tesco plc and pnor
6 that he was President Personal Care
for Unnlever plc where he sat on the
Unilever Leadership Executive Hehas
held 3 vanety of leadership roles at
Unilever iy Europe South Amenca

and Asia mduding President for the
Amencas and Charrman of Unidever

UK and Ireland

External Appointments Cavewas
appointed as Chief Executive Officer
of Tesco plke In September 2014

James Murdoch (42
Non-Exacutive Director

Appouted February 2003

Skils and expenence James bnngs
sigruficant media sector knowiedge
and expenence through his role at
21st Century Fox He was formerky the
Chief Executive Officer and Executne
Director of Sky from 2003 to 2007 and
he acted as Charman from 2007 to
2012 James was Chawrman and Chief
Executive Officer of Star Group Limited
and held Non-Executive Director roles
at GlaxoSmithKkne pic from 2009 to
2012 and Sotheby s from 2010 to 2012
Heis amember{and former Chairman}
oftheSupervisory Board of Sky
Deutschland AG

Extermnal Appointments James was
appaonted as Chief Executive Officer
at 2tst Century Fox in June 2015

He alsa s5erves as a member of the
Board of News Corporation and 1s

a Non-Executive Director of Yankee
Global Enterprises Vice Media and
amember of the Board of Trustees

ren-profitorganisations Fnends of
aDesign museum and the Swedsh
Dance Museum

of the Harvard Lampoon and the
Ghetto Film School

Matthieu Pigasse (47)
Independent Non Executive Director
Appointed Navember 2011

Siolls and expenence Mattheabrngs
sgmificant knowledge of the Eurcpean
media secterand finance expertise to
the Board He 15 the Global Head for
Mergers and Acquisitions and the Global
Head for Sovereign Advisory forLazard
also Chuef Executwve Officer of Lazard
n France iInEurope Hehas also served
as cvilan administrator of the French
Mimstry of Economy and finance
External Apposstments. In addibon

to hrs role at Lazard Mattheu hasa
number of persanal interests inmedia
and publishung, notably Le Monde and
the Huffingten Post (France) He 1s a
Board member of Group Lucien Barmidre
SAS ancperator of luxury hotels and
restaurants Denchebourg arecyding
and maintenance serices business

Danny Rumer (44}

Independent Non-Executiva Derector
Appointed Apri 2008

Skills and expenence Danny brings
significant international Investment
and finance experience He has
extensive knowledge of Intemeat
afrastructure software and services
technology communrcations and
e-commersa businesses through

his role as General Partner of the
venture captal firm Index Ventures
Management LLP (Index Ventures)
Pior to joiming Index Ventures

hewas a General Partner of

The Barksdale Growp

External Appomtments Danny serves
ona number of boards including First
Dibs Inc, Fipboard Ine Nasty Gat Inc
RightScale Ine Viagogo Farfetch com
Limited, Good Eggs and Patreon

He ressgned from Groupo Xange
Tethnelogies o Apnt 201 and Etsy Ing
0 March 2015

Arthur Siskind 76)

Non-Executsve Director

Appointed November 1931

Skels and expentence Arthur brings

over 30 years expenence ganed through
executyve and legal course! roles at

News Corporaton subsequently
renamed 21st Century Fox) Heisa

heghly expenenced legal practiboner

and member of the Bar of the State

of NewYork since 1562

External Appomntments ArthurmsServor
Adwisor tothe Charman of 21st Century
Fox from January 2005 to December 2014
and he has served as Duwector Emenitus
fromOctober 2012 to November 2014

Andy Sukawaty (60)

Independent Non-Executive Director
Appainted Jyne 2013

Skiftz and Expencnce Withover30years
of tefecommunications media technology
expenence Andy brings stong ndustry
knowledge tathe Board He has led
eompares i the mobte phone, Cable TV
and satelita ndustries nthe US and
Europe and servesas Non-Executrve
Chairman of inmarsat pic, global motnle
satelite communicabions privider
External Appomtments, In adction

to tusrole as Non-fxecutve Chasman

of Inmarsat pic Andyis Executve in
Remderice forwarburg Pnous and

has previously held anumber of

Seryor management positions n the
telecommunications incustry nclud,mg
Charman of 2iggo NV, aDutch cable TV
and CommURICATIONS COMpany resgmng
n December 2014 He has also previously
served as Ceef Exacutrve OFficer and
President of Spent PCS aNYSEtsted
gobal national wireless comer
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Governance

Corporate governance report

Chairman's overview

On behalf of the Board it gives me great pleasure to ntroduce this years
corparate governance report

As a Board we are the stewards of the Company 1t 1s our responsibiity
to ensure that the Company s strategy is aigned to the interests of

our investors and takes account of the interests of all the Company s
stakeholders Asindividuals we believe that effective corporate
governance 15 based on hanesty integnty and transparency and can
only be fully reabsed within an envirenment of open robust and effectve
debate This Is the Board culture we foster at Sky and it s my personal
responstbility as Chairman to ensure that we continue to ive this culture
and promote it within cur business

| am pleased to repart that your Company complied in full with the UK
Corparate Governance Code ( the Code ) as revised in September 2012
during the year under review We are also rewewing the changes to the Code
which were introduced in Octaber 2014, which apply to the Company from
Viuly 2015

It has been a transformational year for the Company following the
acqwsitiens of the Sky businessas i Germany and (taly Much of

Compliance with the Code

The Code prowdes the standard for corporate governance inthe UK
The Financial Conduct Authorty requires isted companues to disclose
whaether they have complizd with the provisions of the Cade throughout
the financial year

The Board considers that the Company has fully complied with the
provisions and applhed the main principles of the Code far the whole

of the year ended 30 June 2015 This section of the Annual Report along
with the Directors remuneration report on pages 51to 69 the Directors
report and other statutory disdasures on pages 70 to 77 provide detasls
of how the Company has applied the main principles

Leadership

Role of the Board and its Members

The Board has collective responsibiity for the management diection and
performance of the Company and provides leadership within a framework
of prudent and effective controls which enables nsk to be appropriately
assessed and managed The Board sets the strategic direckion ensunng
that the necessary resources are in place for the Company to meet its
objectives and defliver sustainable performance

The Board takes a long-term outlook and sees itselfas responsible to
awde range of stakehclders whalst pursuing its obyectives n a manner
cansistent with its statutery dut:es for the banefit of the Companys
members as awhole '

The Directors of the Board are selected on the criteria of proven skil

the Board s actmity has been around ensuring that the acquisitions
successfully completed and positioned the business for the next,
stage n its development

This year we undertook an internal Board evaluation and | met wath

ali the Directors and discussed a range of topies The feedback from

the evaluation confirmed that the Board and each of its Commuttees
continué to operate effectively and that each Diregtor continues ko

make an effective contribution and retains a strong commitment to

thear rale The resulting findings of the evaluation are discussed on page 49

The Board has established arrangements to evaluate whether the
information in the Annual Report is Fair balanced and understandable
Further detail of these arrangements can be found on page 47 As aresult
of this the Board considers the Annuyal Report, taken as awhole s farr
balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the Company s performance business model
and strategy

During the year we have continued our work 1n promoting greater and more
effective engagement with our shareholders | along with the Executive
Directors meet our investors and analysts and discuss avade range of
topics Tracy Clarke Charman of the Remuneration Committee hasalso
engaged with shareholders on remuneration issues ard will continue

to do so over the course of the coming financial year

Nick Ferguson CBE
Chairman

BT BTy I T marticuRT fisid of enyeavour-and 2 diversity of outlook
and experience which directly benefits the operaton of the Board as

the custodiian of the business A full biography of each Board member

15 provided on pages 38 and 39

Roles and responsibiiities

The roles of the Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer are separate
and have been so since the Company s shares were admitted to listing

n 1594 The rolas and expectations of each Director are clearly cefined
and recorded within therr letters of appomtment or service contracts
The roles and responsibiities of the Board members are explained below

The Chairman

Nick Ferguson 1s responsible for teadership of the Board ensunngits
effectiveness on all aspects of 1ts role and setung its agenda The Chaiman
1s responsible for creating an environment for open robust and effective
debate This includes ensunng via the Company Secretary that the
Cirectors receve accurate timely and clear information

The Group Chief Executive Officer ( Group CEOQ )

Jeremy Darroch 15 responsible and accountable to the Board for the
management and operaton of the Company advanang long-term
shareholder value supported by the management team He s also
mvolved in the management of the social and environmental
responsibilibies of the Company

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director { SID )

The role of the SID 15 currently carned out by Marun Gilbert who succeeded
Andy Higginson on 21 November 2014 Martin s responsible for providing
support to the Chairman and provides an addittonal point of contact

for shareholders
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Non-Exgcutive ODirectors

Chase Carey Tracy Clarke David DeVoe Martin Gilbert Adine Grate

Dave Lewas James Murdoch Matthieu Pigasse Danny Remer Arthur
Siskind and Ancy Sukawaty collectnrely are responsible for constructvely
challenging the Executive Directors and overseeing the delivery of

the Company s strategy within the nisk and control framework

Company Secretary
Chns Taylor s responsible for the following in respect of effective
Board operation

To ensure good information flows within the Board and its Committees
between senior management and Non-Executive Drrectors

To facilitate Director Induction and assisting with professional
development

To advise the Board through the Chairman of all corporate governance
obligations and developments in best practice and

+ Yoberesponsible for communicating with shareholders as approprate

All Directors have accoss to the advice and services of the Company

Sacretary who agwvises on corporate governance matters Board procedures

and other relevant rutes and regulatians In addivon Directors have the
nght to seek indepenrdent professional advice at the Company s expense

Environment supportive of challenge
The effective operation of the Board is dependent on the inherent
checks and balances within the various Board roles As highly quahfied

all Non-Executive Directors influence debate and contnbute to decisions
relating to the strategy of the Company 1ts performance and Its impact
on stakeholders The Nan-Executive Directors are evaluated and judged
on the quality and content of ther contributions to Board debate and
are expected to offer alternative wewpoints and challenge perceplions
and decisions as appropriate

Board Agenda

In addition to its reserved and standing matters dunng the year
the Board also considered and recerved a number of updates and
presentations giving Directors a further opportunity to explore
and analyse topics such as

+ The Group s operations and five-year financial plans
» The general market and econormic outloak
The competitive landscape opportunities and market trands
« Growthof cxisting business actauos and
+ Existing and new products services and technolegical developments

To maintan an appropriate level of control over the day-to-day affars
of the Company the Board has identified certain matters that only it
can approve and these matters are contaned within the Company s
Schedule of Matters Reserved to the Board which can be found at
sky com/corporate

Baard delegation

The Board has delegated speafic responsibilities to Board commttees
notably the Audit Remuneration Corporate Governance & Nommnations
and the Brgger Prcture Commutiees Each Committee s terms of reference
can be found on the Company s Corporate website sky com/corporatef
about-skyfcorporate-governance

Annual Report 2015

Board and Committee framework

The Audit Committee has responstbility for oversight of corporate
reparting. nsk management and the Company s relatignship withits

———and siiccds8501 MURidGals ih thew TESPECING flelds of endeavour— = zmdiar Stgriflcantrisks to thebusmess are kepturmer revewand

appropriate matenal controls are sanctioned and employed as appropriate
The Company s principal risks and examples of how we mitigate those risks
are detailed on pages 32 to 35 For further details the Audit Committee
Report can be found on pages 45 to 48

The Remuneration Committee s responsible for setting the Remuneration
policy for the Board and ensures that no Director 15 involved in decisions
affecting their own remuneration The Directors remuneration report can
be found on pages 51to 69

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee is responsible for
oversight of the structure size composition and succession plannmg

of the Board and its Committees and overall compliance with corporate
governance standards The Report of the Corporate Governance

& Normnations Commttee can be found on pages 48 and 49

The Bigger Pricture Committee has responsibility For oversight of the social
environmental and ethical impacts of the Companty s activities The report
of the Bigger Picture Committee can be found cn page 50

The menutes of Committee meetings are made available to all Board
Directors on a timely basis At each Board meeting the Chairman of each
Committee prevides the Board with a bnef update of the work currently
being camed out by the Committee they char Other sub-committees and
steering groups provide addstxonal resource and support to the Board
Committees or are formed for specfic tasks A Commuttee of senior
management generalty meets on a weekly basis to allow prompt discussion
of refevant business 1ssues The Committee compnses the Group CEO
Group Chuef Financial Officer [ Group CFQ ) and other senior executives
from withun the Group
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Corporate governance report

{contnued)

Board and Commuttee attendance

Attendance at Baard and Committee meetings dunng the year 1s set out In the table below The table shows the number of meetings each Director was
ehgible to attend

Corporate
Governanca &
Board Audit  Remuneratien Nom:nations  Bigger Picture
Number of meetings held in year 7 ] 5 3 2
Executive Directors
Jeremy Darroch Group CEQ 7
Andrew Gnffith Group CFO H7
Non-Executrve Directors
Chase Caray 47
Tracy Clarke 27 Si5 212
Dawnd DeVoe 7
Nick Ferguson kird 5/5 33
Martin Gilbert! 7 5/6 0N 212
Adine Grate? 67 616 414
Andy Higginson? 314 2i3 11
Dave Lewis 7 6/6 3 212
James Murdoch ik 212
Matthieu Pigasse? 47 66
Danmy Rimer? a7
Arthur Sisking? 67 23
Andy Sukawaty? 77 415
Notes

1 Marun Gibert replaced Andy Higginson as member of the Govermnance & Nommnations Committee following Andy s retrement at the AGM on 21 November 2014
2 Adine Grate was appointed as a member of the Remungration Committee replacing Marun Gibert with effect from 25 July 2014

3 DIreEtors are encouraged th attend Board 3hd MECPEc U B MY aiid Commulted mieétings BULINTon AN TriUmSLances meetings are caled 3 IMDrt ridleEa R U8 8 pAsr TUGNess ™
commitments and time differences Directors may be unable to attend In these crcumstances Directors recene felgvant papers and are updated on developments by either the
Chawrman or Geoup CEQ

Acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky italia

Dunng the prior year the Board appomted a committee to investigate consider and evaluate the overall strategy in connection with the proposal
to acguire Sky Deutschland and Sky Italla The committee comprised all members of the Board other than any Directors who were not independent
af 21st Century Fox Inc or had a conflict of interest The committee met on two occasions duning the year and formally approved the transaction

Effectiveness

Board composition and independence Priar to appointment and on an annual basis each Board member receves
The Board currently compnses 14 Directors made up of two Executive and completes a questionnaire to determine factors that may affect
Directors and 12 Non Executive Directors At least half of the Board of independence according to best practice statements contaned within
Directors are determuned to be independent by the Board in accordance the Code The responses to the questionnaire assisk the Board in

with provision 81 2 of the Code On appointrent the Chairman met the ascertaining whether a Director 15 tndependent in character and
independence critena set out in prowsion B 11 of the Cade Biographies judgement and whether there are relationships or rcurmstances which

of each of the Drectors are set out on pages 38 and 39 are tkely to affect or could appear to affect the Director sjudgement

Chase Carey David DeVoe James Murdoch and Arthur Siskind represent.
the Company s largest sharsholder 21st Century Fox and as such are
not considered to be ndependent wathin the mearung of the Code

£ach of these Directors has extensive media and pay TV experience

and makes significant contribution to Board discussion

Board Composition

The Independent Non-Executive Directors bring a wide range of expenence
and experuse to the Group s affairs and carry significant weight

the Board s deasions Theindependent Non-Executive Directors are
encouraged to challenge management and help develop praposals

on strategy Time «s regularly put aside at Board meetings to discuss

the strategic direction of the Company
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Appointments to the Board diversity and succession planning

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee keeps the Board s
balance of skils knowledge expenence and the length of service of
indiveduals under constant review Inréspect of succession planmng and
supplementing the skill set of the Board there s an established procedure
for the appontment of Drectors In brief the Commuttee identifies the
set of skifls and expenence required and wath the assistance of external
search agencies selects indmnduals to take Board positions on review of
therr indwdual merits regardless of gender race relgon age or disability
Further information an the work of the Commuittee during the year can

be found on pages 48.and 49

Copres of the Executive Directors servace contracts and letters of
appointment of the Non-Executve Directors may be inspected at the
registered office of the Company during normal business hours on any
weekday (except Saturdays Sundays and pubhic hohdays) and at the place
of the Annual General Mesting ( AGM } for 15 minutes prior to the meeting
until the condusion of the AGM

The Board has published a statement of its intenton to ncrease female
representation on the Board which can be found on the Company s
corporate website skycomicorporate As required by company tegrslauon
atable on page 71 dlustrates gender diversity amongst the Board

Dwversity ratio of Directors appointed in past three years

Annus! Report 2015

External directorships

Any external appointments for the Executve Directors are considered by
the Corporate Governance & Nominatisns Committee Executive Directors
are not allowed to take on the Charmanshug of a FTSE 100 comparny but are
allowed to take up one external Nen-Executive FTSE 100 appointment and
retain any payments in respect of such appomtments

teremy Darrochwas appointed as an independent Non-Executive Director
of Burberry Group pic cn'$ Febiruary 2014 and 1s a member of the Audit,
Nominations and Remuneration Commitiees

Andrew Gnffith was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director
of Just £at plc on 12 March 2014 Andrew serves as Sensor Independent
Director Chairman of the Audit Commuttee and 1$ a member of the
Remuneration & Nomunauons Committees Delails of pay in respect

of these appointments can be found in the Directors remuneraton
raport on page 68

Time commitment

All Non-Executive Directors are adwsed of the hikely ime cemmitments
reguired on tnduction and are expected to devote sufficent me

for the effective discharge of thew funcuons The Company prowmdes
Non-Executive Dvectors with appropnate support and facihties for
consideration of the Company s strategy and performance anda
dialogue with the Charman 5 strongly encouraged so that any issues
regarding conflicting commitments and tme pressures can be
addressed appropriately

Induction and traming

tength of time served onthe Board

Industry/Background experience’

Notes
1 Derectors may fallinto one of more categories

Dwrectors appomtment and reappointment

In respect of Code prowision B 71, all Executive and Non-Executve Directors
wall retire and offer themselves for reappointment at the Company s 2015
AGM with the exception of Dawnd DeVoe Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind
who have decided not (o seek reappointment this year and will step down
from the Board at the conclusion of the AGM Immediately following the
AGM it1s intended that John Nallen Chief Financtal Officer of 2ist Century
Fox wall be appointed by the Board as a Non-Executive Director As 3 resuit
of these proposed changes the size of the Board would reduce from 14 to 12
Durectors and at least half of the Board (excluding the Chatrman) would
continue to be comprsed of Independent Non-Exacutive Directorsin
compkancewth the Code

Hod xddens

All new Directors recewve an induction tarlored to their individual
requrements The induction process nvolves meeting with all of the
Company s Executive Directors and Senior Executives This facilitates

their understanding of the Group and the key drivers 6f the business
performance Durning the year Directors have recewed presentations

from a number of areas of the business meludmg Customer Group Content,
Corparate Finance and Strategic Ptanning Group The Chaiman meets

with the Directors throughout the year to review and agree ther indvidua!
rrarwng and developmental needs

An example of atatlored induction programme is detaled below

Meetingswith Customer Product Accompamed
Senmr Executies contact demanstratons a Sky engineer
Sky Naws and centiewnit On Customer
Sky Stucho wisits VIS

In addition to this vanous presentatiens from pror Board meetings will
be made avalable to the Director in order to smprove ther understanding
of the Group and the competitive and regulatory landscape in which it
operates Consideration s given to Commurtee appomniments and whera
relevant tailored trarning may be required

Board evatuation

Ining with the Code and following the external 8oard evaluation carried
out by Alice Perkins of JCA Group in 2013 anmternal Board evaluation
has been camed out for the past twoyears

Dunng the period under review the process was faciitated by Nick
Ferguson Further details of the evaluation process can be found
in the Corporate Governance & Nominatons Committee repors
onpages 48 and 49
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Corporate governance report

(continued)

Information provided to the Directors

The Company Secretary 1s responsible for ensuring good information flows
within the Board and its Committees and between semor management and
Non-Executive Directors For each Board and Committee meeting, Dnrectors
are prowded with a Lallored Board pack at least one week pner to the
meeting Towmprove the delivery and security of Board papers the
Company has adopted an electronic system allowing the Board to easily
access informabion rrespective of geographic location Directors regularty
recerve additionalinformation from the Company between Board meetings
including a daily prass summary and a menthly Group performance update
Where a Director was unable to attend a meetuing they were provided with
ali the papers and infermation relating to that meeting and were able

1o discuss issues ansing directly wath the Charrman and Group CEO

Conflicts of interest

Under UK Company law 21l Directors must seek authonisation before
taking up any position with another company that conflects or may
possibly conflict with the Company sinterests The Company s Articles
of Association contain provisions to allow the Directors to authorise
situations of potenual conflicts of interest so that a Director 1s not

n breach of hus duty under company law

All existing extemnal appointments for each Director have been authonsed
by the Board and each authonsation s set out i a Conflicts Reghster
Directors are requirred to noufy the Board of potential conflicts so that they
can be considered andif appropnate authonsed by the Board in addition
the Corporate Gavernance & Nominations Committee conducts an annuai
reviews of Directors conflicts and reports its findings to the Board

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committes r d the

Shareholder engagement

The Company 15 committed Lo mamntainmg and improving dalogue with
shareholders »n order to ensure that the objectives of bath the Group

and the sharehc!ders are understood A pragramme of meetings with
institutional shareholders fund managers and analysts takes place each
year and the Charman Group CEQ and Group CFQ have attended meetings
with investors as appropriate The Company also makes presentations

to analysts and Investors around the time of the half-year and Full-year
results announcement conference calls are held with analysts and
investors following the release of the first quarter and third quarter trading
statements and presentations are made duning the year to many existing
o potential shareholders at investor conferences The Company hosts
anannual meetng for its major sharcholders to discuss remuneration

The AGM

The Board vipws the AGM as an opportunity to communicate with private
ivwvestors and sets aside ume at the meeting For shareholders to ask
questons At the AGM the Chairman prowdes a bnef summary of the
Company 5 actavities for the previoys year All resolutions at the 2014

AGM were voted by way of a poll This follows best practce and allows

the Company to count all votes rather than just those of shareholders
attending the meeting As recommended by the Code all resolutions
were voted separately and the final voting results which included all votes
cast for aganst and those withheld together wath all proxes lodged prior
to the meeting were released to the London Stack Exchange as soon as
practicable after the meeting The announcement was also made available
on the Company’s corporate website As in prévious years the proxy

form and the announcement of the voting results made it clear that

Board s conflicts during the financial year and concluded that confhicts
had been appropnately authansed and that the process for authorisation
15 operating effectively The Corporate Governance & Nominations
Commuttee and the Board will continue to momtor and review potental
conflicts of interest on a regular basis

Directors and Officers’ Insurance and Indemmity

The Company recognises that all Eirectors are equally and collectively
accountable under the law for the proper stewardship of the Company s
affairs The Company maintains a Drectors and Officers liabihty insurance
pohcy Additionally the Company s Articles of Assotiation allow the
Company to indemmify the Curectors and deeds of indemnity have been
ssued to all Directors of the Company to the extent permitted by law

Relations with shareholders

Shareholder communications

Presentations and webcasts on the development of the business are
available to all shareholders an the Company s corporate website

The Company also uses email alerts and actively promotes downloading

of all reports enhancmg speed and equality of shareholder communscation
The Company has taken full advantage of the pravisions wathin Lhe
Comparues Act 2006 allowing the website to be used as the pnmary
means of commurucation with shareholders where they have not requested
hard copy documentanion The shareholder informaton section on page
147 contains further detands on electroruc shareholder commumications
together with more general information of interest to shareholders which
15 also included on the Company s corporate website sky com/corporate

a votewithheld s nota vote inlaw and will not be counted in the
calculation of the praportion of the votes for ar against the resolution
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Report of the Audit Committee

Chairman s overview

During the year the Audit Committee has contnued to play a key oversight
role on behalf of the Board The Committee s prinapat actrties have
focused on the financial performance of the Company internal audit,
external audit nsk management compliance and governance We reviewed
the impact of the acquisitions of the Sky businesses in Germany and Italy
on the 201415 extemal and internal audit plans and the evolution of
financial reporung under the new structure

The Committee has also monitored the Company s approachterisk
management and the independence ang effectiveness of the external
autditors and received a number of presentatians from management
relating to data governance secunty internal audit treasury taxation
and health and safety

We have constdered the processes underpinning the produciion and
approval of this year s Annuat Report to enable the Board to confirm that
the Annual Report taken as awhole s far balanced and understancdable
and provides the mformation necessary for shareholders to assess the

Company s performance business model and strategy. A description of

Annual Report 2015

Attendance at Committee Meetings

Dawd Devoe and Arthur Siskind have a standing imitation to attend
meetings However their attendance at these meetings Is as observers
only and in a non-volng capaaty TheGroup CFO other business and
finance executves and representatives from the external auditor
Deloitte LLP 2ndthe internal audit department attend meeungs

at the request of the Commuttee The Company Secretary acts as
Secretary to the Committee

Audit Committee Agenda
Focus for the Commuttee this year has induded the fallowing items

+ Review and recommendation to the Board of che quarterly intenm
and full-year financial statements

Quarterly updates from the Group CFO on business performance across
the Group

Audit plans and findings of external and internal audits

The review and recommendation te the Board of the dvdend policy
and proposed payments

.

Liguidity and going concern review

Annual reporting due diligence procedures and corparate governance
updates

Theimpact of the acquisiions of Sky Deutschiand and Sky ltaha on the
201415 External Aucht plan

vody »3orens

BIUCLIIND

how we approached this can be found n this repart

There were sx meeungs durning the year and after each Comumittee meeting
| gave an aral update to the Board on the key issues discussed dunng cur
meetings The Commuttee alsa had a meeting wath the Company s external
auditors without management present

You can find additronat information of how we have carried out our role
and responsibihties within the remamnder of this report

The Committee s terms of reference are avalable onthe Company s
corporate website

Martun Gilbert
Committec Chairman

Committes composition
Martin Giibert (Charman)
Adine Grate

Dave Levas

Matthieu Pigasse

Andy Higginson a former Chair of the Committee stepped down as a
member of the Committee in November 2014 following hus retirement
as a Director

The Committee members have considerable Ainancwal and business
expenence and the Board considers that the membership as o whole
has sufficent recent and refevant financial expenence to discharge its
respansibiities in addition the Board has determined that each member
of the Commuttee has sufficient accounting or related financiai
management expertise In hnewath the Code

+ Assessment of the effectveness of the external audit process
and scope of audit

Audstor independence and the policy on the provision of non-audit
services by the external auditor

Quarterly review of non-audit services and fees

Quarterly reparts from the treasury function on the funding bquidity
going concern and operational capabilities of the Group and compliance
with treasury policies

Quarterty updates on planaed mternal audit work and on the status
of Seruor Acecounting Officer { SADQT) certification work to ensure
SAD comphance

.

Quarterly reports of all transactions with a related party dunng the
penod 10 excess of £100000 in value

Review of all transactions which fall withun the Listing Rule 111 5R
defintion of Related Party Transaction and all transactions with
a related party in excess of £10 mdlion and where required
recommendation to the Board

Review and oversight of the Group risk register risk methodology
and nsk management systems and processes

Monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group s intemal
audit funcuon and controls

.

Taxation secunty fraud health and safety and data protection

Sky Deutschiand s relited party transactions are approved by the suparasory board

o sccorance with German law Once the purthase of the remanmng mnonly Interests.
w Sky Deutschiand has concluded Sicy Deutsdvand will ba subject Lo the same approval
process as UK and eaty
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Govemance

Corporate governance report

(conunued)

Sigmificant accounting Issues

when conskdering the annual financial statements the Committee
reviewed the significant accounting 1ssties and the Group s entical
accounung policies as set out on pages 32 to 35 with particular focus
an the following

Retall subscription revenue

The majorty of the Group $ revenues derive from retall subsciption
packages including hardware supplied to customers The Group apphes
Judgement in determuning the accountng allocation of payments recenved
from customers to different etements of the bundled package taking mnto
consideration the timing and relative value attnbuted to each element
Durnng the year the Committee recerved a performance report from the
Group CFO at each Committee meeting that ncluded a review of revenues
recognised in the penod

The Committee considerad management s polcy and considered the views
of the external auditor and 1s satisfied that the polices have been applied
consistently and appropriately

Gereral entertainment pregrammming Inventory

The Committee reviewed the policy for the recognition of eontent costs and
sought assurances from management, and took Into account the views
ofthe external auditor that the policy 1S appropriate and has been

apphed consistently The method for recogrusing general entertainment
programming expense requires estimation and judgement to ensure

that the expense profile is consistent with the expected value of the
content to the Group

The Comruttee s satisfred that the policies have been apphed consistently

Intarnal control and risk managemaent

The Board 1s responsible for establishing and mamntaiming the Group s
systems of internal control and nsk management and for reviewng therr
effectiveness These systems are designed to manage and where possible
ehrminate the nskeof fadure to ackueve business cbjectuves and to provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss Theres anangoing process for wentifying evaluating and managing
the significant nisks faced by the Group in accardance with tha revised
gurdance on internal control 1Issued by the Finanaal Reporting Councillin
October 2005 Dunng the pencd under review no significant falings or
weaknesses were dentified

The Committee on behalf of the Board considers the effectwveness of the
operation of the Group s systems of internal control and nsk management
dunng the year and this review has been carried out for the year ended

30 June 2015 and up to the date on which the financial statements were
approved This review relates to the Company and its subsidianes and does
not extend to jomt ventures The Committes meets an at least a quarterly
basis with the Group s Director Audit Risk Management and Compliance
and the external avditor

Theres a comprehensive budgeting and forecasting process and the
annual budget which s regutary reviewed and updated s approved by
the Board Performance 1s monitored aganst budget through weekly and
monthly reporting cycdes During the finanaal year under review monthly
reports on perfermance were provided to the Board and the Group reports
to shareholders each quarter

In respact of Group financial reporting the Group Finance team is

are appropnate and are aligned to industry practice

Capitansauon of intangible and tangible nen-current assets

The Committee cons:dered the Groups pobges and sought assurances
from management that the Groups project accounting controls are
operating as intended and that spend capitalised as property plant
and equipment and intangible assets meets the relevant accountung
requirements The Committee also considered thereport fromthe
external auditor

The Committee s satrsfiad that the Group has followed appropniate
accounting standards regarding the capitalisation of project expenditure

Accounting for acquisitions

The Committee reviewed management s accounting for the acquisibions

of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia sciuding determmation af the fair
values of assets and habihtres acquired and of the consideration pad and
alignment of accounting policies across the Group which require significant
estimation and judgement The Committee considered the views of the
external auditor and receved a presentation from management explaning
the evoiution of the Groups finanaal reporting to incorporate the acquired
entites into the enfarged group

The Committee Is satisfied that the Group has followed the applxable
accounting requirements v accounting for the acquisitions and that
accounting polictes across tha Group have been appropriately aligned

responstble for prepaning the Group finanaal staternents and there
are well estabhished controts over the financial reporting process
These are also documented in hine with the requirements of the SAQ
legislatian and the controls are reviewed and signed off to confirm
therr continueus operation by the contrat owners twice a year and
are independently tested by the internal audit team The results of
the SAQ testing are reported to the Committee ona quarterly basis

Changes in internal controls

No change in the Group s internal control over financial reporung has
occurred in the UK during the year ended 30 June 2015 that has matenally
affected oris reasonably Ikely to matenally affect the Group s internal
controt over finantial reporting During the year the Group acquired

Sky Deutschland and Sky itaia which introduced addittonal complexity

to financial reporting Since the operating model and business operations
of the acquired entities are Similar to those of the exsting Group

the controls over financial reporting remain matenally consistent

Risk registers

There are nsk registers which identsfy the nsks faced by the Group
and these are consohdated into a Group Risk Register The nskregister
framework 15 basad on methodology taidenufy the risk based on
impact and kkehhood Therisk s assessed quantified and measured
which enables discussions onrisk appetite The registers detail the
controls that manage tha risks and where necessary the action plans
tomitigate the nsk exposure

The business develops the acuion plans and the internal audit team
mantors their implementation The Committee formally reviews the
Group Risk Register twice a year and sentor executives from the
busmess present ther nsk management plans from time to time
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The internal audit team provides objective assurance as to the
effectiveness of the Group's systems of internal control and nisk
managerment to the Group s operating management

The Group s prncapal nsks and uncertainties are detaled en pages 32 to 35

Fair balanced and understandable assessment

The Finanaal Reporting Commuttee ( FRC ) has respons:bility for the
production of the annual report and the associated review process
Guidance and camprehensve due diligence procedures were 1Issued

to reviewers by the FRC to help them assess whether the document was
fair balanced and understandable and comptied with the requirements
of the Code The FRC maintained oversight of the review process and
submitted certfication to the Commitiee toenatle it to be in a position
to recommend to the Board that the required statement could be made

Disclosure controls and procedures

The Company mamtamns desclosure controls procedures and systems that
ara designed to ensure that infermation required to e disclosed as part
of the Company s UK Isting obligations is accumulated and communicated
te management includmng the Group CEO and Group CFQO as appropriate
to allow umely deasions regarding required disclosures

Auditor iIndependance

During the year ended 30 June 20i5 the Committee reviewed audit
independence and scope of non-audit services and independence
safeguards with Deloitte LLP { Deloitte } the Group s external auditor

-As part of the raview,the Audit Commuttiee-has receved and rer d

Annuat Report 2015
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adwisory services on these strategic projects has been approved by
the Commetiee to be provided by Delaitte in the financial year 2015016
to ensure an appropriate level of project advisory continuity and these
services are planned to substantially cease by the end of that year

wn line with the implementation of the EU audit regufabion

Audtt; and non-audit services provicied during the year were approved by
the Committee An analysis of avditorremuneration s disclosed in note
7 to the consohdated financial statements

Audit and non-audit services
The Group has a palicy an the provision by the external auditor of audit
and non-audit servces which categonses such senices between

» Those services which the auditoris not permitted to provide

= Those services which are acceptable for the auditor to prowde and
the prowisien of which has been pre-approved by the Committee and

Those serices for which the specific approval of the Committee
15 required before the auditer s permitted to provide the serwce

The policy defines the types of services faling under each category

and sets out the critena which need to be met and the internal approval
mechanisms required to be completed prior to any engagement.

An analysis of all services provided by the external auditor 15 reviewed
by the Committee on a quartertybasis

During the year the following examples were deemed to be pre-approved
in accordance with the polky

confirmatien in wntmg that o Deloitte s prefessional judgement Deloitte
s independent withun the mearing of ali UK regulatory and prafessional
requirements and the objectity of the audit engagement partner and
audit staff1s not impaired

The Comimittee was satisfied throughaut the year that the objectmity

and independence of Deloitte was not in any way impaired by either

the nature of the non-audit related services undertaken durning the year
the level of non-audit fees charged or any other facts or arcumstances

A key aspect of this year s consideration was the effect of the acquisitions
of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha

« These acquisitions were both defined as Class One transactions
under the London Listing Rules To suppert the transaction facilitate
regulatory reporting and the raising of the necessary finance the
Committee approved due diigence services by KPMG the auditors of
Sky Deutsehland and reportng accountant senvices from Ernst & Young
{ EY) the auditors of SkyJtala and reportng accountant and other
transaction suppart and advisory secvices from Sky plcs own auditors
Deloitte The committae was satsfied appropnate safeguards had been
implemented in this regarg

.

Daloitte network firms in Germany and ltaly had been selected to prowde
consulting and other services to Sky Deutschland anc Sky Itala pnor

to thair acqursition by Sky tn order to ensure an orderly reduction in

and to reduce transition nsk the Committee approved the continuauon
of sennces by Deloitte untl indmdual actraties were rescoped or
completed taken on by Sky personnet ar other vendors commissioned

All necessary adjustments to scope to ensure auditor iIndependence
were made withun the six manth pencd permitted under the relevant
professional stancards which envisage circumstances such as these

The auditors considered the need for additionat safeguards and satisfied
the Cornmattee that they had mplemented these appropriately

The safeguards cons:dered Dy the commuttes included the contiruation
of the use of KPMG and EY for the year ended 30 June 2015 as auditors
of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaka A certain level of permitted consulting

= Comforbprocedires inrelation tGUdbiisstances ant programme
update

+ Assurance of certain KPis for the Bigger Prcture Rewew
Effectiveness of external audit process
During the year the effectiveness of the audit process was assessed

by the Committee Group Finance team and other key internal stakeholders
n the formof a questionnare The areas under review ware

» Qualty resources and scope of planming of the audit

Objectivity independence and transparency of the audit

.

ldenuification of key accounting judgements sigruflicant audit and
accounting 1ssues

Level of technical knowledge and professional scepticism

» Understanding Sky as a business its values and culture and challenges
1t faces

The gualty of planning and supervision of the group audit

Quahty of reporung and commuenications to the Audit Committee

The respanses to the assessment were discussed which confirmad that
Deloitte are performing as expected Deloitte continue to demonstrate
strengths in the majority of these areas Thera were no significant findings
fram the assessment and the revew confirmed that Deloitte continue to
carry out an effective and robust external audit including the supenasion
of the entarged group audit The Committee also continues to be satisfied
with the quabty of challenge and scepuasm of the external auditor

The Commictee therefare recommended to the Board that shareholder
approval be sought to reappoint Deloitte as the external auditor

and has also recommended that Deloitte be appointed auditors of

Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia for the 201516 finanaal year
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(continued)

Audit partner rotation

The external auditor 1s raquired to rotate the sudit partner responsible

for the engagement every five years As reported previausly the current
audsit partner rotates after the 2014/15 audit The partner was shadowed
by a successar audit partner throughout the year after a selectron process
to ensure the develapment of thorough knowledge of the enlarged group
and to safeguard challenge and cbjectivLy The incoming audit partner

will be required to rokate after the 2019/20 sudit

Tenure of external auditar

The regulatory regime relfating to mandatory audit tendennghas
significantly changed in the UK and Europe The Committee s closely
monitonng these developments and taking INto account that Delartte
has been the external auditor of the Company since June 2002 t expects
to conduct an audit tender » advance of June 2020 whichitself1sin
advance of 2023 by which the transitienal rules In UK and EU regulation
would require the Company to have perfarmed a tender

The Commuittee considered the ments of conductng an audit tender
process this year however in ight of the significant enlargement in the
size and scale of the Group followang the acquisiions of Sky Deutschiand
and Sky [talia - and the significant internal time and effort devoted

to estahlishung common financial controls and processes as aresult -

it was decided that for now shareholders interests would best be
served by facusing on the integration of the enlarged Group including
the consolidation of the Group audit with a single fin The Comanittee
will contintie to keep the bming of a future tender under annual review

Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee
Chairman s averview

Following the rebrement of Andy Figginsan as a Non-Executive Director
Sener Independent Diector and Chairman of this Cornmittes at the
Lompany 5 2014 AGM in November | am pleased to confirm that Martin
Gilbert replaced Andy as Seror Independent Director and was appointed
as a member of thys Committee | succeeded Andy as Chairman of the
Committee and al of these changes were effective from 21 November 2014

Over the past three years a number of new Independent Non-Executive
Chrectors have been appointed ta the Board and It was very encouraging
that ane of the findngs of thus year s internal Board evaluation was that
these new Directors have bedded down well and had strengthened the
diversity of the Board The findings of the evaluation also confirmed that
the Board and Its Committees continue to operate effectvely with each
of the Directors making valued and effective contnbutions

The Board as a8 whole welcornes the opportunity to adapt to innovations
and change within the field and continues Lo actively progress isbiatives
to adapt to corporate governance changes address gender balance on
the Board source the nght skills to complement our talented management

team and create robust succession plans to safeguard the Company s
future performance

There were three meetings held during the year and after each Committee
meeting | reported to the Board on the key 1ssues discussed during

our meetings You can find further information of how we have carried

out our role and responsibilities withmn the remainder of this repart

The Cemmittee s terms of reference are available on the Company s
corporate website

Nick Fergusan
Committee Chairman

Commttee composition
Nick Ferguson (Chairmarny)
Dave Lewis

Arthur Siskind

Martin Gilbert

Andy Higginson stepped down as a member of the Committee m November
2014 followang his retirement as a Director

Attendance at Commttee Meetings
The Group CED and General Counset attend the meetings from time to ime
and the Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Comnuttee
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Corparate Governance & Nominations Committee Agenda
Focus for the Committee this year has centred on the following items

Board and Cammittee COMpPosITIon

Internal Board evaluatien

Rewiew of Non-Executive Director independence
+ Review of Directars conflicts of nterest
* Succession planning

+ Changes to the Listing Rules for compamies with controlhing shareholders

Actmities dunng the year

Recruitment processes

The Committee keeps the Board s batance of skills knowledge and
expenence and the length of service of indivmduals under constant review
In respect of succession planning and supplementing the skill set of the
Board the Comrmuttee isresponstble for the identification evaluation and
recommendation of candidates for appaintment to the Board There has
been a formal process in place for a number of years and all of the current
Independent Non-Executive Directors have been through the same
selection process

This process involves the Committee waorking with the Executive Directors
and the wider Board todentify and agree the critena for the appointment
of any new independent Non-Executrve director to the Beard Once agreed
the Chairman of the Committee engages with andbrefs an external

Annusl Repart 2005

The evaluation of the performance of the Chairrman was led by the
Senior Independent Director The Chairman of the Committee reported
the findings of the evaluation Lo the Commuttee and the Board

The averall condusion was that indwvidual Beard members are satisfrad
that the Board works well and operates effectively in an environment
where there Is constructive chaltenige from the Non-Executive Directors
The Directors were satisfied with the current mix of skills and expenence
on the Board and that the compositven of the Board and s Committees
had been adequately reviewed curing the year A number of new
indapendent Non-Executive directors have joined the Board since

2071 and they have complemented the existing Board members and
contnbuted wellto Boardroom debate offered alternative viewpoints
and challenged perceptions

The gquality of iInformatson presented to the Board was of a hrgh standard
and distributed on a timely basis There was a good balance of focus
between strategy the competitive marketplace operations and govemance
within Board meetings

It 1s the intention of the Board to undertake an externally facihtated
evaluation during the 2015/i6 financial year in line with the Code

Independence

During the year all Non-Executive Drrectors were asked to complete
questionnaires to enable the Committes to determine therr mdependence
The Committee reviewed the questionnares and recommended to the
Board that there be no changes to the independent status of the current
Independent Non-Executive Directors The Non-Executive Directors who

are constdered by the Board to be independent are ctearlydentified on

recruitment consultancy-The external recrutment consultancy 1s asked
to draw up a list of potential canchidates for the Committee to review
The Committee considers the list of potential candidates and agrees a
shortlist, far interview by the Chairman Group CEQ and other members
of the Committee and Board as appropriate Subject to agreement by the
Commuttee the Committee then recommends the propesed appomtee
to the Board for consideration

Committee composition

Duning the year the Committea reviewad the composition of all Committees
On 24 July 20014 Martin Gilbert stepped down as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Adine Grate was appainted in bus place

with effect from 25 July 2014 Following Andy Higginson s retirement

at the Company s 2014 AGM it was agreed that Mzartin Gilbert be appomnted
as S0 on 21 November 2004 Marun replaced Andy as a member of the
Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee on the same date

Nick Ferguson was identified as a suitable successor as Charman of

the Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee and he succeeded
Andy Hgginson on 21 November 2014

Board evaluation

The Board undertakes an annual review of its effectveness and at
feast once every three years anndependent third party facilitates the
evaluaton Dunng the year the Charman of the Commuttee conducted
an internal evaluation and scheduled bime with each Diractor ta discuss
the following

the effectiveness of the Board as a whele
+ the mix of skills and expenence on the Board
+ the effectiveness of Board processes and procedures
« development of the Company s strategy and

« the performance of Board committees

page 42

As noted onpage 42 James Murdach Chase Carey Dawvid DeVoe and Arthur
Siskind are not considered to be independent within the meaning of the
Code Howover following the evaluaticn the Commuttee considers that each
of these dwectors continue Lo make asignvficant contnbution to Board and
Committee discussions

Directors conflicts

The Committee reviewed the Board s conflicts duning the financial
year and conduded that Directors conflicts had been appropriately
authonsed and that the process for authonsation was operating
effectively The Committee and the Board will continue to menitor
and review potential conflicts of interest and take acton to mitgate
them as necessary

Relationship Agreement

Changes to the isting rules carme into effect in November 2014 which
require & premium hsted company which has one or more contrelling
shareholders to have in place an agreement whichis intended to ensure
that any controling shareholder complies with the independence provisions
in the Listing Rules (see page 70) The Committee engaged external counsel
to assist with negotiating arelationshp agreement with our controfling
shareholder 215t Century Fox Inc whitch was subseguently entered into

by the Company on 13 November 2014
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(continued)

Bigger Picture Committee
Chairman s overview

There were two meetings duning the year and after each Committee
meetng | reparted to the Board on the key issues discussed

| am pleased to report that there has been sigmificant progress across
the Bigger Picture swtiatwves in the UK andireland from building the reach
impact and awarenass of Sky Academy 1o the continued success of Team
Sky and the Company s approach to responsible business

Sky s commitment has been recognised through its strong performance
in a number of Investor ndices durng the year incduding the Carbon
Disclosure Project and the Dow Jones Sustainability Index

The Commuttee believes that the focus and scate of the werk being done
conunues to make a significant contribution to Sky s abitity to build a better
business for the long term

Progress against all of the Bigger Picture commitments and mitiatives
15 detaled at sky com/biggerpicture

James Murdoch
Commiitee Chairman

Activities dusing theyear

The Committee oversaw a number of key developments in relavon

to Sky s Bigger Picture snitiatives notably progress towards our target
to help one milion young people build pracucal skills and expenence
thraugh Sky Academy In the UK andg Ireland

Sky Academy IS a set of Intuatrves using the power of TV creatmty and
sport to unlock the potential In young pecple In addition to the engoing
success of the Sky Sports Living For Sport, Sky Academy Skills Studias
Sky Academy Schotarshups and Sky Academy Starting Out, the Committee
oversaw the development of the new Sky Academy Careers Lab at Skys
Waest London campus whnch will see at least 4 000 young people aged
16-19 wisit Sky each year to gaincareer insights and build employability
skills Dunng the year we also launched an additional Sky Acadeny Skills
Stud:o at our Livingston site in Scotiand which is providing opportunities
far another 12 000 yaung pesple in Scotland to take part in addiion to
the 12000 in West London each year Both intiatives have prowded mare
opportumties for Sky staff to gat involved in Sky Academy through
volunteenng and we saw a 43% increase in volunteering this year

The opentng of Sky Academy Careers Lab supparts the Committees
view that the Sky Academy expenences should be providing insight into
the diversity of roles for young people at Sky The Committee noted the
ncrease sn career opportunvties for young people through Sky Academy
Starting Out with 1100 places across its apprenticeship graduate
placement and work experignce programmes in 2014115 up from almost
600 in 2013/14 which s on track agamnst the commitment to double the
number of career apportunities avarlable for young people within Sky

1 threa years,

Composition of the Comm:ttee
James Murdoch (Chairman}
Tracy Clarke

Dave Lewrs

Attendance at Committee Meetings

The Group CEQ Group CFO servor executives representatives from
Corporate Affars and the Bigger Picture team attend meelings at the
request of the Chairman The Deputy Company Secratary acts as Secretary
to the Committee The Committee s terms of reference are available on the
Company's corporate website

Bigger Picture Committee Agenda
Focus for the year has centred on the following items

= Argview of progress on Sky Academy
« The impact of our partnershup with British Cychng and Team Sky
+ Prograss as detaded in Sky s Bigger Picture repartng

Over the year the Commuttee reviewed the achievements of Sky Academy
1N working towards Its targets for incréasing participation impact and
awareness Of note has been the doubhing of customer awareness of

Sky Academy along with the tripling of prospect awareness aver the year

Through the partnership with British Cychng the Committee noted that
over 17 million more people are now cycling at least once a month when
compared ta 2009 The Commuttee also noted thesole of Team Sky in
using the inspiration of elite success to drive participation Inaddition
the Committee was informed of the Team Sky objectrves Lo sirengthen
the Focus on Grand Tour performance and build fan engagement as we
move Into the last 18 manths of the partnership wath Brtish Cycling

Through its review of the Bigger Picture reporting the Committee noted
the overall progress aganst Sky s commitments including In relation to
the Company's approach to respensiblé business The recommendat:ons
the Committee made to improve the communication of progress have
beenincerparated for the 201415 year

Overall the Commuttee continued to note the positive ecenomic social
and environmentat contribution of Sky For more information about Skys
approach and progress over the year go to sky com/biggerpicture
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Directors’ remuneration report
Annual statement from the Chairman

Dear Shareholder
On behalf of the Board | am pleased to present our Directors.
Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2015

Context and business performance

Thus has been a transformationa year for Sky By acquining the Sky
businesses in Germany and Itaty we have opened up a significant new
growth opportunity whilst continuing to detver excellent financial and
operational performance There has been strong growth across all our
rnarkets, partrculady i the UK and treland and we have increased the
dridend to our shareholders by 3% This represents the 11th consecutive
year of deeidend growth an excellent record by any measure

These results are particularly strong considenng the level of change in

the business Group revenue 1s up 5% year on year and operating profit

up by 18% In the UK and Ireland we achieved the highest organic customer
growth in Tl years whide in Germany and Austna we delvered record
customer growth and in Italy we held our customer base stable after three
years of decline 1n totalwe added almast one million new customers across
our five terrnitones 45% more than in the pror year to take our customer
base past the 21=-millignmark At the samg tme, we In<raasad our paid-for-

The continued support, of our shareholders 1s extremely important to us
The Commuittee mtends to review its positen on dawback with a view
tointraducing suitable prowssons for our business alongsde our extsting
polcy onmalus over the course of the next year The Committee revisited
the topic of disclosure this year specifically the degree to which it deems
the disclosure of performance targets to be commercially sensitive

and the umung of disclosure

Misclosure of performance targets

Our targets which mclude significant fixed costs relating to rights deals
are commerQially sensiuve We operate ina haghty competitive market,
both in acquinng customers and bidding for key nghts with a discrete
number of players and a number of our direct competitors do not
disclose therr Largets

Nevertheless the Cammittee acknowledges investor concerns and has
decided to disclose the targets for the 2013 annual bonus and LTIP vesting
a year earier than we anhicipated in the Remuneration Report last year

We continue to disclose performance ranges in advance for EPS growth

for the Co-Investment Plan and relauve TSR performance for the Long Term
tncentve Plan The Committes will continue to useits judgement at the
end of each year to determine levels and tming of disclosure

Inaddition the Committee has also provided greater clanty on pay and
performance outcomes for the 2015 banus payment and Long Term
Incentive Plan vesting A clearer chart and more detaled commentary
on performance are provided on pages 53to 55

Impact of the acquisition of Sky Deutschiand and Sky italia

poduxBnens
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subscnption products by 4 5 millon for the year and Saw a signaficant
increase incustomer layalty with churnunder 10% in each of cur markets
Agamnst this backdrop of excellent performance the business has a strong
platform on which to builld and a clear set of plans to deliver long-term
grawth and returns for sharcholders

The long-term sustainability and success of our businessisbased ona
relentiess focus on our key drivers for growth Our remunerabon pohcy
directy hnks pay to the achievement of stretching performance targets
which drive our strategy as set out on page @ This pnnaple of inking pay
to stretch performance has remained unchanged over the past six years
and has helped to mantain the stability and focus of the senior team to
deliver outstanding vaiue to our shareholders The Commattee ensures
that the performance measures selected v its incentve plans reflect tha
key performance indicators of the business and thereby prowde a direct
link ta Skys strategic afms Having considered other performance
measures the Committee s comfortable that the current measures

and their inclusion across all threeincentve plans ensures the right knk
to our strategic KPIs and the proper focus onthese results over bath

the short and long term

Last year the Camemuttee intraduced a number of changes to aur
remureration pohcy which were welt recenved by our shareholders including
the intraducuon of a cap cn annual Long Term Incentive Plan awards a
minimum shareholding requirement for Executive Directors a formal policy
onmalus 2nd more explanaton and disclosure on perfarmance cutcomes

Follawing the completion of the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky
Italia in November 2014 the Committee considered whether any changes
te executve remuneration were requeed Notwithstanding the new
international and enlarged responsitilities of both Execdtive Directors
as aresult of this transaction the Committee decided that existing
compensation arrangements were appropnate

In respect of our multi~year incent:ve plans that span the transaction
period the Committee made no changs Lo the required performance
targets but resolved that Lo avoid any distoruve effect from the
transaction measurement would be madé¢ on a hike-for-like hasis
restabing either to a UK & lreland only basts or to a pro farma basrs
for the transaction and dispesal of Sky Bet depending upon when
the plans commenced Targets for all new plans that commence
post-compietion are on the basis of the enlarged Group

Full details of alt targets and the actual perfarmance aganst these
will be disclosed in alignment with our pohicy on disclosure

Pay and performance outcomes for 2015

Performance across the Group has been excellent and reinforces that

our approach to ncentmsation continues Lo work our management team
15 delivering the nght outcomes for the business and Sky s shareholders

It 1s aganst this great set of results that the Committee has decided the
rermuneration for 1ts Exgcutive Directors
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Directors’ remuneration report -
Annual statement from the Chairman

{cantinued)

Annual bonus

Each year the Committee considers the business plan and pnonties in
setting one dear ambitious stretch target for each chosen measure of
performance The key measures that drive our business plan are product
growth, operating profit and operating cash flow Payments earned under
this plan are determined by the performance achieved urder each of the
three measures and the bonus is structured such that therawould be a
matenal impact on the annual benus for underperformance There 15 atso
no additionat payment for performance beyond the stretch targess

Operational perfortmance acrass the Group has been excellent This was
led by the outstanding performance of the UKand Ireland business
which delivered our strongest customer growth for 1 years Paid-for
product growth for the UK and Ireland was 3 3milion significantly
ahead of stretch target

This strong trading performance ¢combined with a centinued focus on
operational efficency and cost control delivered an adjusted cperating
profit to £14 billon in the UK and Ireland ahead of target Operating cash
flow which 1s animportant indicator of the financial bealth of the business
and its abikty to sustain and grow 1s operatiens was ahead of target at
£14 bilhon

As a result of the excellent performance this year gnd i accordance with
the rules of the scheme the Remuneration Committee approved maxwmum
bonus awards of 200% and 150% for the Group CED and Group CFO
respectively for this performance year

Long Term Incentive Pian

The business has delnvered a remarkable pertod of sustaned perfermance
dUnng the threesyear period of this Plan~2012 to 20157Al threg af the
operatwonal measures - revenue growth operating cash flow and growth
0 earnings per share - were exceeded with revenus growth mthe UK and
ireland of 17% earnungs in the UK and Ireland up by 33% and an average
annual operating cash flow in the UX and Ireland of £1 4 bdlion Therefore
this part of the Plan will pay cut in full However the part of the Plan based
on refative TSR performance will pay out 3t 75 5% The total overallvesting
15 therefore 93%

Thus consistently strong company performance has delivered excellent
returns for our shargholders and the Board has proposed a 3% increase
in the dwidend to 32 8p whichis the 11th consecutive year of growth

A significant element of the value delvered 1o Executive Directors by this
Plan s a direct consequence of the increase 1n the share pnce over the
three year parformance pencd Qur approach to awarding a fixed number
of shares each year with no correlation to salary means that year-an-year
growth in total remuneration can only be achieved through share pnce
appreciation particutarly when stretch performance targets are being
met This construct delvers strong sharehalder aignment By awarding
an absolute number of shares as opposed to a percentage of salary

management benefit when the share price mcreases but are exposed i the

share price dechnes In additson, vesting occurs only every two years which
helps to ensure that the management team brings a longer-term focus

to the business Thisyear s a vesting year so it 1$important to remember
that the LTIP payrment this year represents two separate years of grants
not one This causes a spike i total pay every other year and distorts

the single figure remuneration shown on page 57 as there will be no

LTIP payment next year total remuneration will be significantly reduced

N 2016 The next LTIP vestung will be in July 2017

The Committee considered whether the acquisitions made during the

Co-investment Plan

Tousis a highly successful plan for our most senlor managers [t encourages
them to reinvest ther earned bonus into Company shares and therefore
the future of our busmess Vesting 1s deferred for three years and
dependenton EPS growth underpinming akgniment to shareholders
interests Our Executive Directors reinvested the maximurm 50% of thew
annual bonus in the 2012 Plan Over this three-year peried the growth

in garnings per share m the UK and Ireland of 33% was in excess of the
maximum vesting threshold and the matching shares therefore vest

n full Details are provided on page 53

Remunerationin 2015/16

The Committee foliows a policy of maintaining lower levels of fixed pay
relative to the market We are confident that the structure of a high ratio
of variable to fixed pay continues to provide a strong link between pay

and performance and delvers hugh retums for our sharehalders Solockeng
ahead to the new financial year 2015/16 while the tevel of personal
achievement delivered by the Execubve Directars would allow for graater
increases under the all employee salary review policy the Committee has
made modest adjustments to the base salanes of the Group CEQ and
Group CFO of 3% effective 1Juty 2015

Long Term Incentive Plan awards of 600000 far the Group CEO and
350000 for the Group CFO are maintained at the same level as was
previcusly agreed Jast, year and m inewith our polcy

The performance measures for the annua! bonus LTIP and Co-investment
Plan also remain unchanged

year might lead to a change in the long-term incentive arrangements

After careful reflection the Committee determined that the LTIP and
Co-tnvestment Plan which are both key slements of the total remuneratzon
for the broader management team af Sky plc has been successfulin

driving performance mcentivising management and delvenng shareholder
returns The Committee continues ta keep all elements of the remuneration
pohcy and structure under review to ensure it drves the performance

of the business and therefore the Interests of the shareholders

Tracy Ctarke
Committee Chairman
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Thus section sets out how our remuneration policy was itnplemented during
the year endzd 30 June 2015 and how it will be implementad for the coming
year It also sets out the Iink between Company performance and Executive
Directors’ remuneration the context in which our policy operates detalls
on our Executive Directors shareholdings and the general governance of
Directors remuneranion The remuneration policy 1$ summansed on page
64 1069 and available to read in full n our 2014 Annual Report which can
be accessed via our corporate website at skycomicorporate

Varabte pay outcomes for the year ended
30 June 2015

As shown on pages 13 ta 15 the business has delivered ancther year
of exceptronal operating and financial performance in what has been
a transformational year for Sky All measures for the plans eperating
i the year ended 30 June 2015 and described in this section are for
the UK and Ireland

Annual bonus for 2015 performance

The annual bonus drrves the achievement of annual financal and
operational business goals The plan for 2005 for Executive Directors and
senor executives was based on Lhree equally weighted measures which
were identified by the Committee as being key indicators of performance
dnwing growth for our business and returns to our sharehciders

» Paud for Products Growth
= Adusted Operatng Profit

» Adjusted Operaung Cash Flow Thisis a key measure of the underiying
health of the business and strong perfermance of £141 bithon ahead
of stretch target contmues Lo support our growth strategy

As aresult of this excellent performance the Remuneration Committee
recommended that the maximum bonus awards of 200% and 150% of base
salary be awarded to the Group CEO and Group CFD respectively for this
performance year

Annual bonus metrnics

Performance Werghting Performance  Achievement agatnst
measure pcrforman(e MEASUres
UK and Ireland paid-  33% +33m Signdicant outparisimance
for products growth

UK and Ireland 3% E1350m Out performance
operatung profit

UK and treland EE:] Evd1am STeng sut-garfermance
operating cash flow

The Comnuttee judges that immedsate retrospective disclosure of
specific targets is commercally sensitive because we operate i a highly
competitive market both in acquiring custorners and edding for key
nghts with a very small number of players We therefore believe that
early disclosure of our targets would offer an unfair competitive
advantage and would be ta the detniment of our sharehaolders

we will make retrospectve disdosure when the targets are deemed
to be no longer commercally sensitive We anticipate this to be two

«—Adsted Operating Cash Flow

We bebeve the concept of threshold target and maxrmurm performance
would compromise the dnive for growth so the Committee sets ona clear
stretch target for each performance measure eachyear after careful
consideration of the busmess plan and of consensus analyst forecasts

This year we have provided greater clanty on performanca outcomes

The table 1n the next ¢olumn sets out the Committee s assessment of
performance versus the three measures for the last performance period
The Committee sets stretching targets which must be delivered to achieve
the business plan and for the Executive Directors to receve the maxmum
bonus There are no payments abave maximum for performance above
these stretch targets .

The Committee will use its jJudgement to assess the level of bonusif
astretch target 15 not met taking into account personal performance
the performance of the other measures the undertying performance
of the business and other factors whuch the Committee considers

te be matenal to the results achieved Payments are earned in drect
correlation to performance achieved Performance aganst these key
targets 15 described below

Pard for Products Growth In the UK and treland we saw our strongest
operational performance for many years with exceptional praduct
growthan the UK of +3 3 millian which significantly exceeded the stretch
target, underpinned by our continued focus on customer quality and

our irvestment in productmty iImpravements which drove robust growth
n both new customer additons and paid-for product sales in a highty
cormpetitive market Increased customer kyalty and satisfaction s

also reflected n a significant reduction in our chum rate

Adjusted Operating Profit Strong revenue growth and a successful
aperational efficency programme resulted in an operating prafit
of £1 35 bifion which was ahead of stretch target

wodaixieng

FOUBLIOT

gears aftar theend of the performance periad

Vesting of shares under the Co-Investment Plan 2012-2015

Under the terms of the CIP offered on 28 August 2012 far the performance
pencd 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2015 Executwe Directors voluntanty deferred
50% of thewr earned 2012 bonus into investment shares which were then
matched by the Company up to 15 umes the gross equrvalent of ther
investment

The table below shows tha performance conditions for vesting of the
matching shares

EPS growth performance
(onnual average growth
over three-yearterm)

Match awarded
{number of matching shares
awarded per awestment share®)

Less than RPI +3% 00
RPI+3% 1
RP1 +4% 17
RP1+5% 133
RPI +6% 15
More than RPt +6% 15

Straight-line interpolation between points
* 10 anegquivalent gross basn

The average ad,usted UK and Ireland basic EPS growth rate of 10% per
year over the three-year perdd exceeds the thresheld for maxemum
vesung The Committee has agreed that the matching shares under
the 2012 QP will vestan full on 28 August 2015

Vesting of shares under the Executive Long Term incentive Plan 2012-2015
The vesting of awards made in 2012 and 2013 for the performance penod

1 Juty 2012 Lo 30 June 2015 was dependent on operational performance
measures which determined 70% of the award and TSR the remaming 30%
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The three equally weighted operational performance measures each of which 15 a key incheator of Skys continued success were
» Revenue growth key to our growth strategy
= Operating cash low measures our abhty to generate and manage cash
+ EPSgrowth measures our bottomtine performance
Points were awarded for performance on the three operatonal measures as follows
« For EPS two points are awarded far growth of RPI +3% per year with the maximum 10 points awarded for RPI +5% per year or more
For operaung cash flow and revenue growth one point 1s awarded for 75% achievement of ‘target on a skding scale up to 10 points for 105% or more
+ One point equates ta 10% of the award vesting with maximum vesting for 21 points or mare vestung on a straight-iine basis between these points
Annual Performance Measures are shown in detan the table below

Average EPS growth Operating cash flow Revenue growth
Performance Parformance
Parformance Paints achieved Points achweved Paints
achieved awarded (% of target) awardad % of target) awarded
RP+5%pa 10 105% cor more 10 105% or mare 10
RPL+45%pa B 100% a8 100% 8
RPI +4% pa ) 95% 6 95% 6
RPI+3 5% pa 4 90% 4 0% a
RP +3% pa 2 85% 2 B5% 2
LessthanRP143%pa 4] 75% 1 75% 1
Less than 75% o] Less than75% [¢]

As with the annual bonus the commattee will make full retrospective disclosure when the targets are deemed to be no lenger commergially sensitive
which s anticipated to be two years after the end of the performance perniod However the commentary and performance chart below ams to provide
greater transparency and darity for our shareholders

As with the bonus performance measures the committee made careful consideration of consensus analyst forecasts and the business plan before
sotting what it beleved to be stretching per formance targets Payments are earned in direct conrelation to performance achieved and perfarmance
against each target s descnbed below

Revenue growth revenue has increased by 17% over the period i UK and ireland which 15 in excess of the performance target representing
excellent growth and strong momentum far the future

Opuorating cash flow A key measure of the underlying health of the business and the abiity of the management, team to sustain and grow
its operations Average annual operating cash flow i the UK and Ireland of £14 bilion was in excess of target

EPS growth The top end of the EPS growth range was set for awards in 2012 and 2013 at RPI +5% pa This 1 equivalent to absolute growthm earmings
of 26% over three years if RPUs 3% a year Thus level of growth i earnings was set at a level which exceeded consensus rescarch anatysts esumates

al the time Actual growth in earmngs per share aver the three-year penod was 10% with average RP1 over the period of the scheme of 23%pa

This element of the plan vests m full reflecting the value generated for our shareholders over this penad

The actual poirits awarded for the penod are

Actual points awarded

Average EPS growth Operatung cash flow Revenue growth
Actual points awarded  Actual points awarded  Actual pamts awarded
1000 1000 1000

The tatal of 30 00s well ahead of the 21 points required for full vesting of this element of the award which comprises 70% of the total

Despite excellent share pnice growth and a consistent dividend policy our TSR performance over the three-year penod was an increase of 72 7% compared
to the FTSE median of 4B 7% with the upper quartle at 90 2% and as a consequence 75 9% of this proporuon of the awanrd vested on 28 July 2015
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The table below summarises performance over the three-year performance period versus the stretch targets

2012-2015 Long Term Incentive Plan performance metrics

Performance Wewghting Performance  Achievemant against
maasure performance Measuras
Revenue Growth 23% n5% Out-performance
Operating Cash  23% 14% Out parfermance
Flow
EPS Growth 23% 137% Sigreficant out-performance
Relative TSR 30% 759% Between madian

andupper quartie

The totaf overall vesting For the LTIP was therefore 3% Ower the longer term our consistently strong campany performance has delivered excellent
returns for cur shareholders and the Board has propesed a 3% increase 1n the dvidend to 32 8p which s the Tith consecutive year of growth

Long Term Incentive Plan, Co-Investment Plan and Sharesave Awards made i the Year

10021 J3mens

THUBUIM0O

Minimum % Maxrmum %
No of shares Face Volueon ofsharesthat ofsharesthat
awarded Grant Date Date of Grant  Performance Peniod  Vesting Date canvest can vest

Long Term Incentive Plan

Jeremy Darroch €00 000 250714 £5 247000 010714 -300617 25077 0% 100%

Andrew Grffith 350000 s0N4 £3060750" 10714 -300617 250797 0% 100% EY
&

Co-lnvestment Plan ﬁ

Jteremy Darroch 163644 010914 £1443 3407 010714 -300617 Q10917 0% 100% E

Andrew Gnffith 76930 010914 £678 5237 M O714-300617 oper 0% 100% ﬁ
3

Sharesave Plan E

Jeremy Darroch 2138 300914 E18 856 nJa 010220 nfa nfa

Andrew Grffith 1271 300914 en g nia 010218 nia nfa

1 Market pnce at date of TP award was £8 745 on 25 July 2014

2 Markat prica 3t date of (P matching award was £8 B2 on1 September 2014

3 Market price at date of Sharpgave grant was EB 82 on 30 September 2014

Performance canditions for the Long Term Incentve Plan

Awards made m July 2014 were Year 1 nd-costoption awards Thats they relate to the three-year perfarmance penod beginmng on i July 2014 and

ending on 30 June 2017 and are subject to the following performance conditions

1 Operatuonal targets - 70% of the award

There are three equally weighted operational performance measures each of whichis a key indicator of Sky s contirued success

+ EPS growth
174

+ Operating cash flow E

* Revenue growth -4
o

The Committee will make retrospective disclosure of these targets when they are deemed to be no longer commeraally sensitive We anticipate this to be g

two years after the end of the performarnce periad This means that we will review disclosure of performance targets in our 2019 implementation report g*-

with @ view te publishing unless the Committee believes they are still commercially sensitive In the context of the market 11 which the company operates 3
o

For EPS two points are awarded for growth of RPI +3% per year with the maximum 10 ponts awarded for RP} +5% per year or mare §

For aperating cash flow and revenue growth one point1s awarded for 75% achievement of target on a siding scale up to 10 points for 105% or mare

One point equates ta 10% of the award vesting with maxmurn vesting for 21 points or more vesung on a straight line basis between these paints
There rs no additicnal award for achievernent above 21 ponts

If the miimum range 1s met each year for all measures 26% of the shares vest

The Committee sets a high threshold vesting level in ine with our pohcy of rewarding success not failure Maximum vesting 15 not achievable if
performance 1s below threshold for any ane measure

Te eam the maumum of one point on any one of these measures requires the achievernent of 75% of target Missing two targets would represent a
sigrificant and dispropartionate reduction in total compensation
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Annual performance measures are shown in further detail in the table befow

Average EPS Growth Opersting Cash Flow Revenue Growth
Performance achieved Performance

Perfarmance achieved Points awarded (% of target) Paints awarded achieved (% of target) Points awarded
RM+5%pa 10 105% or more 10 105% ar mare 10
RP +45% pa B 100% g 100% 8
RPl+4%pa 6 95% 6 95% -]
RAI+I5%pa 4 90% 4 S0% 4
RPI+3%pa 2 B5% 2 85% 2
Less than RPI +3% pa o] 75% 1 75% 1
Less than 75% ] Less than 75% 0

The top end of the EPS growth range was set for awards in 2014 at RPl +5% pa This s equivalent to absolute growthin earnings of 26% over three years
if RPA 15 3% a year This tevel of growth in earmings was set at alevel which exceeded consensus research analysts esumates

2 Relative TSR performance - 30% of the award

The Company s TSR performance 1s measured relative tathe TSR of the constituents of the FTSE 100 If the Company s TSR performance 1s below median
the TSR element of the award lapses in full For mechan performance one-third of the shares subject to the TSR condition may vest, with all the shares
vesting for upper quartiie performance Vesung s on a straight-hne basis between these ponts as shaown below

TSR Vesting Schedule

TSR calcutations are conducted independently by Towers Watson adwisors to the Commitiee

Performance conditions for the Co-lnvestment Plan
CIP awards made in 2014 are subject, to the perfarmance conditions set qut in the table below

Match awarded
(number of matching shares
awarded per investment share*}

EPS growth performance
(annual average growth
ovar three-year term)

Less than RPI +3% [o14]
RPI +3% 10
RPI +4% 125
RP +5% 15
More than RP1 +5% 15

Straight-ine interpolation between points

re on equrvalent gross bats
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TSR perfarmance

The graph below shows the Company s TSR for the six years to 30 June 2015 measured as thevalue of a €100 holding in ordinary shares at the start
of the penod The performance 1s shown relative to the FTSE 100 which represents the broad market index agamst, which the Company s shares are
traded With the acquisitigns of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia the narrow focus of the FTSE 350 Media companies 15 no longer relevant given the
broader scope of the business and this index which was shown In previous years, 1s removed from the chart below

TSR is a measure of the returns that a company has provided for its shareholders reflecting share price movements and assuminNg renvestment
of dwvidends Data 15 averaged over three morths at the end of each financial year

Payments made to Executive Directors
The table below sets out total remuneration receved by the Executve Directors for the finanaial year ended 30 June 2015 and the pnor year

—— ended 30June 2014 The vesting pattecn-ofawasds underthe LIR4s biannial, shares vest every otheryear overa thrae-year performance perod

This means that every other year no payment 1s due as there is no vesting of awards The following year assuming performance conditions are met
there will be a payment which covers the equivalent of two years vesting 2015 was a yearinwhich the LTIPs awarded for the performance period
1July 2012 to 30 June 2015 vested The single figure for the Group CEOQ 1n 201515 therefore larger than the 2014 figure

Single Figure for Executive Directors’ Total Remuneration @audited)

Long Term
Salary' Taxable Benefits® Pension® Bonus* Incentive Plan® Co-investment Plan* Total
£ 20M 015 2004 2015 204 2015 2014 2015 2014 2038 2014 015 014 205
Jeremy 960700 984750 17907 18607 149491 147814 1921400 1965500 nfa 11818440 1830092 1950138 4879550 16885243
Darroch
an(#e-; 602175 620000 16115 16115 834 94755 903263 930000 nfa &30Q3168 g43836 89711 2444970 884148
reffitl

1 Executrve Directors salaries were increased on it uly 2014 by 2 5% for the Group CEO and 2 96X for the Group CFO Tha average increase for employees at that time was 2 5%

neng to 3 5% for those earming less than£ 30 000 per year with a range of 08 to 10% for performance promotions and market adpsstments

Taxable banefits ncluds comparvy car or car allowance and healthcare

Pension compnses a cash allawancs in liew of comparny cantributons for Jeremy Darroch and Andrew Goffith

Bonus shows the full amount earned shortly after year endin which the perfarmance measures apghed mduding amounts deferred through tha AP The paysut for the 2014 bonus

was 200% of base salary for the Group CEQ and 150% for the Group CFO The Higures for 2015 are 200% for the Group CEQ and 150% far the Group CFO The Executive Directors

deferred 50% of therr bonus into shares through the CIP 0 2014 and ¢ 1s antkapated they witl do so for 2015

Long Term lncentive Plan shaws the market value of the awards vested immediately following the end of the relevant performance penod Mo LTIP shares vested for the performance

penod ended 30 June 2014 The figure for 2015 15 for LTIP shares which vested on 28 fuly 2015 using the average share prce over the penad1 April to 30 Juna 2015 of 10 59

6 Co-tnvestment Fan shows the market value of the matching shares that vested on 30 August 2014 with ashare prce of E8 B2 Previously the value of these shares was est mated
using the average share pnce over the panod 1 Apnl to 30 June 2014 of £8 B1 It also shows the estumated vafue of matching shares that are dus to vest on 28 August 2015 using the
average share price over the penod 1 Apeil to 30 June 2015 of £30 59

b ow N

v
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Group CEO's remuneration

The table below provides a summary of the totat remuneratien for the

Group CEQ over the past sayears nduding bonus payout LTIP and CIP
vesting levels The table highiights the unique structure of curremuneration
pohcy 1n which vesung of LTIP shares occurs every two years rather than

the customary 12-month cyde As our LTIP awards are made as a fixed
npumber the reahsed value 1s purely reflective of delivery against performance
measures and any share price growth over this penod keeming it aligned

to shareholders interests

It should be noted that total remuneration far 2013 includes vesting of the
one-off addional LTIP award of 300 000 shares made in 207 at the time

of the possible News Carparationid The average annual total remuneration
paid to the Group CEQ over this six-year panod excluding this ane-off award
15 £9108 859

Annual LTIP

Bonus vesting
payout rates ce
Sengte against against vestng rates
figure maximum maximum against maxmum
of total opportunity opportunity oppartunity
Year remuneration % % %
2015 16 889 249’ 100 93 100
2014 4878 5902 100 r/a 100
2013 17026 9827 975 100 100
2012 4550037 100 nia 100
2omn 11133554 100 B3 nja
2010 2678744 100 n/a n/a

1 inthsxies valuauen of LTIP shares which vested on 28 July 2015 and OF matching shares
due 1o vest on 28 August 2015 both using the average share price over the penod
1Aprd to 30 June 2015 of E10 59

2 Includes valuation of CIP matching shares which vested on 30 August 2014 with share

price of £8 B2 Previously reported using the average share price over the panod

VAprd to 30 June 2014 of A B16

Includes vestung of the ane -off additional LTIP award of 300 D00 shares made in

2011 at the bme of the possible News Carparatian bid

Indudes first year of vesting of CIPintroduced in 2010

w

-

Parcentage change in Group CEQ s remuneration 1 July 2014 to 30 June
2015

The table below shaws the percentage change i Group CEC remunerauon
from ¥ July 2014 te 30 June 2015 compared to the average change for all
employees

Group CEO%
cthange Al ernployees % change
Base Salary' 25% 3 5% employees earrung less than
£30000 2 5% above E30000
Taxable Benefits 39% 0%
Annval Bonus 25% 1%

1 Employees were awarded up to 10% for outstanding performance promotions and
markat adustments

Relative importance of pay spend
The table below shows total employee costs and dwdend payments to
shareholders for 2014 and 2015

2014 2015

(Em) {Em)

Tota! employee costs 1044 1334°
Dnndend payments 485 549

1 Grouptotalinduding Germany and ltaly

Disclosure of Performance Targets for 2013

The Committee has discussed at lengthits approach to disclasure of
performance targets Whilst maintaining sts position that early disclosure
of targets would be commercially detnmental because of the hughly
competitive nature of the market nwhich it operates it considers that
perfarmance targets for the 2013 annual bonus and for the Long Term
Incentive Plan that vested in that year are no longer commercially sensitive

tn setting the targets the Committee gave careful consideration to the
business plan and to the research analyst consensus forecasts at the time
The targets and performance for the 2013 anmual bonus are shown in the
table below

20123
Performance vs
Performance Matrig Target Performanca Target
Patd-for Products Growth +275m +2 563m 93%
Operating Profit E£1300m £1330m 102%
Operating Cash Flow £1275m £1396m 109%

Onthe basis of this perfarmance the Commuttee determined that the
bonus was paid at 975% of maxmurn for the Group CEQ and 96 7% for the
Group CFO

The Leng Term Investment Plan that vested i 2013 for the 2010-2013
performance penod was based on three equally weighted operational
performance measures of average EPS growth Operaung Cash Flow
and Revenue Grawth Each was consdered by the Commitiee tabe

& key indicator of Sky s conunued success-T SR was-notinduded as

a performance measure for that particular award due to the possible
News Corporation (subsequently renamed 2t Century Fox inc ) tud
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Remuneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
The table belew summarnses the key components of remuneratuion for our Chairman and Non-Execuive Directors

Element end purpose

Operation

Fees

Reflect indmdual responsibtities and membership of Board
Commuttees Attract Non-Executive Directors with the skills and
expenence required to oversee the implementation of strategy

Fees for the Chasrman and the Non-Executive Directors are
reviewed annually having regard to independent adwice and
surveys

The Corporate Govemnance and Nominauons Committee
determnes the foes paid to the Chasrman taking Into account
the complexity of the role and the time and commutment required
The Board of Directors determines the fees for the Non-Executive
Directors

Addimonal fees for membershup of or charmanship of a
committee, or for other responsibibties, are payable in additton
to the basic fees Fee levels for 2015 are disdosed in the table
on page 62

Non-Executive Directars can elect to recenve a portion of their
fees in the Companys shares which are purchased om a monthly
basis Directors who are deemed to be affilated with 215t Century
Fox are not permitted to take partin this faclity Non-Executve
Directors nterests are disclosed 1n the table on page 60

Benefits

Additional benefits may be pronded far bustness purposes
eg provision of a car to travel toffrom meetings

Non-Executive Directors are not eligible to jon Sky s pension plan

odd w8aens

INIPLBADO

MNon-Executive Directors are ehgible to recene a Sky subseriplion
package

Bonus and
Share Plans

Non-Executive Oirectors are not ehigible to partigpate in any
bonus or share scheme offered by the Company

Notwe and
termsnation
provisions

Each Non-Executve Directar's appomtment 1s for an wutial
three-year term In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance
Code all Directars submit themselves for annual reappomntment

Mon-Executive Directors each have a letter of appointment

these appointments may be terminated without notice

Any fees payable would be settled at the date of termunation

No continuing payment of fees are due if a Non-Executve Director
15 not re-elected by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting

The Remuneration Report was approved by the Board of Directors on 28 July 2015 and signed on its behalf by

Tracy Qarke

Chawman of Rermuneration Comnuttee
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Introduction

In accordance wath the Companes Act 2006 the Corporate governance
repart.on pages 40 to 50 and information contarmed in the Strategic report
Forms part of this Directors’ report and are incorporated by reference

The Directors present ther report together with the audited consehdated
and parent company financal statements for the year ended 30 June 2015

Shares

Dmdends

The Drrectors recommend a final dradend for the year ended 30 June 2015
of 20 SO pence per ordinary share which tagether with thentenm dwidend
of 12 30 pence pad to shareholders on 21 April 2015 wall make a total
dividend for the year of 32 80 pence (2014 32 00 pence) Subject ta
approval at the 2015 AGM the final dwidend will be paid on 20 Novernber
2015 to sharehalders appearing on the register at the close of business

on 23 October 2015

Share capital

The Company s iSsued ardinary share capital at 30 June 2015 comprised
one class of ordinary shares Allof theissued ordinary shares are fully
paid and rank equally in alt respects Further details of the Compary s
chare capital and share 1ssues under the penicd under review are
disclosed in note 25 to the consobdated finanowl statements

Interests in voung rnghts

Information provided to the Company pursuant to the UKLIsting
Anthority's Disciosure and Transparency Rules (DTRs) ispublished
on a Regulatory Information Service and on the Company'swebsite
As at 30 June 2015 the Company had been notified under DTRS of
the following significant. holdings of vating nghts inits shares

Percent

Amount of class

kientity of person or group owned notified
215t Century Fox UK Nominaes Limited' 672781139 3914
BlackRock Inc? 88682765 506

1 Direct holdng which s subijact 10 restretions 6n s vobing rights (please see Voling
nghts batow).

2 Indirect holding

31 Number of shares hgtd as at 30 June 2015

Thera have been no changes to the above sigruficant holdings between
1 July and 28 July 2015

The Emptoyee Share Ownership Plan { ESOP ) was established to satisfy
awards made to participants of the Company s employee share plans
The trustees of the ESOP have waved the nght to dviderds payable

i respect of the shares held by it except 1o the extent of 0 0001% of
the divwdend payable on each share At 30 June 2015 the ESOP had an
interestin 14 305 780 of the Company’s ordinary shares The Trustees
who areindependent of the Company have full discreuon on how they
vote the ordinary shares held by the ESGP

Vohing rights

The Company s Articles of Association provide that subject to any nghts
or restnctions attached to any shares an a show of hands every member
present i person or by proxy shall have one vote, and on a poll every
member shall have one vote for every share af which he s a holder

Ona poll votes may be given either personally or by proxy or (in the case
of a corporate member) by a duly authonsed representatve

Asharehotder entitled to attend and vote at a general meetng may
appoint one or mare provees to attend and vate nstead of vm If a member
appoints more than one proxy he must specify the number of shares

which each proxy 15 entitled to exercise nghts over A proxyneednotbea
sharehclder of the Company Holders of the Company 5 ordinary shares do
not have cumulatve voung nights A voting agreement dated 21 September
2005 was entered mto between the Company BSkyB Holdco Ing,

21st Century Fox and 21st Century Fox UX Norminees Limited which became
uncondional on 4 November 2005 and caps 21st Century Fox UK Nominees
Lumited s voting nghts at any general meeting at 3719% The previsians of
the voting agreement cease to applyonthe first to occur of a number of
crcumstances which include the date onwhich a general offer 1s made

by anindependent person (as defined in the vouing agreement) for the
ordinary share capital of the Company

Restrictions on transfer of secunties
There are no spetific restncuions on the transfer of secunues in the
Company whichis governed by the Arudes of Association and prevaing
fegislation noris the Company aware of any agreements between holders
of secunttes that may result in restrictions on the transfer of secunues
or_thatrmay result In restnctions on vobing rights.

Vanation of nghts

Subject to the Compamies Act 2006 rights attached to any class of shares
may be varsed with tha consent Inwnting of the holders of three-quarters
w nomina) value of the 1ssued shares of the class or with the sanction of

a speciat resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the
sharcholders

Relationstup Agreement

Changes to the Lsting Rules came into effect in November 2014 which
requrre a premium hsted company which has one or more controlling
shareholders to have in place an agreement which 15 intended to ensure
that any controikng shareholder comphes with the independence prowsions
in the Listing Rules

21st Century Fox Ing ( 21CF Y and certan of its wholly owned subsidianes
directly or indirectly exercise or control 3914% af the voting nghts of the
Company and are therefore deemed to be controlling shareholders for
the purpases of the Listing Rules

Accordingly the Company entered into a refationship agreement with
21CF on 13 November 204 (the Relationship Agreement ) contaimng
the undertakings required by the Listing Rules

In accordance with the Listing Rules the Board confirms that throughout
the penod under review thatis from 13 November 2014 to 30 June 2015

(1) the Company has complied with the independence provisians in
the Relationship Agreement

() so far as the Company s aware, 2ICF and its associates have complied
with the independence provisions i the Relatwonship Agreemert and

(m) so faras the Compary is aware 21CF has procured complance by Its
relevant subsshianes and their associates with the ndependence
provisions in the Relationship Agreement
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Outstanding share awards Jeremy Darroch [audited)
Share prce Market Datefrom
At 30 June Vested Exercsed Lapsed Ati0lune atdateof prce on which
Date of award 2014 dunngyear duringyear dunngyear 2015 award exercise exerasable Expiry date
Lmip'*
26012 600000 - - - 600000 E7065 n/a 260715 260720
80713 600000 - - - 600000 €B22 n/a 260715 260720
CIP Matching??*s
2708 09? 204 425 - 204 425 - o] ES 405 £8 5877 270812 27087 1
08102 183935 - 183935 - a E7075 £8 5877 310813 noss ®
30081 207729 207729 207729 - o] EG 46 £8 81 300814 00819
280812 184149 - - - 184,148 E7G4 na 280815 280820
280813 162794 - - - 162794 E8 41 nfa 280816 280821
Sharesave
250909 3590 359 3591 - 4] E4 33 E9 555 010215 010815
Outstanding share awards Andrew Gnriffith (audited)
Share price market Datefrom
Ar 30 lune Vested  Exercised Lapsed AL30June atdateof price on which
Date of award 2014 duringyear dunngyear dunngyaar 2015 award exercse exercisable Exprydate
LTIps
260712 320000 - - - 320000 E7065 nfa 260715 260720
260713 320000 - - - 320000 EB 22 nfa 26075 260720
CIP Matching 2%
Joosn? 95793 95793 95793 - 1] E6 46 £8 81 300814 300819
280812 84713 - - - Ba N3 £764 nfa 280815 2B0820
280813 74 249 = = = 74249 22 Wa 280816 28082
Sharesave - -
608N 171 1771 171 - o] ES QB E9 555 010215 010815

1 Perfarmants conditions relating to LTIP awards made in 2012 and 2013 are disclosed in the 2013 Annual Report
2 The shareswers exerased and subsequently sokd on 1 September 2014 {the Awards granted in 2011} and on 23 October 2014 (the Awards granted in 2008 and 2010)
The aggregate value recervad by the Executiva Directors on exeraise of thew 2009 2010 and 201 CIP Matching Awards befora tax was £6005147

3 Dwidends sre payatle on shares purchased through the CIP During the year the Executive Directors racaved E81725 78 (2014 £B82158 60)

4 Performance ¢condiuons relating to CIP matching awards can be found on page 56
5 Following the vesting of awards partiapants contbnung to be employed by the Company have five years to exercise their awacd
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Governance

Directors remuneration report -
Annual Remuneration Implementation Report

{continued)

Single Figure for the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directars

The following table sets out the smgle figure for total remuneration for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directovs For the financial year ended
30 Jure 2015 and the prior year ended 30 June20M4

2015 Total 2014 Total

Fees' Fees
Nick Ferguson 473934 462375
Chase Carey 61500 50000
Tracy Clarke 106 500 95160
Dawd DeVoe 61500 60000
Dave Lews 51500 90 000
Marun Gilbert? 1275813 105000
Adine Grate* 80859 66987
Andy Higginson? 61042 145000
James Murdoch 96 500 95000
Matthieu Pigasse 71500 70000
Danny Rimer 61500 77769
Arthur Siskind 71500 70000
Andy Sukawaty 21500 70000

1 Basic fees were iIncreased by 2 5% with effect fram 1 Juty 2014
2 Andy Higginson retwred at the AGM on 21 Novembes 2014

3 Martin Gilbertreplaced Andy Higginson as Sentor independent Director and member of the Governance and Nominations Committee foltowang Andy s retiremeny at the AGM
on 21 November 2014

4 AdineGrate was apponted as a member of the Remuneraton Commites replacng Martin Gibert with effect from 25 July 2014
Fees for the Chairman and base Non-Executee Director fees were increased by 2 5% effective 1 July 2015 as detaled in the table below

1 July 1Juty
2015 2004
£ £
Charrman (all inclusive fee) 485782 473934
Deputy Chairman' 30000 30000
Board member 63000 61500
Additional responsibilitias
Senior Independent Director 40000 40000
Chairman of Commirttee 25000 25000
Member of Committee 10000 10 000

V The rote of Deputy Chairman s not required to be filled at Lhis prasent time

Payments to past Directors and loss of office
Thera were no payments made to past directors and no payments made for loss of office duning the financat year

Shareholder voting outcomes

The Company 15 committed to engaging with shareholders and every year engages with major shareholders and institutional investar groups ta
talk about remuneration This enables the Campany to take shareholders wews fully mto account when making decisions about remuneration
At the AGM held on 21 November 2014 92 97% vated in favour of the Remuneration Policy and 86 23% of shareholders voted in Favour of the
Dwectors Report on Remunegration

Resolution Votes For % For Voteas Against % Against TotalVotesCast  VotasWithheld
Approval of the Remuneration Policy 1313682688 9297 99 341288 703 1413023976 136456452
Approval of the Remuneration Report 996 564 957 8623 159084 662 1377 1155649619 221020809

The Committee has sought the views of major sharehalders since then and has made a number of important changes tots approach to transparency and
disclosure of performance targets as set out in the Chairman s statement on page 51
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Membership of the Committee

Dunng the year ended 30 June 2015 the Committee chaired by Tracy Clarke met five imes Nick Ferguson Adine Grate and Andy Sukawaty are members
of the Committee Attendance dunng the year is shown on page 42 Marun Gilbart stepped dawn from the Committee on 24 July 2014 and Adine Grate
was appointed In his place with effect from 25 July 2014

Role of the Committee

The role of the Committee Is to oversee the remuneration policy so that the Company is able to recruut. retain and motivate 1ts Executives and reward
their ndradual contnbutions in a far and responsible manner The Committee reviews the design and structure of employee meentives and 1s responsible
for approving the key terms of employment for the Executive Directors or any senior executve who reports directly to the Group CEO The full terms of
referenca for the Committee are available on the Campany s corporata website The terms of reference were reviewed during the year as part of the
normal corporate review process and no matenal changes were made

Committee activities dunng the year
The table below shows a summary of the key areas discussed by the Committee dunng the fmancial year

July 2014

Pe:formantce outcomes for
bonus LTIP and CIP

November 2014

performance update -
baonus, LTIP and QP

June 2015
Performance update -
bonus LTIP and CIP

January 2015

Performance update -
bonus LTIP ardt CIP

April 2015

Performance update -
bonus LTIP and QP

Target setbing for 204015

Rewniew and approve
remuneratien for Executive
Directors and Senior
Management

Review and approve

Update on reporung season

Shareholder feedback and
praxy voting guidance

Review Committee Terms of
Reference

Benchmarking for Exacutive
Directors

Update an reporting season

Policy review on 2015
Diractors Remuneraton
Report

Review positan on
disclosure of performance
targets

1lodar8nens

FIIRIINOD

Directors Remuneration
Report
Update on meetings with

shareholders voting
adwisory services.

Adwvisors to the Committee

Towers Watson acted as independent adwisors to the Committee throughout the year The Committee s satisfied that the adwice ik raceves on Executive
Directors remuneration is ndependent and objective Terms of reference are momtored throughout the appointment Tawers Watsen subscribes to the
Reruneration Consultants Group s Cade of Conduct in relaticn to executive remuneration The Code danfies the scope and conduct of the role of
remuneration tonsultants when adwsing UK isted companies The fees paid to Towers Watson for Lheir services inrelation to directors pay totalled

£161804 During the year Towers Watson also provided Sky with advice on pension within its reward strategy and the operabion of its pension and related

benefit provisions

The Group CEC and the Director For People promde information and advice and attend meetings as required The Committee s also supperted by the
Company Secretary Finance and Human Resources functions No indiwiduals are Involved i the decision in relation to thewr own remuneration
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Governance

Directors’ remuneration report
Our Remuneration Policy

Thus section describes the Drecters Remunerauon Policy that was appraved by shareholders at the 2014 AGM and which the Corututtee intends will be
effective until the 2017 AGM The Palicy tab'e 1s repraduced in full below For ease of reading some subsequent sub-sections including remuneration on
recruitment or appointment to the Board and payments onterminauan and loss of office have been omitted but may bereferred to in the 2014 Annual
Report pages 60-66 avalable on our website at sky comicorporatefinvestorsfannual-report-2014

Remuneration Principles

There are five key principles which underpin the remuneration policy for our Executive Directors

Our approach to executive pay s aligned to the nterests of our shareholders

We reward our people faidy and competitively to attract motivate and retain the skidls we need to deliver significant. growth

The level of base pay)s ceaded in the same way as for all employees based on indiaduat performance and experience the size and scape of the role
and taking account of total remuneration

The majonty of executive pay s tied to the achigvement of stretching performance goals inked to the strategic pnonties for the business Executive
Directors will be well rewarded anty if they meet or exceed the maximum performance standards set and achueve stretching levels of performance

- Wa take ¢are to ensure that remuneration does not inadvertently encourage inappropriate risk taking

Qur principles set the foundation for our remuneration policy and ensure that decsons made by the Committee areconsistent and appropnaten the
context of business prionues sharehalder interests and employee pay

Summary of the Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The table below shows how our remuneration policy hinks to our business strategy and its terms of operation Any contractual commutments entered Into
or awards made before the poticy came into effect or a person became a director will be honoured

Purpose and ink to strategy Operation Maximum opportunty Performance hink
Base salary Attracts and retains Rewiewed annually typically Any increase wall be in ine with Indmndual and business

Executve Directors taking = with effect from 1 Juty———————"—those provkied toemployees——performances taken mtor
account of personal Salary rs set relatvely low versus withun the Company account when reviewsng
contrnbution and size salaries

the peer group of companies Higher increases may be made
of role

of similar market capitalisation as aresult of a change tnrole

to the Company or responsibxity or ather

formance-based
Th per
a Committee looks at pay crcumstance

pracusces in selected
nternatonal media companies Thus s en line with our pohcy

F 1 1
Deasions an salary also take into or all employees

account the performance and
expanence of the ndviduat
changes in the size and scope

of the role and the level of salary
awards across the business

Pension Provides opportuntty for Executive Directars may recetve Employer contributions to the N/A
longer-term saving andfar  employer contnbutions mto the  pension scherne or an equivalent
retirement provision Sky Pension Scheme a cash cash supplement are around 16%
supplement in beu of pension of base salary
or a combinauon thereof

All payments are made 4%
apercentage of base salary
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Purpose andhnk to strategy Cperation Maximum opportunity Performance tink
Other benefits Prowides Executive Executrve Drrectors are entided Benefits provided to Executwve N/A

Dwectors with a range af ta arange of benefits including, Directors are broadly in line with

core and finge benefits a8 butnot hmited to prvate medical  those offered to all employees

partof o competitive total  insurance Iife assurance dlhealth  Where exceptions are made

remunerauon package

ncome protection pard hotday
suick pay Sky subsonption package
company ar allowance arnd use
of a company car generalty

for business travel purposes

The Committee may make minar
changes to benefits or include
other benefits that are deemed
appropnate from tme to time

Relocation allowances and
benefits may be provwded
where needed to assist with
the relocation or internatonal
transfer of an Executive
Director and their dependents

the Comrmittee ensures that
benefits offered are inline
with market practice for similar
roles in similar orgamisations

Annual bonus

Drives and rewards the
delvery of stretching
annual performance goals
aligned withthe
Company's overall

businesTstrategy

Performance measures and
weighungs are reviewed at the
start of each year to take
account of current business
plans Stretching perfarmance

The maxmum bonus
opportunity is 200% of base
salary and 1s payable for the
achievement, of stretch
obyjecuves

Targets Bl TRLTNRTAlY

Performance against Largets

15 monitored quarterly and
determined annually based

on assessment of performance
versus each target

Payment is macde only once
annua) results have been audited

In exceplional circumstances the
Committee will use its judgement
to adjust bonus outcomes up or
down to ensure alignment of pay
wath performance and with
shareholder interests withinthe
pohcy maxmum

The minimum payment s zero

The Committee believes the
concept of threshold target and
MaXIMUM COMpPromises our drve
for growth so we set one clear
anct ambitious stretch target
for each performance measurg
every year The achievement

of stretch goals will resulgin

a payout at maximum or
near-maximum The Committee
exercses s judgement on

the lavel of bonus payable for
outcomes short of maxamum

Performance 15 assessed
against a combination of
operational and financial
objecuves which are
determined at the start

yadauBoiens

BIUBLLIMOD)

of tha year

The weighting of the measures
15 determined at Lhe start

of each year but each measure
will have a maxmum weighting
of 40%

Further detals are disclosed
n the notes to the policy table
and the Annual Remuneration
Implementation Report

Co-trvestment
Plan (C1P)

Encourages personal
investment and
shareholder aignment
rewards long-term focus
and performance
achievernent

Executive Directors may invest
up to half of their earned annual
bonus in the Company s shares

These investment shares are
matched on a gross basis and
vest based on performance over
athree-year period Shares are
matched by up to 15 shares for
every 1share nvested inline
with perfarmance

Oncevested parygpants may
exercise the awards during
a five-year period

Participation in the planis
voluntary

The maximum annual award
15 150% of base salary

Ne matching awards are capable
of vesting if performance 1s
below threshold 21 for 1 match
may vest when the minimum

of the range 1s met and all the
shares vest (or 15 shares for
every shara invested) when the
maximum of the range 1s met

The performance measure to
deterrmine the vesting of the
shares s chosen each year and
15 typically a financial measure
such as EPS growth

Further details onthe
performance criteria far
threshold and maximurm
vesting are disclosed In
the Annual Remuneration
Implementation Report
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Directors’ remuneration report -
Our Remuneration Policy

{continued)

Purpeose and bink to strategy Operation Maximum epportenity Performanceiink
Long Term Rewards longer-term value  Awards are made annually The Committee reviews the Performance measures are
Incentive Plan creauon and ahgns under the terms of the scheme numberof shares to be granted  typically a nux of operationat
(LTIPY Executve Directors rules based on number of annually A typscal award for measures and relative TSR

nterests with those of
shareholders

shares This de-tinks the award
from increasing automaticatly
with salaryadjustments

Vesung of awards s based on
stretching performance over a
three-year penod Awards are
made in Year 1 and in Year 2with
vesting of both awards at the
end of Year 3 Thes means that
vesting of awards occurs every
other year with zero vesung

in between

Once vested parucparnts
may exercise the awards durning
a frve-year period

In instances of gross misconduct
all unvested LTIP awards lapse
immediately

This year the company has
introdused a pokcy on matus
The Commitiee may use its

the Group CEC 15 600000
shares in any 12-manth perrod

The maximum award level is.
900 000 shares in any 12-month
penod Such awards will only

be made in exceptional
ciIrcumstances

100% of the shares vest when
the performance critena are
met in Full i the mimum of
the range s met each year
for allmeasures 26%of

the shares vest

Operational measures used
m the past have included EPS
operating cash flow and
revenug growth

The weghung of the measures
may vary but s typically 70%
operatonal measures and 30%
relative TSR

diEcréudn after having taken
mdependent advice towithhold
orvarydownwards any unvested
awards typically 1n the evenc of

the matenal restatement
of the Company s audited
resuits or

act:ons attributable to
parbapants resulung in
matenal reputatonal
damage to the business

The Committee will determine
how to apply this sancuon on
acase by-case basis

Arpund 650 employees are ehgible for awards under the Long Term Incantive Plan A smaller number of employees (arcund 130) are also iwited to
participate in the Co-investment Plan All employees are elgible to receve a comprebensive benefits package and the majonty are elgible toreceve
either a monthly or quarterly cash mncentive or an annual bonus

66  Skyple




Annuzl Report 2015

Shareholder aignment

The Comrmittea considers shareholders views as they are receved
during the year at the AGM through sharetiolder meetings and through
orrespondente

We wall continue 10 engage with our major shareholders and welcome
feedback at any time Should we propose to make any major changes
to the remuneration structure we will seek the views of our major
shareholders in advance

The context for setting executive remuneration policy

The principles undertyirng our éxecutive remuneration policy are ahigned

to those that underpin reward for our employees as a whole which aim to
attract motwvate and retain people by offenng a market-competitsve totat
remuneration package The Commuttee takes into consideration the pay
and conditions of all employees when determining the remunerauon for
the Executsve Directars It does not consult with emplayees in this process

Our perfarmance measuras and how they operate

Executive pay remans firmly tied to the achievemnent of stretching
perfarmance goals linked to business strategy The measures we use are
based on the speafic areas of our business that drve growth and returns

to shareholders We batieve the concept of athresheld target and maximum
Farmula would comprosmuse our dirve for growth so we set one clear and
ambitious stretch target for each performance measure every year

Annual bonus
The performance measures for the annual bonus are determined by the

Govemanca

Pay scenano analysis (updated for 2045)

The charts below provide an estimate of the awards that could be recewead
by our Executive Prrectors under the remuneraton policy effective From
the 2074 AGM showing

+ Minimum base salary as at 1 July 2015 plus pension and benefits
as per the table on page 57 (Fed pay)

Maximum fixed pay plus maximum awards for annual bonus
(200% of base salary for the Group CEO and 150% for the Group CFO)

Co-Investment Plan (maximum deferral of 50% of the annual bonus nto
nvestment shares and full vesting of 15x matching shares) and Long
Term Incentive Plan (00 00 shares for the Group CEO and 350 000
shares for the Group CFO)

The Commuittee sets one clear and ambitious stretch target for each
performance measure if stratch targets are met then 100% of maximum for
the bonus 15 pard and the shares awarded under the LTIP and CIP will vest in
full There 15 no additional payment for achievernent over the stretch goals

Awards under the LTIP? are made annually but vesting oczurs only every two
years The impact of this vesting cytle on actual realised pay 15 shown in the
Six year single Figure remuneration table for the Group CEQ on page 58

Jeremy Darroch Group CEQ

— e comimut tee based on the business-prionties for-theyear-They are typically

amix of operatsonal and financial perfermance measures The measures
are usuatly a combination of operating profit operating cash flow and a
measure of product growth They are all key indicators of the undertying
performance of the business Each year stretch abjectives are set in the
hgnt of the Company s annual business plan and the operating
envwonment

Co-Invastment Plan and Long Term Incentive Plan

Performance measures for the LTIP and CIP are reviewed annually to ensure
alignment with the Company s strategy and shareholders interests The
P measure 15 typikally compound EPS growth in excess of RPlover the
perfarmance penod which ensures ¢lose alignment with our shareholders
interests Performance required for threshold and maxamum vesting are
described in the Annual Remunerationimplementation Report on page 53

The LTIP measures are typrcally a mix of operational measures and relative
TSR performance with a 70/30 split The operational measures are usually
EPS growth aperating cash flow and revenue growth As the conversion of
profit to cash flow s a key indicator of the underlying performance of the
busness it used as a measure in both the annual bonus and the \TIP

Our LTIP vesung cyde 1s atypical and has served the business and
shareholders well since it was introduced in 2005 Vesting occurs only every
other year and as a cansequerice the amount of remuneraton delivered to
Executve Directors will spike every other year This approach encourages
focus on the longer term The performance ranges for each measure are
reviewed annually In the hight of the Company s three-year plan, brokers
forecasts and histerical perfarmance Performance at the top end of the
range s stretching

Andrew Griffith, Group CFO

Scenarnos are modelled assuming a share price of £10 59 which s the
average share price gver the period 1 April to 30 June 2015 with no
allowance for share price appreciation
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Directors’ remuneration report -
Our Remuneration Policy

(continued)

Other share schemes

Management Long Term incentive Plan (MLTIP)

The Company also operates a MLTIP for selected employees excluding the
Executive Directors and senior executwes who participate in the LTIP
Awards under this scheme are made at the discrebion of the Group CEC
within the parameters agreed by the Committee The MLTIP mirrors the LTIP
indesign m order to ensure alignment between participants 1n either plan

Executive Share Optron Schemes (Executive Schemes)

The Campany has in place Approved and Unapproved Executive Share
Option Schemes No options have been granted since 2004 and no options
are outstanding at 30 June 2015 We do not envisage making any future
awards as part of these schemes

Sharesave Stheme

The Sharesave Scheme s open to UK and Insh emplayees and encourages
them to make & long-term investment in the Company s shares In a tax
efficent way The current legislation prowides for employees 1o Save up to
£500 per month Currently the hmit far Sky employees s £250 per month
atthough the Company may decide to adjust this amount in future QOptians
are normally exercisable after either three or five years from the date of
grant The pnce at which options are offered 15 not less than 80% of the
mddle-market price on the dealing day immediately preceding the date of
invitation or the average of the three days preceding the date of invitation
It 1s the policy of the Company to invite employees to particpate in the
scheme following the announcement of the year-end results Currently
approximately 10 000 employees partuapate in these schemes Itis
anucpated that employees in Sky Deutschland and Sky [talia wall be inated
to participate in similar unapproved schemes dunng 2015

Howthe Remunerausn Committee exeraises discration
The Committee retains discretion relating to annual bonus LTI? and
CIPin hne with thewr rules and according to the remuneration policy

These include but are not. limited to
» Timung of a grant of an award/payment

« Size of an awardfbonus payment up o the maximums ndicated
In the policy table

Determination of vesting and the application of malus for the LTIP

Dealing witha change of control

Determunation of treatment of leavers based on the niles of the plan
and the feaver polcy

Annual review of performance measures and weighting and targets
of the plan from year to year

Any use of discretion within the palicy framework will be explained

in the Annual Remuneration implementation Report. There may

be exceptional circumstancas under which the Committee may use
discretion or judgement in the interests of the business and shareholders
These exceptional circumstances may be the subyect of dscussion

with the Compary s major sh‘areholders

External appointments

External appointments for Executive Directors are considered by the
Company s Corporate Governance & Nommnations Cormmittee to ensura
they would not cause a conflict of interest and are then approved by

Sharehelding gurdelines and share ownership

The Commutiee recognises the importance of aligning Executive Directars
and shareholders interests through executives buikling up a significant
shareholding In the Comparny The shareholding requirements are 3x base
salary for the Group CEQ and 2x base salary for the Group CFO Executive
Dwecters are required to butld up their shareholding to the requered levels
withan five years There are na shareholding guidelines for Independent
Nan-Executive Directors but they are able to partiapate in a monthly share
purchase plan See page 60 for further details on Directors nterests

the Charman on behalf Gf the Board 1t1s the Carmpany §paiicy that
remuneration earned from such appointments may be retaned by
the indivdual

Jerery Darroch became a Non-Executive Directar of Burberry Group pk
in February 2014 and serves as a member of therr audit remuneration
and narminations comrmittees For the perred 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2015
Jeremy earned £80 000 in this role

Andrew Gnffith became a Non Executive Director of Just Eat ple m March
2014 and serves as senior independent directar charrman of the audit
committee and as a member of the remuneration and nominatians
cormmittees For the period 1July 2034 to 30 june 2015 Andrew earned
£60 GO0 in this role
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Remuneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

The table below summarises the key components of remuneration for our Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

Element and purposs

Operation

Fees

Reflect indivmdual responsitilities and membership of Board
Commuttees Attract Non Executive Directors with the skills and
expenence required to oversee the implemantation of strategy

Fees for the Chairman and the Non-Excecutive Directors are
rewiewed annually having regard to independent adwice and
surveys

The Corporate Govemance and Nominations Commitiee
determines the fees patd to the Chairman taking into account
the comptexity of the role and the time and commrtment required
The Board of Directors determines the fees for the Non-Executve
Directors

Addional fees for membership of or charmanshipof a
committee or for other responsibidities are payabla n addition
to the basie fees Feelevels far 2015 are disclosed in the table
on page 62

Non-Executive Directors can elect to receve a portionof ther
fees in the Company s shares which are purchased on a monthly
basis Owectors who are deemed to be affiated with 21st Century
Fox are not permitted to take part w this faciity Non-Executve
Directors interests are disclosed in the table on page 60

Benefits

Additional benefits may be prowded for business purposes
eg provision of a car to travel to/from meetings

]

Non-Executive Diectors are not ehgible to )oin Sky s pension plan

Nan Executrve Directors are ehgible to recerve a Sky subscnption

Boenus and
Share Plans

w
package §
Nan-Executive Dhrectors are not elgible to particpate in any

bonus or share scheme offered by the Company @

Neotice and
termunation
provisions

Each Non-Executive Director s appointment is for an imtial
three-year term In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance
Code all Directors submit themsehves for annual reappointment

Non-Executive Directors aach have a letter of appointment

these appoinuments may be terminated without notice

Any fees payable would be settled at the date of termination

No continuing payment of fees are due If a Non-Executwe Director
15 not re-elected by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting

The Remuneration Report was approved by the Boand of Directors on 28 July 2015 and signed on its behalf by

Tracy Clarke

Chatrman of Remuneration Committee

WOTIBLLOAR JOO0UYDIeYS
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Governange

Directors’

Introduction

In accordance with the Comparmes Act 2006 the Corporate governance
report on pages 40 to 50 and informabtion contained in the Strategic report
forms part of this Directors report and are sncorparated by reference

The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated
and parent company financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015

Shares

Oiidends

The Durectors recemmend a final dnadend For the year ended 30 fune 2015
of 20 50 pence per ordinary share which together with the interim dwidend
of12 3¢ pence pard to shareholgers on 21 April 2015 will make a total
dmidend for the year of 32 B0 pence (2014 32 00 pence) Subject to
approval at the 2075 AGM the final dividend will be paid oa 20 November
2015 to shareholders appeanng on the register st the close of business

on 23 October 2015

Share capital

The Company s 15s5ued ordinary share capetal at 30 June 2015 comprised
one class of erdinary shares All of theissued ordinary shares are fully
paid and rank equally in all respects Further details of the Companys
share capital and share issuas under the period under review are
disciosed n note 25 to the consolidated finanaat statements

Interests In voting nghts
information provided to the Company pursuant to the UK Listing

report and statutory disclosures

Vouing nghts

The Company s Articles of Association pronde that subject to any nghts
orrestricvons attached to any shares on a show of hands every member
present i parson or by proxy shalf have one vote and on a poll every
member shall have one vote for every share of which he is a halder

On a poll votes may be given either personally or by proxy or (in the case
of a corporate member) by a duly authonsed representative

A shareholder entited to attend and vote at, a general meeting may
appointone or more proxies to attend and vote instead of him IFa member
&ppoints more than one proxy he must specify the number of shares

which each proxy 1s entitled to exercise nghts over A proxy need not be a
shareholder of the Company Holders of the Company s ordinary shares do '
not have cumulatve votmg nghts A voting agreement dated 21 September '
2005 was entered into between the Company BSkyB Meldco Inc

215t Century Fox and 21st Century Fox UK Nomnees Limited which became

unconditional on 4 Novernber 2005 and caps 21st Century Fox UK Nominees

Limated s voung nghts at any general mesung at 3719% The prowsions of

the voting agreement cease to apply onthe first to occur of a number of

arcumstances which include the date on which a general offer 1s made

by anindependent person (as defined in the voung agreement) for the

ordinary share capitat of the Company

Restrictions on transfer of securities

There are no specificrestrictions on the transfer of securities in the
Company which 1s governed by the Artides of Association and prevailing
fegislation naris the Company aware of any agreements between halders
of secunities that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities

Authonty s Disciosure and Transparency Rules { DTRS 715 publiched
on a Regulatory Information Service and on the Company s website
As at 30 June 2015 the Company had been notfied under OTRS of
the following significant holdings af voting nghts in its shares

Percent

Amount of class

Identity of person or group awned notfied
2ist Century Fox UK Nominees Limited' 672783139! 3914
BlackRack, Inc ? 88682765 506

1 Direct holding which 1S Subject to restrctions on its voting nghts (please see Voting
ights Deiow)

2 Ingirect nokding

3 Number of shares held as at 30 June 2015

There have bee¢n no changes to the above significant holdings between
1July and 28 July 2015

The Employee Share Ownershup Plan { ESOP ) was established to satisfy
awards mada to partiapants of the Company s employee share plans
The trustees of the £S0P have wawed the nght te dvidends payable

n respect of the shares held byt except to the extent of 0 Q001% of
the dwidend payable on each share At 30 June 2015 the ESCP had an
interest in 14 BOS 780 of the Company s ordinary shares The Trustees
who are independent of the Company have full discretion on howthey
vote the ordinary shares held by the ESOP

©f (AL My result it restnclions on vong nghts

Varration of nghts

Subject to the Compantes Act 2006 nghts attached to any class of shares
may be varied with the consent inwriting of the holders of three-quarters
innominal value of the 1ssued shares of the class or with the sanction of

a specdl resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the
shareholders

Relationship Agreement

Changes to the Listing Rules came into effect in November 2014 which
require a premium histed company which has HNe oF more Controthng
shareholders to have In place an agreement which 15 intended to ensure
that any controling shareholder complies with the independence provisions
n the Listing Rules

21st Century Fox Ine ( 21CF ) and certain of its wholly owned subsidiaries
directly or indirectly exercise or control 3914% of the voting nghts of the
Company and are therefare deemed to be controlling shareholders for
the purpases of the Listing Rules

Accordingly the Company entered in1o a relationship agreement with
21CF on 13 November 2014 (the Relatonship Agreement jcontaning
the underiakings required by the Lisung Rules

Inaccordance with the Listing Rules the Board confirms that throughout
the penod under rewew that s from 13 November 2014 to 30 June 2015

@) the Company has compliec with the independence provisions in !
the Relationship Agreement

() sofarasthe Company s aware 21CF and 1ts associates have complied
with theindependence provisions in the Relationship Agreement, and

so far as the Company 1s aware 21CF has procured compliance by its
relevant subsidiaries and thew associates with the tndependence
provisions in the Relationship Agreement

{m)
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Oirectors’ powers inrelation to the Lompany

1ssuing and buying back its own shares

Following the previous share buy-back programmes approved at the 2031
and 2012 AGM 5 at the Company s 2013 AGM, the Company was granted

the authonty to return ESOQ mellion of capital to sharehalders wia a further
share buy-back programme ( the 2013 Authonty ) The authonty was subject
ta an agreement between the Company and 21st Century Fox UK Nominees
Lymitad (and others) dated 25 July 2013 whereby followang any market
purchases of shares by the Company 21st Century Fox would sell to the
Company sufficent shares to maintainits percentage sharchelding at the
same level prior to those market purchases Following the announcement
of the acquisitions of Sky italra and the majonty holding of Sky Deutschland
the buy-back ceased on 25 July 2014 No purchases were made by the
Company under the 2013 Authonty dunng the year The 2013 authonty
expired st the 2014 AGM and was not renewed

At the 2014 AGM the Directors were given authonty to allot ordinary
shares up to a maximum nominal amount of £286 502 B71 representing
approximately 33% of the Company s thenssued ordinary share capital
{the Allotment Authority) The Directors were additionally empowered
to allot ordinary shares for cash pursuant to the Allotment Authority
on a non-pre-emptive basis (&) in connection with a rights 1ssue or open
offer and (b) (otherwise than in connecuon with a nghts 1Issue or open
offerup toa maximum nominal value of £42 975 43C representing 5%
of the Company s then issued share capital

Articles of association
The Company s Articles of Asseciationmay only be amended by special

Alternate Directors

A Director may appaint any other Director O any ather personto act as

his Alternate An Alternate Director shall be entitled to recewve notice of
and attend meetings of the Directors and committees of Drectors of which
hts appointer 1s a member and not able to attend The Alternate Director
shall be entitled to vote at such meetings and generally perform all the
functions cf his appointer as a Director in his absence

Ontheresignation of the appointer for any reason the Alternate Director
shall cease to be an Alternate Director The appomter may also remove
hus Alternate Director by notwe to the Company Secretary signed by

the appointer reveking the appointment

An Alternate Director shall not be entitied to fees for his senvice as an
Alternate Director

Chase Carey Dawvid DeVoe Arthur Sisland and James Murdoch have
appointed each of the others to act as their Alternate Director

Employees

Equal opportunities

The Company 15 an egua’ opportunities employer and believes that
everyone should have fulland faw considerauion for all vacarcies
promotians traning and development Should anemployee become
disabled during their emptoyment at Sky where possible the Company
will actively retram and adjust the environment to allow them to maxinise
the employee s potential

Diversity.

TesolUtion 8t 8 general meatfng of Sharckdiders

Annual General Meeting

The venue and bming of the Compary s 2015 AGM s detailed in the nouce
conwvening the AGM whuch will be avaianle for download from the Company s
corporate website at sky com/carporate

Board of Directors

Board of Directors and their nterests

The Directors who served dunng the year were Nick Ferguson Jeremy
Darroch Andrew Griffith Chase Carey Tracy Clarke Dawvid Devoe Matthieu
Pigasse Martin Gilbert Adine Grate Andy Higginson Dave Lewis James
Murdoch Danny Rimer Arthur Siskind and Andy Sukawaty Andy Higginsonr
retired after not seeking reappontment at the Annual General Meeting on
21 November 2074 The brographical detauls of the Directors of the
Campany can be found on pages 38 and 39

The Dwectors interests in the ordinary shares and options of the Company
are disctosed within the Directors remuneration report en pages 53 to 69

Appointment and retirement of Directors

The Cirectors may from bme to urme appoint one or mare Directors Any
such Directar shall hold of ice only until the next AGM and shall then be
elgible for reappointrment by the Company s shareholders At the
Company 5 2015 AGM all current Executive and Nan-Executive Directors will
retire and of fer themselves for reappointment m compliance with the Code
with the exception of David DeVoe Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind who
have decided not to seck reappamtment this year and will step down from
Lhe Board at the conclusion of the AGM Immediately following the AGM itis
intended that John Nallen CFO of 215t Century Fox will be appainted by the
Board as a Non Executive Director !

The Company treats all people equally farrly with respect and withaut
prejudice Decisions about people s employment with the Cempany are
based an ability qualifications and performance Thrs principle also apphes
when the Company makes decisions about development, promotion

pay and benefits

The Company delvers some of the most diverse content and services
avalable to a wide range of consumers and it values the same diversity
within the business and promotes a culture of opparturuty for all
regardless of background The Company does not tolerate unfawr treatment
or discrimination at work based on ethnicity gender age religion disability
or sexyal onentation

We are currently focusing on Women in Leadership as we believe gender
balanced teams ¢reate better business outcomes in arder to meet the
needs and wants of our consumers more effectively

Ag at 30 June 2015 the table below demonstrates diversity throughout
the Group

Male Female
Board of Directors'? 12 B86% 2 W%
Senior managers'? 278 76% 86  24%
All employees®! 17881  65% 9562 35%

1 Asdefinedn the Companes Act 2006

2 2014415 data s independently assured by Delotie LLP anc can beviewed online at
skycomfbiggerpcture

Basedon full-uime equrvalent employees from conbinuing operations and axdudimy
people who work for our joint ventures

w
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Govemance

Dwectors’ report and statutory disclosures

(contnued)

Emplayee invotvement

We want all our pecple 1o feel involved and engaged in gur business
Therefore we need to know what our people are thunking and how they
feel about working for Sky Thus s our key indicator and we measure this
through our people survey whuch we run twice a year The engagement
scores ara for the UK only as they are not currentty comparable to the
wader European orgarsation

We continue to expenence high levels of parucipation in our people survey
averaging 78% across the two surveys this year We benchmark our results
externally using data from Aan Hewitt so that we can compare our
performance against other large UX companies

Thus year we have implemented a new engagement index which allows
us ta further pinpoint the key elements of ife at Sky that realty make a
difference to how our emplayees feel about our Company Therefore the
score has been calculated differently Our cverall employves engagemaent
seore 5 59% which represents a hugh level of engagement and continues
to outperform the external benchmark of 48%

The employee engagement score 1s made up of results from questions
about whether our pecple support our strategy understand how ther
work contnbutes toit, are willing to go the extra mule to help us succeed
and whether they would recommend Sky as 2 good place to work

Responsible business

Our commitment to act responsibly in 3% we do s integral to the culture we
have at Sky (sae the Employee secuon abave) Our high ethical social and
enviropmental standards set out what peoplecan expect ofus and the

We are commutted to upholding the pnnaples of humannghts This

15 particularty important at Sky n managng the socal ethecal and
environmental impacts of our supply cham and m the way we teat our
people and cur customers We do not have a speafic humah nghts pohcy
as this commitment s reflected through Sky’'s Ways of Warking in the UX
and lreland our Code of Conduct and across a range of pohaies relevant
to these areas Thus includes our pohicies relauing to environment data
protection and child safety

Qur commitment to respect and uphold human nghts)s also conveyed
through our Responsible Sourcing Policy Qur approach to responsible
sourcing 1s in ine with the Guiding Principles on Business and Human
Rights (or Ruggie framework)

Erwvironment and Greenhouse gas emissions

Todate our envirgnment strategy as a UK business has been threefold
to reduce our carbon footprnt ta make our products more sustanable
and to use our posibion as aleading media and communications comparty
to raise awareness and drive positive change on environmentaal 1ssues
amongst our business partners and to inspire 8cLon amonNgst our
customers through Sky Rainforast Rescue

Through Sky Rainforest Rescue our six-year partnership wath WWF we have
reached our target of hefping to save ane billion trees in the Amazon
ranforest. We have rarsed over E9 milbon exceeding our target of £8 millon
of whuch Sky has match-funded £4 mition On the ground in our project
area in Acre i Branl 1500 farmers have signed up ta our sustainable
farming scheme helping make the forest worth more alive than dead

And in the UK and lreland 73 milhon pgople have a greater awareness

standards we expect from our business partners

Customers

So that our customers can all have the same great experence of Sky
ware ensuring child safety and accessibility elements are induded n

new product of fenngs in line with government and regulator expectations
Bacress our markets as well as consumer demand And bécause we
understand the risk to our customers and our business should there be

a breach of data we are expanding an the existing approaches to data
pratection and pavacy 1n each terntary to put in place a comprehensive
group-wide approach

Respansible sourcing and Human nghts

We are committed to building productive fair and ethical relationshaps wikh
our supplers and distributors relatronshups anwhich so much of the
suecess of our business relies We expect all aurbusiness partners to
deliver a high-qualty serwce and previde good value for money, as well as
to behave ethically and comply with relevant environmental and social laws
and regulations including ibour standards and practices These are set
out In our Responsible Sourcing Policy which 1s available on cur website

We are currently working to roll aut this policy across the Group expanding
onwhat s already in place in Germany and ltaly in the UK all of the suppliers
we spend more than E100 000 with per year are ascessed for inherent
sooal ermronmental and ethucal nsk’ and we work wath those that are
deemed high nsk to conduct audits and set out action plans for addrassing
1ssues that are llagged such as working hours or health and safety We are
now expanding this approach Lo risk assessment right acress the Group

1 Excludng one-off suppliers Independently assured by Defostte LLP “or 2004715

of deforestation as a result of our mnovative COMMUNICALIONS OR-Screen
programming, and expernential activmties Over the next three years

we will be working strategically with WWF Lo continue to raise awareness
of emaronmental issues

In the UK and Irefand we continue to ensure all of the products returned
ta us are reused or recycled and we are working closely with our suppliers
to help them reduce their environmental impacts

We have been reporting on our emaronmental performance since 2008
well ahead of the mandatory disclosures of greenhouse gas emissions
under the Companies Act 2006 introduced in 2013 We have reduced

our ermissions relatve to revenue (tCOe/Em) across Sky s UK and Insh
terntories by 38% singe 2008 meaning we are on track to meet our Larget
of halwing our emissions relative to revenue (1C0,e/Em) by 2020 In addition
despite significant growth as a busingss we are mamtaming a reduction in
absolute carbon emissrons against our 2008 baseline (see table opposite}

With the continued development of our new West London campus our
rnew builldings and our leased builldings were both still operational over
the 201415 year It was therefore chalienging to keep our energy use and
carbon emissions lower than in the yearbefore However as our new
butlcings are BREEAM Excellent and have a number of smart, sustainable
itlatives we expect Lo see energy demand reduce in the future We also
continue to exceed the ndustry benchmark for the energy-efficency

of our Data Centres which will help us manage energy demand as our
husingss needs iIncrease We remain committed to our long-term
nvestments for example in renewable energy and are explonng ways
to further complement our ex:sting on-site solar wind iomass and
Combined Coolmg and Heaung Plant energy generation
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Govermnancek
Sky UX & treland Progress agamnst target to halve our carbon emissions relative to revenue
2008109

Target (Baselne) 200%10 2010/M oz 201213 201304 201415
Gross absolute emussions (1C0e)' B 105630 108817 107284 9467  D2968 94420 99724
Scope 20322 234565 23098 20939 20429 20633 22361
Scope2 85517 85352 B4196 73677 72539 73787 77363
Carban ntensity (tCO.e/Emy 207 m 63 139 128 124 128
Reductionin gross absolute CO,e emissions relative to revenue (%) -50 0 =8 =21 -33 -38 =40 =38

1 Hrstencaldatahas beenre-baselined toreflect change mn vehscls fuel ermission factors as well as tondude Joint Ventures {(where ownarship »51%} International affxes/bureaus
Tranng Certres and sigruficant sites associated with Sky Home Senaces
2 Independently assured by Deloitte LLP

We are now rolling out our UK emvaronment strategy across Europe starting with reportung on our Group emissions (see table below) aswell as working
on a set of Group environment targets for 201516 These will reflect our progress ta reduce aur carbon ntensity in the UX and Ireland and will buid on
the nvastments already made in Germany and ltaly tomcrease energy-efficency measuras such as LEC kighting and distnet heating. engage employees
and reduce product waste

Sky group-wide carbon emissions and carbon intensity 200415

Loda xBneg

DBUIBADG

UK & Germany
Sky Group ireland & Austna' Italy'

Gross absolute carbon emissions ((CO,e)'224
Scopel 2714% 22361 219 2665
Fuel combustion (gas diesel generators fuel o1 vehudes)

Diesel 668 607 1 &0

Fuel On® 54 n/a 54 nla

Gas 4502 4344 n/a 158 Z

Wehide Fuel 21226 16933 2064 2229 g
Operation of facolhes refrigerants) %

Refrigerants 695 a77 o 218 i
Scopa 2 101674 77363 3248 21063
Purchased district heaung nets 184 “n/a n2 72 g
Purchased distrct heating gross 485 nia 413 72 G
Purchased electriaty net” 38649 15572 2086 209391
Purchased alactnaly gross 101187 77381 2835 204991
Purchased steam 2 2 na ni/a
Total (Scope 12nd 2) net COe (1C0,6) 65980 37935 4317 23728
Tatal (Scope 1and 2) gross CO,e (tC0ye) 128 818 99,724 5,367 23728
Jomnt Ventures® 138 138 na na
Carbon intensity?
Revenue (Em) 1283 7820 1377 2086
Carbon intensity (1CO0/Em evenue) N4z 275 390 13z

1 Emussions are for tha full inanciatyaar (1 July 2074 - 30 fune 2015) including the peniod pror Lo acquisition
2 we measure our CO,e EMIssions according ta the Greenhouse Gas Protacel the global standard for reporting greenhouse gas enmissions Our total gross CO,& #MISsions include
all dwect Greenhouse Gas emissons and our net emisuens mcluce the energy that we do not procure from a renewable energy source Ournet emissions are thase remaming after
deductng the renewable energy procured from a renewable energy tanff with Scottrsh and Southem Energy Geoup Seottish and Southernretan on cur behal! the Levy Exemption
Ceruficates and Renewable Energy Guarantee of Ongn (REGOS) Inadditron wa affsat our tatal gross emissions theough the purchase of Voluntary Carbon Standard offsets
Our 0,8 emissions data s ihdependently assured by Deloitte LLP More informaucn abeut our environmental targats and performance can be found at skytomfenwronment
Histancaldata s reczloulated eachyearin ine withthe latest gudeknes to Oefra/DECC s Greenhouse Gas Conversien Factors for Compiny Reporting and restated accondingly
Fuel O4d ondy used for heaung by Sky in Germany
Drstnct heatng {1 & heat obtaned from a cogeneraton plant) can be used as an siternative source of heat 10 gas Sky in Gerrnarny and italy purchase distnct heating In the UX
Sky does not purchase any distnct neating a3 it generates its own heat from an onsite biomass plant
Skyin lualy does not purchase glectriuty fram a renewable electricsty tanff and 5o thera 1s no difference between ther gross and Net emssions
B Jont ventures are enterpnses or busmness where Sky 15 the mapority sharehoider (>50%)
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Governance

Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

contnuedy

Other disclosures

Contracts of Significance
The following agreements are contracts of significance in accardance with
Lisung Rule 9 8 4(10)

On 25 July 2014 the Company (and certan of its subsichianes) entered into
various agreements with 21st Century Fox {and certann of its subsicharies)
to effect the acquisition the entire issued and to be issued corporate
capstal of Sky Italia S (the Sky talia Acquisiuon ) for £2 06 billion (subject
to working capital adjustments) with the consideration bewng partially
settled by the disposal of the Company s indireck 21% stake in National
Geographic Channe! Internawonal to certain of 215t Century Fox s wholly
owned subsidianes { Natienal Geegraphic Channel! Transfer ) at a value

of USE650 mithon The sate and purchase agreement for the Sky Itaka
Acquisition contaned customary warranties covenants and indemnities
inclucing certain ndemniies relating o tax and other matters as well as
certain commitments not to retail certain services to CONsLWMers in certain
terntones until 1 January 2017 The sale and purchase agreement for the
National Geographuc Channel Transfer contained customary warranties
as to title and ownership and various commitments and undertakings

not to compete with the business of the Nabional Geographuic Channel
international until 1 January 2017

Also on 25 July 2014 as part of the acguisition of Sky Deutschland the
Company (and certain of its subsidianies) entered into vanous agreements
with 215t Century Fox {and certan of its subsichanes) to effect the
acquisition of 2ist Century Fox s enure shareholding (approximately 57 4%)
In Sky Deutschland AG a German stock corporation hsted on the Frankfurt
Stock Exchange for £2 9 bithon {the-Sky Deutschiand Acqusiton yand
the related voluntary cash offer to alt Sky Deutschiand AG shareholders
subject to certain conditions (the Sky Deutschtand Offer ) The sale
and purchase agreement for the Sky Deutschland Acqursition contained
customary warranties as to title and ownership as weltl as certain
commitments not to offer certam services to consumers in certam
terntories unti § January 2017

The Company undertook a placing of ordinary shares to part-fund the
consideration for the Sky Itaha Acquisition the Sky Deutschland Acquisition
and the Sky Deutschlang Offer and 21st Century Fox entered mto an
agreement with the Company to subscribe for approximately 611 million
ardinary shares 50 a5 10 matntanits then-existing percentage shareholding
n the Company following completion of the placing

significant agreements

The following stgnificant agreements which were inforce at 30 June 2015
take effect alter or terminate on & change of contral of the Company
following a takeover bid

Prermer League

In 2042 Sky UK Liruted {a Group subsidiary) entered into an agreement
(the 2072 PL Licence”) with The Football Association Premier League
Lirnited {the PL) pursuant ta which the Group was awarded five of seven
available packages of live audio visual rights for Premier League football
(the seven packages are together the Lne Packages ) together consisting
of 116 Iive matches per season The PLwill nat award Live Packages
contaimng in the aggregate more than 16 ive matches per seasonto a
single heensee (either on its own or as part of a consortium or through one
or more of its related parties) (the PLSngle Buyer Rule ) Pursuant to the
2012 PL Licence the PL can suspend andfor terminate all of the nights which
are included in or exerasable as part of Live Packages contaiming in the
aggregate Up to 38 1ve matches per season in the event that a change of
control of the Company ocours at any time prior to the expicy of the 2012 PL
Liwcence which if it had occurred prior to the award of the Live Packages

to the Group would have resulted 1n a breach of the PL Single Buyer Rule

In 2015 Sky UK umited entered into a further agreement {the 2015 PL
Licence ) with the PL, pursuant to which the Group was awarded five of the
seven avaitable Live Packages together consisting of 126 Iive matches per
season The PL will not award Live Packages contaming in aggregate more
than 126 live matches per season to a single licensee (either on tts cwn or
as part of a consortium or through one or mare related partes) (the 2015
Single Buyer Rute ) Pursuant to the 2015 PL Licence the PL can suspend
andfor terminate all of the nghts which are ncluded i or exercisable as
part of Live Packages containing in the aggregate up to 42 Ive matches per
season In the event that a change of control of the Company occurs at any
ume pnor to the expiry of the 2015 PL Licence whuch if it had occurred pnor
to the award oftha Live Packages to the Group-would have resultedn a
breach of the 2015 Single Buyer Rule

DFL Contract/Bundeshga Rights

tn Apnl 2012 Sky Beutschland Fernsehen Grmb & Co KG entered nita

an agreerment with the Deutsche Football Liga in relation to the exclusve
nght to broadcast all matches of the Bundesiiga (1 Bundeshga 306
matches and 2 Bundeshiga 306 matches) for the seasons 201314-2016117
across all distnbution means (the Bundesiiga Agreement ) The Bundeshga
Agreement may be terminated on a change of contral

Sene A

In 2014 Further to an invitation to offer (the 1SO ) Sky lialia Srientered
Into an agreement (the Sene AlLicence ) with Lega Nazionale Professiost
Serie A (the Lega) pursuant to which Sky Iltaha Srl was awarded ene of
faur avarlabie packages of ive audio-visualnghts for the ltalan Sere

A football championship for the seasons 2015/16-2017/18 (the four
packages are together the Live Packages ) In addition Sky Italia Selhas
begn granted a second package through a sublicence agreement entered
into with Mediaset Premuium These twao packages consist of ait the 380

livee matches per season but do not grant rights across all distribution
platforms Pursuant to the relevant prevision in the ISO Lega will not award
all of the Live Packages for all platforms to a single icensee (gither onits
own or through one or more of 1ts related parties) (the Sene A Single Buyer
Rute Y As a consequence the Lega could suspend andfor terminale one

or move of the nghts which are induded i the package assigned to

Sky Itaha S in the event that a change of control occurs at any bime

prior to the expiry of the Sene A Licence which 1f it had oceurred prior

to the award of the Live Packages would have resulted in a breach of

the Sene A Single Buyer Rule
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21st Century Fox voling agreement

On 21 September 2005 the Company BSkyB Holdeo Inc, 21st Century
Fax UK Nominees Limited and 2ist Century Fox entered into avoting
agreement pursusnt towhich 21st Century Fox UK Nomimees Limited s
voting nghts at any general meeting are capped at 3719% (the Voung
Agreement ) The provisions of the Voting Agreement cease to apply
inter aka on a change of control of the Company

Revohng Credit Facility

The Group has a £3000000 000 syndicated mutcurrency revolang

credit faclity CRCF ) with a matunty date of 30 November 2020 In the event
of a change of control of the Company as a result of which both S&P and
Moody 5 downgrade the Company’s credit rating below investment grade
within 90 days the lenders can require any amounts outstandng under
the RCF to be repaid (other than in the event that 2ist Century Fox or any
subsidiary or holding comparty thereof (or a subsidiary of such holding
company) acquires such control)

GMTN Programme bond 1ssue

On 3 Apnl 2007 the certain Group entities established a euro medium-
term note pragramme which provides the Group with a standardised
documentation platfarm to allow for senior debt Issuance in the
Eurobond markets ‘On 7 February 2014 the programme was updated
and expanded to become a global medium-term note programme

(the GMTN Programme) The GMTN Programme was updated in

June 2015 The maximum potentialissuance under the GMTN Programma
15 ES bilhon On 14 May 2007 the Company 1ssued bonds under the GMTN
Programme (then known as an EMTN programme) conststing of E300 rrullion
guaranteed notes paying 6 000% intercst and matunng ¢n 14 May 2027

EMTN Programme bond issue

On 5 September 2014 certam Group entittes also establshed a £10 billton
EMTN programme (the EMTN Programme ) whech provides the Groupwath
a standardised documentation platform to allow for senior debtissuance
n the Eurobond markets In September 20W4 the Company rssued (1) €1 500
mlion 1 500% guaranteed notes due 2021 and (1) €1000 million 2 500%
guadranteed notes due 2026 in November 2014 the Company issued (1)
€850 midlion 1 875% guaranteed notes due 2023 (1) £450 mdhon 2 875%
guaranteed notes due 2020 (i) £300 mihon 4 DOO% guaranteed notes
due 2029 and (v} €400 milhon 2 750% guaranteed notes due 2029 In Apal
2015 the Company issued €600 miltion floating rate guaranteed notes due
2020 (together the Notes} Pursuant to the condittons of the Notes the
Company will be required ta make an offer to redeem or purchase the Notes
at the relevant pnnoipal amount plus interest up to the date of redempton
il there s a change of control of the Company or the arnouncement of a
potential change of control (1} which 1f the Notes carry aninvestment grade
credit rating results inadowngrade to anon-investment grade rating ora
wathdrawal of thatraung or () whare If the Notes carry a non-mwestment
grade rating results in a dewngrade by ane or more notches or awithdrawal
of that non-investment grade ratung or (m) where if the Notes do not

carry acredit rabing the Comparty does not seek such a rating oris

unable to achieve such arating provided that in each case the decrsion ta
downgrade withdraw or not to award a credit rating ocours within a certain
period of time after the change of control and the relevant rabing agency
ates that such detision(s) resulted from the change of contre! or the
announcement of the potential change of control

{the 2007 Notes ) Pursuant to the final terms attaching to the 2007

Notes the Company wall be required to make an offer to redeem or
purchase the 2007 Notes at 1ts pnncpal amount phus interest up to the
date of redemption ar repurchasesf there 1s a change of control of the
Comparty {iy which if the 2007 Notes carry an ivestment grade credit
raung, results in a downgrade to a non-investment grade rating or a
wathdrawal of that rating or (i) where if the 2007 Notes carry a non-
investment grade rating results i a downgrade by one ormore notches or
awithdrawal of that non-investment grade rating or (i) where f tha 2007
MNotes do not carry acredit rating the Company does not seek such arating
or s unable to achieve such a rating provided that n each case the decision
to downgrade withdraw or not to award a credit ratng occurs wathina
certain penod of tme after the change of control and the relevant rating
agency cites that such decrsion(s) resuited from the change of control
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Govemance

Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

(conunued)

October 2005 February 2008 November 2008 November 2012 and
September 2014 bond issues

In October 2005 certam Group entites entered Nto an mdenture in
respect of US$750 000 000 § 625% serwor unsecured notes due 20i5
15$350,000 000 6 500% seror unsecured notes due 2035 and

E400000 000 5 750% semor unsecured hates dua 2017 (the 2005
Indenture ) In February 2008 certain Group entiues entered into an
indenture n respect of US$750 mition 6100% sentor unsecured notes due
2018 (the February 2008 Indenture ) and in November 2008 certain Group
entiies entered Into an indenture in respect of US$600 rllion 9 500%
semor unsecured notes due 2018 (as amendad and supplemented from
ume to ime the November 2008 indenture ) in November 2012 the
parties to the November 2008 indenture entered into a supplemental
ndenture in respect of a Furtherissuance of US$800 milkon 3 125% senior
unsecured rotes due November 2022 The November 2008 Indenture was
further amended and supplemented in September 2014 with the parties
thereto entenng into a supplemental indenture in respect of a Further
issuance of US$750 000 000 2 625% senior unsecured notes due 2019

and US$1 250 000 000 3 750% semor unsecured notes due 2024 Pursuant
to the February 2008 Indenture and the Noverber 2008 indenture

the Company will be required to make an offer toredeem or purchase ks
secunties at a pnce equal to 101% of therr pnnapal amount plus accrued
and unpaid nterest up to the date of redemption or repurchase if there

1s & change of controt or the announcement of a potential change of control
ofthe Campany (i) which if the securities carmmy an investment grade

cradit rating results in a downgrade to a non-imvestment grace rating

or awthdrawal of that rating er (i which 1f the securities carry anon-
investment grade rating results in a downgrade by one or more notches

German broadcastung licences

Sky Deutschland Fernsehen GmbH & Co KGis party to a number of
broadcasting hcences issued by the State Media Authanties BLm
(Bayenische Landeszentrale fur Neue Medien) and MaHSH (Mecdienanstalt
Hamburg Schleswig-Holstein) for its inear Sky Channels The Interstate
Treaty on Broadcastung (as amended on 15 April 2015) sets out a number
of requiremnents for the hcensees of broagcasting Ikences and providers
of non-lincar telemedia services Licensees have an angaing obligation

to comply wath these requirements Fadure by a hcensee to do 50 may
constitute a breach of the licence and fnot rectfied could result infines
orin the revocation of the icence The State Media Authenties also have
aduty under the Broadcasting Acts to be satisfied that any person
holding a broadcasting icence 1s fit and praper to hold those hicerces

and may revoke those licences If it ceases to be so satisfied Anychange
in the ownership structure including but not kmited to an nterest change
exceeding the threshold of 5% in the shareholder structure of the licensee
has to be notfied to and approved by the authoniues

f1ahan broadcasting licences

In accordance with the (talian regulatory system, the transfer of control
of a company such as Skyltalia whichis classified as an audiovisual mecia
servce provider 15 subject to an authornisation by the Itahan Regulatory
Authonity which is aimed atverifying the hanourability of the directors
and nauonality Public administrations public entities state-owned
companies banks and financial insututions are prohibited from being
given such authonsation i relation to audiovisua media senace providers

Disclosures required under Listing Rule 9 8 4R

or a withdrawa! of That non-thvestment grade rating or (u) wheére if the
secunties do not carry a credit rating the Company doesnotseek such a
raung or 1s unable to achieve an investment grade rating provided that in
each case the decision to downgrade withdraw or not 1o award a credit
ratng oceurs within a certain penod of tme after the change of control
and the relevant rating agency cites that such decisiorn(s} resulted from the
change of contral or the announcement of a potenual change of control

UK broadcasting lcerces
Sky UK Limited 15 party to a number of Ofcom broadcasting icences for

the broadcast of the Sky Channeis The Broadcasting Act 1990 (as amended

by the Broadcastng Act 1996 and the Communications Act) lays down

a number of restncbions on those parties permitted to hold Ofcom
broadcasting kcences Among those restricted from halding Ofcom
broadcasting hcences or from controlling a kcensed company are (a)
lecal authantigs () political bodwes (&) religious bodies (d) any company
controfled by any of the previous categones or by ther officers or
associates (e) advertising agencies or any company controfled by such
an agency of in which it holds more than a 5% interest. Licensees have an
ongaing obligation to comply wath these cwnership restnctions Failure
by ahcensee to do so (erther by the hcensee becoming a disquahfied
person or any change affecting the nature charactenstics or control of
the icensee which would have precluded the ongmal grant of the hcence)
may constitute a breach of the licence and if not rectified could resultin
revocation of the hcence

Ofcom alsa has a duty under the Broadcastng Acts to be sausfied that
any person holding a broadcasung hicence s it and proper to hold those
hcences and may revoke thase licences if it ceases to be so satisfied

For the purposes of LR 9 Fal The information required to be disclosed
by Listing Rufe 9 B 4R can be located as set out below

Infarmatton required Page
(1) Amount of interest capitahsed and tax rebef 98 (Note 4)
(2) Publicauon of vnaudited financalinformation na
(4) Details of fong-term incentve schemes 51-69
(5) Warver of emolurments by a director nfa
(B) Wawver of future emoluments by a director n/a
(7} Non pre-emptve 1ssues of equity for cash n'a
(8)1ter {7} in relation to mayor subsidiary undaertakings nfa
(9) Parent participation in a placing by alisted subsidiary nfa
(10) Contraces of significance 74
(1) Provision of services by a controllng sharehelder nfa
(12) Shareholder warvers of dvidends 70
(133 Shareholder waivers of future dmidends 70
(14) Agreements with controling sharehalders 70

Financialinstruments

Detars of the Group s use of financizl mstruments togetherwith
information on our finanoal nsk management objectives and polices
and our exposure to finanaal nsks canbe found in note 22 o the
consohdatad financial $tatements
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Political contributions
Political contnbutiens of the Group dunng 2015 amounted to nd (2014 nil)

Branches
The Group through vanous subsidianes has established branches in
anumber of different jurisdictions in which the business operates

Post balance sheet events
Details can be found in the Financial review on page 31

Going concemn

The Group s business activmties together with the factors bkely to affect its
future development performance and position are set outin the Strategic
report on pages 2 to 37 The finanaal position of the Group 1ts cash flows
and bguichty pesition are descrnbed in the Financoal review on pages 28 to
31 In addivon notes 1 to 34 to the consolidated finanaal statements
meclude details of the Groups treasury actimties long-term fundmg
arrangements finanaalinstruments and hedging actmties and exposure
to financal nsk

As set out above the Group has suffioent finanoal resources which
together with internally generated cash flows will continue to provide
sufficient sources of iquidity to fund its current operations Including its
contractual and commercial commitments as set out iIn note 28 on pages
123 and 124 its approved capital expenditure and any proposed dradends
and the Group 1s well placed to manage its business nsks successfully
desprite the current economic outook

After making enquines the Directors have formed the judgement at the

Governance

wodu 28nens

al

ttme of approving the consolidated financial statements that there s
a reasonable expectation that tha Group has adequate resources to
cantinue in operational exstence for the foreseeable future Forthis
reason, the Directors comtinue to adept the gong concerm basis in
prepanng the consalidated financial statements

Disctosure of information to auditors

In accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act
2005 each of the persons wha are Drectors of the Company at the date
of approval of tws report confirms that

so far as the Director rs aware there s no relevant audit nformation
(as defined in the Companies Act 2006) of which the Company’s auditor
1s unaware and

the Directar has taken all the steps that he/she cught to have taken as a
Director to make himselffherself aware of any relevant audit information

(as defined) and to establish that the Company s auditor s aware of that
information

Auditors

Deloitte LLP the auditors of the Company have expressed thew willingness
to continue In office A resolution to reappoint them as the Company s
auditors and to authonse the Directors to determine ther remuneratwon
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM

By order of the Board
’/--"" —\/
Chnis Taylor ( i G—,
Company Secretary
28 July 2015

Sky plc
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Finandal staterments

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Dwectors are responsible for preparnng the Annual Report and the
financial statements In accordance with applicable law and regutauons

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for
each financal year Under that, law the Directors are required to prepare
the Group financial statements in accordance with Internstonal
Financial Repor ting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Unian
and Article 4 of tha IAS Regulation and have also chosen to prepare the
parent Company financial statements under IFRSs as adopted by the EU
Under Comparny law the Directors must not approve the accounts unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair vew of the state of affars
of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that pericd
In prepanng these financial statements International AcCounting
Standard 1requires that Directors

properly select and apply accountmg policies

-

present mformation induding accounting pohcies ina manner that
provides relevant reliable comparable and understandable
information

provide additronal chsclosures when comphance with the specific
requirements in IFRSs are nsufficient to enable users to understand
the impact of partcular transactions other events and conditsons
on the entity s finanaal position and financial performance and

make an assessment of the Company s ability to continue as 2 going
CONCern

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records
that are sufficient to show and explain the Company s transactions and
disclose with reasconable accuracy at any ume the financial position of
the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for

— safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for_takng reasanable

steps for the prevention and detecuion of fraud and otheriregulanities

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the
corporate and financial information ncluded onthe Company s website
Legistation in the United Kingdom goverrung the preparation and
dissemination of financal statements may differ from legislationn
other jurisdictions

Directors responsibility statement
The Drrectors confirm that to the best of ther knowledge

-

The financial statements prepared inaccordance with IFRSS as
adopted by the Eurgpean Union give a true and fair wew of the assets
hatvhittes finanoal postion and profit or loss of the Company and the
undertakings inciuded in the consolidation taken as a whole

2 The strategic report indudes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the positon of the Company and the
undertakings included in the consolidatian taken as & whole together
with a descripuon of the pnncipal nsks and uncertainties that they
face and

3 The Annyal Report and financial statements taken as a whale are fair
alanced and understandable and provide the information nocessary
fdfshareholders to assess the Company s performap€e by -7

Group Chref Financal Officer
28 July 2015

28%uly 20153
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Finanaal statements

Independent Auditor’s report

independent auditor’s report to the members
of Sky plc

Opimron on the finanoal statements of Sky plg
In aur opirvon the consohdated and Parent Company hinancial
statements of Sky plc

* gve a true and farr view of the state of the Groups and Parent.
Companys affais as at 30 June 2015 and of their profit for the
year thenended

have been propery prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reparung Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and

have been prepared 1n accordance with the requiremants of the
Companies Act 2006 and Arucle 4 of the 1AS Regulation as regards
the consolidated financ al statements

The consolidated finangial statements compnse the consobdated and
company Income statements the consolidated and company statements
f comprehensive income the consolidated and company balance *
sheets the consolidated and company cash flow statements the
consclidated and company statements of changes in equity and the
related notes 1 to 34 The financial reporuing framework that has been
apphed in therr preparation s applicable law and IFRSs as adopted

by the European Urvon

Qur assessment of risks significant to our audit

Scparate opinron In relation to IFRSs as1ssued by the IASB

As cxplaned in note 1 to the consohdated finanoal statements in
additon to complying with its legal obligation to apply IFRSs as adopted
by the Eurapean Umon the Group has also apphied IFRSs as issusd by
the international Accountmg Standards Board (JASE)

In our opimon the consolidated finanoal statements comply with IFRSs
as zss_ued by the IASB )
Going Concern

As required by the Listing Rules we have reviewed the Directars
statement on page 77 that the Group IS 8 going concerm We confirm that

« we have concluded the Director s use of the going concern basss
of accountmg in the preparation of the finanaizl statements 1§
appropnate and

we have not identified material uncertainties related to events or
canditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group s ability
to contmue as a going concern

However because not all future events or conditions can be predicted
this statement 15 ot a guarantee as to the Group s ability to continue
as a going concern

The nsks of matenal misstatement descnbed below are those that had the greatest effect on the audit strategy the allocation of resources in the audit,
and directing the efforts of the engagement team Dunng the year the Company acquired Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia introduang new audit nsks and
addional complexity to the audit However since the operating model and business operations of the acquired entities are similar to those of the UK

business theaudit nsks-arestmilar.to those previously identified and reported ondn this yearof acquisibion. we also focused anthe accounting focthe

business combinations and the abgnment of accounung polictes across the Group

Risk

How the scope of our audit respondedto the risk

Revenue recognition

Sky retails subscription packages to customers which mnglude multzple
elements and may ndude discounts and offers forexample TV
subsernption hardware and telephony services sold for a single package
pnce The allocation of retall subscription revenue to each element of a
bundled transaction s complex and requires Judgement, as described in
the Groups cntscal accounting policies on page 93 There s a risk that
inappropriate allocations could lead to nan-comphance with accounting
standards and incorrect acceleration or deferral of revenue prinoipally
for new customers who may enter a contract of cne to two years
duration which may include hardware or installation at discounted prices
up front

We evaluated the group s revenue recogmition policy and management s
current year assessment in respect of accounting for bundled
transactions aganst relevant accounting standards and gurdance

We teésted the pohcy s tmplementation i each terntory by

= performing tests Lo confirm our understanding of the process by
which revenue I1s calculated by the relevant billing systems

.

perfarming an assessment of the different product bundles and offers
made avallable to customers in the year and confirming the far value
of different elements of these packages to appropnate evidence of
fair value

assessing whether revenue should be acceleratad or deferred based
on the refative farr value of elements delvered at different points
duning the contract when compared to the revenue calculated by the
refevant biling system and

where differences arose between the revenue calculated by the bihing
system and the revenue recognition profile calculated in accordance
with the Group s revenue recogniton policy we audited the vatuation
accuracy and completeness of those adjustments recogused ta align
revenué recogrused with the Group s accounting policy
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Financial statements

Independent Auditor's report

(continued)

Risk

How the scape of our audit responded tothe risk

Entertainment programiming amorusaton

Deterpuning the timeng and amount of the recognition of general
entertainment Programming expense requires judgement as set
out in the Group s crinical accounting policies on page 93

There s a nsk that the pohicy selected and apphed by management
to expense general entertanment programmng does not recognise
the cost of inventary in ing with its expected value to the group
Entertainment programming expense involves more judgement
than other programming types due to the number of gualitative
factors involved in the selection and applicatson of an appropriate
expense profile

The level of expenditure on general entertainment programeming varies
in each territory and our procedures focused on entertanment spend
n the UK and ltaly which are significant to the group

We examuned the mathad for expensing general entertanment
programming inventory taking into account the differing genres
of programmes any signficant changes to viewing profiles and
ndustry benchmarks

Our procedures included
- benchmarking management s policy aganst ndustry practice

+ considerng the consistency of amortisation profiles applied year
on year

testing the design and implementation of contrals over the recagmition
and expensmg of gerieral entertanment programming and

companng the expense profile determimed by management aganst
that which would be mdicated by viewing trends {(used as a proxy
for value from broadcast)

Capital expenditure

Inthe UX spending an capital projects s matenal and the assessment
and turung of whether assets meet the capitalisabicn critena set out

I IAS 16 Property Plant and Equipment and |AS 38 Intangible Assets
requires judgement as set out in the Group s cnibical accounting palices
on page 93 in addition determining whether there s any indication

of imparrment of the carrying value of assets being developed also
requires jJudgement

As aresult there is a rsk that expenditure on ntangible and tangible
neM=CUrrent assets i the UK busingss is inappropriately capitalised
against relevant accounting gurdance and that assets notyet in use
are not recoverable at therr carrying value

Our procedures performed in the UKsncluded

- Tests of the design implementation and operating effectuveness
of controls inrespect of the capitalisation of assets and the
dentification of potenual indicators of impairment

+ Sample tests of capital expenditure projects nduding an examination
of management s assessment as to whether the praject spend

met the recognition cntena set forth i IAS 16 Property Plant and
Equipment and A5 38 Intapgible Assets and reviewing project

status reports for the Group s most sigrificant projects to check

for indicators of imparrment and

« Fora sample of capital projects we developed an understanding
of the business case and challenged key assumptions and estimates
verifying capital project authonsation tracing project costs to
appropriate evidence

80 Skyplc




Anrwal Report 2015

Friancal statements

Risk

How the s¢ope of our audit responded to the nsk

Acquisttion accounting and alignment of accounung poltcies

As descnbed in note 31 the Group acqutred 100% of the share capital of
Sky Itaha and 83 05% of Sky Deutschland on 12 Novernber 2014 for total
cansideration of £6 866 million Accounting for business combinations
s complex and requires the recognition af both consideration paid and
acquired assets and babikbes at the acqursition date at farrvalues
which can involve significant judgement and estimates -

Inaddition accounting pohiaes of the acquired enbiues must be aligned
to the group s accounting policies which may involve sigraficant
Judgement and estimates

In particular the rnisks relating to these business combinations are that

1 The consideration used in the purchase price allacation may not
be recorded at fair value given that the consideration paid to Fox
(arelated party) ncluded the value of Sky plc s stake in the National
Geographic Business

2 That the complexity and selection of input assumptions used in the
valuation af intangible assets recogrused on acquisition may result
in the recogrution of intangible assets not representative of fair value

3 That hustornical tax losses in Sky Deutschland may not be recoverable
and

4 That the accounting policy aignment of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltaba
to Sky plc § accounting policies 1s Aot complete

Contrals relevant to the acquisition

We tested the design and mplementation of oversight controls Qver
key outputs of the group's acquisttion accounting. nctuding controls
over the consideration of accounting treatments for new or complex
areas the oversight exercised by group finance over the harmonisation
of accounting palicies and the newly mplemented controls over the
group consalidation

1 Farvaluation of consuderation
Our procedures ncluded the following

« Tests of the cash value of consideration to relevant transacuon
agreements and bank documentation and

+ Auditing the valuation of Sky ples stake in Nattonal Geographic
by assessing the expert valuattons obtained by management and
using our own valuation speciahsts ta challenge the key assumptions

2 Valuation of acquired intangible assets
Qur procedures included the followmng

An assessment of the process that management had undertaken to
determine the fair value of the acquired intangible assets mauding
undarstanding the scope of work, qualificetions and ndependence
of the valuatton speaalists engaged by Sky pic and

Auditing the valuations prepared by management and thetr experts
nciuding

- Assessing the key valuation assumptions Wsing our own valuation
specialsts

= Vahdaung and challenging key inputs and data used in the

luation model such as customer numbers-ARPY and churn
assumptions by reference to histonc data

3 Sky Deutschland historical tax losses
Our procedures included utuising our tax spectalists in the UK
and Germany to audit the estimate of tax losses avalablen Sky
Deutschland and assessing the pdgement invotved in recograsing
the related deferred tax asset

4 Accounting palicy alignment
Our procegdures included

+

Consideratron of the material accounting policies of the acquired
entites the completeness of management s own analys:s of the
accounting policy differences

.

Planmng and directing the compenent auditors of Sky Deutschland
and Sky Italia to perform an audit of the balance sheet at the date
of acquisition and

Auditing the valuation of adjustments recorded where alignment
was required

The description of the asks above should be read in conjunction with the significant issues considered by the Audit Committee discussed on page 45
We reported to the Audit Comrmuttee that our audit wark on these nisks was concluded satisfactonty

Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as awhole and not to express an
opinion on mdnsdual audit riske indndual items or disclosures i the finanaal statements Our opinion on the financial statements is not modified with
respect to any of the key nsks descnbed above and we do not express an opinion on these indvidual matters
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fnancal statements

Independent Auditor’s report
(contnued)

Qur zpplication of matenality

We define matenahty as the magnitude of misstaternent in the financial
statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of a
reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced

We use matenality in both planning the scope of our audit work and in
evaluating the results of our work The Groups acquisitions in the year
have not sigruficantly changed the Group s adjusted profit before tax
and wa determined audit matenality for the Group to be E50 milhon
{2014 £50 million)

We used profit before tax for our assessment of matenahty which s
statutory profit before tax after remowing the impact of one off items
such as profit on disposal of assoiates and avatlable-for-sale
nvestment, and transaction fees incurred in relation o the acqursitiens
in the year Matenahty represents 6% of thus measure The Group s
adjusted profit before tax measure further exciudes the impact of
amortisation of acquired intangible assets integration Costs
restructunng costs denvatives not qualfying for hedge accounting and
the tax effect of these adjusting items (see note 10 for management s
defirition and reconahation to adjusted profit for further detaiks)

Audit matenahty cf E50 rilion represents approximately 5% (2014 6%)
of the Group s adjusted profit 2% (2014 5%) of equity and 3% (2014 5%)
of statutory profit before taxation

We agreed wath the Audit Committee that we would report to the
Committee all audnt dif ferences in excess of £2 5 million {2014

£2S million) as well as differences below that threshold thatin

our view warranted reporting on qualitative grounds We also report
to the Audit Commuttee any significant disclosure matters that we
dentify when assessing the overall presentanon of the financial
statements We canfirmed to the Audit Committee that we had

no sigruficant disclosure matters to report

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
uUnder the Comparnes Act 2006 we are requered o reporet toyouf
Y OUr OpINIon

» we have not recenved all the nformation and explanations we require
for our audit or

adequate accounung records have not been kept by the Parent
Company or returns adequate for our audit have not been recerved
from beanches nat visited by us or

the Parent Company financial statements are not 1n agreement
with the accounting recards and retums

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters

Directors remuneration

Underthe Companies Act 2006 we are also required to réport «f in our
opinion certain disclosures of Directors remuneration have not been
made or the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be audited
15 not in agreement with the accountung records and returns We have
nothing to report ansing from these matters

Corporate Governance Statement

Under the Listing Rules we are also required to review the part of the
Corparate Governance Statement relating to the Company s comphance
with 10 prowisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code We have
nothing to report ansing from our review

Our duty ta read other information inthe Annual Report

Under the International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) we are
required 1o report 8o you if in our opinion infaemation in the Annuat
Reportis

.

Anaverview of the scope of our audit

Our group audig was scaped by cbtaming an understanding of the Group
and its environment, including group-wide controls and assessing the
nisk of matenal messtatement at the group level Qur audit scope fotused
on the Groups UK and Ireland German and Austrian and itahan
operations which were subject 1o a full scope audst for the year ended
30 June 2015 Our audit scope encompasses all principal business units
of the Group and substantially all of the Group s assets revenue and
adiusted profit before tax The Group audht team directed supervised
and reviewed the work of the component auditers for Germany and
Austna and for ltaly which involved issuing detailed instructions halding
regular discussions with component audit teams making several wisits to
each locaton during the penod performing detaited file reviews and
attending local audit meetings with management, Audit work completed
by component auditors was executed at levels of matenality applicable
to each entity which were lower than group enatenality

Opirucns on other matters presenbed by the Compames Act 2006
tnour apireon

« the nformation given in the Strategic Report and the Directors Report
for the finangal year for which the financial statements are prepared s
consistent with the financial statements and

the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be audited has been
property prepared in accordance wath the Comparses Act 2006

matenally inconsstent with themformation in the avdited fingncial
statements or

apparently matenallyincotrect based on or materially inconsistent
with our knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of performing
our augdit or

otherwise misteading

In parucular we are requied to consider whether we have wentified any
inconsistencies between our knowledge acguired duning the audit and
the Directors statement that they consider the Annual Report s far
balanced and understandable and whether the Annual Report
appropriately discloses those matters that we communicated to the
Audit Committee which we consider should have been disdosed we
confirm that we have not idenufied any such Inconsistencies or
misleading statements
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Respective responsihilities of Directors and Auditer

Responsibility of Directors for the financial statements

As explained mere fully i the Statement of Directors responsibilities set
outon page 78 the Directors are responsible for the adequacy of the
accounting records the preparation of the financial statements from
those records and for being sausfied that the Financal statements give
a true and far view

Auditor's responsibiity

Cuir responssbility 15 to audit and express an apirusn on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards
on Audiing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with
the Auditing Practices Board s Ethical Standards for Auditors We also
comply with Intematonal Standard on Quality Control 1 (UK and lreland)
Our audit methoddogy and tools aun to ensure that our quaity controf
procedures are effective understood and apphed Our quakty controls
and systems mcluda our dedicated professional standards revew team
and independent partnerreviews

Thes report s made solely to the Compary s members as a body 1n
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Comparues Act 2006 Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we nught state to the Company's
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auchtor s
report and for no other purpase To the fullest extent perrmitted by law we
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company
and the Compary 5 members as abody for dur audit work for this report
or for the opinions we have formed

FAnancal statenents

voda x3ateng

Scope of the audst of the financial statements

An audit involves abtaining evidence about the amounts and discosures

inthe financial statements suffiient to give reasonable assurance that

the financial statements are free from matenal musstatement whether

caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment. of whether the

accounting policies are appropnate to the Group s arcumstances and

have been cansistently applied and adequately disdased the

reasonableness of signficant accounting estimates made by the

Duectors andthe overall presentatuon of the finandal statements

In addition, we read all the financial and non-finanaal information in

the Annual Repart to ientify matenal inconsistenaes with the auchted

financial statements and toidentufy any information that 1s apparentsty g
materially incorrect based on or matenally nconsistent with the

knowiedge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit §

If we become awargof any appare

inconsistencies we gansider th licatsons for ourreport

willam Touche é\.} I e
(Semor Statutory AAATUT) nd on behalf of

Deloitte LLP Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
London
United Kingdorn

28 July 2015
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Finanaal statements

Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes £m im
Conunuing Operatons
Reveniie 2 9989 7450
Operating expense 2 o7y {6346)
Operating profit : 1104
Share of msults of joint ventures and associates 15 28 as
Invesument ncome 4 a8 26
Finance costs 4 (283) (140)
Profit on cisposal of avalable-for-sale-investments 5 492 -
Profit on disposal of assoaate 6 269 -
Profit before tax 7 1516 1025
Taxation 9 {184) (205)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1332 820
Discontinued Operations
Prafit for the year from discontinued operations 3 620 45
Profit for the year 1852 B&S
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to
£quity shareholders of the parent company 1957 865
Non-controlling nterests (&) -
1952 865
£arnings per share from profit for the year (in pence)
Basic
Continuing operations 10 781p 525p
Disconbnued operations 10 387p 29p
Total 10 N58p S5 4p
Oiluted
Continuing operations T = i0 792p 8200
Oiscontinued operations 10 362p 29p
Total 10 M44p 549p
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consoldated income statement
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2015
2015 204
£m Em
Profit for the year 1952 865
Other comprehensive ncome
Amounts recognised directly In equity that may subsequently be recycled to the income statement
Gain on revaluation of available-for-sale investments ELY 104
Gan (loss) on cash flow hedges 276 (\76)
Tax on cash flow hedges (57) 39
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations net of net investment hedges (213) -
42 (33)
Amounts reclassified and reported in the ncome statement .
(Loss) gan on cash fiow hedges : .- (78 137
Tax on cash flow hedges 37 (an
Transfer to income statement on disposal of avalable-for sale nvestment (se¢ note 5) 492} L
Transfer to rcome statement on disposal of assonate (38) -
(667) 105
Other comprehensive (loss) incoma for the year (net of tax) (625) 73
Totel comprehensive income for the year 1327 938
Total comprehensive income for the year attributabla to
Equity shareholders of the parent company 1345 938
Non-controlhng interests e -
1327 938
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Consolidated balance sheet

Financia! Statements
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as at 30 June 2015
- 2015 014
Notes Em Em
Non-current assets
Goodwall 12 4160 1019
Intangble assets 13 . _4084..- B0
Property plant and equipment 14 1646 1088
Investmentsn Jont ventures and assoaatas 15 133 173
Avallable-for-sale investments 15 n 532
Deferred tax assets 7 175 3
Programme distnbution nights , 18 n 20
Trade and other recervables 19 86 7
Derrvative financial assets 23 453 195
10789 3876
Current assets
lnventories 1B 847 546
Trade and other recervables 19 1096 635
Current tax assets 8 -
Short-term depasits 23 1100 235
Cash and cash equivalents 23 1378 1082
Denvauve financia! assets 23 130 5
4559 2573
Jotal assets 15 358 6 449
Current labidities
Barrowngs 22 a94 1
Trade and other payables 20 3430 2286
Current tax habdities 154 128
Provisions 21 03 48
Dervauve financial liabilitres 3 23 46
4204 2518
Non-current liabilities )
Borrowings 22 7418 2658
Trade and other payables 20 94 56
Prenngions 21 77 1
Derwvative financial labihties 23 60 129
Deferred tax habilities 1Y 281 1
7930 2858
Total habiities 12134 5377
Share capital 25 B&O 83
Share premwum 2% 2704 1437
Reserves 26 (399} Mag)
Total equity attnibutable to equity shareholders of the parent company 26 3165 1072
Totalequity attributable to non-controlling interests 59 -
Total habilities and equity P 15 358 6 449

Andrew Griffith
Group Chief Financial Officer
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Fnancal statemants

Consolidated financial statements

(conunued)

Consclidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes £m £m

Contmuing operatrons
Cash flows fram operauing actvites
Cash generated from operations 27 2080 1686
Interest receved and drvidends from avanable-for-sale investments 9 27
Taxaton paid @9 (229)
Net cash from operalting activitics ‘ 1670 1494
Cash flows from vesting actvities
Dundends recesved from joint ventures and associates 25 2
Net funding to jaint ventures and assocates (i0) )
Proceeds on disposal of avalable-for-sale investment 548 -
Purchase of property plant and equipment (385) (238}
Purchase of intangible assets {357) (302)
Purchase of subsidianies (net of cash and cash equivalents purchased) (6340) (20}
Purchase of avalable-for-sale investments (28) @
(Increase) decrease in short-term deposits {805) 300
Net cagh used 10 mvesting actvities {7414) (241)
Cash flows from financing actmties
Net proceeds from borrowings 5364 -
Repayment of borrowings 272) -
Repayment of obligations under finance leases (0} (4
Proceeds from disposal of shares in Employee Share Ownership Plan { ES0PY) 0 1
Purchase of own shares for ESOP 02 (164)
Purchase of own shares for cancellation - (266)
Issue of own shares 1346 -
Interest paid (246) Q37)
Purchase of non-controlling interests {328) -
Dradends paid to sharehclders of the parent (549) {485)
Net cash fram (used in) finanang activities 5303 {1045)
Effect of foreign exchange rate moverments (67} -
Net {decrease) increasen cash and cash equivalents from continuing eperatons (308) 208
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operatons 604 59
Cash and cash equwalents at the beginning of the year 1082 815
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1378 1082

The accompanying notes ara anintegral part of this consolidated cash flow statement,
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Financal statements
Consohdated statement of changes In equity
for the year ended 30 June 2015
Attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company
Total
Avadable- share- Non-
Share Share ESOP Heoging  for-sale Other Retamed  holders controlling Total
- _ capital  premium  reserve resenve reserve  reserves earmnings equity interests equity
£m £m Em £m £m Em £m Em Em £m
At 1July 2013 797 1837 {147) T 351 43% (1876) 1,002 - 1012
Profit for the year - - - - - - BES 865 - 8E5
Revaluation of avarlable-for-sale investments - - - - 104 - - 104 - 104
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - (39) - - - (39) - (3%
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - 8 - - - 8 - 8
Total comprehensive iIncome for the year - - - (31) 104 - BES 938 - 938
Share-based payment - - - - - (95) [E)] - 93
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - - - ) 9 - 9
Share buy-back programme
- Purchase of own shares for cancellation ne6) - - - - 16 (250) (250) - (250)
- Finanaal lability for close period purchases - - - - - - o) (59 - (59)
Dmdends - - - - - - (483) (48%) - {4853)
At 30 June 2004 781 1437 {145) (20) 455 455 {1891} 1,072 - 1,072
Profit for the year - - - - - - 1957 1857 (5) 1952
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations net of net investment.
hedges - - - - - (200) - (200) )] 3)
Revaluatton of avaulable-for-5ale investments - - - - 36 - - 36 - 36
Transfer to ncome statement on disposal of
associate - - - - - (38) - (38) - 38
Transfer to income statement on disposal of
availlable-for-sale investrment (see note 5) - - - - (492) - - (492) - (492)
Transfer ondisposal of subgiddnes = = = = = S7y 97 = = =
Recogrution and transfer of cash fiow hedges - - - 102 - - - 102 - 102
Tax on items taken directly 1o equity - - - 20 - - - (vie)] - [els)]
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 82 {456} {335y 2054 1,346 18y 1327
Share-based payment - - 20 - - - 62 839 - as
Issue of own equity shares 79 1267 - - - - - 1346 - 1346
Non-controling interests ansing on purchase
of subsidianes - - - - - - - - M L1}
Tax on items taken dvectly Lo equily - - - - - - \r) 17 - 177
Share buy-back programme
- Reversal of financial hability for dose penod
purchases - - - - - - 59 59 - 59
Didends - - - - - - (549) (549) - (549)
Purchase of non-controlling nterests - - - - - - (21 (214 (14 (328)
At 30 June 2015 860 2704 (125) 62 U] 120 (455) 3165 59 3224

For a description of the nature and purpose of each equity reserve see note 26

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consohdated statement of changes i equity
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Frianaal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Accounting policies

Sky pic (the Company formerly British Sky Broadcasting Group pk)
15 a pubhc trmited company incorporated in the United Kingdom (UK}
and registered in England and Wales The consobdated financial
statements include the Company and its subsidianes (together the
Group ) and its iInterests in assocates and jointly controlled entitias

a) Statement of comphance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS )
as adopted by the Eurcpean Umion (EU ) the Companies Act 2006 and
Article 4 of the International Accountng Standard (1AS) Regulations
In addition the Group also complied with IFRS asissued by the
intematicnal Accounting Standards Board (IASB)

b) Basis of preparation

The consohdated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis (as set out in the Directors Repory) and on an histoncal
cost basis except for the remeasurement to fair value of certan financial
assets and labilities as descnbed in the accounting pobcies below

The Group has adapted the new accounting pronouncements which
became effective this year none of which had any significant impact

on the Group s results or financial pesition

The Group mamtains a 52 or 53 week fiscal year ending onthe Sunday
nearest to 30 June in each year in fiscal year 2015 this date was 28 June
2015 thes being a 52 week year (fiscal year 2014 29 June 2014 52 week
year) For convenience purposes the Group continues to date its
consolidated financal statements as at 30 June and to refer to the
accountng penod as a year for reporting purposes The Group has
classified assets and habilities as current when they are expected to be

realised in or intended For sake or consumptionin the normal operating————r1nsgon aisposal

cycle of the Group

c) Basis of conschdation

| Subsidianes

Subsidianes are entites cantrofied by the Company Control Is achieved
where the Company has existing rights that give it the current ability to
direct the actwvities that affect the Company s returns and exposure or
rights to vanable returns from the entity Subsidiaries are included n
the consohdated financial statements of the Company from the date
control of the subsidiary commenges until the date that control ceases
Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and lesses orincome
and expenses ansing fromntragroup transactions are ehminated
nprepanng the consahdated finanoal statements

u Associates and joint ventures

Associates are entities where the Group has significant influence but

not contrel or joint control over the relevant actwvinies of the entity

Jont ventures are Jaint arrangements whereby the parties that have

Jont control of the arrangement have nghts to the net assets of the
amrangement These consolidated financial statementsinciude Lhe Groups
share of the total recognised gains and losses of associates and jont
ventures using the equity method from the date that significant influence
or joint control commences to tha date that it ceasas based on present
ownership nterests and exchuding the possible exercise of potential vating
nghts less any imparment losses (see accounting policy f) When the
Group s INterast in an assocate of pmnt venture has been reduced to nil
because the Group s share of losses exceeds its Interestn the assooate
or goint venture the Group only pravides for additional losses to the extent
that it has incurred legal or constructive obligabons ta fund such losses

or where the Group has made payments on behalf of the associate or
joint verture Where the disposal of an investment in an assotate or

joint venture 1s considered to be tughly probable the rwestment ceases
0 be equity accounted and instead s classifted asheld for sale and
stated at the lower of carnang amount and fair value less costs to sell

1 Mon-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consohdated subsidianes
are wentified separately from the Groups equity Nen-contralking
tnterests consist of the amount of these interests at the date of the
acquisition and the non-contraling sharehalders share of changes

In equity since the date of the acqusition The interest of the non-
controlhng shareholders in the acquiree may imually be measured either
at Fair value or at the non-controlhing sharehalders proporuon of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets acqured and labilities and conpingent
habiities assumed The choice of measurement basis 15 made onan
acquisition-by-acquisition basis In transactions with non-controlling
parues that do not result in achange n control the difference between
the fair value of the consideration pad or recerved and the amount by
whiech the nan-controlling Interest s adjusted 1s recognised in equity

d) Goodwall

Business combinations that have occumed since 1 luly 2004 the

date of ransition to IFRS (the Transiuon Date ) are accounted for by
applying the acqusition methed of accounting Following this method
goodwillis initially recognised on conselidation representing the
difference between the fair value cost of the business combnation and
the farr value of the identifiable assets habilies and contingent assets
and habilities assumed

In respect of business combinations that accurred prior to the Transition
Date goodwill has been ncluded at the amounts recognised under

the Group s UK Generally Accepted Accounting Prinaples (UK GAAR)
accounting pohaes on the Transition Date On disposal of a subsidiary
associate or joint venture the attnbutable amaunt of goodwill s included
n the determination of profit or loss on disposal except for goodwill
written off to reserves under UK GAAP prior to the Transition Date which
15 not reenstated and 15 not ncluded n determining any subsequent gain

Goodwillis stated at cost less any impatrment losses and 1s tested

at least annually for imparrment based on the recoverable amounts

of the cash generatng unit to which the goodwill has béen allcated
Any imparrment identified 1s recognised immediately in theincome
statement and s not subsequently reversed The carmang amount

of goodwall in respect of associates and joint ventures isincuded in
the carrying amount of the imvestment in the associate or jont venture
Goodwill 15 tested for impairmentin hne with accountng pohcy 1 below

¢) Intangible assets and property plant and equipment { PPE7}

1 Intangible assets

Research expenditure 1s recogmised in operating expense in the incoma
statement as the expenditure 1s incurred Development expendiure
{relating to the apphcation of research kngwledge to plan or dasign new
or substantally mproved products for sate or use within the business) 1s
recognised as an intangible asset from the point at which the Group has
the intention and ak ity to generate probable futLne economic benefits
from the development expenditure that the development s techrically
feasible and that the subsequent expenditure can be measured reliably
Any other development expenditure 5 racogniséd in operating expense
as incurred

88  Skypic




Annwal Report 2015

Otherintangible assets which are acquired by the Group separately or
through a business combinatien are initially stated at cost or farr value
respectively less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
other than those that are dassified as held for sale which are stated
at the lower of carryng amount and fair value less costs ta sell

The amortisation of an Intangible asset begins when the asset 1s
available for use and i charged to the ncome statement through
operating expense over the asset s useful economug life in order to
match the expacted pattemn of consumpuon of future economic
benefits embodied inthe asset

For acquired customer contracks and related custorier relationships the
assets are amortised oneither a reducing balance basts or on a straight-
hne basis or over estirmated useful Ifabased on estimated customer
retention rate prinapally being a period of between 1and 15 years as
appropriate

For all other acquired and internally generated intangible assets the
assets are amortised on a straight-ine basis principally bemng a penod
of between 1 and 25 years as appropnate

If the asset s useful economic life s jJudged to beindefirite or the assel

is not yet avalable foruse no amaortisation s charged and an imparment
test s carned out at least annually Other intangble assets are tested
for mpairment in ine with accounting policy i below

Il Property plant and equipment

Owned PPE 1s stated at cost, net of accumulated deprecation and any
imparment losses {see accounting policy 1) other than thoseitems that
are dassified as held for sale whuch are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and farr value less costs to sell When an item of PPE compnses
major components having different useful economic lives the
components are accounted for as separatestems of PPE

Financtal statements.

f) Derwvative finanaal instruments and hedgeng activities
The Group uses dervative financal instruments to hedge s exposure
to Aluctuations i interest and foreign exchange rates

Derwatsves are held at farr value from the date on which a denvative
contract s entered into Fair value 15 defined as the price that would be
receved to sell an asset or paid to transfer a habibty in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date
under {FRS 13 Fair Vatue Measurement’ The Group calcutates a separate
credit valuation adustment { CVA ) or debit valuation adjustment { DVA)}
for each derivative based upon the net position for each counterparty
relatisnship The Group calculates the CVA where it has a net asset
position using a quoted credit default swap curve for the counterparty
and calculates the DVA where st has a net habslity positon using an
industry proxy credit default swap curve for the Group The fair vatue

of dervative financial instruments 15 caleulated by discounbing future
cash flows with reference to the benchmark Libor curve adjusted by tha
relevant credit defauit swap curve Certain derivatives held by the Group
which relate to highly probable forecast transactions ( hedgeditems )
which meet quahifying entena under IAS 39 Financal Instruments
Recognition and Measurement (1AS 39 ) are dessgnated as cash flow
hedges Other dervatives which hedge changes in fair value of fixed rate
financial nstruments and meet the requirementsof IAS 39 are
designated as fair value hedges and are subject to cash flow hedge
accounting or fair value hedge accounting respectively Certain
borrawings and derwatives have been designated as net investment
hedges of the Group s foreign operations for movements m the spot
foreign exchange rate see sectionr)far further details Certain other
derivatives held by the Group do not meet the qualifying critena for
recogmtion for accounting purposes as hedges despite this being ther
economig; function Changes in the far values of these denvatives are
recognised immediately in the income statement The Group does

Wodas aBnens
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Assets held under finznce feases which confer nghts and obligations
similar te those attached to owned assets are treated as PPE (see
acoounting policy n

The cost of PPE less estimated res:dual value (s depreciated in operating
expense on a straight-ine basis over its estimated useful kfe Land and
assets that are not yet available for use are not depreciated Pringipal
useful economic lives used for this purpose are

+ Freghold bulldings 25to 40 years
+ Equipment furriture and fixtures 3 to 20 years
+ Set-topboxes S5to7 years

Assets under finance leases and
leasehold iImprovements

Lesserof lease term and the
useful economic bife of the asset

Borrowing costs directly attnbutable to the acquisition, construction
or praduction of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessanly
take a substantaf peniad of ime to get ready for their intended use
or sale are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale

To tha extent that the financng for a qualifiing asset 1s part of the
Group s general borrowings the interest cost to be capitalised s
calculated based upen the werghted average cost of borrowing to the
Group (exctuding the interest on any borrowings specific to any qualifiing
assets) This s then applied to the expenditures on the asset

Allother borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the perod
towhich they relate

not hold or Issue derwatives for speculative purposes

i Denvatives that quahfy for cash flow hedge accounting

Changes in the fair values of dervatives that are designated as cash
flow hedges { cash flow hedging instruments ) are imtally recogmised
tn the hedging reserve In crcumstances in which the dervative used
15 8 currency option only changes m the intrinsic value of the option
are designated under the cash flow hedging relatlonship with all other
movemnents being recorded immedtately 10 the income statement
Amounts accumulated in the hedging reserve are subsequently
recognised in the income statement in the penods in which the
related hedged stems are recognised in the Income statement

At inception the effectiveness of the Group s cash flow hedges s
assessed through a companson of the prinoipat terms of the hedging
instrument and the underlying hedged tem The ongong effectiveness
of the Groups cash flow hedges 1s assessed using the dollar offset
approach with the expected cash flows of hedging instruments being
compared to the expected cash flows of the hedged items This
assessment 1s used to demonstrate that each hedge relationship 1s
expected to be hughty effective oninception has been highly effectrve
m the penod and 15 expected to continue to be highly effactive in future
pericds The measurement of hedge ineffectiveness for the Group's
hedging instruments 1s calculated using the hypothetical dervative
method with the fair values of the hedging instruments being compared
to those of the hypothetical dervative that would result in the
designated cash flow hedge achveving perfect hedge effectiveness

The excess of the cumulative change in the fair value of the actual
hedgwng mstrument compared to that of the hypothebical derwvative

1s deemed to be hedge ineffectwveness which isrecognised inthe
ncome statement

The Group uses a range of 80% t0125% for hedge effectivenass in
accordance with IAS 39 and any relationship which has effectiveness
outside this range s deemed to be mneffective and hedge accounung
15 suspended
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Financal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(conunued)

1 Accounting policies {continued)

When a cash flow hedging instrument experes 1S terminated or 1s
exerased or f ahedge no langer meets the qualifying cntena for hedge
accounting any cumulative gain or loss existing in the hedging reserve
at that tme remains in the hedging reserve and 1s recognised when the
farecast transaction 15 ultmately recogmised n the Income statement
provided that the undertying transaction is still expected to occur
When a forecast transaction 1s no longer expected to oo the
cumulative gain or loss that was reported in the hedging reserve

15 smmediately recogrised in the income statement and all future
changes in the Fair value of the cash flow hedging instruments are
immediately recognised in the income statement

1 Dervatives that quahfy for farr value hedge accounting

The Graup has designated certain derivatives as fairvalue hedges as
defined under [AS 39 Any changes n the fair value of the denvatwes are
recognised immediately in the income statement The carrying values
of the underiying hedged items are adjusted for the change inthe

fair value of the hedged risks with the gains or iosses recogrised
mmmediately in the ncome statement offsetung the farvalue
movement on the denvauve

Prospective effectveness 1s assessed quarterly through a companison of
the principal terms of the hedging instrument and the underlying hedged
item including the ikeihoed of default by the denvative counterparty
The retraspective effectiveness of the Groups farr value hedges s
calcwated quarterly using the cumulative dollar-cffsat approach with
movements in the fair value of the hedged item being compared to
movements in the faw value of the hedging instrument.

The Group uses a range of B0% to 125% for hedge effectiveness and
any relationship which has effectiveness outside this range  deemed

The cost of television programme inventones 1S recognisad in the
operating expense ine of the income statement. over the penod

the Group utilises the programmung nghts taking mto account the
circumstances primanty as descnbed below These arcumstances

rmay change or evolve over ume and as such the Group regulady reviews
and updates the method used to recognse programmung expense

- Sports - the majonty or all of the cost 15 recognised in the income
statement an the first broadcast or where the nghts are for multiple
5easons or competitions such rights are recogrused principally on
astraight-kne basis across the seasans or competitions Where
the nghts are packaged sold and consumed over the off-season
the Group allocates an appropriate portion of the totalnghts value
to the of f-season penod and that costis recogrised on a straight-kne
bases over the off-season pertod

- News - the cost ts recognised in the income statement as incurred

» Mowvies - the castis recognised in the income statement on a straaght-
line basis over the period for which the broadcast nghts are icensed

General entertainment - the cost relating to acquired cammissioned
and produced nghts are recogrused in the ncome statement based

on the expected value of each planned broadcast on the Group s linear
channels and the time penod ouer which non-linear programma nghts
are uthised The cost attributable orapporttoned to nen-linear

(on demand) nghts are amortised on a straight-line basisover the
period of broadcast rights

The Group regularly reviews its programming nghts for imparmens
Where programme broadcast nghts are surplus to the Group s
requirements and no gan 1s anticipated through a disposal of the nghts
orwhere the programmng wil not be broadcast for any ather reason a
write-down to the income statement s made Any reversals of inventory

to be neffective and hedge accounting is suspended

111 Embedded derivatives

Denvatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host
contracts are treated as separate dervatives when their risks and
charactenstics are not cdosely related to those of the host contracts

and the host contracts are not carned at fair value with unrealised

gains or losses reported in theincome statement Embedded dervatives
are carried on the balance sheet at fair value from the inception of the
host contract. Changes in fair value are recognised within the incame
statement during the peniod inwhich they anse

g) Inventanes

| Acquired and ¢¢ ned tel
inventones for broadcast
Programmae inventories for broadcast are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value { NRV } including where applicable estimated
subscriber escalation payments and net of the accumulated expense
charged to the income statement to date

N programma

Such programming rights are included as nventories when the legally
enforceable licence period commencesandall of the following condibons
have been met (a) the cost of each programme is known or reasonably
determinable (b) the programime matenal has been accepted by

the Group in accordance with the conditions of the nghts and () the
programme 15 avallable for its first showing Prior to being included
innventories the programming nghts are dassified as telewision
programme nghts not yet avadabte for transmission and not recorded
as inventenes on the Group s balance sheet and are instead drsclosed
as contractual commutments (see note 2B} Payments made upon receipt
of commissioned and acquired programming but in advance of the legal
right to broadcast the programmes are treated as prepayments

wnte=downs are recognised as reductions n operating expense

1 Programme distribution rights

Programme distnbution nights ara valued at the lower of cost and
NRV net of the accumulated expense charged to the mcome
statement to date

The cost of the programme distribution nghts 15 recognised inthe
operating expense hine of the Income statement on an ulumate revenue
forecast basis

m Set-top boxes, routers and related equipment

Set-top boxes routers and related equipment held for sale to customers
are valued at the lower of cost and NRV the latter of which reflects the
value that the business expects te realise from the set-top boxes and
related equipment in the hands of the customer and are recognised
through the operating expense line of the mcome statement Any
subsidy 15 expensed on enablement which s the process of activating
the viewing card dunng installation so as to enable a viewer to view
encrypted broadcast senices and effectively represents the completon
of the installation process for new customers The amount recognised
inthe ncome statementis determmed on a weighted average cost basis
tn accordance with IAS 2 tnventory'

w Raw matenals consumables and goods held for resale

Raw matenals consumables and goods held for resale are valued at the
lower of cost and NRV The cost of raw matenals consumables and goods
held for resale 1s recognised through the operating expense ine of the
income statement on a first-in-first-out basis
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h) Finzncial assets and hatilities

Financial assets and habiiies are iInitially recogrused at fair value plus
any directly attnbutable transaction costs At each balance sheet date
the Group assesses whether there s any objective evdence that any
financrat assetis impaired Finanaal assets and liabihties are recognised
on the Group s batance sheet when the Group becomas a party to the
contractual provisions of the finanaal asset or habiity Financial assets
ara derecogmised from the balance sheet when the Group's contractual
nghts to the cash flows expire or the Group transfers substantially

all the nsks and rewards of the financial asset Financial kabilities are
derecognised from the Group s balance sheet when the obligation
speafied in the contract 1s discharged cancelled or expires

| Avattable-for-sale investments

Equuity investments intended to be held for anindefinite penod are
classified as avadable-for-sale nvestments They arecarried at fair
value where this can be reliably measured with mavements in far
value recogmised directly in the available-for-sale reserve Where the
far value cannct be reliably measured, the mvestment. s carned at cost.

Any impairment losses in equity nvestments classified as avaitable-for-
salenvestments are recognised in the iIncome statement and are not
reversible through the income statement and are determined with
reference to the dosing market share price at the batance sheet date
Any subsequant increase in the fair value of the available-for-sale
mvestment above the imparred value will berecognised within the
auailable-for-sale reserve

Available-for-sale investments are included within non-current assets
unless the carrying value 1s expected to be recovered principally through
sale rather than continuing use in which case they are included within
current assets On disposal the difference between the carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain

Financal statements

vt Borrowings

Borrowangs are recorded as the proceeds recewed net of direct iIssue
costs Finance charges, Incuding any prermium payable on settiement
or redemption ard direct issue costs are accounted for on an accruals
basis m the income statement using the effective nterest method and
are added to the carrying amount of the undertying instrument to which
they relate to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which
they arise - - - - -

1) Imparment

At each balance sheet date n accordance with IAS 36 Impairment

of Assets the Group reviews the carrying amounts of all its assets
excluding inventones (see accounting policy g) non-current assets
dassified as held for sale financial assets (see accounting policy h) and
deferred taxation (see accounting palkcy o) to determine whether there is
any indication that any of those assets have suffered an imparment loss

Animpairment is recognised in the ncome statement whenaver the
carrying amount of an asset or its cash generatmg unit exceeds its
recoverable amount An impairment of an investment in a joInt venture or
associate 1s recogmised within the share of profit from jomt ventures and
associates The recoverable amount 1s the greater of net selling price
defined as the farr value less costs to sell and valuginuse Inassessing
valueinuse the estimated future cash flows are discounted to ther
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects cunrent market
assessments of the tme value of money and risks speafic to the asset
where It i1s pot possible Lo estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash generating unit towhich the asset belongs impairment losses
recognised inrespect of cash generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any geodwill allocated to those units

and then to reduce the carrying amount of ather assets in the unit

Ji0da H8xeng
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orloss thathad previousty Seen recognised directly in Te58rves s
recogrised in the income statement

Il Trade and other recervables

Trade and other recenables are nan-dervative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments and where no stated interest rate 1s
applicable are measured at the onginal invorce amount if the effect
of discounting 15 immatenal Where discounting 1s matenat trade and
other recewvables are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method An allowance account s maintained to reduce the
carrying value of trade and other recavables for mparrment losses
wdentified from abjective evidence with movements in the allowance
account sther from increased impairment losses or reversals of
mpainment losses being recognised inthe ncome statement

m Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents indude cashin hand bank accounts
deposits recevable on demand and deposits with matur ity dates

of three months or less from the date of inception Bank averdrafts
that are repayable on demand and whuch form an integral part of the
Group s cash managemernit are also induded as a component of cash
and cash equivatents where offset conditions are met

w Short-term daposits

This includes short-term deposits which have matunty dates of
more than three months from inception These deposits are initally
recogrused at far value and then carned at amortised cost through
the income statement iess any allowance for impairment losses

v Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are nen-denvative financial labiities and are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method Trade
and ather payables with no stated interest rate are measured at the
original invoice amount If the effect of discounting s immatenal

ona proratabasis

An irnpairtment loss for anindmduat asset or cash generating unit will be
reversad if there has been a change tn estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount since the last mpairment loss was recogrised and
13 only reversed to the extent that the asset s carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined

net of depreciation or amortisation if no mpairment loss had been
recognised Impairment of goodwillis not reversed

J) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a probatle present legal
or constructive abligation to make a transfer of economic benefits as a
result of past events where a relable estimate s avalable The amounts
recogmised represent the Group s best estimate of the transfar of
benefits that will be required to seltle the obligation as of the balance
sheet date Provisions are discounted if the effect of the time value of
maney is matenal usng a pre-tax market rate adjusted for nisks specific
to the hatahty

k) ESOP reserve

Where the Company or its subsidianes purchase the Company s own
equity shares the cost of those shares including any attributable
transaction costs 15 presented within the ESOP reserve as a deducuon
in shareholders equityin the conselidated financial statements
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Fiancial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

1) Revenue recogmtion

Revenue which excludes value added tax and transactions between
Group companes represents the gross inflow of economsc benefit from
Skys operating actmties The Groups main sources of revenue are
recogrised as follows

+ Subschpuon revenue indudes revenue from resideniial and
commeraal subscnbers to TV and commuricaton products induding
over-the-top (OTT ) subscripuens and income from set-top box sales
and installabion service calls and warranties Revenue s recogrised
net of any dhscount given as the goods or services are provided

Transactional revenue incdludes the purchase of physical content
OTT passes pay per view and buy to keep content by residential and
commeraal customers Transactional revenue i1s recognised net of
any discount given when the relevant goods or service are provided

Wholesale and syndication revenue mcludes revenue from the sale of
channels and programmes across other platforms and internavionally
Wholesale revenue 1s recogmsed as the serwees are provided to cable
and other retailers and 1s based on the number of subscnbers taking
the Sky channels as raported to the Graup by the cable and other
retailers and the applicable rate card or contract Syndication
revenues are earned from the production of programming and the
distnbution of programring rights Production revenue is recognised
on a stage of completion basis and distzibution revenue s recognised
when the contract s signed and the content 1s avalable for
exploitation

Advertising sales revenue 1s recognised when the advertising
15 broadeast Revenue generated from arrtime sales where Sky
acts as an agent on behalf of third parties 15 recogrusedon &

The Group issues equity-settled share-based paymants to certain
employees which must ba measured at fair value and recognised as

an expense in the mcome statement, with a corresponding increase

n equity The fair values of these payments are measured at the cates
of grant using option-priang models taking inta account the terms

and condirons upon which the awards are granted The farr value

15 recognised over the penod duning which employees become
unconditionally entitled to the awards subject kg the Groups espmate
of the number of awards which will be forfeited erther due to employees
leaving the Group prior to vesting or due to non-market based
performance conditions not being met Wherae an award has market-
based performance conditions the far value of the award 15 adjusted for
the probability of achieving these wia the option pncing model The total
amount recogrused 1n the ncome statement as an expense 1s adjusted
toreflect the actual number of awards that vest, except where forfeiture
s due to the fadure to meet market-based performance measures

In the event of a canceliztion whether by the Group of by a partcpating
employee the compensation expense that would have been recogrised
over the remainder of the vesting period I1s recognised immediately

n profit orloss

n)Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantrally all the nsks and rewards inadental to ownership of
the asset to the lessee All other leases are classified as operating leases

Sub-lease income from cperating leases 1s recogrsed on a straight-tine
basis over the term of thelease

When the Group is alessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group
at ther fair value on the date of acquisiton or IFlower at the present
value of the minmum lease payments The corresponding hability to

net commssion basis

Other revenue pnncipally includes income from technical platform
services and the provision of network services Other revenue s
recogmsed netof any discount given when the relevant goods or
service are prowded

Revernue 1s measured at the fair value of the consideration received

or recervable When the Group sells a set-top box installauen or service
and a subscnption in one bundled transaction the totalconsideration
fram the arrangerment is allocated to each element based ontherr
relateve far values The fair value of each indmdual element is determined
wsing vendor specific or third-party evidence The amount of revenue the
Group recogruses for dehivered elements 1s kmited to the cash received

m) Employes benefits

Wages salanes social security contnbutions bonuses payable and
non-monetary benefits for current employees ara recognised in
the income statement as the employees services are rendered

where the Group provides pensions to eligible employees through
defined contribution schemes the amount charged to themncome
statement m the year represents the cost of contributions payable

by the Group to the schemes in exchange for employee services
rendered in that year The assets of the schemes are held independenttly
of the Group

Liabihiues in relation to employee obligations which are economicalty
Surular 1o defined benefit pension schemes are accounted for as such
under 1AS19

Termination benefits are recognised as a bability at the earher of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit
and when the Group racogrises any related restructuning costs such
termination being before the normal retirement date or as the result
of an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy

Lease payments are apportoned between finance charges and
reductions to the lease cbligations so as to achieve a constant rate
of interest on the rema:ning balance of the liability

The lease expense ansing from operating leases 15 charged to the mcome
staterment on & straight-hine basis aver the term of the lease Benefits
recewved and recevable as incentives 1o enter nto operaung leases are
recorded on a straight-ine basis over the leasa term

When the Group s alessor

Set-top boxes which are provided to subsenbers under operating lease
arrangements are recogrised as assets withun property plant and
equipment The set-top boxes remainin the economec ownership of the
Group for the duration of the lease and are deprecated over thewr usefu!
economic hves of between five and seven years

o) Taxation ncluding deferred taxation

The Group s habtlity for current tax s based on taxable proft for tha year
and 15 calculated using tax rates that have been eracted or substantively
enacted at the balange sheet date

Deferred tax assets and labilibies are recogrused using the balance sheet
hability method providing for temporary differences between the
carrymg amounts of assets and habiliies in the balance sheet and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit,
Tempoarary differences ansing from goeodwill and except ina business
combination the rutial recogrition of assets or habilities that affect,
neither accounting profik nor taxable profit are not prowded for Deferred
tax habilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising

on investments in subsicianes and assocates and interests in jomt
ventures except where the Groupis able to control the reversat of the
temporary difference and it 1s probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse In the foreseeable future The amount of deferred tax
provded 1s based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amount of assets and labilities using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
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The careying amount of deferred tax assets s revewed at each balance
sheet date and adjustad to reflect an amgunt that 1s probable to be
realised based on the weight of all available ewidence Deferred taxis
calculated at the rates that are expected to apply m the penod when
the hability s settled or the asset s realised Deferred tax assets and
habilives are not discounted Deferred tax 1s charged or credited i the
tncome statement, except where 1t relates to items charged or credited
dimaetly o equity inwhich case the deferred tax s also included wathin
equity Deferred tax assets and habilities are offset when thereisa
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabiities and when they relate to iIncome taxes levied by the same
taxatwon authority and the Group intends ta settle its current tax assets
and habiiies on anet basis

p) Distnibutions to equity shareholders
Dnnadends are recogrused i the retained earmungs reserve in the yearin
which they are dedared

The cost of repurchasing the Group s own equity shares for cancellabion
('share buy-backs } 1s recorded in retaned earnings In additron the
nommal costof shares repurchased 1s deducted from share capital
and a matching credit 1s recorded in the caprtal redemption reserve

q) Earmngs per share

Basic earnings or foss per share represents the profit or loss for the year
attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company dmded by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in1ssue dunng the year
excluding the weighted average nurnber of ordimary shares purchased by
the Group and held in the Graup s ESOP dunng the year to satisfy
employee share awards

Diluted earmings or loss per share represents the profit or loss for the

Financial statemnents

Gains and losses on those instruments designated as hedges of the net
investiments in forergn operations are recogrised in @quity to the extent
that the hedging relationstup 1s effective these amounts are mciuded
in exchange differences on translaton of foreign operations as stated
n the statement of comprehensive income Gains and losses relatng

to hedgeneffectrveness are recognised smmediately n the income
staternent for the period

s) Reportable segments

IFRS 8 Operanng Segrments requires the segment information presented
inthe financial statements to be that which 1s used internally by the chief
operating decision maker to evaluate the performance of the business
and decide how to allocate resources The Group has dentified the
Board of Directors as its chuef operating decision maker and the segment
informat:on presented in the financal statements 15 consistent wath the
internal reporting reviewed by the Board

1) Aczounting Standards interpretations and amendments to existing
standards that are not yet effective

The Groug has notyet adopted certain new standards amendments and
interpretations to existing standards which have been pubbshed but are
only effective for our accounting periods beginning an or after 1 July 2015
orlater perods These new pronouncements are isted below

= Amendments toIFRS 1l Accounting for Acquisibons of Interests in
Jaint Operations (effective 1 January 2016)*

Amendments 101AS 16 and IAS 38 Clarfication of Acceptable Methods
of Deprecation and Amortisaucn (effective 1 January 2016y

Annual improvements 2012-2014 cycle (effective | July 2016)*
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ (effective 1 January

yearattnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company-divided
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares used to calculate
basic eamings plus the weighted average number of diutive shares
resulting from share options where the inclusion of these would not,

be antidilutive

r) Foreign currency translation

Tradmg actimties denomunated in foresgn currencies are recorded inthe
functional currency of the entity at apphcable monthly exchange rates
Monetary assets habidities and commitments denaminated in foreign
currencies at the balance sheet date are reported at the rates of
exchange at that date Nen-manetary assets and kab:lities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of

the enlity at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the mtial
transaction Gains and losses from the retranslation of monetary

assets and habities ara included net n profit For the year

The Group$ presentational currency 1s pounds sterling Assets and
liabilities of the Group's foreign operations are translated at exchange
rates prevalling on the balance sheet date Income and expense items
are translated at the applicable monthly average exchange rates

Any exchange differences anising are classified as equity and transferred
to other reserves Goodwill and fair value adjustments ansing on the
acqursition of a foreign cperation are treated as assets and habilives
of the forergn operation and translated accordingly Gawms and losses
accumulated in the translatior reserve are ncluded in the income
staternent when the foreign operation s disposed of

2017)"
IFRS 9 Financialinstruments (effective 1 January 2018)"
*not yet endorsed foruse n the EU

The Drrectors are gurrently evatuaung the impact of the adoption of
these standards amendments and interpretations in future penods

u) Cnitical accounting policies and the use of Judgement

Certain accounting policies are considered to be entical to the Group
An accountmg pohcy 1s considered to be cnitical If in the Directors
Jjudgement, its selection or application matenally affects the Groups
financial position or results Betowis a summary of the Group s cntical
accounung policses and details of the key areas of judgement that are
exercised tn thew applcation

i Revenue (see note 1)

Selecting the appropnate uming for and amount of revenue tobe
recognised requires Judgement This may invelve estimating the fair value
of consideration before k15 received When the Group sells a set-top box
installation or service and a subscniption in one bundled transaction the
total consideration from the arrangement s alfocated to each element
based onits relative fawr value The fair value of each individual element

1s determined using verndor specific or third-party evidence The amount
of revenue the Greuprecognises for delivered elements s hmited to the
cash recenved

1l Taxation, including deferred taxation (see notes 9 and 17)

The Group s tax charge 15 the sum of the total current and deferred tax
charges The ¢alculation of the Group s total tax charge necessanly
involves a degree of esumation and judgement in respect of certain
ikems whose tax treatment cannot be finally determined until resolution
has been reached with the relevant tax authonty or as appropnate
through a formal legal process
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Fnanclalstatements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Provisions for tax contingencies require management to make
Jjudgements and estumates in relalion to tax audit Issues and exposures
Amounts provided are based on management s interpretation of
country-specfic Lax law and the likehhood of settlement Tax benefits
are not recogrused unless 1t1s probable that the tax positions wiltbe
sustained Once considered to be probable management reviews
each matenal tax benefit to assess whether a provision should be
taken aganst full recogrition of the benefit on the basis of the ikely
resolution of the Issue through negobation and/or htigation

The amounts recagrised in the consohidated financual statements in
respact of each matter are derved from the Groups best estimation

and judgement as described above However the inherent uncertainty
regarding the cutcome of these items means the eventual resolution
could differ from the prevision and wn such event the Group would be
required to make an adjustment in a subsequent penod which could have
a matenal impact on the Group s prafitand loss andlor cash position

The key arca of pudgement n respect of deferred tax accounting s

the assessment of the expected timing and manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and labilites held at the
balance sheet date tn particular assessment 18 required of whether itis
probable that there will be suitable future taxable profits against whwch
any deferred tax assets can be utiised

m Acquisttion accounting and goodwill {see note 12)

Judgement is required in determiming the far value of idenufiable assets
habiities and contingent assets and habdities assumed 1n a business.
combrnation and the farr value of the consitderation payable Calculating
the fair values involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions
WdIng expectations about future cash flows dacount rates and the

Assessing whether assets meet the required critena for iniuai
capitalisation requires [udgement This requires a determmation

of whether the assets will result 1n future Denefits to the Group

In parucular nternally generated intangitsle assets must be assessed
dunng the development phase to idenufy whether the Grouphas

the ability and intention to complete the development successfully

v Programmunginventory for broadgast (see note 18)

The key area of accounting for programemung inventory for broadcast that
requtres judgement 1s the assessment of the apprepnate profile over
which to amortse generalentertainment programmung This assessment
requires the Group to farm an expectation of

- the time pertod over which the programme 1s expected to be
uubsed the number of umes a programme will be broadcast onthe
Group s channels

the relatrve value assonated wath each broadcast and

the relative value assocated wath linear channel and non-linear
programme nghts

In order to perform this assessment. the Group considers the following
factors

The time penod and frequency wath whech the programme 1s expected
to be utdised on the Group s lnear channels and non-knear seraces
Thus 15 usually based on a combmaton of the actual penod speafied In
the contract for the programme rights the smual expectation of when
ainngs will be scheduled and the alternative programming avalable to
the Group within this penod

Expectations as to the number of viewers a programme 15 likely to
achveve for each mdradual broadcast on the Group s inear channels
aver the contractual broadcast period The number of viewers per

{ves ofassets following purchase

Judgement « required in evaluating whether any impairment loss has
ansen against the carrying amount of goodwill This may require
cakulauon of the recoverable amount of cash genaerating units to which
the goodwill s assonated Such a calcutation may involve estimates

of the net present value of future forecast cash flows and selecting

an gppropnate discount rate Alternatively it may involve a calculation
of the Fair value less costs Lo sell of the applicable cash generating urnit

Judgement 1s required m identifying Lhe cash generating units to which
the goodwill1s associated for the purposes of goodwill impasrment
testing identification of cash generating umits Involves an assessment
of whather assets or groups of assets generate cash flows that are
largely independent of other assets or groups of assets Goodwall s
then allocated to each entfied cash generatung unut that 15 expected
to benefit from the synergwes of the business cambinattons from which
goodwill has ansen

v Intangible assets and property plant and equipment

(see notes 13 and 14)

The assessment of the useful economic ives and the method of
amortising these assets requires judgement Depreciation and
amortisation are charged to the iIncome statemant based on the useful
economic life selected which requires an estimation of the peniod and
profile over whach the Group expects to consume the future economic
benefits embodied in the assets The Group reviews 1ts useful econamic
Ives on at leask an annual basis

Deterrmning whether the carrying amount of these assets has any
mdication of impasrment also requires judgement If an indication of
smpatrment 1s identified further judgement 1s required to assess whether
the carrping amount can be supported by the net present value of future
cash fows Forecast o be denved from the asset This forecast invoives
cash flaw projections and selecting the approprate discount rate

broadcast directly nfluences adveryusing revenue for channels

although this consideration 1s partly influenced by the Group s
assessment of the potential impact of the publicly available
nformation onits competitors scheduling intentions agamnst planned
broadcasts

The potential benefits associated with utiising programming Certain
high-profile or high-quality programmeng titles have additional value to
the Group as they attract new TV customers and encourage retention
of existmg TV customers As such these programmes are able toretain
more value throughout their icence peniod than would be indicated
when considenng the expected customer viewing and consumption
numbers alone

The relative value assocated with hnear channel and non-linear nghts
are assessed based onthe mannerinwhich the Group expects to
utilise the programrming rights and the relative value percerved by
customers for the Group s channels and services Those relatuve values
may also differ based on the type and genre of programme Such
values arareviewed by the Group aganst currant and expected future
trends in customer viewing behawiour for the Group s programming
and channels The value appartioned Lo hon-linear rights (in addition
to any separately acqured non-inear nghts)is amortised on a
straight-kne basis over the period of the broadcast nghts, as the
Group considers this to be the profie most closely aligned toits
consumption of those rights.
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2 Operating Segments

Financal statements

0On 12 November 2014 the Group purchased operations in ltaly Germany and Austna and as a result has reassessed the number of reportable

operating segments

The Group now has three reportable segments that are defined by geographic area to reflect how the Group s operations are monitored and managed
The reportable segments presented reflact the Group s management and reporting structure as viewed by the Board of Directors which ts considered

to be the Group s chief operating decision maker

Reportable segment Deserniption

UK & Irefand The activities and oparations of the pay TV home commumnications and adjacent businesses in the UK and Ireland
raly The activities and operations of the pay TV and adjacent businessas in [taly

Germany & Austna The activittes and operations of the pay TV and adjacent businesses in Germany and Austria

Segmental Income statement for the year ended 30 June 2015

Results for full year

Italy and
Germarry
Adjusting &AUSTHS
UK & Germany & tems & pre- Statutory
Iretand Italy Austna Eiminauons  acquisivon  Group Total
Em Em £m Em Em £m
Comtinuing Operations
Subseription 6506 1845 1266 - {(1179) 8518
Transactional 120 35 18 - 20 153
Wholesale and syndication 515 16 20 m ) 541
Advertising 510 162 a4 - (67) 649
Other 95 28 39 1)) (25) 128
Revenue 7836 2086 1377 {i0) {1300) 9989
Inter-segment revenue (16) - - o] 6 -
| Revenue from external customers 7820 2086 1377. (1294)— 5,989
Programming (2 865) (1258) (764) (9 724 @y
Direct network costs (840) - - - - (840}
Sales general and administration (2781) (767} (624) (377 544 (4 005)
Operating expense (6 486) (2025) {1388) (386) 1268 QQ7)
EBITDA 1740 216 74 (163) (129) 1738
Depreciation and amarusaton (390) (55) (85) (233 97 (766)
QOperating profit (loss) 1350 61 [41)] (396) (32) 972
Share of results of joint ventures and assodiates 28
Investment income 8
Finance costs (283)
Profit on disposal of avalable-for-sale Investments. 432
Profit on disposal of assoaate 289
Profit befare tax 1516
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Finondal statemants

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(contnued)

Segmental income statement for the year ended 30 June 2014

Results for full year

Icaly and
Germany &

UK& Germany & Adjusting Austna  Statutory

reland Italy Austra Items fullyear Group Total

Em £m £m £m £m £

Continuing Cperations

Subscription 6278 1850 1144 . (2994) 6278

Transacuonal 86 a7 19 - (56) 86

wholesale and syndication 433 65 26 15 [€1H] 448

Advertising 487 168 35 - (203) 457

Qther 151 " 20 3B - (58) 151

Revenue 7435 2140 1262 15 (3402) 7450

Inter-segment revenue (61) - - - 81 -

Revenue from external customers 7374 2140 1262 15 (334) 7450
Programming (2656) (1277) (735) [O] 2006 {2657)
Orrect netwark costs (816} - - (29) - {845y
Sales generat and adrucwstration 2760) (830) {584) (84) 1414 {2844)
Operating expense (6232) (2101 [(ELL)) (Mm4) 3420 (6 345)

EBITDA 1606 224 8 (70) (242) 1536
Depreciagton and amortisation (403) (185) (75) (29) 260 (432)

Qperatng profit (loss) 1203 e (57) {99) 18 1104

Share of results of jont ventures and associates 35

Investment incormne 26
Finance costs (140}

Profit before tax 1025

Results for each segrment are presented on an adnssted basss A reconalapon of statutory Lo adiusted proflt ss shown o not e 10 which also indudes a descnptaon of the adustng tems.
Trarsactions between segments 2re recorded based on ssmated markal pices.

To pewde 3 rdse relevant PrRserkabion Mmanagement hes thosen to reanalyse the revenue And opeTatsng Sxpecse Categones from those irenaush mpocted The cerdivue Categones have been
changed toreflect the mcreasing breadth of the business and a number of operating expense sUb-Categones have been combined withan a single 5ales geneval and admurestration (SGEA)
operating expense kne As such certam pror pornod revenues and costs within the 2014 statutory Group total comparatves have been reclassified as set out below

Prior yaar revenues of £85 milon and £20 mdbon prsnously whuded n Instalaben hardware and sennce and Qther respectvely ang now nchudied n Subscnption revenue Transactonal revenvue
nchudes £82 rilion and £4 mufhon relating to Sky Stome and sports and whelzsale pay per view which were previously mduded in Ratad subsenprion and Wholesale subsonption respectvely
Reverwes of £15 nudlon and £2 maon relating to Sky 1Q and search revenues ane now included in Advertsing and Wholesale and syndication respectively having previcusly been inchudedn Other

Sports syndwation and Sky Vison reverues of £28 mikon are now ndudad n Wholesale and syndstion, hirang prinousty been nchaded sn Other Priar year expense of £2 mdion prevmously
nduded i Programmng b now mduded in SGRA.

Reverwe of E7.387 milion {2004 £6 972 rdhont} anses from goods and semces prvmded to the UX and revenus of E2602 médbon {2014 £478 mifion) anses from senaces provded 1o other
countnes Non-clrrent assats located n the LK were E10148 mikon (200 £3873 methion) and non-cwment assets bocatad outside the UX wene £651 mikon (2014 E3 miton)
Inclucied within operatng expenses for tha year endled 30 June 2015 are
Costs of £10 milkon RIAUNG Lo the ntagration of Sky Deutsehiand and Sky ltaka m the enlarged Group recognsed n SGEA
«  Coges of FSO mulhen relating to advisony and transacuon feas ncurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky itala recogrised in SGEA
Costs of £105 maion relating to corporate restructuring and efficiency programmes scluding an smpaiment of £2 mifon n relation te fired assets These costs have beenrecognised as folows
- E10 mehon wathin Programming
- ES5mibonwithh SGEA
Casts of £2731 mueon nelaung to the amortsation of acqured rtangdble assets recogrsed n SGEA
Inchudod withan whelesale and syndxation revenue for the year ended 30 June 2014 i a £15 mition oreda recerved followang the temmunatuon of an esaow agreement with a current wholesake operator
Induded within aperatng expenses for the year ended 30 Ane 2014 are

{osts of £49 milon reating to the acquisition and integration of the O2 consumer broadband and fixed line telephany business, mcluding amortisation of £4 mitkon in relaton to assoaatad
ntang bie assats The cosis have been recogrised as foliows

- E29 millan within direct networks

- E20 mibon withen SG&A,

Costs of £40 rrulhon refaung Lo a copormte restructunng and efficency programme n the cunenat year wcloding an impaument of £2 milon i relaton to assocated ntangbla and tang ble
assets Thess coses have beenrecogrisad as follows

- E1 mifbon witha (rogramimung

- £39 euibon wathin SG6A

Costs of £2 mdion &5 2 resul of the termnation of an estrow agreement with a cument whaolesale operater This cost has been recogrused withan SGEA,
Costs of £23 mulbon n relation to the amortisanon of acquired ntangble a552ts recognesed in SGEA
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3 Discontinued operations

On 19 March 2015 the Group completed the sale of a controlkng stake in its online betting and gaming business Sky Betting & Gamung ( Sky Bet ) to funds
adwised by CVC Capital Partners and members of the Sky Bet management team Sky has retaned an equity stake of 20% post completion 1 Sky Bet

Sky Bet represented a separate major line of business for the Group As a result its operations have been treated as disconunued for the year ended
30 June 2015 andg the year ended 30 June 2014 A single amount I1s shown on the face of the consolidated income statement comprising the post-tax
resutt of discontinued operations and the post-tax profit recogrused on the disposal of the discontinued operation A pre-tax profit of £600 milion
arose an the disposal of Sky Bet being the net proceeds of disposal less the carrying amount of Sky Bet s net habiibes and attributabte goodwall

Theresuits of discontinued operations which have been incduded in the consolidated income statement were as follows

yoday x8mens

20157 04 g
To19 March Full year a
£m £Em
Revenue 158 182 5
Qperaung expense Q28) (125)
Operating profit 30 57
Profit ondisposal 600 -
Profit before tax 630 57
Attnbutable tax expense? ({»)] (12)
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 620 45
1 Resuiis for the yearended 30 June 2015 include the results of ducontmued operatians up Lo the date of drsposal (19 March 2015)
2 Atnbutable tax expense compnses £9 mikon (203 E12 mulkon) in respect of operating actwities snd £1milion (2014 nil) arsing 25 aresult of the disposal
The net hatulities of Sky Bet at the date of disposal were
19 March
2015 o
£m §
Non-currentassets =)
Property plant and equipment 9 a,
Deferred tax assets 1
0 g
Current assets E
Trade and other recevables S
Cash and cash equivalents 30
35
Total assets 45
Current hatwhties
Trade and othear payables 58
Premistons 6
64
Total labilities o4
Net abihities 18
Tota! cansideration 730
Net habtlities disposed 19 E
Attnbutable goodwil 145) %
Profit on disposal E00 g
Consideration recerved i cash and cash equivalents 598 a"
Loss cash and cash equivalents disposed of ¢30) g
Net cash inflow ansing on disposal 568 §

During the year cash flows attnbutable to Sky Bet compnsed a net cash inflow in respect of operating actvities of £44 muthion (2014 inflow of £62 rullion)

and a net cash inflow in respect of invesung actmvties of £560 mukon (2014 qutflow of £3 million)
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4 Investment income and finance costs

2015 2014
£m Em
Investment income
Interest on cash cash equrvalents and short-term deposits 8 4
Ddends received from availlable-for-sale investments - 22
- - - - - - -— 8 26
2015 2014
£m Em
Finance cests
- intergst payable and similar charges
Facility related costs (44) [va]
Guaranteed Notes (see note 22) (214) (126)
Finance lease interest (@] (8]
(265) (135)
- Other finance income {expense)
Remeasurement of borrowings and borrowings-related denvatve Finanaal instruments (not qualifying for hedge accounting) {15) [#4]
Remeasurement of other derivative financial nstruments (not quahfying for hedge accounting) (3) (4
Gain (loss) ansing on dervatives in a designated far value hedge accounting relationship 7 31
(Loss) gan ansing on adjustment for hedged ttem in a designated fair value hedge accounting relauonstip (6) 32
(18) (5)
(283) (140}

Borrowing cests included i the cost of qualifying assets dunng the year arose on the general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a
capitalisation rate of 31% {2014 4 9%)toexpenditure on such assets The amount capitalised in the current year amounted to €9 milhon
(2014 E4 mullion) Tax rehef in the current year on capitalised interest totals £0 4 milkon (2014 £0 6 mullion)

Finance costs include ES7 mdhon incurred in cennection with £6 6 biton of firm underwnitten debt facihties and other assoaated transaction costs

cancelled duning the perad with the exception of a €1 bilien RCF which remains undrawn

5 Profit on disposal of avallable-for-sale investments

relating to the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltabia These faciities including the previous revobing cradit faclity (RCE) have been repad o

On17 July 2014 the Group sold a shareholding of 64% in ITV plc consisting of 259 820 065 ITV shares for an aggregate consideration of £481 million

A profit of E429 million was realised on dispasal being the excess of the consideration above the previously written-gown valug of the shares for

accountmg purposes (£52 mithony

On 5 November 2014 the Group sold a further sharehalding of 0 8% n ITV plc consisting of 31864 665 ITV shares for an aggregate consideration of
£65 million A profit of £58 million was realised on disposal being the excess of the consideration above the previously wntten-down value of the shares

for accounting purposes (£7 rmllion)

The Group recoghised a gain of £5 million as a result of measunng to far value 1ts equity mnterest in Sky Deutschiand held prior to the acquisition

For further detans see note 31

& Profit on disposal of associate

On 12 November 2014 the Group transferred 3 shareholding of 21%in NGC Network Internaticnal LLC and a shareholding of 21% i NGC Network Latin
Amenca LLC to 21st Century Fox Inc { 21st Century Fox’) for an aggregate consideration of £410 millign as part of the purchase of Skyltalia (see note

31 for Further detai) A profit of £299 mihon was realised on disposal

7 Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation is stated after charging

2015 2014

Em £m

Cost of nventones recognised as an expense 33N 2208
Deprecation impairment and losses {profits) on dispasals of property plant and equipment 297 204
Amortisation impairment and losses (profits) on disposals of ntangible assets 469 228
Rentals on operating leases and similar arrangements 0 49

Foreign exchange
Fareign exchange gains recognised in the income statement during the year amounted to E14 milkon (2014 losses of £2 mulhon)
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Audit fees
An analysis of auditor’s remuneration 1s as foliows

2015 2014
Em £m
Fees payable to the Company s auditor for the audit of the Company s annual accounts 20 13
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company s subsidiaries 03 03
Total audit fees 23 - 16-
Audit-related services 02 02
Taxatwon services 18 a5
Other assurance services o8 01
Other adwsory services n4 -
Transaction services 19 06
Total non-audnt fees 158 14 ﬁ

Non-audit fees payable to the Company s auditar in the UK princpally comprse transacton related services including reporting accountant services
comfort procedures in relation to debt ssuance and programmes and acquisition-related tax services Other assurance services prncipally relate to
The Bigger Prcture assurance and the interm resew

Deloitte Germany and Delortte Italy provided non-audit services 1o Sky Deutschland and Sky Italta prior to thesr acquisiion by the Group on 12 November
2014 These prnapally compnsed technology consulting and adwisory services As described n the Report of the Audit Committee a comprehensive
review and reorgarusation of these services was performed following the acquisition date in order to ensure the continued independence of Delaitte LLP
as auditars of the Group The total fees for non-audit services provided to Sky Deutschland and Sky ftahain the fullyear ended 30 June 2015 were

£15 7 million and the tabla abova ncludes those services pravided to Sky Deutschiand and Sky Italia by Delortte since 12 Novernber 2014

Total audit fees payable to the Groups component auditors of Sky Deutschland and Sky italia in the full year ended 30 June 2015 were £11 ritkon
The Groups component auditors of Sky Deutsehiand and Sky ttala also provided non-audn services to the Group dunng the year nona of which
compromised ther mndependence in respect of their reporung to the Group s auditor and therr respective local reporing requirements

8 Employee benefits and key management compensation

a) Group employee benefits g

2005 04— "

Em Em E

Wages ang salanes 1040 B44 3

Social secunty costs 159 el g

Costs of employee share option schemes’ 95 60 &
Contnbubions to the Group s penston schemes? 39 39
1334 1044

Y £91emition charge relates W equiky-settied share-based payments (2014 €60 mihon charge) and £5 milion charge relates to cashssettled share based payments (2014 nil)
2 TheGroup operates defined contnbubion pension schemes The pension charge for the year represents the cost of contributions payable by the Group to the schemes
dunng the year The amount payabile to the schemes by the Group at 30 June 2015 was £5milgn (2014 €5 milkon)

The average monthly number of full-time equivalent persons (including temporary employees) employed by the Group during the year was as follows

2015 2014

Noumber Number

Channels and services 5089 3477
Customer sennce sales and marketing 15487 13035
Transmussion and technology 4156 3257
Management and admsrustration 2328 1072

27060 20841

There are approximately 921(2014 497) temporary staff nduded within the average number of full time equivalent persons employed by the Group

b) Key management compensation (see note 30d)

UONBULICI JSPIOURIYS

2015 2014

Em £m

Short-term employee benefits 6 6
Share-based payments 8 7
14 13

Past-employment benefits were less than £1 mullion (2014 less than £1millien) The amounts disclosed for key management compensation are included
within the disclosures in nota B(a)
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9 Taxation

a) Taxatwon recognised In the income statement

2015 2014
Em £m
Current tax expense
Current year - UX 229 218
Adjustment in respect of prior years - UK (32 — 3n
Current year - Overseas 62 2
Total current tax charge 252 189
Deferred tax expense
Ongination and reversal of temporary differenices - UK €2 )
Adjustment in respect of paor years - UK b1 1
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences - Overseas (&67) -
Adpustment in respect of prior years - Overseas (] -
Total deferred tax (credit) charge (E8) 16
Taxation 184 205
b) Taxation recognised directly in equity
2015 204
£m Em
Current. tax credit relating to share-based payments (2) ()]
Deferred tax credit relating to share-based payments (5) -
Deferred taxcharge {credn) relating to cash flow hedges 20 (8)
3 an
¢} Reconciliation of effective tax rate
The tax expense for the year 1s lower (2014 lower) than the expense that would have been charged using the blended rate of corporation tax
i the UK (20 75%) applied to profit before tax The applicable enacted ar substanuvely enacted effective rate of UX corporation tax for the year
was 20 75% (2014 22 5%) The differences are explaned below
2015 2014
Em £m
Profit before tax from continuing cperations 1536 1025
Profit bafore tax muluphed by blended rate of corporation tax inthe UK of 20 75% (2014 22 5%) 315 2N
Effects of
Different statutory tax rates of overseas junsdctions (12) -
Disposal of Group Ivestments (125) -
Net effect of other non-taxable/non-deductible items 28 (8)
Effect of tax rate changes [€)] 2
Adjustments in respect of prioryears [4°)] 20)
Taxation 184 205
10 Earnings per share
The wesghted average number of shares for the year was
2015 204
Millons af  Milkons of
shares shares
Ordinary shares 1706 1581
ESOP trust ordinary shares {16} 9)
Basic shares 1680 1562
Diutive erdinary shares fram share optvans il 14
Diluted shares 1M 1576

There are no share options (2014 none) which could potentiatly ddute earnings per share in the future but which have been exduded from the calculatxon

of diluted earrungs per share as they are anti-dilutive In the year

Basic and diluted earmings per share are catculated by dmding the prafit for the year attributable to equity sharehalders of the parent company into the
werghted average number aof shares for the year Inorder to prowde a measure of urderhang performance management have chosen to present an
adjusted profit for the year which excludes 1tems that may distort comparability Such items anse from events or transactions that fall within the erdinary

actmties of the Group but which management believes should be separately identified to help explain underlying performance
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2015 2074
Em £m
Profit from continuing operations 1332 820
Loss attnbutable to non-controfhng interests 5 -
Profit from continuing operations attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 1337 820
Profit from chscontinued operations 620 45
Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 1957 865
2015 2014
£m Em g‘
Reconciliation from profit from continuing operations attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company to adjusted
prafit for the year attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company ﬂ
Profit for the year from continung operauons attibutable to equity shareholders of the parent company 1337 820 §
Adwvisory and transaction fees and finance costs incurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschiand and Sky Itaha (see nate 31) 107 -
Costs relating Lo corporate restructuring and efficiency programmes (see note 2) 105 40
Costs relabing to the ntegration of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itala In the enlarged Group (see note 31) 10 -
Costs relating to the integratson of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-ne telephony business - 45
Net credit recerved following termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator - 3
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 228 23
Profit on disposal of avalable-for-sale investments (see note 5) (492) -
Profit an disposal of associate (see note 6) {299) -
Remeasurerment of all derwatve fimancial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting and hedge ineffecuiveness (see note 4) 13 S
Tax adjusting items and the tax effect of above items ©n (32)
Adjusted profit for the year attrnibutable to equity shareholders of the parent company 947 892
2015 2014
pence pence
Earrungs per share from profit For the year =
Basic g
Continung operations 791p BRCE ()
Discontinued operations 367p 29p £
Total n58p 55.4p ’g
Oiluted ]
Continuing operations 782 520p
Discontinued operations 362p 29
Total N4 4p 545p
Adjusted earnings per share from adjusted profit for the year
Basic S60p 571p
Diluted 553p 56 6p
11 Oividends
2015 201
Em Em 'g
Diadends dedlared and paid dunng the year 3
23 Final dvidend paxd 19 00p per ardinary share - 293 %
2014 intenm dnidend pad 1200p per ordinary share - 187 a
2014 Final dnndend pad 20 Q0p per ordinary share 340 - 2
2015 intenm didend paid 12 30p per ordinary share 209 - %
549 485 5

The 2015 final dvidend proposed 15 20 5 pence per ordinary share being £349 milkon The dvidend was not dedlared at the balance sheet date and s

therefore not recogrused as aliability as at 30 June 2015

Drvidends are paid between Group companies out of profits available for distnbution subject to inter ala the prowsions of the companies' articles of

assoaaton and the Comparres Act 2006 The ESOP has wawed its nghts to dvidends
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12 Goodwill

Em
Carrying value
At July 2013 959
Other 20
At 30 June 2014 1019
Purchase of Sky Deutschland - 2848
Purchase of Sky Itala 752
Disposal of Sky Bet (149)
Foreign exchange movements (349)
Other 34
AL30 une2s 4160

Goodwill has principally ansen from the Group s purchases of Sky Deutschland Sky ttaha Briush Interacuve Broadcasting ( BiB?) €asynets
UK broadband network assets and residential activities 385 Media s content actvities Amstrad Loarg TV The Claud and the O2 consumer broadband

and fixed-line telephany business
Goodwill allocated by cash generatng unit, (s analysed as follows

2015 2014

Em im

UK & Ireland’ 204 870
Germany & Austna? 2576 -
ttahy? 680 -
Betting and gamung' - 149
4160 1019

Imparrment reviews were performed on these goodwall balances at 33 June 2015 which did not indicate impairment

Recoverable amounts for each of the cash generating umts were calculated on the basis of value 1n use using cash flows calculated for the next five years
as forecast by management Along-term growth rate of 3% was apphed to all urits in order to extrapolate cash Fow projections beyond this penod

(2012 73%) The cash flows of the UK & IFéland CGUWere distounted Using a pre-tax discount rate of 8% (20147 8%) thécash fIows of the Germany &

Austria CGU were discounted using a pre-tax chscount rate of 7% and the cash flows of the Italy OGU were discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of B%

In determining the applicable discount rate management applied judgement in respect of several factors which included inter aha assessing the nsk
attached to future cash flows and making reference to the capital asset pneang model (the CAPM) Management gave consideration to the selection of
apprapnate mputs to the CAPM which included the rnisk free rate the equity nsk premium and a measure of systemauc risk Management also considered
capital structura and an appropriate cost of debt in arrmang at the discaunt rate

The key assumpligns on which the forecast five-year cash flows of @ach unit were based mclude the number of gross customer additions the rate of
churn the average revenue per user levels of programming spend acquisition costs per customer and antispated changes m the product mix and
marketing mix of the broadcast activities The values assigned to each of these assumplions were deterrmuned based on the extrapolation of histaricat
trends wathin the Group and extemal information on expected future trends in the entertainment and communications industry in each terntory

1 UK &lreland

Formerty known as the Broadcast unit, the UK & refand unit includes goodvall ansing from the purchase of 318 Casynet s UX broadband network assets
and residential actvipies 365 Media s content activities Amstrad Living TV The Cloud and the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-line telephony business
The UK & Ireland unit includes intangibles with indefinite ves of £25 mdlion (2014 £25 mulhon)

2 Germany & Austria
The Germany & Austna urit includes goodwil! ansing from the purchase of Sky Deutschtand For further detals see nete 31

3 ltaly

The Italy unit ndudes goodwll ansing from the purchase of Sky italia The Italy unit includes intangibles with indefinite lves of £457 milbon For further
details see note 31

4 Betting and gaming

The betting and gamng unit was compnsed of goodwill ansing on the purchase of the Sports Internet Group ( SG ) 2nd 365 Media s betung activities
which were included within Sky Bet. A controfling stake in Sky Bet was sold on 19 March 2015 and the sdentifiable goodwill attributable to the CGU was
included within the Group s profit on disposal See note 3 for further details
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voda x8xens

Internaky
generated Acquwad
Software Customer mntangible ntangible
Internally  development contracts assets assets
generated (external} and related Other not yet natyet
intangble  and software customer intangible avalable avaltable
Tradermarks assets cerxes  relabonships assets foruse for use Total
£m £m Em Em Em Em Em £m
Cost
At 1Juty 2013 18 386 525 197 27a 20 57 1487 g
Additiens from business combinauons - - - [ 2 - - 8
Additicns - a7 36 - 64 B84 ] N2 g
Dsposals - (18) 4) - (3) - - (35) &
Transfers - 43 " - 1 (a3) 12 -
AL A0 June 2014 18 498 558 203 EE ;] ki a5 1772
Addrions fram business combinations 457 - 105 3070 28 - P4 3681
Additions -1 76 75 - 60 i ELY 362
Disposals 4 8) 4%) - (O] - - {168)
Transfers - &80 22 - 2 (60) (24) -
Foreign exchange movements - - 2y (294) (V)] - 73] (309)
At 30 June 2015 476 616 603 2979 426 122 ne 5338
Amorteaton
ALY July 2013 5 13 367 15 209 - - 769
Amortisation 1 76 53 32 64 - - 226
Disposals - (18} (14) - [E)] - - (35)
Imparrments - - 1 - 1 - - 2
At 30 June 2014 7 239 397 48 2 - - 962
Amortisation 1 84 a8 234 60 - - 464 o
Disposals @ By (145) - m - - (168) s
Imparments = 4 1 - - 5 E
Foresgn exchange movernents - - Q) &) - - - (3] =
At 30 June 2015 4 309 340 27 330 - - 1254 g
Camying amounts g
AL July 2003 2 205 168 18 65 30 57 na 74
At 30 June 2014 n 259 161 155 &7 7 86 aio
At 30 June 2015 472 307 263 2708 86 122 16 4084

The Group s internally generated intangible assets relate principally to software development assocated with our customer management systems
and set-top boxes The Group s other intangible assets mainly Incluce copynght heences and connection faes

The estimated Future amortisation charge on intangsble assets with finite kves For each of the next five years 1s set out below Itis likely that future
amortisation will vary from the figures below as the estimate does not include the impact of aay future investments disposals or capital expenditure

2016 2017 208 2019 2020
£m Em £€m £m Em
Estimated amorusation charge 598 427 356 301 242
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13 Intangible assets (continued)

Within intangible assets there are certain assets wrth mdefimte useful lives The carrying value of these assetsis £482milion (2014 £25 mallon)

As part of the acquisition of Sky italia the Group acquired the nghts to use trademarks in certain terntories The nghts Lo use rademarks incertain

termtores are considered to have indefinite ives bacause the Group has the intention and ability to consume these nights over an indefinite period

Animpairment review of the assets s performad annually as part of the Group s npairment reviews of its GGUs (hote 12)

Included wathin customer contracts and related customer relationships are rntanglble assets with a net beok value of £1,522 million (2014 niYand a
remaining useful Life of 15 years relating Lo the acquired customer base in Germany & Ausina and intangible 3ssets with a net book value of E1057 milhon

(24 oMy and a remairung useful life of 15 years relating to the acquired customer base in Italy

14 Property. plant and equipment

Equipment Assets
Freehold furniture notyet
land and Leasehold and Owned available
buldings improvements fixtures set-top boxes for use Total?
Em £m Em £m Em Em
Cost
At Y July 2013 334 58 1387 - 53 1832
Additions 4 - 13 - ng 254
Disposals - )] (74) - - (75)
Transfers k)] - 34 - (65) -
At 30 Juna 2014 369 57 1478 - 107 201
Additions from butiness combinatiens - 38 73 355 64 530
Additions 3 3 105 16 261 388
Orsposals ) - (78) (8) m (92)
Transfers 24 - 39 45 o8y -
Foreign exchange mavements - (3) (8) [€15)] (] (53)
At 30 June 2015 3N 23 1609 372 nw 2,784
Deprecatton
AL 1 July 2013 46 34 m - - 791
Depreciaucn™ —— — T T T - 7 193 = 208—— -
Disposals m (74 - - {75}
Foreign exchange movements - - 1 - - )
At 30 June 2014 54 40 829 - - 923
Deprecauon 10 10 194 B4 - 288
Impairments 2 - 4 - - 6
Disposals [©)] - (78) (3) - (86}
Foreign exchange movements - - Q) 2) - (3)
At 30 June 2015 61 50 948 79 - 1138
Carrying amounts
At1July 2013 288 24 676 - 53 1041
At 30 June 2014 315 17 649 - 7 1088
At 30 June 2015 330 45 661 293 az 1646

1 The amounts shown ncude assats hald under finance leases with a net bock value of E31 mition (2014 E1a milbon) The cost of these assets was £48 milion{2014 £23 mlhon)
and the accumulated depreciation was E17 midlion {2014 £9 mullan) Depreciaton charged during the year on such assets was EB millon (2034 £2 milhon)

2  Depreciapan was not charged on EBB muhon of Land (2014 E8B mullian)

3 Aspaet of the disposal of Sky Bet which has been treated 2s a discontinued operauon (nate 3} property plant and equipment with a casrying value of £€9 million was disposed of
In addition E4 milon of deprecationrelating to Sky Bet forms part of ciscontinuad cperations (2014 £4 multicn)

W4 Skypk




Annazal Report 2005

Financial statements

15 Investments in joint ventures and associates

Alist of the Group S mwestments in Joint ventures and assocates inctuding the name country of incorporation and proportion of awnership mterest
15 gven n nota 33 to the consolidated financial statements

The movement in joint ventures and assooates dunng the year was as follows

215 204
Em - Em

Share of net assets
At July 173 164
Movement 1n net assets
- Funding net of repayments 0 6
= Dhvidends recewved (25) (3
- Share of profits 28 35
- Acgquisition of assccate’ 86 -
- Disposal of associates’ {149) -
- Exchange differences on translation of foreign joint ventures and associates 10 -
At 30 Junc 133 73

1 Dunngthe year the Group sokl a controling stake inSky Bet and retained an equity stake of 20% 10 Sky Bet See note 3 for further dacads
2 Duning the year the Group disposed of its mterest in NGC Network Internatonal LLE and NGE Network Letn Amenca LLE See note 6 for further dataits

The Groups share of any capital commitments and conungent kabilities of associates and jont ventures s shown in note 28

a) Invastments in assooates

Far the penod between the date of completion of the sale of the controling stake in Sky Bet and 30 June 2015 its revenue was £E80 millan and profit for
the penod was £13 milien

For the penad between 1 July 2014 and the disposal of NGC Network International LLC and NGC Network Latin Amenca LLC therr revenue was £115 milhon
and profit for the penod was E36million

b) Investments tnjoint ventures

Representing the Group s share of @ach joint venture

2015 2014

Em £m

Non curre@nt assets 2 26

Current assets 77 665
Current Labikties (36) 74)
Non-gurrent atnhities ()] [&)]

Shareholders equity {B) 7

Revenue 106 93
Expense fE:0) an
Taxation [€)] (3

Share of profit from Jjoint ventures 12 13

The aggregate carrying amount of the investrmentsin joint ventures and associates that are not indwvidually material for the Group 15 £44 milkron as at 30
June 2005 (2014 £41 mihon)

16 Available-for-sale mvestments

ams 204

Em £m

ussted investments 3 518
Unlisted irvestments 28 15
31 533

The hsted investments include rul (2014 £514 mullion) relating to the Group s ivestment n ITY The Group s Iisted investments are carned at far value
and the far value rs determined with reference to the equity share pnce at the balance sheet date Unlisted nvestments consist of minonty equity
stakes in a number of technology and start-up companies

0On 17 July 2014 the Group so!d a shareholding of 6 4% in ITV ple conststing of 259 820 065 [TV shares for an aggregate conskderation of £481 milion
A profit of E429 milhon was realised on dispasal being the excess of the consideratien above the previousty written-gown value of the shares for
accounting purpases (E52 mulhion)y

On 5 Novemnber 2014 the Group sold a further sharehotding of O 8% in ITV ple, consisting of 31 864 665 TV shares for an aggregate consideraton
of £65 milhion A profit of £58 mullhon was realised on disposal besng the excess of the consideration above the previousty wrizten-down value of
the shares for accounting purposes (€7 milhon)
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(conunued)

17 Deferred tax

) Recogrused deferred tax assets (habihities)

Share-based Financiat
Accelerated Intangibles on Short term payments  instruments
tax business temporary temporarny Lemporary
deprecation combinabons Tax losses differences chiferences differences Total
Em Em £m £m Em Em Em
ALY July 2003 n - - 5 45 (16) 37
Credit {charge) to income 4 - - m (e 1 (14}
Credit to equity - - - - 1 10
Acquisition of subsidianes - 1 - - - - 1
Effect of change in tax rate
-Incoma - - - - (3} 1 @
-Equity - - - - m m (2
At 30 June 2014 3 1 - 4 28 {6) 30
(Charge) ¢redit to income (28) 61 F3) 3 16 (2) 65
Credhit (charge) to equity - - - - 5 (20) ()]
Acquisition of subsidianes - (895) 589 20 - (O] @17
Effeck of change in tax rate
- Income 3 - - - - - 3
foreign exchange movements 2 81 (57) )] - - 13
At 30 June 2015 (20) (751) 553 83 s9 29y {106)

Deferred tax assets have been recognised at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 on the basis that, from management s current forecast of the Groups

entites itis probable that there will be suitable taxable profits against which these assets can be utdrsed The fair value of deferred tax assets in excess
of deferred tax labihties ansing on acquisition of Sky Deutschiand was £115 million on acquisition and has a carrying vaiue of £147 mullion as &t 30 June
2015 The majonty of the deferred tax asset relates to tax losses Itis conduded to be probable that there will De suitable future taxabte profits aganst
which the deferred tax assets ¢an be uthsed taking account of the current farecast of Sky Deutschland s results

Deferred tax assets and habwhttes are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the penods n which theyreverse Tha UK Governmaent
announced a reducuon i the main rate of UX corporation tax to 19% with effect from 1 April 2047 and to 18% from 1 Aprl 2020 These changes have not

Been sibsantvely enacted and have not thiirefore been indided 1 tHE figlre’ above Thempact ol tRe fitire Tatereuctions Wil e accoanted fof td——— — ~ ~~ ™~

the extent that they are enacted at future balance sheet dates however itis estimated that thus will not have a matenal impact on the Group The rate
enacted or substantrvely enactad for the relevant periods of reversal 15 20% as at 30 June 2015 (2014 20%) inthe UK 314% wn italy and 274%n Germany

Certan deferred tax assets and labilibes have been offset jurisdiction by Jurisdickion

2015 2014

€m Em

Deferred tax assets 175 52
Deferred taxhabihites (28y) (22)

{106) 30

u) Unrecogmsed deferred tax assets

2015 2014

£m Em

Tax losses ansing from trading 219 245

Tax losses ansing from capital disposals and provisions agamst investments 278 283

497 528

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised In respect of these items because it 15 not probabtle that future taxable profits will be available against

which the Group can utlise the losses

AL 30 June 2015 adeferred tax asset of £9 milion (2014 E9 million) principally arising from UK trading lossesin the Group has not been recogrised These
lesses can only be of fset against taxable profits generated in the entities concerned There s currently insufficient endence Lo support the recogrution of
adeferred tax asset relating to these losses The UK trading losses can be carried forward indefinitely

At 30 June 2015 a deferred tax asset of £210 milhon (2014 £236 mulkon) has not been recogresad In respect of overseas trading losses on the basis that it
1s not, probable that these temporary differences will be uttised These losses include £207 mdlion (2014 £233 mdlion) with respect to the Group s German
holding company s former investment in KirchPayTV and £3 milion (2014 £3 million) with respect to other subsidianes

AL 30 June 2015, a deferred tax asset of £274 milion (2014 £274 milliors) has not been recogrused in respect of capitallosses related to the Group s former
rvestment 1n KirchPayTV on the bass that utthsatson of these temporary differences 1s not probable At 30 June 2075 the Group also has capital losses
with a tax value estmated to be £4 million (2014 £9 million) iIncuding imparment of a foatball club and other investments which have not been
recogrused as a deferred tax asset on the basis that itis not probable that they will be uilised The capital losses canbe carned Forward indefirntely
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2015 2004

Em Em

Television programme nghts an 488
Set-top boxes and related equipment 2% S0
Other inventones 10 -]
Current iInventory 847 546
Non-¢urrent programme distribution nghts 3N 20
Total nventory 878 566

AL 30 June 2015 75% (2014 B81%)of the telewtsian programme nghts and 100% (2014 100%) of set-top boxes and related equipment and other

inventones s expected to be recognised in the income statement within 12 months

19 Trade and other receivables

2015 2014
£m £m
Gross trade recevables 337 235
Less provision for impairment of recevables [€)] 95
Net trade receivables 267 140
Amounts re¢evabla from jont ventures and associates 19 7
Amounts recevable from other related parties 26 s
Prepayments 499 279
Acarued income 26 179
VAT 3 2
Other 66 23
Cureent trade and other recaivables 1096 635
Prepayments & 4
Amournits recevable From joint ventures and assocrates 70 -
Other recevables 10, 3
MNon-current trade and other receivables €6 7
Totaltrade and other recervables 1182 T 642
Included within current trade and other recevables s nil (2014 ail) which 1s due in more than one year
The ageing of the Groups net trade recevables which are past due but not impaired 15 as follows
2005 2014
Em €m
Up to 30 days past dusdate 27 27
30 to 60 days past due date 8 3
60 ta 120 days past due date a 2
120+ days past due date 1
40 32

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates thew fair values The Group 1s exposed to
credit risk on its trade and other recevables however the Group does not have any significant concentrations of credst risk, with exposure
spread over alarge number of counterparises and customers Trade recevables prnnapally comprise amounts cutstanding from subscnbers

advertisers and other customers

Provisions for doubtful debts

2015 20014

Em Em

Balance at beginning of year 95 89
Arnounts utilised (6S) @n

Prowded during the year 40 33

Balance at end of year 70 95
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(cantsnued)

20 Trade and other payables

2015 2014
£m £m
Trade payables 1361 a02
Amounts owed to joint ventures and associates 16 n
Amounts owed to other related parues 75 124
VAT 155 - 168
Accruals 1160 247
Deferred mcome 401 318
Other 162 ns
Current trade and other payables 3430 2286
Trade payables N 23
Amournts owed Lo other related parties 5 10
Deferred iIncome 6 5
Other 52 18
Non-current trade and other payables 94 56
Total trade and cther payables 3524 2342
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates ther farr values Trade payables pnnapally
compnise amounts cutstanding for programming purchases and ongoing costs
21 Provisions
At Prowded Utlised At Azqumsition Redassified Prowvded Utilised Foreign AL
Ly dering dunng Tuly of Disposalof dunngthe during during exchange  30June
2013 cheyear theyear 2014 subsidanes subsidianes year theyear theyear movemnent 2015
£m Em Em £m Em £m £m £m £m Em Em
Current habhties
Restructunng provision’ 16 14 ()] 22 10 - - 9 % U] 21
Customer-related
provisionsi————— - - —al £39) 2 3 33—
Qther provisions? 37 € (19) 24 3 - - 34 2) - 49
04 20 (66) 48 13 - - 74 {31 ) 103
Non-current labikties
Gther provisions* 14 10 €10} 14 20 (6) 6 25 1)) @ 51
Employee benefit
obligations® - - - - 30 - - - m 3 26
14 10 (0 14 50 6) 6 2% (7} {5) 77
1 These provistons felale 10 cos18 Incured as pare of corporate restructunng and effioency programmes
2 These prowisions wchude costs of a programme Lo replade eged customer equipment.
3 Induded in current other Provisions are aMounts provded for legal disputes and warmanty liab:hues
4

on the terms of the leases but are expected to cantinue up te August 2016

w

further below

Employee benefit cbirgations

Induded withm NON-Current Other provisIons are amounts provded for enerpus conwacts for property leases and maintenance The trwng of the cash flows ace dependent

Dunng the year the Group acquired employee benefit ablgabions as part of its acquisition of Sky Deutschiand and Sky Italia on 12 MNovernber 2014 These obligations are described

Acquired at Actuanal Foreign AL

12 Navernber Pension losses  exchange 30 June

2014 payments (gains) movement 2015

Em £m £Em £m Em

Sky Deutschiand defined benefit obligations 10 - 1 m 10
Sky Italia employee benefit obligations 20 m )] [€)] 16
30 (U] - [€)) 26
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a) Sky Deutschland

Sky Deutschland operates unfunded final salary defined benefit pension plans that are not covered by plan assets These plans were dlosedto
future accrua) The total defined benefit obhgaton at 30 June 2015 was £10 million The amount of the pension entitlement depends on the salary
of the respective employee at the time of retirement. Employee benefit obligations will be funded out of current and future earmings

The present value of the cbhigations was measured ustng the projected unit credit method apphying the following principal assumptions

+ Actuanal presecuons (iIncuding assumptions about cost-of-lving increases salary increases gtc ) were made tovalue the future benefits expected
to be paid by the post-employment plan in the event of mortality (both during and after employment) disability and early retrement Sernonty and
rates of employee tumaver as well as salary ard benefit levels at the measurement date were also taken into account In projecting future benefits

+ The average present value at the measurement date has been calculated on the basis of the assumed annual discount rate and the prabability
of servikes being rendered

The following specific assumptions have been used
- Annual giscount rate of 2 45%

~ Annual growth rate of 200%

- Annual salary growth rate of 2 50% and

~ Annual fluctuation rate employees of 700%

Since there are no plan assets as defined by 1AS 13 (rewised 2011} and all actuanal gans and losses are recagmsed when incurred the present value of
the defined benafit obligation of the pension oblgations and the obligations similar to pensions 1S equivalent to the provision recognised onthe balance
sheet

Reasonably possible changes to these assumptions would not have a matenal impact on the provision
The weighted average maturity of the defined benefit obligabion s 21 years as of the balance sheet date
Expected pension payments in the year te 30 June 2016 are fess than Et mdiion

b) Sky ttaha

Sky Italia s employee benefit obligations relate to a provision for emplovee renrement determined using actuanal techmiques (as discussed further
below) and regutated by Article 2120 of the itahian Civil Code These plans were dlosed to future accrual The total employes benefit sbligation at

30-Jure 2015 was £16 milion-The benefit 5 paid upon retirement as a jump sum the amount of whith correspands to the total efthe provisionsm———— ..

accrued during the employees service penod based on payrol! costs a5 revalued until retirement Employee benefit oblkgations will be funded out
of current and future earmings

.

The present value of the obligations was measured using the projected unit credit methed applying the fallewing principal assumptions

« Actuanal projectrons (including assumptions about cast-of-lmngincreases salary Increases et ) were made tovalue the future benefits expected
to be paid by the post-employment plan in the event of mortality (both dunng and after employment) disabiity and early retirement Servority and
rates of employee turmover as well as satary and benefit levels at the measurement date were also taken into account m projecting future benefits

.

The average present value at the measurement date has been calculated on the basis of the assumed annual discount rate and the probabriity
of services being rendered

.

The following specific assumptions have been used
- Annual discount rate of 012%

- Annualinflatien rate of 0 10%,

- Annyatrevaluationrate of 1 58%

- Annual fluctuation rate employees af 5 39% and
- Annual martality rate of 0 10%

Since there are no plan assets as defined by 1AS 19 (rewised 20711 and all actuanal gains and losses are recogrused when incurred, the present value
of the defined benefit obhgation of the pension obligations and the obhigations similar to pensions 1s equivalent to the provision recogmised on the
balance sheet

Reasonably possible changes to these assumptions would not have a material impact on the provesion
The weighted averzge maturnity of the defined benefit obligation 1517 years as of the balance sheet date
Expected pension payments in the year to 30 June 2016 are less than £1 million
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(continued)

22 Borrowings

2015 2004
£rmn £m
Current borrowings

Loan Notes 4 -
US$750 milion of 5 625% Guarantecd Notes repayable in October 2015 468 -
Oblgaticns under finance keasest - 22 -1
494 11

Non-current borrawings
LS$750 millhon of 5 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2015 - 434
£400 mitlion of 5 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 20170 399 400
Us3750 milhien of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 474 442
US$582 8 million of 9 500% Guarantesad Motes repayable in November 20189 372 353
U55750 milion of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 20197 477 -
€600 milion of Floating Rate Notes repayable in April 20200 425 -
£450 mihion of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable i November 20201 445 -
€1500 million of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 20219 1058 -
US$800 mihon of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20222 S04 4686
€B50 million of 1 B75% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Navember 2023% 602 -
US$1250 milion of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 787 -
€1000 milion of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 20264 705 -
E300 rulhon of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 296 296
£300 mullion of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayabte in November 2029% 297 -
€400 million of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20299 28 -
US5350 milion of 6 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2035 218 20
Loan Notes 2 1
Obligations under finance leases®™ 75 65
7418 2658

(1) Guarantecd Notes

At 30 June 2015 the Group had i issue the following Guaranteed Notes wiuch were issuad by the Company

Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged

Value* Foted Foaung
£m Em £m Fixed Floatng
Us5750 mullion of 6 100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 g7 290 97 6 829% GMLUBOR +1 892%
US$582 8 mdhon of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Navember 2018 389 260 129 7091% Ermn LIBOR +5542%
£450 mulhon of 2 B75% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2020 450 - 450 - 3mLIBOR +1230%

1226 550 676

Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged

Vale* Fued Aoatng
£m £m £€m Fixed Floating
US$750 mihon of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable wn September 2019 581 - 58i - 3mEURIBOR +0656%
€500 miln of Floaung Rate Notes repayzble in April 2020 600 - 600 - 3mEURIBOR +0750%
€1500 million of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable n September 2021 1500 1500 - 1500% -
Us$800 million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayabte in November 2022 68S 689 - 218% -
€850 million of 1 B75% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2023 a50 850 - 1875% -
U551 250 mullon of 3 750% Guarantead Notes repayable in September 2024 959 969 - 2187% -
€1000 millhion of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 1000 1000 - 2500% -
E300 mull:arn of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 an 41 - 500&% -
£300 melhion of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 399 399 - 3122% -
€400 million of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 200 400 - 2750% -

7399 6218 1181
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At 30 June 2015 the Group hadshissue the followang Guaranteed Notes which were issued by Sky Group Finance plc
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Value® Flred Floating
Em £Em Em Fixed Floating
US$750 mithon of 5 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable i October 2015 428 71 257 5427% &m LIBOR + 0 698%
£400 mition of 5 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2007 400 350 50 5 750% 6m LIBOR - 0 229%
US$350 mithon of 6 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2035 200 200 - 5826% -
1028 721 307
At 30 June 2014 the Group had inissue the following Guaranteed Notes which were sssued by the Company
Interest Rate Hedging Hadged interest Ratas
Hedged
Vale- Fixed Aoating
Em Em £m Ficed Floatng
US$750 milhon of 6 100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 El:) 230 o7 £829% 6m LIBOR +15892%
US$582 B milhon of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 389 260 129 7091% 6m LIBOR + 5542%
US$800 milhon of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 503 803 - 3226% -
£300 rmullion of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 300 300 - 6 000% -
1579 1383 226
At 30 June 2034 the Group had inissue the following Guaranteed Notes which were 1ssued by Sky Group Finance plc
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value* Fuxed Floaung
£m £m £m Fiad Floating
US$750 milhan of § 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2005 428 7 257 5427% 6mLIBOR + O 638%
£400 milhon of 5 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2017 400 350 50 5 750% B6mUBOR - O 226%
US$350 mithon of 6 500% Guarantead Notes repayable in October 2035 200 200 = 5 826% =
1,028 721 307

* Hedged valua s the final redempuon value including any hedging

The Group has a Glabal Medium-Term Note Programme (the Programme } whuch provices the Group with a standardised documentation

platform for seruor debt iIssuance of up to £5 billion tn the major global bond markets Al stering and eurg Guaranteed and Foating Rate Notes 1ssued
dunng the year were issued under a £10 bilkon acqutsition related programme The £300 mithon of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes matunng in May 2027 have
been issued under the Group s historical EMTN Programme

(1) Finance leases
The munimum lease payments under finance leases falldue as follows

2015 2012
Em £m
Within one year 22 n
Between ane and five years 53 39
After five years 128 136
203 186

Future finance charges on finance lease hatuhities {105) (o)
Present value of finance lease habiities 98 76

The main obligations under finance leases are in relation to

@ finance arrangements in connecuion with the broadband network infrastructure Dunng the year repayments of £7 millron (2014 £7 mdhon) were
made aganstthe lease A propartion of these payments have been allocated against Lhe capital outstanding Thelease bears interest at a rate of
1 1% and exprresinNovember 2039

(b) finance arrangements ih connection with the contact centre in Dunfermiine During the year repayments of E1million (2014 £1 mithon) were made
aganst thelease A proportion of these payments have been allocated aganst the capital amount outstanding The lease bears interest at arate of
8 5% and expires 1n September 2020

(&) finance arrangements in connection with datacentre equipment Duning the vear repayments of £3 million (2014 £3 mullign) were made aganst the
lease A proporuon of these payments have been allocated aganst the capitat amount outstanding The lease bears interest at arate of 3 6% and
expires in June 2008

() finance arrangements i connectian with set top boxes During the year repayments of E5 million (2014 nd) were made against the lease A proportion
of these payments have been aliocated aganst the capital amount outstanding The lease bears interest at arate of 7% and expires in March 2017
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(conunued)

22 Borrowings {continued)

(1) Revalving Credit Facility
The Group has a E1 bilion RCF wath a matunty date of 30 Navemtzer 2020 syndicated across 15counterparty banks eachwath a miimum credit rating
of Baa2 or equvalent from Standard & Poor s At 30 June 2005 the RCF was undrawn (2014 undrawn)

The Group)s subject to two financal covenants under the RCF a maximum leverage ratio and a mnmum interast cover ratio which are tested at the end
of sach sx-monthly penod The key financial cavenants are the ratio of Net Debt to EBITOA (as defined in the loan agreements) ang EBITDA ts Net Interest
Payable (as defined in the loan agreements) Nat Debt to EBTDA must bé no mere than 4 00 1 and EBITDA to Net Interest Paysble must be atleast 350 1
The Group was in compliance with these covenants for all penods presented .

{Iv) Guarantees

The folkranng guarantees are i place relatmg to the Group s borrowings (a) Sky UK Limited Sky Subscribers Services Limvted Sky Group Finance plc
and Sky Telecommunicazions Serwices Limited have given joint and several guarantees in relation to the Company s E1 bithon RCF and the cutstandmg
Guaranteed and Floating Rate Notes 1ssued by the Company and (b) the Comparty Sky UX Limited Sky Subsenbers Senaces Limited and Sky
Telecommurcauons Services Limited hava given joint and several guarantees in relation to the outstanding Guaranteed Notes ssued by Sky Group
Finance plc

The Company has provided a back-to-back guarantee in favour of 215t Century Fox Inc of up to half the annual payment obligations of Sky Deutschland
Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG under the 2013.2017 Bundeshiga agreement It has also provided back-to-back guarantees in favour of 21st Century Fox In¢
n relation to UEFA Champions League and other programming obligations of Sky itala Sd

23 Derivatives and other financial instruments

Set out below are the derwative financial instruments entered inko by the Group to manage its interest rate and forergn exchange risks

2015 2014
Asset Liabiliey Asset Liability
Fatr Vale Nobonal Fair Value Nouonal Far Value Notonal Fair Value Nowonal
Em Em Em £m Em £m £m Em
Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps 62 1275 - - 77 767 - -
T T T Crosstcurrency swaps <o St ——— 18 466 = = = = = ol
Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency Swaps 137 1435 {(12) 503 2 651 (36} 503
Forward foreign exchange contracts 148 219 (36) 1065 33 764 (€] 1464
Net investment hedges
Cross-currency swaps 150 1943 {3) 400 - - - -
Denvatves not in a formal hedge relauonship
Cross-currency swaps &1 353 (25) 390 21 353 (59 390
Forward foreign exchange contracts 17 244 ()] 460 2 27 (4) 262
Interest rate swaps - - - 260 5 260 - -
Total 583 7307 {83) 3078 210 3022 {175) 2619
‘The matunity of the denvatwe financal instruments 15 as follows.
2015 2004
Asset Liabibty Asset Liabtity
Em Em Em Em
fnone year of less 130 22) 15 €39)
Between one and two years 46 (€] 43 (25)
Between two and five years 254 a0) 132 {75}
Inmaore than five years 153 [45)) 20 (36)
Total 583 (83) 10 ars)

The far value of the Group’s debt-related derwvative portfolio at 30 June 2015 was a £378 mullion net asset (2014 net asset of £80 mulhon) with notional
princtpal amounts totaling £7025 million (2014 £2934 mullion) This comprised net assets of £125 milhon designated as cash flow hedges (2014 net
assets of £36 million) net assets of EBO mithon designated as faw value hedges (2014 net assets of £77 mithon) net assets of £147 mihon designated
as netirvestment hedges (2014 nif) and net assets of £26 milion not designated in a formal hedge relationship (2014 net assets of £33 million)

At 30 June 2075 the carrying value of financial assets that were upon initial recogniion designated as finanaal assets at fasr value through profic orkoss
was nif (2014 rul)

Inthe prior year the Group entered mto a collar arrangement to manage its expasure to movements i tha value of certain available-for-sale nvestments
over a penad of up to 18 menths and with a notional value of £22 million The collar Inskrument was not designated for hedge accounting purposes with
movements in the fair value of the coltar being taken to the income statement thus coliar arrangement was closed out n the currént year
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Hedge accounting classification and impact

The Group designated certain interest rate swaps as far value hedges of mterest rate nsk and oross-currency swaps as fair valug hedges of interest rate
nsk and fareign exchange nsk this represents 25% (2014 26%) of the total debt related dervative partfola Movements in the farr value of the hedged
1tems are taken to the income staternent and are affset by movements in the faw value of the hedging nstruments to the extent that hedge accounting
1s achieved

The Group designated certain fixad rate cross-currency swaps as cash flow hedges this represents 28% (2014 40%) of the total debt related denvative
portfoho As such the effectve poruon of the gain or loss on these contracts 15 reported as a separate component of the hedging reserve and s then
reclassified to the income statement 1n the same persods that the forecast transactions affect the income statement Cash flows on the swaps oceur
semi-annually up to and inclusive of the relevant bond maturity disclased innote 22 Dunng the current year gains of E$37 milhon were removed from
the hedging reserve and charged to finance costs in the income statement to offset the currency translation movements m the undertying hedged debt
(20714 losses of £140 milhon)

The Group designated certamn cross-currency Swaps as netinvestment hedges this represents 33% (2014 nil) of the total debt related denvatne partfolin
Exchange differences anising from the translation of the net imwvestment in foreign eperations are recognised directly in equity Gains and losses on those
hedging nstruments (which include bonds and cross-currency swaps and are separately designated as net investment hedges) designated as hedges
of the net mvestments i foreign operations are recogmsed in equity to the extent that the hedging relationshipis effectsive these amounts are included
i exchange differences on translation of foreign operattons as stated i the statement of comprehensve income Gains and losses relating Lo hedge
ineffectrveness are recogmsed immediatelyin the income statement for the penod Gams and losses accumulated in the foregn currency transiation
resarve are snctuded in the income statement when the foreign operation s disposed af

The Group designates certain forward foreign exchange contracts and the intnnsic element of options (collars) as cash flow hedges of forecast foreign
currency sales and purchases Gains or losses are released from the hedging reserve and recycled to the income statementin the same penad as the
hedged 1temn 15 recogmsed If forecast transactions are no longer expected to occur any amounts included in the hedging reserve related to that forecast
transactron would be recognised directly in the income statement During the current year losses of £) milion were remaoved from the hedging reserve
and credited to operaiing expense in the income statement (2014 gans of £7 million) Gans of £26 million were removed from the hedging reserve

and debited to revenue in the income statement (2074 losses of E2 mihon)

Hedge effectiveness testing 1s performed quarterly using the dollar-offset approach The actual movement in the hedging items 1s compared with
the movement in the valuation of the hypotheucally perfect hedge of the underlying risk at enception and any ineffectiveness is recognised directly
n the incoma statement. For fair value hedges ineffectiveness of E1 milon was recogmsed in the income statement dunng the current year (2014
£1 million} For cash flow hedges ineffectiveness of less than £1 million was recogrised in the mcome statement dunng the current year {2014 nl)
For net investment hedges ineffectiveness of ni was recogmised in the income staternent duning tha current year (2014 rul)

A hedge relationship 1s deemed to be effectve if the ratso of changes in valuation of the undertang hedged stem and the hedging instrument s withen
the range of 80% 10 125% Any relationship whuch has & ratio outside this range 1s deemed to beneffectre at whach paint hedge accounting 15 suspended
During the year ended 30 June 2015 thene were no Instances in which the hedge relationship was not highly effective (2014 noinstances)

Financaal instruments
(a) Carrying value and fair value
The accountng dassification of each class of the Group s finanoal assets and financial labiities together with their far values 1s as follows

Held ta Derratives Denvatives in Totat
matunty Avalable-  deemed held hedging Loans and Other carmying Total far
Investments for-sale fortrading  relationships recervables habiitres vzlue value
Em £Em £m £m Em £m Em Em
At 30 June 2015 R
Quoted bond debt. - - - - - {7808) (7808) (8083)
Denvative financial instruments - - 6 464 - - S00 500
Trade and other payables - - - - - (2824) (2894) (2894)
Provisions - - - - - (129) (129) (129)
Obbgations under finance leases
and other borrowings - - - - - (104} (104) {104)
Availablg-for-sale nvestments - N - - - - N £l
Trade and other recervables - - - - 807 - BO7 807
Short-term deposits 1130 - - - - - 1100 1100
Cash and cash equivalents 50 - = - ) 328 - 1378 1378
At 30 June 2014
Quoted bond dabt - - - - - (2592} (2592) (2896}
Cervative financialinstruments - - (35) 70 - - s 35
Trade and other payables - - - - - {1788) (1788) (1788)
Prowvisions - - - - - (45) (45) {45)
Obligatons under finance leases
and other borrowings - - - - - (77 7N (77
Avalable-for-sale mvestments - 533 - - - - 533 533
Trade and ather recevables - - - - 349 - 349 349
Short-term depasits 295 - - - - - 295 295
Cash and cash equnvalents 300 = - - 782 - 1082 1082
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23 Denvatives and other financial instruments (continued)
The far values of finanaal assets and finarkial habilities are determined as follows

The fair value of financal assets and financial habilities with standard terms and conditsons and whach are traded on active bquid markets
5 determined with reference to quoted market prces

The Fair vatye of other finangal assets and financial babilities (excluding dervative instn:ments) 1s determined in accordance with generally

accepted praing models based on discounted cash flow analysts using prices from observable current market transactions and dealer quotes
for similar instruments . - —— Ly .

Foreign currency forward contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves dernved from quoted interest rates
matching matunties of Lhe contracts

Intarest rate and Cross-currency swaps are measured at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on the
apphcable yield curves derved from quoted nterest rates and

The far value of obligations under finance leases and other borrowings 1s estimated by discaunting the future cash lows ta net present value
The far value of short-tevm deposits and cash and cash equivalents is equivalent to carmying value due to the short-term nature of these instruments

The differences between carrying values and farr values reflect unrealised gains or losses inherent in the financialinstruments based onvaluations
25 at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 The velatite nature of the markels means that values at any subsequent date could be significantly cifferant
from the values reported above

Cash and cash equivalents dassified as held to matunty investments compnse money market deposits which have matunty dates of less than

three months frominception Money market deposits enhanced return nwestments and tri-party repurchase agreements which have matunty
greater than three months from inception are classfied as short-term deposits

Cash and cash equwvalents dassified as loans and recervables mainly compnse investments i AAAM rated money market funds which can
be wathdrawn without notice
(b) Fair value hicrarchy

The following table categornses the Groups financial instruments whith are held at fair value into one of three levels to reflect the degree to which
observable inputs are used In determining therr fair values

Fatrvalue Level Level 2 Ltevel 3
£m Em &m £Em

AL30June 2005 T
Financial assets
Available-for-sale financalinstruments
Otherinvestments 2 3 - 28
Financial assets at fairvalue through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps 62 - 62 -
Cross-Currency swaps 356 - 356 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 165 - 165 -
Tatal 614 3 583 28
Finanaal babiities
Financiat habshties at far value through profit or loss
Cross-currency swaps (40) - [&19)] -
Forward forexgn exchange contracts (43) - (a3) -
Total (83) - (83) -
At 30 June 2014
Finanoal assets
Avalable-for-sale financial nstruments
ITV snvestment 514 514 - -
Otherinvestments 19 4 - 15
Financal assets at lair value through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps 82 - 82 -
Cross-currency swaps 93 - 94 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 35 - 34 -
Total 743 518 210 15
Financial habiibes
Financal labiities at fair value through profit orloss
Cross-currency $waps {95) - (95) -
Forward foreign exchange contracts [(:10)] - {80) -
Total Q75) - (175) -
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Level 1
Far vatues measured using quoted pnces (Unadpusted) in active markets
for identical assets or habikties

Level 2

Fair values measurad using nputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either dwrectly
or indurectly Dervative finangal instrument far values are present values
determined from future cash flows drscounted at rates derved from
market source data

Level 3

Fair values measured using inputs for the asset or hability that are not
based on observable marketdata Certain of the Group s available-for-
sale financial assets are held at farr value and are categornised as Level 3
n the fawr value hierarchy

24 Financial nsk management

Group Treasury activity

The Groups Treasury functron s responsible for rasing finance for the Group s
operations togetherwith associated iquidity management and management,
of foreign exchange interest rate and credit risks Treasury operations are
conducted withan a framework of pohiaes and guidehnes authonsedand
reviewed annually by both the Audit Commuttee and the Board, whichrrecene
reguiar updates of Treasury actraty Devvatve instruments are transacted

for nsk management purposas only 1t s the Group s policy that all hedging s
to cover known nsks and no spequlative trad:ing s undertaken Regutar and
fraquent reporting to management is required for all transactions and
exposures and the intarnal control ermaronment 1s subject to penodic revew
ty the Group s intemal audit team

The Group s princpal market nsks are exposures to changes in interest
rates and foreign exchange rates which anse both from the Groups

Financial stataments

Intercst rate sensibmty

The sensitrvity analyses below have been determined Gased on the
exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and non-denvative
financtal instruments at the balance sheet date For floatng rate
habilites the analysis 1s prepared assuming the amount of hablity
cutstanding at the balance sheet date i1s outstanding for the whole year

For each one hundred basis point ase or fall in inkerest rates
at 30 June 2015 and if all other vanables were held constant

The Group's profit for the year ended 30 Sune 2015 would increase
or decrease by less than £1 million (2014 profit for the year would
ngrease or decrease by £8 milion) The year-on-year movement 1s
drwven by an increase 1n the tevel of floatng debt held

Other equity reserves would decrease or increase by £12 midlion
(2014 decrease or increase by £6 million) ansing from movements
m cash flow hedges

Acone hundred basis point nse or fall m interest rates represents a large
but realstic movernent which can easity be multophed to gve sensitnaties
at dhfferent interest rates

The sensiuvity analyses prowided are hypothetal only and should be used
wath caubion as the iimpacts provided are not necessanly indicative of the
actual impacts that would be expenenced because the Groups actual
exposure to market rates changes as the Group s portfolio of debt. cash and
forergn curency contracts changes Inadditon the effectofachangeina
particular market vanable on far values or cash flows 1s calcutated without
considenng internelationships between the vanous market rates or
metigating actions that would be taken by the Group The changes in
valuations are estimates of the impact of changes in market vanables

and are nat a preciction of future events or anteipated gans or losses

squrces of finance and iIts gperations Follawing evaluaticn of those
market nsks the Group selectvely enters into denvative finanoal
instruments to manage these exposures The pancipal nstruments
currently used are interest rate swaps to hedge interest rate nsks and
cross-currency swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge
transactional and transtational currency exposures

Interast rate risk

The Group has finanaal exposures to UK eura and US interestrates ansing
pamanty from the Groups tong-term bonds and other borrowsngs The Group s
hedging pohcy requires that between 50% and BS% of barrowings are held at
fixed rates Thus 1s achueved by ssuing fixed rate borkds or floatng rate notes
and then usinginterest rate swaps to adjust the balance between fixed and
floabing rate debt. The Groups bank debt i at floating rates and when drawn
means that the mix of fixed and floating rate debt fluctuates and s thereforg
managed to ensure comphance with the Group 5 hedging pobcy At 30 June
2015 76% of bormwings were heid at fixed rates after hedging (2014 80%)

The Group uses dermvabives to corvert all of its US dolar-denominated debt and
assocated interest rate obligations to pounds sterkng or euros (see secbon
on foresgn exchange sk for further detad) At 30 June 2015 the Group had

no net US dollar denommnated interest rate exposure onits borowings

The Group designates certan interest rate swaps as hedges of interest
rate nsk and certan cross-currency swaps as far value hedges of both
mnterest rate nsk and currency risk Movements in the farvalue of the
hedged exposure are taken to the income statement and are offset by
movements in the fair value of the hedgng mnstruments, which are also
taken to the income statement Any hedge neffectveness 1s recogmsed
duectly in the income statement In the year ended 30 June 2015 this
amounted to £1million {2014 £1million)

AL 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2034 the Group s annua! finance costs would
ncrease or decrease by less than E1million for a one-notch downgrade or
upgrade in rating assurming RCF remams undrawn

voda ¥Bneng
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Forergn exchange rnisk
A combinauon of cross-ourrency and interest rate Swap arrangements

15 used to convert the Group s debt and associated interest rate
abligations to pounds sterling or euros at fixed exchange rates

At 30 June 2015, the spit of the Group's aggregate borrowings into

their core currencies was US doflar 423% euros 39% and pounds sterling
19% (2014 VS doflar 71% and pounds stering 29%) At 30 June 2015 30%
ofthe Groups long-term borrowings after the impact of dervatives

are denominated in pounds stering and 70% in euros

The Group 15 exposed to currency translation on the cansolidation of its
foreign operabions It uses certan borrowangs and dervative mstruments
to hedge its net investments in these subsichares

The majonty of the Group s revenues and operating expenses are
denominated in pounds sterkng In the current year approximately
24% of aperating expenses (£2 206 million) was denominated In euros
(2014 approumately 4% (£272 mithon)) ang approumately 8% of
operating expenses (E758 mdhon) was denominated s US dollars
(2014 approxmately 10% (£629 mulkion)) in the current year
approximately 25% of revenues (£2 572 mithon) was denomenated

i euros {2014 5% {£393 mullion))

Following the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky (talia the Group
Treasury function hedges the foreign currency exposure of its forergn
subs«diaries nto ILS jocal reportng currency In al territones the US dollar
expense relates mainly to the Groups programming contracts with US
supplhers togather with US dollar-dengominated set-top box costs inthe
UX the eurc revenues primardy relate Lo subscnbers located in ireland
The UK s exposura to eurc denominated revenue 1s offset Lo a certain
extent by euro-denominated costs related mainky to certan
transponder costs and euro finanung costs on its borrowings the net
POSILOn being a euro surplus (2014 surplys)

The Group hedges currency exposures on US dollar denomenated highly
probable cash flows by using forward foreign exchange contracts
purchased up to five years ahead of the cash flow and currently no longer
hedges transactional euro exposures ansing in the UK
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24 Financial nsk management (continued)

itis the Group s pohicy that all US dollar foreign currency exposures
are substantially hedged in advance of the year inwhich they occur

AL 30 June 2015 the Group had purchased forward foreign exchange
COntracts reprasenting

+ Approxmatety 92% of US dollar-denormunated costs falling due within
oneyear (2014 95%) and on a dechirung basis across five-year planning
horizon are hedged via

- Outstanding commitments to purchase n aggregate US$26M
million (2014 LiS$2 358 million) at an average rate of US$158 to
£100 (2014 USH160 to £100)

- Outstanding commitments to purchase i aggregate USS1891 milkon
(2014 USSHA) at an average rate of US$118to €100 (2014 NiB)

- Inrespect of its tegacy euro hedging programme and to hedge current
balance sheet exposures

- Qutstanding commutments to sell in aggregate €976 mulbon (204
€1078 miflion) at an average rate of €122 to £100(2014 €118 w0 £100)

= Qutstandng commitments to purchase in aggregate £525 millon
(2014 €11 million) at an avarage rate of €137 to €1 00 (2004 €118
to E100)

No forward forergn exchange contracts fall due beyond five years (2014 Two)

The Group designates the following as cash flow hedges for hedge
BCCOUNDING pUrposes

« Forward foreign exchange contracts

+ Cross-currency swaps where interest on both legs is at a fixed

interest rate -

the valuation of dermatives (2014 gansof £27 million) The same weakening
would have a benefcal impact on other equity of £558 milbon (2014
benefioal impact of £479 mithon)

A 25% strengthening in pounds stertng agamnst the ewro would have the
effect of iIncreasing profit by £69 milhon (2034 increasing profit by £2 rrdion)
of whch gaens of £53 mulhon relate to non-cash mevements in the valuation
of denvatves (2014 Nd)y The same strengthening would have a benefiaal
smpact o other equity of E102 midbon (2014 benefical mpact of

E155 million)y

A 25% weakening in pounds sterhing aganst the eurs would have the effect
of decreasing profit by £115 milion (2014 deareasing profit by €3 millon)of
whuch losses of £68 mdlion relate to non-cash movernents in the valuation of
dervatives (2014 Nil) The same weakenng would have an adverse mmpact on
other equity of E120 milkon (2014 adverse impact of £259 meafion)

A 25% strengtheming in euro against the US dollar would have the effect of
increasing profit by €35 mihon (2014 Nif) None of this amount relates to
non-cash movements in the vaiuation of dervatves The same strengthering
would have a adverse impact on other equity of €312 mdhon {2014 Ni)

A 25% weakening in euro aganst, the US dollar would have the effect of

decreasing profit by €58 mulion (2014 Nil} None of this amount relates to
non-cash movements i the valuaton of denvatives. The same weakening
would have an benefioal mpact on other equity of €520 mullion (2014 Nif)

The sensitmty analyses prowded are hypothetical only and should be used
with caution as the impacts prowvided are not necessanty sdicative of the
actualimpacts that would be expenenced because the Group s actual
exposure to market rates 1s constantly changing as the Group s portfoho of
debt cash and foreign cumency contracts changes tnaddition, the effectaf a
change i a partwoular market vanable on fair values or cash flows 1s cakulated
without conssdenng meerrelabonships bebween the vancus marke’ rates or

As such the effective portion of Lthe gain or loss on these contracts s
reporied as a component of the hedging reserve outside the incorne
statement and)s then reclassified to the income statement in the same
periods that the forecast transactions affect the income statement
Ineffectrveniess of less than £1 milion was recognised in the income
statement dunng the year (2014 fess than £1 mithor)

A combtnation of US dollar denominated mterest rate and US dollar/
pound stering cross-gurrency swaps is used to convert fied dollar
denaminated debt to floating sterling denominated debt The interest
rate swaps are designated as Fairvalue hedges The assocated cross-
currency swaps are not designated as hedging mstruments for hedge
accounting purposes and as such movements in therr vatue are recorded
directly in the income statement

Foreign exchange sensitivity

The following analysis details the Group s sensitivity o movements

n pounds sterling and guros against those currencies inwtuchit has
sigruficant transactions The sensitivity analysis includes foreign currency
denorminated assets and labihives at the balance sheat date and
outstanding foreign currency denominated financial instruments

and adjusts their translatien at the penod end for a 25% change

n foreign currency rates

A 25% strengthening in pounds sterling aganst the US dollar would have
tha effect of reducing profit by £12 mdlion (2014 reducing profit by

E15 mulhion) of whuch losses of £13 midkon refate to non-cash movements
i the valuation of dervatves (2014 tosses of £16 million) The same
strengthening would have an adverse impact on other equity of

E359 miflign (2014 adverse impact of E288 rmilkon)

A 25% weakemng i pounds stering against the US dollar would have
the effect of increasing profit by £19 mullion (2014 mereasmg profit by
£25 mdhion) of whach gamns of £21 milhon relate to non-cash movements in

TUGaLng actions that would Be tBKen by tRE Gioup The changes in o
valuations are estimates of the impact of changes in market vanables and
are not a predicbion of future events or anucipated gans of losses.

Hedge accounting

The interest rate and foreign exchange rate nsk sections above outiine the
Group s polioes regarding use of denvatve products Further detad on
valuations and the impact of hedge accounting dunng the year are prowded
nnote 23

Credit nsk

The Group s expased to counterparty default nsk ameunting to mvested
cash and cash equwvalents and short-term deposits and the positne far
value of dervative financial assets held

This risk 1s deemed 10 below Counterparty nsk forms a central pact of the
Group s Treasury polhcy whichis monitored and reported on regularty Tha
Group manages credit nek by diversifiang its exposures across a wide numbser
of counterparties such that the maxmum expasure to any indmdual
caunterparty was 6% of the total asset value of instruments at the end of
the year Treasury policies ensure that 2l dervative transactions ane only
effected with strong relationship banks and at the date of sigrung each
camed a mmumum credit rating of Baa? or equivalent from Standard &
Poor's, To mitigate remaming nsks counterparty credit and soveregn ratngs
are dosely monitored and no more than 10% of cash deposits are held with a
single bank counterparty (with the exception of eoverrught deposits which are
rwested ina spread of AAAT rated liquidity funds)

The amount recogrused n the income statement m respect of credst nsk for
dervatives deemed held for trading 1s €1 milion (2012 rd)

Credit nsk in our residential customer base 1s mitigated by biling and
collecting n advance for digtal television subiscnphons for the majonty of
our resadential customer base The Group s maximum exposure Lo credit nsk
on rade recevables 1S the carmying amounts as dsdosed nnate 19

ME Skypk




Annual Report 2015

Financial statements

Liquidity nsk

Qur pnncapal source of hguidity & cash generated from operations combined with access to a £1 brlison RCF wihsch expires in November 2020 At 30 June

2015 this faolity was undrawn (30 June 2014 undrawn)

To ensure continuity of funding. the Group s polity 15 Lo ensure that available funding maturas over a period of years At 30 tune 20015 70% (2014 29%) of

the Group 5 total available funding (including available undrawn amounts on our RCF) was due to mature in more than five years

Fult detatts of the Group s borrowings and undrawn facilities are shown in note 22 other than trade and other payables shown in note 20 and pravisions

shown in note 21

The following table analyses the Group s non-denvative financial hlabibtries net settled dervatve financial nstruments and gross settled financial
instruments into relevant matunty groupings based on the remaiing penad at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and may therefore not reconcile to the amounts disclosed on the balance sheet for
borrowings denvative financial instruments provisions and trade and other payables

Between Between

Less than one and twoand Morethan
12months twoyears fvevears  five years

woda xBneng
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g

Em Em £m Em
At 30 June 2015
Nen dervative financal babilities
Bonds ~USD 626 137 1615 1920
Bonds - EUR 57 55 595 2948
Bonds - GAP 66 66 552 1309
Obhgattons under finance leases and other borrowings 26 26 29 128
Trade and other payables 2676 123 15 19
Provisions Bl 15 3 16
Net settled denvatives
Financial assets @ (24) 40) (9)
Gross settied denvatves
Outflow 2292 1046 3358 385
whow (2433) (1130} (3 665) (4 216)
Between Between
Levss than one and twoand  More than
12months twoyears fiveyears  five years
Em £m Em Em
AL 30 June 2014
Non denvative financal kabilties
Bonds -USD M2 541 1002 947
Bonds - GBP 41 41 500 444
Obhgatens under finance leases and other borrowings n 12 27 139
Trade and other payables 1686 99 3 -
Provisions k=) 8 - 2
Net settied dernvatves
Financia) assets (30 {24) “n -
Gross setted derwatves
OQutflow 1356 1129 1867 960
Inflow _Q3n [rD) (1 865) (955)

Captal Risk Management

The Group s objectives when managing capital are to endeavour to ensure that the Group has the ability to access caprtal markets when necessary and
to opumise liguidity and operaung Mexsbdity through the arrangement of new debt while seeking to mnimise the cost of capital The Group momtars
1ts hquidity requirements regularly and 1s sabisfied that it has access to sufficent hquadity and eperatung flexibility to meet its capital requirements

The Group manages its short and long-term capital structure by seeking Lo mamnmtain leverage ratios consistent with along-term investment grade
credit rating (BBB  or batter from Standard & Poor's and Baa3 or better from Moody s} The Group s current ratings are BBB (Standard & Poor s)

and Baa2 (Moody ) both with stable outiook The leverage ratios assessed by these rating agences are those of Net Debt EBITDA and Grass Debt
EBITDA Net Debt 1s defined as total borrowings including the cash flows ansing under operating ieases and Lransponder prepayments less cash and
cash equivalents excluding denvatves Gross Debt does not reduce total borrowsngs by the inclusion of cash and cash eguvalents

The Group s also required to maintain a Met Debt EBITDA ratio below 4 001 and an EBITDA te Net Interest Payable ratio at above 3 50 1 under the
terms of its RCF The RCF defimbion of Met Debt does not require the inclusion of future operating fease or transponder cash flows

At 30 June 2015 the Net Debt EBITDA ratio as defined by the terms of the RCFwas 2 51 (2014 071) and the EBITDA to Net Interest Payable ratio
was 10612014 1337)
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25 Share capital

2015 2014

Em Em

Allotted called-up and fully paid shares of 50p 1719 (17230 (2014 1562B85017) 850 781

2015 2014

Number of Numberof

ordinary ordinary

shares shares

Allotted and fully paid dunng the yoar

Begnning of year 1562885017 1593905182

Issue of own equity shares 156132.213 -
Shares repurchased and subsequently cancelled - (NOZ065)

tnd of year 1907230 1562 88507

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which camy equal voting rights and no contractual nght to recenve payment On 25 July 2014 the Company
announced the plaang of 155132 213 new ordinary shares represenung approximately 999% of exsting 1ssued share capita! for total gross proceeds

of £1358 million E12 milhon of transacuion costs were accounted for as a deduction from equity

Share option and contingent share award schemes
The Company operates vanous equity-settied share opuion schemes (the Schemes ) for certan employees

The number of newly 1ssued shares which may be allocated under the Schemes on any day shall not when aggregated with the number of newly 1Issued
shares whieh have been allocatedin the previcus 10 years under the Schemes and any other employee share scheme adopted by the Cempany, exceed
suth number as represents 5% of the ordinary share capital of the Company in1ssue immed:ately prior to that day tn determirang this kmit no account

shall be taken of any newly 1$sued shares where the nght to acquire the newdy issued shares was released lapsed cancelled or otherwase became

incapable of exercise Options and awards which will be satsfied by ESOP shares da not fatl within these headroom lmiks
The share awards outstanding can he summarised as follows

2015 2014

e —— - - Number of Numberof

ordinary ordinary

shares shares

Executive Share Option Scheme options™ - WT020
Sharesave Scheme options™ 8367072 7976924
Managerment LTIP awards®™ 27108781 6056 961
LTIP awards®™ 8895963 5575000
Management Co-Irvestment LTIP awards®™ 2021348 2065719
Co Investment LTIP awards™ 1768738 2235172
48 161,902 34 056796

(1) Executive Share Option Scheme options

All Executive Share Option Scheme options outstanding at 30 June 2014 have vested No options have been granted under the scheme since 2004

Grants under the Executive Share Option Scheme were made on an annual basis 1o selected employees with the exercise price of aptions beng equal
to the Company s share price on the date of grant. For those aptions with perfarmance condiions growthin EPS had to exceed growth in the Retail Prices
Index plus 3% per annum in order for awards to vest Options vested on an accelerated basis over 8 period of up to four years from the date of grant.

The contractual life of all Execytve Share Option Scheme options was 10 years

() Sharesave Scheme options

All Sharesave Scheme options outstanding at 30 June 2615 and 30 June 2014 have no performance criteria attached other than the requirement that
the employee remains in empioyment with the Group OpUens granted under the Sharesave Scheme must be exercised within six months of the relevant

award vesting date

The Sharesave Scheme 1s open to all employees in the UK and lreland Options are narmally exerasable after either three or five years fram the date
of grant. The price at which aptions are offered is not less than 80% of the rmddle-market price on the dealing day immediately preceding the date
of Imatation It 1s the policy of the Group to make an invitation to employees to participate in the scheme following the announcement of the end

of year resuits
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{m) Management LTIP awards

All Management LIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest only «f performance conditions are met Awards granted under
the Management LTIP must be exeraised withun five years of the relevant award vesung date

The Comparty grants awards (o selected employees under the Management LTIP Awards under this scheme mirror the LTIiP wath the same performance
conditions Awards exerused under the Management LTIP can only be satisfied by the issu¢ of market-purchased shares

(v} LTIP awards

All LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest only if performance conditions ang met Awards granted under the LTIP must be
exarased within five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company operates the LTIP far Executive Directors and Sertor Executives Awards under the scheme are granted in the form of a nl-pnced option
The awards vest in full or in part dependent on the satisfacton of specified performance targets For awards made in 2008 and 2009 (te awards that
vested in 2011) 30% of the award vested cependent on TSR performance over a three year performance penod relative to the constituents of the FTSE
100 at the time of grant and the remaining 70% vested dependent on performance against operational targets The TSR performance targets were not
applicable to awards made between July 2010 and March 2012 buk have been re-mtroduced for awards granted from July 2012 onwards

(v) Management Co-Investment LTIP awards.

All Management Co-Imestment LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 Juna 2014 vest only if performance conditions are met Awards granted
under the Management Co-investment LTIP must be exerased within five years of the relevant award vesung date

The Company grants awards to selected employees under the Management Co-Investment LTIP Awards under this scheme mirror the Co-Investment LTIR

with the same performance conditions

) Co-lInvestment LTIP awards

All Co-tnvestment LTIP awards eutstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest only If performance condibions are met Awards granted under the
Co-lnvestment LTIP must be exartised within five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company operates the Co-Investment LTIP award for Executive Ovectors and Semor Executves Employeas who parucipate in the plan are granted
a condittonal award of shares bated on the amount they have irwested in the Company s shares The mvestment will be matched up to a maximum of
15 shares for every share invested subject to a three-year EPS performance condition

For the purposes of the disclosure below the Management LTIP LTIP Management Co-lnvestment LTIP and Co Investment LTIP awards ( Semior Management
Sehemes’) have been aggregated

The movement in share awards outstanding 1s summarnised m the following table

wada xéeng

TN

Senior management

Exacutive Scheme Sharesave Schame Schemes Total

Weighted Weighted Weighted Werghted

average average average average

exercse axerase exerose exerose

pnce pnce price pnce

Number 3 Number £ Number [3 Number E

Gutstanding at 1 July 2013 o3 247 879 7158954 534 37253124 000 45344325 096
Granted during the year - - 302221 682 10068,805 Q0o 13091016 157
Exerased dunng the year (771 806) 595 (1 117391) 4686 (20763738) 00C (22752915) 047
Forferted during the year (10 516) 503 (961166) 589 (625 339) Q00 (1557021 388
Expired dunng the year (1905) 662 (26684) 447 - - (28589) 46]
Qutstanding at 30 June 20014 147020 503 7976924 550 25932852 000 34056796 140
Granted dunng the year - - 333888 708 16874287 000 20212968 117
Exercised during the year (144 888) 503 (1796 333) 499 {1887,798) 0Q0  (3B2O01) 253
Forfeited during the year - - (1131874} 637 (1124 511) 000 (2256385) 315
Expired dunng the year (2132) 503 (20326) 536 - - {22458) 533
Qutstanding at 30 tune 2015 - - 8 367,072 650 39794 830 Q00 48161902 113

The waighted average market price of the Groups shares at the date of exerase for share options exercised dunng Lhe year was £9 09 (2014 £8 42)
For those exercised under the Executive Schemest was E8 90 (2014 £B 4B) for those exeraised under the Sharesave Stheme it was £9 37 (2014 £8 82)
and for those exeraised under the Semor Management Schemes it was E8 Ba (2014 £8 40)

The muddle market closing price of the Company § shares at 26 June 2015 was £10 66 (27 June 2014 £893)
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(continuad)

25 Share capital (continued)

The following table summarises nfarmat:on about share awards outstanding at 30 June 2015

Serupr management

Sharesave Schema Schemes Total
weghted Weighted Waeighted
. . average average _ averape
remaining remaurung remaining
conuactual contractual contractual
hfe hfe life
Range of exercise pnces Number Years Number Years Number Years
EQ00=-E100 - - 39794830 59 39794830 59
£400-E500 7827 [s]] - 7827 []]
ESO00-£60Q0 1586 366 17 - 1586 366 17
E6O0 - £700 3643835 21 - 3643835 Fal
E700-£E8B00 NV g 34 - 3129044 34
8 367072 25 39794830 59 48151402 53

The following table summanses information abaut share awards cutstanding at 30 June 2014

Senior managﬂment

Executive Scheme Sharesave Scheme Schemes Total
Weighted Weighted Weighted Wetghted
average average average average
remaurung remalrung remaming remaln:ng
contractual contractual contractual contractual
hfe kfe bfe lfe
Range of exercise pnces Number Years Number Years Number Years Number Years
EODQ - E10D - - - - 25932852 60 25932852 60
£300-E4Q0 - - 2838 [43] - - 28381 a1
€400 - E500 - - 339644 mn - - 339644 1
£S00wEGOQ—— - - m— 147020—01—3 235353 20 3386373 19
E6 00 - E700 - - 4389546 31 - - 43569545 31
147020 01 7976 924 25 25932852 60 34056756 52

The range of exercisa prices of the awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 was between nit and £708 (2014 nil and E6 82) For those outstanding under the
Sharasave Scheme it was between £4 33 and £708 (2014 £372 and £6 82) and for all awards outstanding uncer the Senior Management Schemes the

axercise price was mik (2014 nil)

The following table summanses addiuonal information about the awards exercisable at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014

2015 2004

Average Average
remaining  Wesghted remaining  Weighted
contractual average contractual average
Cptions hfe of exerose Options hfe of aALIISE
exerasable exercisable prce  exerosable exerosable pnce

at 30 June oplans £ at 30 June optons
Executive Scheme - - - 147020 o1 503
Sharesave Scheme 41293 ol 494 78668 o1 495
Semor Management Schemes 27318 27 o000 B72229 35 000
314 411 23 D 65 1097917 28 103

Information for awards granted dunng the year

The weighted averaga fair value of equity-settled share oplions granted during the year as estmated at the date of grant was EG 03 (2014 £553)

This was calcutated using the Black-Schotes share option pricing model except for awards which have market-based performance condiions where 2
Monte-Carto simulation model was used and for grants of nil-priced options winch were treated as the award of a free share The fair value of nil-priced
opteons granted during the year was measured on the basis of the market price of the Company s shares on the date of grant discounted for expected
dmidends which would not be recerved over the vesting penod of the options
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The Monte-Carlo stmulation model reflected the histoncal volatiities of the Company's share pnce and those of afl other compamies to which the
Company s perfarmance would be compared, over a period equal to the vestng period of the awards

Expected valatility was determuned by calaulaung the lustoneal volatiity of the Company s share pnce over a penod equal to the expected ife of the
oplions Expected ife was based on the contractual life of the awards and adjusted based on management s best estmate for the effects of exerase
restnctions and behawvioural considerations

(1) Sharesave Scheme

The weighted average far value of equity-settied share awards granted dunng the year under the Sharesave Scheme as esumated at the date of grant
was £146 (2014 E183) Thts was calculated using the Black-Scholes share aption pnang model

The following weighted average assumptions were used tin calculating these fair values

2015 204
Shara pnce £8 82 EB 70
Exerose prce £708 £E6 B2
Expected volaulity 20% 2%
Expected 4fe 4Qvyears 40yeass
Experted dmdends 35% 33%
Risk-free interest rate 15% t 2%

(n) Senior management $chemes

The weighted average fair value of equity-settled share awards granted duning the year under the Senior Management Schermes as estimated at the date of
grant was £693 (2014 £6 62) The far value of awards wath market-based performance condiions was calculated using a Monte-Carlo ssmulation model
Awards granted as rul-priced optians were treated as the award of a frea share Far all other awards fair value was cafculated using the Black Schotes
share option pricing model \

The following weighted average assumptions were used in calculating these fair values

vodar ¥3ens
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2015 2014
Share price [3:3:1] £E828
Exercise price £000 £000
Expected volatibity, 9% 19% ..
Expected Iife 30years 2iyears
Expected dvidends 35% 3%
Risk-free interest rate - 14% 0 4%
26 Shareholders’ equity
2015 2014
Em £m
Share capital 860 781
Share prermum 2704 1437
ESOP reserve (125) €145)
Hedging reserve 62 (20)
Avatable-for-sale reserve [0 455
Other reserves 120 ASS
Retaned earmings (455) (89)
3165 1072

Purchase of own equity shares for cancellation

Dunng the pnor year at the Company s AGM on 22 November 2003 the Company was granted authonty to return £500 milllon of caputal to shareholders.
wa a share buy-back programme This authonty was subject to an agreement between the Company and 21st Century Fox Inc (and others) dated 25 July
2013 whereby following any market purchases of shares by the Comparny 21st Century Fox Inc. would sellte the Company sufficient shares to maintam
its percentage shareholding at the same level as applied prior to those market purchases The price payable to 215t Century Fox, ing would be the pnce
payable by the Company in respect of the relevant market purchases (the 2013 Share Buy-back Agreement )

At the Company s AGM on 1 Novermnber 2012 the Company was granted the authonty to return ESQ0 mdlon of capital o shareholders via a share buy-back
programme This authonity was subject to an agreement. betwaen the Company and 215t Century Fox Inc (and others) dated 28 July 2012 on substantially
the same terms as the 2013 Share Buy-back Agreement
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26 Shareholders’ equity (continued)

Tha followang table pramdes information about purchases of equity shares by the company induding purchases by the Group 5 £5QP
dunng the fiscal year

Total Average

number of phce pad

shares pershare

- - - - - ==« =w—purchased - - €

Juty - -
August - -
September 1325800 BB&
October - -
Novemnber
December -
January -
February
March - -
Aprit - -
May - -
June -
Total for the year ended 30 June 2015 3,325 800 B A6

1 Allshace purchases were apen market transacnons and aresnduded in the month of settiement.

Share premium and special reserve

©On 10 December 2003 the High Court approved a reduction in the Company s share premium account of £1120 mill:on as approved by the Companys
shareholders at the AGM held on 14 November 2003 This amount was equal £o the Company-onty profit and loss account reserve defiait at 30 June 2003
As par of the apphcation the Comparny s balance sheet at 30 September 2003 was required to be presented At thatdate the defiat onthe Comparry-
only profit and Joss account reserve had reduced by E14 millon since 30 June 2003 to £1106 mitkon As a condition of the reduction the reduction in the
share premium account of £1120 millon was permitted to be offset against the profit and loss account reserve by the amount of the defict at !
30 September 2003 The excess of £14 million was credited to a spetial reserve which s included (n other reserves and under the terms of the reduction !

ESOP reserve ’

The cost of the Company’s ordinary shares held by the Group s ESOP i treated as a deduction in arnving at total shareholders eqguity The movernent
n the ESOP reserve was as follows

Number of Average ‘

ordinary pnce pad

shares per share Em
ALY July 20013 205274323 £E715 47
Share aptions exercised during the year (22752935) E727 (166)
Shares purchased by the ESOP dunng the year 196348N ES 40 164
At 30 June 2004 17,308 999 £8 40 145
Shara options exertised during the year (3829019) EB 39 32)
Shares purchased by the ESOP dunng the year 1325800 EB B6 12
At 30 June 2015 14 805780 £8 44 125

Hedging reserve

Changes in the farr values of derwatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are initially recegrused in the hedging reserve, and subsequently
recogrised In the income statement when the related hedged items are recognised in the iIncome statement Inaddition deferred taxaton relating
to these denvatives 1s also mitally recognised in the hedging reserve prior to transfer o the income statement

Avatlable-for-sale reserve

Available-for-sale investments are carned at fair value where this can be reliably measured with movements in the fair value recognised directly
mthe avalable-for-sale reserve At 30 June 2015 the Group s avarlable-for-sale reserve was a deficst of E1million (2014 reserve of E455 million)

Other reserves
The Groups other raserves indude a capital redemptian reserve a merger reserve, a foreign currency translatson reserve and a special reserve The capital
redemption reserve was £190 million as at 30 June 2015 (2014 £190 miltion) The merger reserve was £125 milhon as at 30 June 2015 (2014 £222 million)

The speaidl reserve was £14 milion as at 30 June 2015 (2014 £14 mullion) The fareign currency translation reserve was £(209) million as at 30 June 2015
(2014 £29 mullion)

122 Skyplc




Annual Raport 2015

Merger reserve

Rnanoal statements

The merger reserve was treated in accordance with the merger relief provisions under secuon 131 of the Comparnies Act 1985 (as amended) and secton
612 of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the accounting for business combinations involving the issue of shares at a premium Merger retief prowded
relief from the requirement to create a share premium account in a parent company s balance sheet In prepaning consokdated financial statements

the amount by which the fair value of the shares rssued exceeded ther nominal value was recorded wathin a mergerreserve on consolidation rather than
m a share premium account This merger reserve was retamed upon transttion to IFRS as allowed under UK law

The merger reserve which s induded in other reserves was created as aresult of the purchase by the Group of interests in two entities SIG was

purchased on 12 July 2000 where consderationwas paid by the i1ssue of equity shares in the Company BiB was purthased between 28 June 2001 and
1 November 2002 where consideration was pawd by the issue of equity shares in the Company Following the Groups disposal of a controlling staka n
Sky Bet, the merger reserve in relation to the purchase of SIG has been transferred to retamed eamings At 30 June 2015 the Group S merger reserve

was E125 mdlion (2014 £222 miilon)

27 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations

vodo xdxeng

25 204
Em Em
Continuing operations
Profit before tax 1516 1025
Depreciation impairment and losses (profits) on disposal of property plant and equipment 297 204
Amorusaton impatrment and losses (profits) on disposal of intangible assets 469 228
Share-based payment expense N 60
Net finance costs 275 N4
Prefit on cisposal of avalaple-for-sale investments (492) -
Prefit on disposal of assocate (299) -
Share of results of joint ventures and assocates (28) (£5))
1829 1596
Decrease (mcrease) in trade and other recevables 1 (28)
Decrease in inventories 568 -
(Decrease) ncrease in trad2 and other payables (367) V72
Increase {decrease) In provisions o5 (4B)
(Decrease) Increase in dervative financal Instruments 0e) 4
Cash generated from operations 2080 1696
28 Contracted commitments, contingencies and guarantees
a) Future minimum expenditure contracted for but not recogntsed in the financial statements
Between Total at Total at
Lass than1 landS AfterS 30 June 30 June
year years years 2015 2014
£m £m Em Em Em
Television programme nghts 2936 8233 366 Nn535 4401
Set-top boxes and related equipment 305 - - 305 180
Thurd-party payments' 164 204 - 368 15
Transponder capaaty? 146 683 334 1163 518
Property plant and equipment. 1o 12 - 122 36
Intangible assets? 49 53 9 151 104
Smartcards® 55 187 30 272 78
Other S09 546 144 ns9 521
4274 9,958 883 15115 5,094

Foreugn currency commitments are translated to pounds sterling at the rate prevaling on Lthe balance sheet date
The third-party plyment commitments are inrespect of detnbution agreements for the telewsion channels owned and broadcast by therd parties retaded by the Group to reLai

and commeraal subscribers { Sky Distabuted Chanrels )

2 Transponder capacily COMMItMEnts are nirespect of the satelhtes that the Group uses for digital transmissions 1o bath retail subsinbers and cable operators
3 Commuiments i relation to the prevision of smartcards Smartcards under development ae included waithinintangible assets The amounts included above are the expected

ongoing smarteard costs based on foracast customer levels
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28 Contracted commitments, contingencies and guarantees (continued)

b) Cantingencies and guarantees

Certain subsidianes of the Company have agreed to provide additional funding to several of their nvestments in iimited and unlimited companies
and partnerships tn accordance with funding agreements Payment of this additional funding would be required ifrequested by the investees in
accordance with the funding agreements The maximum potental amount of future payments which may be required to be made by the subsidianes
of the Company to therr nvestments in both kmited and unimited companies and partnerships under the undertakings and additional funding
agreements 15 £8 milhon {20014 £17 mudlion)

The Group has guarantees in place relating to the G;oups borrowangs see note 22 For an overview of the ongmnglnves-tl-gatl-ons and reviews of
regulatory and compenition matters invelving the Group refer ta the Regulatory matters sectton in the Strategi report

29 Operating lease commitments
The minimum lease rentals to be paid under non-cancellable operating leases at 20 June are as follows

2015 2014

Em Em

Within one year 65 47
Between one and five years 155 n7
After five years 190 i3
. 410 197

The majority of cperating leases relate to property The rents payable under these leases are subject to renegolration at the vanous intervals
specified in the leases

The minimum sub-lease rentals to be received under non-cancellable cperating sub-leases at 30 June are as follows

2015 2014

£m Em

Within one year 2 1
2 1

Sub-lease rentals primanly relate to property leases

30 Transactions with related parties and major shareholders

a) Entities with joint contral or significant influence

Dunng the year the Group conducted business transactions with comparues that Form part of the 21st Century Fax 1n¢ group a major shareholder inthe
Company

Transacticns with related partes and amounts gutstanding in relation to those transactions and with related parties at 30 June 2re as follows

2015 2014

fm Em

Supply of goods or services by the Group 45 a2
Purchases of goods or serwces by the Greup (275) 27y

Amounts owed 1o the Group 25 5
Amaunts owed by the Group (180 (134)

At 30 June 2015 the Group had expenditure commitments of 590 mullon in relation to transactions with related parbes (2014 £99 milllon)which
principally related to mirmimum television programming rghts commtments

Goods and services supphed
During the year the Group supplied programming arume transmission and marketing services to 215t Century Fox Inc companies
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Purchases of goods and services and certain other relationships
During the year the Group purchased programming and technicat and marketing senaces from 215t Century Fox Inc companies

©n 25 July 2014 the Company announced the placng of 156132, 213 new ordinary shares representing approximatety 9 99% of exsting ssued share capital
(see note 25) 215t Century Fox Inc subscribed For 61106 496 of these shares 50 as to MainNtam its exisung percentage shareholding in the Company
following the placing

On 12 November 2014 the Group acquired 100% of Sky Italia SA and 57 4% of Sky Deutschland AG from 21st Century Fox Inc For further detals see nate
31 Inaddition the Group repard the loan that Sky Deutschiand AG had outstanding with 21st Century Fox inc of £105 milben in connection with this
Sky disposed of its 21% stake in the National Geographic channel to 21st Century Fox inc on the same date For further details seenote&

On12 June 2015 Skyincreased 1ts shareholding m Tour Racing Limited {Team Sky ) as a consequence of the transfer to Sky of a 25% shareholdmg from
215t Century Fox Inc. The shares were purchased for £25 being thesr par value

There1s an agreement between 21st Century Fox Inc and the Group pursuant to which it was agreed that for so long as 21st
Century Fox Inc directiy or indirectly holds aninterest of 30% or more in the Group 21st Century Fox Ine wifl not engage in the business
of satefite broadcasung in the UK or Iretand

Share buy-back programme
During the prior year, tha Company purchased and subsequently cancelled, 12140 SB6 ordinary shares held by 21st Certury Fox In¢ as part
of its share buy-back programme

b} Joint ventures and associates
Transactions between the Company and iLs subsidianes which are related parties have been eliminated on consoldation and are not disclosed
n this note Transactons between the Group and 1ts josnt ventures and associates are disclosed below

Transactions between the Company and 1ts subsichanes jont ventures and associates are disdosed in the Company s separate financial statements

015 2014

£m £m

Supply of services by the Group 26 19
Purchases of goods or services by the Group (55) (66)

Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates Lo the Group 839 8
Amounts owed to jont ventures and associates by the Group (16) L))

wodu 2Baens
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Services supphed are primarily the provision of transponder capauty marketing. airtime sales and support services Purchases represent fees payable
for channel carnage

Amounts owed by junt ventures and associates incudes E70 million (2014 E miflion) relating to loan funding Thus loan bears mterest at arate of 8 20%
(2014 one month LIBOR plus 1%) The maximum amount of loan funding outstanding i total from jont ventures and associates dunng the year was
€70 mithon (2014 E£1 milion)

The Group took out a number of forward exchange contracts wath counterparty banks dunng the year on behalf of the jont venture AETN UK
Onthe same dates as these forward contracts were entered into the Group entered into equal and opposite contracts with AETN UK in respect
of these faorward contracts

Consequently the Group was not exposed to any of the net gams or losses on these forward contracts The face value of forward exchange contracts
wath AETN UK that had not matured as at 30 Juae 2015 was £12 mibon (2014 E4 midton)}

Dunng the year US$2 milkon (2014 US$4 mulhior) was paid to the point venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts and US$mil (2014 lgss than
US$1 million) was recaved from the joint venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts

Dunng theyear £1 mdiion (20014 E3milion) was receved from the joint venture upon matunty of forward exchange contracts and E3 milion
(2014 £5 million) was paid to the punt venture upon matunty of forward exchange contracts

During the year €3 milion (2014 €5 million) was receved from the joint venture upon matunty of forward exchange contracts and €nd (2074 less than
€1 million) was paid to the joint venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts

At 30 June 2015 the Group had minsmum expenditure commitments of £1 mdlion (2014 £3 mill:on) wath its pont ventures arkd associates

<) Other transactions with related parties

The Group has engaged in a number of transactions with compartes of which some of the Company’s Directors are also directors These do not meet
the defintion of related-party transactions

d) Key management
The Group has a related-party relatronship with the Directors of the Company AL 30 June 2015 there were 14 (2014 15) members of key
management all of whom were Directors of the Company Key management compensation s disciosed in note 8b
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31 Acquisition of subsidiaries

a) Sky Deutschiand

On 12 November 2014 the Group acquired 89 05% of Lhe 1ssued share capital of Sky Deutschland AG obtamnung eontrel of Sky Deutschiand with
8745% acquired through the offer process and the balance acqurred subsequent to the dlose of the offer acceptance perod on 3 November 2014
Sky Deutschland operates a pay TV business in Germary and Austna Sky Deutschland was acquired to take advantage of growth opportunities,
benefits of scale and synergy potential

The arnounts recogmsed in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and habilitres assumed are set out i the table below

Recogrused
fairvalues
£m
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and habdiues assumed
Intangble assets 1874
Property plant and equipment 170
Deferred tax assets 609
Derrvatve financral assets 3
Inventones 344
Trade and other recervables 73
Cash and cash equivalents m
Trade and other payables (627)
Deferred taxiabdities (494)
Derwatrve financial habihties [€)]
Provisions (13)
Barrowings {312)
1743
Non-controling interest (1o
Goodwll 2848
4400
Satisfied by
Cash 4323
- = o e Fair value of previously held interest: 77,
Total consideration transferred 4 400
Net cash outflow arising an purchase
Cash considgration 4323
Less cash and cash equivalents acquired n
Net cash outflow ansing on purchase 4212

The fair valug of the finanaial assets acquired includes trade recevables with a fair value of £45 milion and a gross contractual value of £108 million
‘The best estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash Flows not ikely to be collected was £63 million

Goodwill of £2 848 million ansing from the acquisition reflects growth oppartunities and buyer-specific synergies None of the goodwill recognisedis
expected tobe deductible for income tax purposes

The value of the non-controfling interest in $ky Deutschland was estimated by catculating the non-controling nterest s share of net idenufiable assets
at the acquisibon date At 30 June 2015 the Group held 96 13% of the Issued share capital of Sky Deutschland AG

from the close of the offer acceptance pened on 3 November 2014 and prior to obtaining control of Sky Deutschland the Group acquired a1 6% equity
\nvestment with a carrying vatue of £72 milion The Group recognised a gan of £5 million wathun prefit on disposal of available-for-sale rvestments as a
rasult of measunng this investment to fawr value as at the date of the acquisition

Deferred tax assets and habhinies which are shown separately above have been of fset where appropriate on the balance sheet

Acquisiion related costs for the purchase of both Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia {see below) comprised adwsory and transacuen fees induding inter
ata financial adwisory costs corporate legat advice due diigence reporung assurance services and tax advice of £50 milion within operating expense,
and finance casts of ES7 milion incurred in connection with £6 6 bithon of firm underwritten debt facikties and other associated transaction costs

Far the period between the date of purchase and 30 June 2015 the acquisition contnibuted ES66 milhon to the Groups revenue and a £22 mihon loss
to the Group s operating profit If the Group had completed the purchase on the first day of the financial year itis estimated that the acquisition would
have contributed E1377 million to Group revenue and an EN milion 1oss to the Group s operating profit for the year
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0On12 November 2014 the Group acquired 100% of the issued shara ¢apatal of Sky Itaka S obtairung control of Sky Itala Sky Itala operates a pay TV

business in Italy Sky Itaha was acquired to take advantage of growth opportunities benefits of scale and synergy potential
The amounts recogrused in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and hablities assumed are sat out In the table below

voduinens

DUBLBAGD

Recogrused
fairvalues
Em
Recogrused amounts af idenufiable assets acquired and hiabiities assumed
Intangble assets 1780
Property plant and equipment 360
Deferred tax assels n
Cerrvative financial assets 1
Inventores 600
Trade and other recevables 43
Current tax assets 13
Cash and cash equrvalents 5
Trade and other payables (1092)
Deferred tax iatiities {403)
Current tax habiltses {2
Provisions (50
1,714
Goodwll 752
2 456
Satisfied by
Cash 2056
Disposal of investmentin associate 410
Total constderation transferred 2466
Net cash outflow ansing on purchase
Cash consideration 2056
Less cash and cash equivalents acguired (5)—
Net cash outflow arising on purchase 2065

The farr value of the financial assets acquired includes trade receivables with a far value of £305 milhon and a gross contractual value of £394 meltion

The best estimate at acguisition date of the contractual cash flows nat likely to be cotlected was E89 million

Goodwill of £752 rmullion ansing from the acquisition reflects growth opportunities and buyer-specific synergies Nene of the goodwill recognised 15

expected to be deductble forincome tax purpasas
Deferred tax assets and labilibies which are shown separately above have been offset where approprtate on the balance sheet

For the penod between the date of purchase and 30 June 2015, the acquision contributed £1297 milhon to the Groups revenue and E25 mulhion to the
Groups operabing profit IF the Group had completed the purchase on the first day of the financial year it 1s estimated that the acquisitian would have

contributed €2 086 mihon to Group revenue and £61 million to the Group s operating profit for the year
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(continued)

32 Group investments

The Group and 1ts subsidiaries are involved in the operation of pay television broadcasting and home communications services induding the prowsion
of broadband and telephone operations Certain subsidiary companies provide ancilary functions wheeh support these operabons Joint ventures and
associates are imvolved in the transmission of specialist channels and online betting actmities

Unless otherwise indicated afl share holdings owned drrectly or indirectly by the Group represent 100% of issued share capital of the subsidiary
All entities primanly operate in their country of incorparatian

Desernipuion and Bescnpticn and
Name proportion of shares held (%) Name proporion of shares held (%)
Sky Group Limited 1ominary share of £1
Subsidaries Sky Healthcare Scheme 2 Lmited 2 ordinary shares of £1 each
Direct holdings of the Company Sky History Limited 2 orchinary shares of £1 each
Sky Holdings Limited 600 orchinary shares of £1each

Incorporated in the UK

Sky Home Communications Limited 9528 124 ordinary shares of E1 each

British Sky Broadcastng Group
Umited

1ordinary share of £1

Sky In-Home Service Limited

1576 D00 ardinary shares of £1each

Sky Internauonal Limited 1ordinary share of £1
Picnic Limited 2138 erdinary shares of El each Sky Intarnational Operations Limited 2540 916 167 ordinary shares of E1 cach
Sky Finance Europe Limited \ ordinary share of £1 Sky IP International Limited 300 ordmary shares of £1each
SkyGroup Finance pk 50000 ordinary shares of £1 each Sky IQ Lirmuted 100 ordinary shares of E1each
Sky Guarantee tnvestments Limited Mermbe-shup interest (100%) Sky LLU Assets Lirmited 90 erdinary shares of £1 ¢ach
Sky Operational Finance Limited 31440638 ordinary shares of £1each Sky Mobile Services Limited 1orhnary share of £1
Sky Television Limited 13 376 982 ordinary shares of £1 each Sky New Media Venture Linuted 2 orchnary shares of £1each
Sky UK Limated 10 002 002 ordinary shares of £1each Sky News Limited Jordinary share of €1

Incorporated in the Channel Islands

Sky Publications Limited

2 ardmary shares of £1 each

Sky Retad Stores Liruted

5001055 ordinary shames af E0 01 cach

Rainbow Finance (Jersey) Lmited

100 erdinery shares of £1
1000000 preference shargs
of E001 each

Sutrsidianes

Ingirect holdings of the Company

Incorporated in the UK

Sky SNA Limited

100 ordinary shares of £1each

Sky SNI Limited

100 erdinary shares of E1each

Sky SNI Operations Limited

200 ordinary shares of £1each

Sky Subscribérs Seraces Limited'

S ordinary shares of E1 each

Sky Telecommunications Limued

1000 ordinary shares of £1 each

Sky Telecommunications Services
Limited

5821764 ordinary shases of £1each

Sky Ventures umited

912 ordinary shares of £1each

365 Media Group Limited 172 orcinary shares of £001 each The Cloud Networks Limnuted 30583 988 ordinary shares of
Amstiad Uruted W30 ordinary shares of £010 each £000Q025 each

Briish Sky Broadcasung bimited  Jordmary share of €1 Tour Racing Limited” B85 osdinary shares of E1 each (85%)
Cied Bleu 6 Limited 51 BS0 ordinary shares of £001 each Virtuous Systems Limited 125 ordinary shares af Ei each

Cymru International Limited 2 ordinary shares of £1 each Znak Jones Productions Limited 1ardinary share of €1

Dolphin TV Limited 200 000 ordinary shares of £0 001 each

International Channel Pack 1 ordinary share of £1 Incorporated vn Germany

Bisterbution Limited BSkyB GmbH 2 ord.nary shares of €25 000 and €100
Kidsprog Limiteg 2 orgdinary shares of £1each Pramiere WIN Fernsehen GmbH 2 ordinary shares of €25 000 each
Love Productions Limited 7724 orcinary shares of £1 each (70%) SCAS Satelite CASarvices GmbH  1omdmary share of €25 000 each
MEMSTV Limited 10 ordinary shares of £1each Sky Deutschland AG 931114 937 ordinary shares of €1 each
Multicultural & Ethric Media Sales 144 ordinary shares of Eleach {96 13%)

Lirmited Sky Deutschland Customer 25000 ordinary shares of €1 each
Newserga Limited 100 ordinary shares of £l each Center GmbH

NOW TV plc 1 ordinary share of £1 Sky Deutschland Fernsehen Partnershp Interest (100%)
Parthenon 1 Limited 1 ordinary share of £1 GmbH & Co KG

Parthenon 2 Limited 2 ordinary shares of Eleach Sky Deutschland Service Center 1ordinary share of €25000
Parthenon Entertanment bmited 100 ordinary shares of E1 each GmbH

Parthenon Media Group Limited

2 ordinary shares of E1each

Sky Deutschland Verwaltungs GmbH 1ardinary share of €25000

Rwals Digital Meda mited 200 ordinary shares of £0 01 each Sky German Holdings GmbH? 26 000 ordinary shares of €} each
S ATV Publshung Limited 100 ordinary shares of El each Sky Hotel Entertainment GmbH 9 ardinary shares of €17500 €107700
Sky Channel Limited 1ordmary sham of £1 €50 000 €88 600 €6B000 €175700
Sky Comedy Uimited 2 ordinary shares of £1 each 17500 €105 000 and €70 000
Sky CP Limited 1 ordinary share of E1 Sky Med:a Netwock GmbH 2ordinary shares of £6025 and €18975
Sky Europe Limited 1 oncinary share of £1 Sky Osterreich Ferns;hen GmbH 12ord|nary shara of ::35000

The Cloud Networks Germany ordinary shares of £975000
Sky Glohal Media plc 1 ordinary share of E1 GmbH and £25000
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Description and Description and
Name propartion of shares held (%) Name prapertion of shares held (%)
incorporated in iLaly Jonx ventures and assoliates
Sky ltaha 5r Quota interest {100%)

Sky Italian Hokdings SpA 121000 ordinary shares of €1 each

Incorporated inthe UK

Sky ltalia Network Services Srl Quata interest {100%)

AETN UK 50 000 orginary shares of £1 each (50%)

Telepiu Sril Quota Interest (100%)

Incorporated inthe USA

Attheraces Hoichings Limitad? 1584 ordinary shares of £1gach
(48 35%)

20 recoupment shares af £001each

B5kyB US Heldings Inc? 100 ordinary shares of $0001 each

Bolt Pro Tem Limited 100 ordinary shares of £1 each (33 3%)

Callisto Media West LEC? Membership interest (100%)
Jupiter Entertasnment Holdings LLC! MemPership interest (60%)

Colossus Productions Limited® 2000 ordinary shares of £0 01 each

(20%)

Jupiter Entertanmment LLC? Membershup intarest ((Q0%)

DTV Services Limuted! 6000 ordnary shares of £1each (20%)

Jupiter Entertatnment North LLC?  Membership interest (100%)
Love Amencan Journeys LLC? Membership interest (100%)
Love Baking LLC? Membership Interest (100%)
Lova Productions USA Inc? 1000 ordinary shares of $1each
Love Sewing LLC? Membership interest (100%)

PhotoOps LLC! Membership interest (100%)

USA Love Development, LLC? Membership interest (100%)

Internet Matters (mited? Membership interest (25%)

Lovesport Productions Lmited?® 4399 ordinary shares aof Eleach
{4999%)

104 orchnary B shares of €001 each
(40%)

Cdeon and Sky Filmworks Limited? 2450 ordinary B shares of E1 each (50%)
Paramount UK Partnerships Partnership Interest {(25%)

Nickelodeon UK bintted®

Wild West Alaska LLC* Membership interest (100%)
ZITVLLC Membership interest (51%)

Incorporated in other overseas countnes

Acetrax AG (Switzerfand) 12 281326 ordinary shares of
CHF 0 (1 each

Sky Channel SA (Belgium) 1250 ordinary shares of €49 60 each

Sky International AG (Switzedand) 200000 ordinary shares of CHF 100
each

Sky Ireland Limited {Ireland) 1ordinary share of €1

Sky Manufactunng Services Limited 10 000 ordinary shares of HXD 100 each

{Hong Kong)

Sky Osterrech Verwaltung GmbH 1 ordinary share of €36 336

{Austria)

“The Cloud Networks Benmark APS  125C00 ordinary shares of DKK 100
{Denmark)y pach
The ¢loud Metworks Nordics AB 640 010 ordinary shares of SEK 100
{Sweden) each

Incorporated in the Channel 1slands
Cyan Blue Topco imited

200556 prginary A2 shares of EQ0 01
each (20 06%)

200 conungent value shares of £001
each

incorporated i the UAE
Sky News Arabia FZ-LLC

47 816 666 ordinary shares of $1 each
(50%)

Incorperated in Australia
Australian News Channel Pry Lursted { orduinacy share of AUDS1(33 3%)

VERtOr& 2009 Lirnited 50T nary shates of ETeh (G0%]

This entity has an accounting reference date of 1 January

These entities bave an accountng reference date of 31 December

Thesa entines have an Accounting reference date cf 31 march

This entity has an accounting reference date of 31 May

These enlities have an accounting reference date of 30 September

Tha registered address of Paramount UK Partnership 1s 17-19 Hawley Crescent
Camden Longon NWIBTT The Paramounrt UK Partrership 1s 2 joint venture of the
Group and 1s included within the consoldated accounts In actordance with Note
YeXn) Congequently the Parameunt UK Partnershp has taken advantage of the
exempuon within the Partnerships (Accountsy Regulatsons 2008 (regulation 7)
from filing annual financial statements

e W -

The following companis are exempt from the requiremarts retating to the audit of
ndnidual accounts for the year/penod ended 30 June I015 bywirtue of secuon

4794 of the Companies Act 2006 Kidsprog Lomited {02767224) Parthenon Medha Group
Limited (06944197) Prentc Limited (05348872) S A TV Publishing bemited (01085975)
Shy IP Internauonal Limited (07245844 Sky Operauonal Finance Limited (02906994)
and Sky Telewision Limited (01518707
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33 Events after the reporting pertod

As announced on 17 February 2015 Sky initiated the necessary steps for the transfer of the remaiing approximately 4% minority shareholdings m Sky
Deutschiand The requisite shareholder resolubion was subsequently approved by 99 4% of the votes cast at an Extraordinary General Meeting of Sky
Deutschland on 22 July 2015 and we expect the formal transfer of the minonty sharehaldings to be effectve in the second quarter of the 2015416 financial

year
34 Sky plc company only financial statements

Company Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes £m Em
Revenue 229 225
Operating expense N (44)
Qperating profit 132 181
Diadend income from subsidianes [o] S0 622
Inwvestmentincome B N 64
Finance costs B {201y (1))
Profit before tax C 572 786
Taxation D 24) (26}
Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 548 750
The CCOMPANYINg notes are an mtogral part of this income statement.
Company Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2015
W15 204
£m £m
——— ———Prafit for the year attnbutable to equity shareholder 548 750
Other comprehensivé incocme
Amounts recogrused directly in equity that may subsequently be recycled to the mcome statement
Gan (loss) oncash flow hedges 76 {79)
Tax on cash flow hedges (16} -]
60 4 (81
Amounts reclassified and reported in the income statement - A \ N
(Lossy gan on cash flow hedges m3) ° 7
Tax on cash flow hedges 23 Ry
(g0) +» 78
Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year {net of tax) {(30) 14
Total comprehenswve income for the year attnbutable to equity shareholders 518 764

All results relate to continuing operations
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Company Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2015
2015 2014
blgres. £m £m
Non-¢urrent assets
Imvestments in subsidianes E a7 8146
Cther recevables G 6 2
Cervauve financial assets J 358 175
Deferred tax assets F 1 -
5882 8323 é\
Current assets A3
Gther recenvables G 7859 3008 &
Cash and cash equivalents - 1 §
Dervative financial assets J 55 -
7914 3009
Totalassets 17786 1 332
Current hakbslites
Other payables | 3479 3613
Denvative financialiabiities J 35 -
3534 3613
Non-current lkabifities
Borrowings H 6723 1557
Dervative financial habities J 74 156
Deferred tax habilities F - 4
6797 1717
Total habilities 10 331 5330
Shara capitat L 880 781
Share premium L 2704 1437 -
Reserves 390 3784 F
Yotal equity attnbutable to equity shareholdars N - 7465 6002 | _ _5
Total habilities and shareholders equity 17796 1332 £
companying notes are an integral part of this balance sheet %
inancial statements of Sky ple, registered numl g
Were signed onits bahalf by
Group ChiefFinancial Officer
g
-
g
5
o
g
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34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

Company Cash Flow Statement
far the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes £m Em
Cash flows from operaung actmties
Cash generated from aperations M -- z
Net cash from operating activities - -
Cash flows from fimancing actvities
Proceeds fram the exertise of share options 10 n
Loan to subsidhanes {iny 1))
Net cash {used in) from financing activitias {1} 1
Net (decreasc) tncrease in cash and cash equavalents (U] 1
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year - 1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this cash flow statement
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 30 June 2015

Finanaal statements

Capital Total
Share Share Speoal redemption  Capital ESOP  Hedging Retaned Sharehoiders
capal premum  reserve reserve  reserve  fRSEMVe  [ESRMVE  eamings equity
£m Em £Em Em Em £Em Em Em £m
At1July2014 797 1437 14 74 . 844 (147 {13) 3013 6125
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 730 750
Recegnition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - - - - 18 - 18
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - - - - {4) - @)
TJotal comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - 14 750 764
Share-based payment - - - - - - (95) (93)
Share puy-back programme
- Purchase of own shares for cancellation 415)] - - 1% - - - (2503 (2500
- Financial hatality for close persod
purchases - - - . - - - (59) (59)
Dmrdends - - - - - - - (485) (485)
At 30 June 2014 781 1437 14 190 844 {145y 1 2 880 6002
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 548 548
Recagrution and transfer of ¢ash flow hedges - - - - - - 37 - (3N
Tax onitems taken directly to equity - - - - - - 7 - 7
Tatal comprehensive income for the year - - - - - - (30) 548 518
Share-based payment - - - - - 20 - 69 89
Reversal of finanaal kability for close - - - - - - - 58 59
penod purchases
Issue of own equity shares 79 1267 - - - - - - 1346
Drdends - - - - - - - (549) (549)
At 30 June 2015 B60O 2,704 14 190 Ba4 {125) (29) 3007 7465

For a descnption of the nature and purpose of each equity reserve seenote L

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement of changes 1n equity

A Accounting policies

Sky ple (the Company’) 1s a pubilic kmited company incorporated in the Urited Kingdom and registered in England and Wales

1) Basis of preparation

The Company financal statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS consistent with the accounting pohoes set out In note 1 of the

Group s consolidated financial statements

u) Revenue

Revenue which excludes value added tax represents the grassinflow of economic benefit from the Company s operatng acuwities
Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the consideration recerved or recewable The Company s mam source of revenue 1s from licensing
the Company s brand name asset to subsidianes This revenue Is recognised on an accruals basis under the terms of relevant licensing agreements

) Investment in subsidiaries

Anirwestment in a subsidiary I1s recognised at cost less any provision forimpairment As permetted by section 133 of the Compames Act 2006
where the relief afforded under section 131 of the Comparies Act 2006 applies cost is the aggregate of the nominal value of the relevant number
of the Company's shares and the far value of any other consideration given to acguire the share capital of the subadiary undertakings
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34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

B Investment income and finance costs

2015 2014
£m £m

Investment income
Investment income from subsicianes 130 64
interest on other loans and recevables with retated partses 1

131 64
2015 2014
Em Em
Finance costs
- Interest payable and surlar charges
Factity refated costs (33 (2
Guaranteed Notes (see note H) (168) (GlY)]
{201) (82)
- Other finance Income (expense)
Remeasurement of borrowings and borrowngs-related denvatve finanaial iInstruments (not qualfying for hedge accounting) a62 -
Foraign exchange loss arising onloan with subsidianes (4652) -
Loss ansing on dervatives in a designated far value hedge accounting relationship ) (19} a)
Gain ansing on adjustment for hedged item in a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship 18 15
- 1
{201) (81

Finance costs wclude ESD mulhon tncurred in connection with £6 5 lion of frm underwnitten debt facilities and other assoqiated transaction costs
relating to the purchase of Sky Deutschiand and Sky ltalia These faciities including the previous RCF have been repaid or cancelled dunng the penod with
the exception of the £1 bdlion revohlving credit facibity {(RCF) whaich remains undrawn

C Profitbefore taxation

Employee benefits
The Company had nd employees (2014 rul) dunng the year

Key managemaent compensation
Amounts paud to the Directors of the Company are dhisclosed in the Report on Directors remuneration on pages 51to 69

D Taxation
1) Taxation recognised in the ncome statement

2015 2014
Em £Em
Current tax expense
Corrent year 2 3z
Total current tax charge 22 37
Deferred tax expense
Cnginaton and reversal of temporary differences 2 ()
Total defarred tax charge {credit) 2 (U]
Taxation 24 36
1) Deferred tax recognised directly wn equity
2015 2014
Em £m
Deferred tax (credit) charge on hadging actvities (7 4

m)Reconcihation of effectivae tax rate
The tax expense for the yoar 1s lower (2014 lower) than the expense that would have been charged using the blended rate of corporation tax in the UK

(20 75%) apphed o profit before tax The applicable enacted or substantively enacted effective rate of UX corporation tax for the year was 20 75% (2014
22 5%) The differences are explained overieaf
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g
2015 2014
£m Em
Profit before tax 572 786
Profit before tax multiplied by blended rate of corporation tax n the UK of 20 75% (2014 225%) 1ng 177
Effects of
Nen-taxable income (1086) (140)
Hon-deductible expenditure _ . " -
Tax rate change - n
Taxation 24 36
All taxation relates to UK corporation tax g
E Investments in subsichanes %
Em
Cost
AL July 2003 9148
Additions 3
At 30 June 2014 2151
Additions 137
At 30 June 2015 10522
Provision
At 1 July 2013 30 June 2014 and 30 Juoe 2015 (1005)
Carrying amounts
ALY Juby 2013 8143
AL 30 June 2004 8146
At 30 June 2015 8517
See note 32 for a list of the Company s investments
o
F Deferred tax g
Recogrised deferred tax assets (liabihttes) é_
'K{I'
Financial &
nstruments g
temporary 5
¢ifferences @
£m
At1July 2013 [4)]
Credst to mcame 1
Charge to equity @)
At 30 June 2014 4
Charge t¢ ncome (3]
Credit to equity 7
At 30 June 2015 1
At 30 June 2015 a deferred tax asset of £244 million (2014 £244 millon) has not been recognised in respect of caprtal losses related to the Groups
holding in KirchPayTV on the bass that utilisation of these temporary differences 1s not proba’le At 30 June 2015 tha Company has also not recognised a
deferred tax assat of £1milion (2014 £5 millon) relating to capitallosses and provisions in respect of Football dub investments on the basis that it is not
probable that they will be utdised n
G Other receivables g
2015 2014 2
£m Em 3-
Amounts recervable from subsichanes 7859 3008 3
Current other recewables 7859 3008 =4
Non-gurrent prepayment 6 2 5
Total other receivables 7865 3010

On1Apr) 2005 the Company made a loan af €600 milion to Sky Operational Finance Limited This loan bears interest at, 3 month EURIBOR phus O 75% and

1s repayable on demand

On 27 Novemmber 2014 the Company made aloan of £400 muillion to Sky Operational Finance Lumited This loan bears interest at 2 750% and 15 repayable

ondemand
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34 Sky plc company only financial statements {continued)

COn 24 November 2014 the Cornpany made loans of E200 milion £450 milion €850 muthon and E126 aullion to Sky Operaional Finance Umited These
loans bear interest at arate of 4 000% LIBOR plus 1 2296% 1875% and 2 940% respectively and are repayable on demand

On 16 September 2014 the Company made loans of €369 million and €582 million to Sky Operattanal Finance Limited These loans bear interest at 21867%
and ELRIBOR plus 0 6563% respectively and are repayable on demand

On 15 September 2014 the Company made loans of €1 500 milion and €1000 milhan to Sky Operational Finante Limsted These loans bear interest at
1500% and 2 500% respectively and are repayable on demand

On 26 November 2012 the Company issued US$800 mill:ion Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 3125% and loaned proceeds to Sky Operauonal
Finange Limited Sky Operational Finance Limited pays the same annual effective interest rate to the Company

00 24 Novembes 2008 the Company issued US$600 midhon Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 9 500% and loaned the proceeds to Sky Operational
Finance Limited Sky Operational Finance Limited pays the same annual effective interest rate to the Company

On 15 February 2008 the Campany issued US$750 milhon Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 6100% and loaned the proceeds to Sky UK Limited
Sky UK Limuted pays the same annual effective interest rate to the Company

All other amounts receivable from subsidiaries are non-interest beanng and are also repayable on demand
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of other recesvables approxmates their far values

The Company s credit risk 15 primanly attabutable to its other receivables The majenty of its other recervables balance 1s due from Sky Operateonal
Finance Limited and Sky UK Limited The nsk of these entities defaulung on amounts owed 1s considered low due to Sky Operational Finance Umited being
a conduit to pass through intercompany finanang and due to Sky UK Limited s successful operation of pay telewvision breadcasting and home
communications services ih the UK and tretand

H Borrowings

2015 2014
Em £m
Non-current borrowings

US3$750 muthon of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2078 474 442
US$582 8 mullion of 9500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 372 353
US3750TMoN of 2 525% Guaranteed NofeSTEpayabl& i September 219 477 =
€600 million of Floating Rate Notes repayable in Aprif 2020 425 -
£450 milhon of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2020 445 -
€1500 mullion of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayabie in September 2021 1058 -
US$B800 rmithon of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 504 466
€850 million of 1875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2023 602 -
U5%$1 250 mition of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 787 -
€1000 million of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2026 05 -
£300 milhan of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable n May 2027 296 296
£300 million of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayahle in November 2029 297 -
€400 milhon of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 28t -
6723 1557

At 30 June 2015 the Company had in issue the following Guaranteed Notes
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates

Hedged
Value Fixed floatng
Em Em £m Fixed Foatng
U5$750 miban of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 g7 290 97 6829% &m LIBOR +1 892%
US$582 B milhon of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 389 260 129 7091% 6m UBOR +5542%
£450 million of 2 B75% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2020 450 - 450 - 3mLIBOR +1 230%
U53800 mikon of 3 125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 503 503 - 3226% -
£ 300 milhon of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 300 300 - 6 000% -
£300 million of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 200 200 - 4 000% -
2229 1,553 676
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Interest Rate Hedgng Hedged Intergst Rates
Hedged
Value Fuoed FAoating
£m £ £m Fixed Foaung
US5750 mihion of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2019 581 - 581 - 3m EURIBOR +0 656%
€600 mdhon of Floating Rate Notes repayable in April 2020 600 - 600 - 3mEURBOR +0 750%
€1 500 midlon of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021 1500 1500 - 1500% _ -
€850 mition 6f 1 B75% Guaranteed Notes repayable m Novermter 2023 850 850 - 1875% T
US$1250 milhon of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 969 969 - 2187% -
€1000 milign of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2025 1000 1000 - 2500% -
E300 metion of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 126 125 - 2943% -
€400 million of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 400 400 - 2750% -
5026 4 845 1181
Seenote 24 for detals of Capital Risk Management and note 22 for details of the Company s Guaranteed Notes in the pnor year
| Other payables
2018 201
£m Em
Other payables
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 3394 3536
Amounts owed to ather refated parties - 23
Qther - 36
Accruals 85 18
3479 3613

Amounts payable to subsidianes are non-interest bearning and repayable on demand The balance cornpnses £2164 millon of non-interest beanng
toans (2014 £2164 milion) and €1230 million of other payables (2014 £1372 milhon) The Directors consider that the tarrying amount of other payables

approximates therr fair values

J Denvatives and other financial iInstruments

Farr values

Set out below 15 a companson of the carrying vatues and the esbmated fair values of the Company s financtal assets and financial habih ves
ac 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014

2015 2015 2014 2014
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
Em £m £m Em
Financial assets and habilities held orissued to finance the Company s oparations
Quoted bond debt (6723 (6903) (1557) (1740)
Dersvatve financial nstruments 284 284 19 18
Cther payables and recesvables 4380 4380 {605) (605).
The farr values of financial assets and financial hlabiities are determined as detaled innote 23 and all stems held at far value are classified
as Level 24n the far value hierarchy
Set out below are the dervative financial instruments entered inta by the Company to manage its interest rate and foreign exchange nsk
2015 2014
Asset Liabity Asset Liability
Fair Value Notional fairvValue Notonal Farr Value Notonal Fair Value Noucna!
Em Em £m £Em £Em Em Em £Em
Fair value hedges
Interast rate swaps 48 919 - - 51 452 - -
Cross-currency swaps 19 466 - - ~ - -~ -
Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps 88 1065 {12 503 45 290 (36) 503
Derwvatives not in a formal hedge relatuonstwp
Interest rate Swaps 14 336 4 596 k1] 574 (26) 4
Cross-CUMercy Swaps 244 2065 o3 10917 48 725 _{99) 1018
Totafl 413 481 (129) 2116 175 20M {156) 1835
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34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)
Note 23 provides further detais of the Group s dervatwve and other finanaal instruments
The maturty of the denvative financial enstrument s 15 shown Delow

2015 2014

Asset abhicy Asset Labdity

- - Em - - - Em - - -Em -~ -Em

In one year or less 55 (55) - -
Between one and two years - - EE] (33
Between two and five years 21 (34) 22 67
in more than five years 147 {40} 20 (56)
Total 413 (129) V75 (156)

K Financial nsk management

Interast rate and foreign exchange risk management

The Company manages its exposure Lo snterest rates and fareign cxchange mavements which anse from the Company s sources of finance by selectively
enterng Into dervative financial mstruments to manage its exposure The Company has also entered into dervative contracts on behalf of its
subsidiaries Sky Group Finance ple and Sky UK Limited and has back-to-back intercompany contracts

Foreign exchange nsk

The following analysis detads the Company s sensitivity to movements in pounds sterling against all currencies in which it has sigmificant transactions
The sensitvity analysis includes only outstanding foresgn currency denomenated financial instruments and adjusts therr translation at the period end
for a 25% change n foreign currency rates

A 25% strengthening in pounds sterling against the US dollar would have an adverse impact on profit of £13 million (2014 adversesrnpact of £16 million)
relating to non-cash movements in the valuaton of dervatives The same strengthening would have ar adverse impact ¢n other eguity of £39 millon
(2014 adverse impact of £21 mullion)

A 25% weakentng in pounds sterling aganst the US dollar would have a beneficial impact on profit of £21 million (2014 beneficial impact of £26 mullion)
relating to non-cash movements in the valuation of derivatves The same weakening would have a benefioal impact on other equity of £65 milton (2014
benefiaal impactof £36 million)

A25% suengthenrng; pounds sterling against the euro woukd have a beneficial impact on profit by E17 milion (2014 nif) relating to non-cash movements
in the valuations of dervatives

A 25% weakening in pounds sterling aganst the euro would have an adverse smpact on profit of £28 milion {2074 nil) relating to non-cash movements
i the valuation of denvatives
Interest rate nisk

The sensitivity analyses below have been datermimed based on the exposure to interest rates for both derwvatives and non-denvatve financal
instruments at the batance sheet date For floating rate habliues the analysis 1s prepared assuming the ameunt of hability cutstanding at the balance
sheel date was ocutstanding for the whole year

For each one hundred bas:s point nse or fall in nterest rates at 30 June 2015 and f all other vaniables were heid constant, the Company’s profit for the
year ended 30 June 2015 would decrease or ncrease by £18 milhon (2014 decrease orincrease by £3 milion} and other equity reserves would decrease
orincrease by E6 mdlion (2014 decrease orincrease by £1 million)

A one hundred basis pomnt nise of fallin interest rates represents a large but realistic movement which can easily be multiplied to give sensitmities
at different interest rates

The sensitiwty analyses provided are hypothetical only and shou!ld be used with caution as the impacts prowded are not necessanly indicatwe of the
actual impacts that would be expenenced because the effect of a change in a particular market vanable on Fair values or cash flows 15 calculated without
considenng Interrolationstups between the various market rates or mstigating actions that would be taken by the Company In addition the Companys
a¢ tual exposure to market rates changes as the Company s pertfobo of debl changes

The changes in valuations are esimates af the unpact of changes m market vanables and are not a prediction of future events or anticipated gamns
orlosses

Liquiehity sk

See note 24 for the Company s palicy on iquidity management

The following table analyses the Company $ non-dervative finanoal kabiities net settled interest rate swaps and gross settled currency swaps
and collars into relevant matunty groupings based on the remarung penod at the balance sheet date to the contractual matunty date

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and may therefore not reconale to the amounts disdosed on the
balance sheet for borrowings dervabive financial instruments and other payables
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Financial stataments
Between Between
Less than one and twoand Morethan
12months  twoyears fveyears fiveyears
£m Em Em £m
At 30 June 2015
Nen-derivative finanaal habilives
Bonds - USD 122 122 1572 1474
Bonds =GBP - — T T 43 43 129 1309
Bonds - EUR 57 55 395 2948
Other payables 3479 - - -
Net settled denvauves
Financial assets (22) {21 [€15] [©)
Gross settled dervatives
Cutflow 1058 4 1991 3147
tnflow (1083) Q66) (2192) (3147)
Between Between
Less than one and twoand Morethan
2months twoyears fiveyears fiveyears
£m £m £m Em
At 30 June 2014
Non-dervatwe financial labilities
Bonds - USD 74 74 962 5N
Bonds -~ GBP 18 18 54 444
Qther payables 3613 - - -
Net settled denvatives
Financial assets (135) as) 36) -
Gross settied denvatives
Outflow 63 62 930 560
Inflow {56) {56) {920) (521)
At 30 June 2015 the Company had an undrawn E1000 million RCF with a matunity date of 30 November 2020 See note 22 for further information
L. Notes to the Company statement of changes in equuty
For details of share capital share premium the special reserve the capital redemption reserve and the hedging reserve see notes 25 and 26
For details of dividends see note 11
Capital reserve
This reserve arose from the surplus on the transfer of rade and assets to a subsidary undertaking
M Reconabiation of prafit before tax to cash generated fiom operations
2015 20K
Em £m
Profit before tax 572 788
Dradend mcome (S10) (622)
Net finance costs 70 7
Increase in other recevables (32) [¢:0)]
Cash generated from operations - -
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Fnancal statemaents

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

{continued)

34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

N Contingent habilities and guarantees

The Company and certain of its subsidiznes have undertaken in the normal course of business to provide support to several of the Group s investments
in both imited and unbmited companies and partnerships to meet their habihiies as they fall due Several of these undertakings contain maximum
financial imits These undertakings have been given for at least one year from the date of the sigring of the UK statutory accounts of the related entity

A payment under these undertakings would be required nthe event of an investment being unable to pay its labiibes

The Company has provided parent company guarantees in respect of the vanous contracts entered into with the Premier League by Sky UK lmited -
covenng the 201314 to 2018N19 faotball seasons In cach case the guaranteg covers all payrnent oblgations now or «n the future cue owing or mcurred

by Sky UK Limited under the contracts and all labilities now or in the future ansing or incurred under the indemmity given to the Prermier League by Sky
UK Limited under the contracts

The Company has provided a parent company guarantee in respect of the contract entered into with Sky UK Limited and Stanhope plc inrelatonto
the construction of a new corporate headquarters at the Osterley Campus The guarantee covers all performance obligatilons and payment obligations
imposed on Sky UK Limuted under that contract

The Company has provided a back-to-back guarantee m favour of 21st Century Fox inc of up Lo half of the annuat payment obhgations of Sky Deutschland
Fermsehen GmbH & Co KG under the 2013117 Bundeshga agreement Ithas also prowvded back-to-back guarantees in favour of 21st Century Fox Inc in
relation to UEFA Champians League and other programming obligations of Sky Itaha 5e

The Company has prowided a parent company guarantee to SGH Stream Sub In¢ in respect of the obligations of Sky italan Holdings S p A underthe
Sky Itaha Srl Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 25 July 2014 The Company has atso provided a parent campany guarantee Lo 215t Century Fox Adelade
Holdings BV in respect of the obligations of $ky Garman Holdings GmbH under the Sky Deutschland AG Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 25 July 2014

The Company has guarantees in place relating to the Groups borrowings see note 22 and i relation to audit exemplions see note 32

O Transactions with relatad parties and major sharehelders

2005 204

Em Em

Supply of seraces to subsidianes 229 225

Interest recerved from funding to subsidianes 130 64

Interest on other loans and receivables with related parties 1 -

Amounts owed by subsidaries _ _ o 7855 3008
Amounts ewed to subsicharies (3394) (3536)
Amounts owed to other related partes - (23)

The Company has related-party transactions with its subsidianes by virtue of its status as parent company of the Group In particular it s normal
treasury practice for the Company to lend and borrow cash to and from nts subsidiaries as required Under this policy Sky UX Limited settied liabdities
of £130 mellion and €17 milion (2014 £83 milien and €nid) on behalf of the Company dunng the year Interest i1s earned on certan loans to subsicharies
The Company recognised £229 milkon (2014 £225 million) for kicensing the Sky brand name to subsidiaries The Compary recegaised dividends during
the year from subsichanes totaling E510 mition (2014 £622 rvllion)

Sharq buy-back programme

Duning the prior year the Company purchased and subsequently cancellad 12140 586 ordinary shares held by 21st Century Fox Inc as part

of its share buy-back programme

The Group s related-party transactions are disclosed o note 30

P Events after the reporting penod
For details see note 33 to the consalidated financial statemerits
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Finahcal statements
Unaudited supplemental information
Consclidated results
Below s selected finanaal mformation for the Group under IFRS as at and for each of the frve years ended 30 June
Year Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended ended
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2015 2014 2013 2012 20m
Consohdated Income Statement £m £m Em £m £m
Canunuing operations
Revenue' 9 949 7450 7082 6678 6 518
Operating expense? (o (6346) (5835 (5469) (5467}
Operating profit a72 1104 1,247 1209 1051
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 28 35 46 39 34
Investment ncame 8 26 28 18 ]
Finance costs (283) (140) aos) o) )
Profit on disposal of available-far-sale iInvestment 492 - - - 9
Profit on dsposal of assecate 299 - - - -
Profit before tax 1516 1025 1,213 1155 592
Taxation (184) (205) (267> (274) (250)
Profit for the year from continung operations 1332 820 946 B8 742
Discantinued operations
Profit for the year from disconuinued operations 620 45 33 25 68
Profit for the year 1,952 865 979 906 810
Profit for the year attnbutable to
Equity shareholders of the parent company 1657 865 o970 o906 a0
Non-controling interests 5 - - - -
Net (fass) profit recognised directly in equity {625) FE 129 &4 ®)
Total comprehensive mncome for the year 1,327 938 1108 970 Bo2
Earrungs per share from profit for the year (L0 pence)
Basic 15 8p 554p 607p 526p 465p
Diluted 114 4p 549p———587p 522p 459p e o
Dwidends per share (In pence) 328p 320p 300p 25 4p 233p
- 30 June 30 lune 30 June 30 June 30 June
2015 2014 2013 2012 20n
Consolidated Balance Sheet Em Em Em £m Em
Non-current assets 10799 3876 3776 3234 3025
Currant assets 4559 2573 2563 2375 238
Total assets 15358 65449 6345 5509 5354
Current habilities {4 204) (2 519) 2317) [2098) [Q=1Pa)
Noen-current liabilities (7930 {2858) (3016) (2467) (2407)
Net assets 3224 1072 1012 944 19035
Number of shares in 1ssue (in millions) 119 1563 1594 1674 1753
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Financlal statements

Group financial record
(contrnued)
Unaudited supplemental information

Consohdated results

Year Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended ended
30 June 30 June 30 Suna 30 June 30 Jure
2015 2014 2013 2012 201
Statsties (000} (000) (D00 {000 {000)
Products e e
UK & Ireland 38036 34775 ne3a 28 365 25375
Germany 7133 - - - -
Italy 4614 - - - -
Yotal pand-for subscription products 53783 34775 31,634 28 365 25375
Customers
UK & Ireland 12001 1495 nis3 10606 10294
Germany 4280 - - - -
ttaly 4725 - - - -
Retail customers 21006 11495 1153 10 606 10 294
UK & Ireland 4028 4041 3677 3672 3532
Germany 146 - - - -
Icaly - - - - -
Wholesate tustomers ¥ 4174 404) 3677 3672 3522
Total customers 2580 15536 14,830 14 278 13816
Churn
UK &lreland 9 8% 10 9% 107% 10 2% 10 4%
Germany 86% - - - -
ltaly 9 6% - - - -

1

Included withun revenué for tha yaar ended 30 June 2014 15 3 £15 miion credit recenved follawing the termunatian of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator

2__ Included withw operating expense for the year ended 30 June 2015 are costs of £50 mulion h relation to advisory and transacton faes meuried on the purchase of Sky Deutschland

and Sy ltaka costs of £105 mullion relating ta corporate restrctunng and efficency programmes costiof E10 milonrelatngto the integration of Sky Deutschiand and Sky halain
the enlarged Group and costs of £231 milkon refating to the amorisation of acquired Intangibles

Incuded withi operatmg expense For the year ended 30 June 2014 are costs of E49 milion relating to the integrat:on of the O2 consumer broddband and fixed-lne telephony
business costs of £40 mahon relating 1o a corporate restructunng and efficiency programme £2 mikon 25 a result of the termination of an escrow agresment with a current.
whalesate operator and £23 mihon relating to the amor{rsation of acquired intangidles

Included within aperating expanse for the year enced 30 June 2013 s a credic of £32 milion mn relation to a credit note receved foliowng an Ofcom determinatien a oredit of

£33 mullion retating to tha final settiement of AiSputes with a former manufacturer of set top boxes (net of assocated costy) costs of £31 milien relaung to one-off upgrade of

set topboxes costs of £33 milion relatng to » ¢orporate efficiency programme 2nd 0osts of E15midhon relating 1o the acquisition 3nd integration of the O2 consumer broadband and
fixed<ine telephony busmness Also ncuded are tosts of £25 milon relating to the programme Lo of fer wireiess Connectorns Lo selacted Sky MOVIES customers

Intludad within aperating expense for the year ended 30 Jure 201215 a credit of E3) mullion 0 refaton to the News Corporation (subsequently renamed 215t Century Fox. Inc } proposal
1 2011 consisting of costs ncusred offset by the recept of the break fee Also induded are restructunng costs of £11 mdlion which comprise severanca paymants m relacion o
approwmately 35 semor roles As Part of a restrycturing MILItNVE o Mprove operating effiaency

nduded within operating expense for the year ended 30 Juna 20115 £26 mibon of restructuning costs ars:ng on the acquisition of Lang TV which comprse prncpally redundancy
payments and tha early térmnation of 3 pre-acawsiton contract, £15 million of costs n relation tothe News Corparation (subsequently renamed 2ist Century Fox, Inc) proposal and a credit
of £41mdhon in relauion to the refurkd oFimport duty on set-top bares paid sut n pnoryears This duty was recovened due to the judgment gren by the ECJ on 14 Ao 2011

wholesale customars are customers who take a package from one of Sky s Wholasale Partners mnwhich they receive at least one pand for Sky channel

M2 Skyple
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Financal statemants

Factors which matenally affect the comparability of the selected financial data

Discontinued operations

During frscal 2015 the Group sold a controlling stake in its onhne beting and gamng business For further details see note 3 to the consohdated financial
statements

Durmg frscal 201 the Group sold its business-to-business telecommumecatens operatian Easynet, to LOC

Avallable-for-sale Investment
During fiscal 2015 the Group disposed of s remamning snvestment InITV For further details see note 5 to the consobdated financal statements

Dunng fiscal 2011 the Group dispased of its equity investment in Shine and recognised a profitof £9 miion

Business combirations and profit on disposal of assocate

Purng fiscal 2015 the Group completed the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky itaha For further detalls see note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements As part of the consideration for the purchase of Sky Itaha the Group disposed of its shareholding in the National Geagraphic channel For
further details see note 6 to the consohicdated financial statements

During fiscal 2013 the Group completed the acquisition of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-ine telephony business from Telefornca UK compnsing
100% of the share capitai of Be Un Limited The results of this acquisition were consolidated from the date on which control passed tothe Group
(20 Apnl 2013)

During fiscal 20N the Group completed the acquisittans of Living TV and The Cloud The results of these acquisitions were consohrdated from the date
on which control passed to the Group (12 July 2010 and 23 February 2017 respectively)

Exchange rates

Asigrificant portion of the Group s habihties and expenses assocated with the cost of programawng acquired from US film hcensors together with
set-top box costs are denominated in US dollars A significant portion of the Group s revenues and expenses associated with 115 operations in italy and
Germany & Austna are denominated n eures For a discussion of the wnpact of exchange rate movements on the Group s financal condmion ard results
of operations see note 24 to the consalidated financial statements
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Financalstatements

Non-GAAP measures

Unaudited supplemental information

Consolidated Income Statement - reconcihation of statutory and adjusted numbers

2015
Adjusted
{taly and
Excluding Germany &
———— . - Adpsting - — AdUStNg ~— -~ ALSENA w an o — o
Statutory ltems ttems pre-acquisibon  Like for Lke
Notes £m Em £m £m Em
Revenue
Subscription 8518 - B 518 1 9697
Transactional 153 - 153 20 173
Wholesale and syndication 543 - 541 9 850
Advertising 649 - 649 &7 716
Other 128 - 128 =] 147
59389 - 9569 1299 1283
Operating expense
Programming A (4172) 10 (4,162) (724) (4886}
Direct network costs (840) - (840) - (840)
Sales general and admimstration B (4005) 386 (3619 (538) {41573
(9017) 396 (8621 (1262) (5833)
(EBITDA 1738 163 1501 129 2030 |
Operating profiz 972 386 1368 32 1400
Share of results of junt ventures and associates pl:3 - 28
Imvestment mcome 8 - 8
Finance costs C (283) 75 (208)
Profit on disposal of avalable-for-sale investment [»] 4492 (492) -
Profit on disposal ofassoviate E 298 (229 -
Profit befure tax 1516 (320) 1196
Taxation F (184) ®N (251
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1332 (38D 945
Loss attnibutable to non-controling interests 5 (€)] 2
Profit from continuing operations attributable to equity shareholders of the
parent company 1337 (390) 947
{Earrungs per share (basic) 791p 231 560p |

Notas explanaton of adjusting tems for the year ended 30 June 2015
A Costsof E10 millon relating to corporate restructunng and efficiency programmes

8  Adwsory and transacuen fees induding nter alia Financial acvisory costs corporate legal adwice due diligence reporting assurance services and tax advice of £50 million ncurred
on the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha costs of £95 milion relating to corporate restructunng 2nd efficancy programmes (induding amortisation of £2 midbanin
relation to associated intangible assets) costs of £10 million relating to the mtegration of Sky Deutschtand and Sky italia in the enlarged Group and amortisation of acquired

intangible assets of £231 million

€ Finance casts of £57 mulion incured in connectionwith £6 8 bilhan of fum underwritten dabt facilives and other assocated transaction costs relating to the purchase of
Sky Deurschland and Sky Itaha and costs of £18 mullion relat:ng to the remeasurement of all dervative finanaal instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting and hedge

ineffecuveness

D Profit onthe sale of shareholding in ITV and gain on equity Interest i Sky Deutschiand held priorto the acquisition

E  Profit ondisposal of a shareholding of 21% in NGC Network International LLC and a shargholding of 21% in NGC Network Latin America liC

F  Tax effect of 2djusvng tems
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2014
Adjusted
ftaly and
Exdudings Germary &
Adjusting Adjusung Austna
Statutory Items tems fullyear Like for Like
Notes £m £m Em £m Em
Revenue
Subscnption 6278 - 6278 2994 9272
Transactional 86 - 86 56 142
Wholesale and syndication A 448 s} 433 -1} 524
Advertising ag7? - 4187 203 80
Other 151 - 151 (3) 148
7450 RE)! 7435 3341 D776
Operating expense
Programrung B (2657) 1 (2656) (R006) (4662)
Direct network costs c {B45) 79 (816) - (B16)
Sales general and admnistration o] (2B844) B4 2760) (1353) (4113)
{6 346) 14 (6232) (3359) (9591)
|eBrDA 1536 70 1606 242 1848 |
Cperating profi 1104 99 1203 (18) 1185
Share of resuits of joint ventures and associates 35 - 35
lvestment income 26 - 26
Finance costs E {140} 5 135
Profit before tax 1025 104 1125
Taxation F (205) (32} (237)
Profit far the year from continuing operations 820 72 B892
[Eamtngs per share (basic) 525p 46p 571p |

Nates explanationof adpsting items for the year ended 30 June 2014

A Revernueof [15mitlion relating Lo cred it received following temmination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale cperator
B8 Costsof £l mihon relaung to a corporate restructunng and ef ioency programme

€ Costsof £29 mihon relauing to the integratton of the O2 gonsurmner broadband and fixed line telephony buniness

D

Cost of £20 mullion relating 10 U 20GUSIUON 300 INTegraton of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-ine telephony business (nctuding amortrsation of £4 maiion i relation to
associated intangible assets), costs of €39 mulion i relation to 3 Conporate restructunng &nd efficency programme (ncluding mmpairmnents of £2 milion wn r&ation te assenated
mtangible and tangible assets) costs of £23 melion in refation to amor usaton of acquired intangible assets and cost of €2 miflion relating to an expense as aresuit of the

termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale aperator

E  Remmasurement of all denvatrve Ainancial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting and hedge nelfectiveness

F  Taradjusting ems and the tax offect of above items
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Financal stataments

Non-GAAP measures
(continued)
Unaudited supptemental mformation

Reconciliation of cash generated from operations to adjusted free cash flow

for the year ended 30 June 2015

25 204
Note Em Em
Cash generated from continuing operations 27 2080 1696
Interest received and dvidends from avallable-for-sale investments 9 27
Taxaton paid . - - - - T U@y T (229)
Dnadends recerved from jont ventures and associates 25 32
Net funding to Joint ventures and associates (10} (6)
Purchase of property plant and equipment (385) (23B)
Purchase of intangble assets (357) (302
Intergst paid (246) 137
Freg cash flow 897 B4
Cash paid relating to advisory and transaction fees and finance costs mcurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland
and Sky Itaia nQ -
Cash paid relating to corporate restructunng and efficency programme 34 12
Cash paid relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky italia in the enlarged Group 8 -
Cash paid under provisions recagnised in prior perods s 27
Cash paid relating to the integration of the O2 consumer broadband and fixed-bne telephony business 3 22
Payment (receipt) following termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator 3 [()]
Adjusted free cash flow 1060 885

Where Appropiats smounts above are shown net of spplicsble corporaton tax
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Shareholder mnformaton

Shareholder information

Annuatl General Meeting

The venue and tmmg of the Company 5 2015 AGM 15 detailed in the notice
corwverung the AGMwhich will be available for download from the
Company s corporate website at sky comicerparate

Financial calendar
Results for the finanaal year ending 30 June 2016 wall be published in -

October 2015
January 2016°
April 2016*
Juky 2018°

Proviaional dates

The Sky website

Shareholders are encouraged to visit the Sky website sky com which has
& wealth of nformatian about the Company There s a section designed
specifically for investors at sky comicorporate where investor and media
nformation can be accessed This year s Annual Report and Notice of
AGM together with prior year documents can be viewed there along with
mformautcn on dvidends share pnice and avording sharehalder fraud

Managing your shares and shareholder
communications
The Company s shareholder regrster 1s mamtaned by its Registrar

Equiniti Iinfermation on how to manage your sharehoklings can be found
at help shareview ca uk

Sharehciders can contact Equinits m refation 1o all administrative
enquines relabing to ther shares such as a change of. persenal detarls

Diwndend tax vouchers

A consohidated tax voucher senace s avalable for shareholders who have
chosen to recerve drvidends directly into their bank account. A single
consoldated tax voucher will be maded by the end of November each
year to coincide with the final dividend payment

Dividend Reinvestment Plan -- .

The Company eperates a Dmdend Reinvestrment Plan ( DRIP Yywhich
enables shareholders to buy the Company’s shares on the London stock
market with their cash dvidend Further nformation about the DRIP s
available from Equinit

ShareGift

Shareholders who only have a small number of shares whese value makes
1£ uNeconomic to sell thern may wish ta consider donating themn to chanty
through ShareGift the independent charity share donation scheme
(regatered chanty no 10526883 Further mformation may be obtamed
from ShareGift on 020 7930 3737 or at sharegiftarg

Shareholder fraud

Fraud s on the increase and many shareholders are targeted every year
1Fyou have any reason to beheve that you may have been thetarget of a
fraud or attempted fraudin relation Lo your shareholding please contact
Equimts immediately

American Depositary Receipts ('ADR")

The Company s ADR programme trades on the aver-the-counter (OTC )
market in the S More informationcan be obtained from the Companys

oo HENwS

TBUIMOD

the loss of a share ceruficate out-of-date dmdend cheques change
of dividend payrment methods and how to apply for the Diwdend
Reinvestment Plan

Shareholders who have not yet elected to receve shareholder
documentaton 1 electronic form can sign up by registering at
sharewiew oo uk Should Shareholders who have elected for electromc
COMIMUMCaLONS require a paper copy of any of the Company s
thareholder decumentation or wish to change ther instructions
they should contact Equinity

Shareholder Contact Centre

Equiruts Limited

Aspaoct House

Spencer Road

Lancing

west Sussex

BNG9 6DA

Telephone 087 384 2091

Telephone number fram gutside the UK +44121 415 7567

* Lines are open Monday Lo Freday 8 3Dam to § 30pm excluding UK Bank Hohdays
Calts ta bur 0871 numbers cost Bp perminute plus network €xtras

corporate websita at sky comlcorporate
Al enquines relaung to the Company s ADRS should be addressed to

BNY Mellon Shareowner Senvices

PO Box 30170

College Station TX 727842-2170

US ressdents (B88) 269 2377

If resident outside the US +1201680 6825
email shrrelations@cpushareownerserices com

Company's registered office

Grant Way

Isleworth

Middlesex

TW7 5QD

Telephone 03331000333
Overseas +44 3331000333

Company registration number
2247735

Auditor

Deloicte LLP

2 New Street Square
London

EC4A 382
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Accessibility

if you would Iike ativice regarding accesstbihty
of this document please contact the Accessible
Customer Service team on +44 (0) 344 2410333

To find out mone about Sky go 1o sky comitorporate

For more about how we ne malang a wader contnbution
go toskycomMbiggerpicture
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